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UNITED STATES  

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION  
Washington, D.C. 20549  

   

Form 10-K  
   

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014  

or  
   

For the transition period from              to               

Commission file number: 001-35337  
   

WebMD Health Corp.  
(Exact name of registrant as specified in its charter)  

   

(212) 624-3700  
(Registrant’s telephone number including area code)  

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act:  
   

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: Not Applicable  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act.    Yes   � 
        No   �  

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section 15(d) of the Exchange Act.    Yes   
�         No   �  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant: (1) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities 
Exchange Act of 1934 during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to file such reports), and 
(2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 90 days.    Yes     �         No   �  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive 
Data File required to be submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period 
that the registrant was required to submit and post such files).    Yes   �         No   �  

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-K is not contained herein, and will not be 
contained, to the best of registrant’s knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference into Part III of this 
Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K.   �  

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting 
company. See the definitions of “large accelerated filer,” “accelerated filer” and “smaller reporting company” in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange 
Act. (Check one):  
   

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act.)    Yes   �         No   � 

As of June 30, 2014, the aggregate market value of the registrant’s Common Stock held by non-affiliates of the registrant was 
approximately $1,762,535,000 (based on the closing price of the Common Stock of $48.30 per share on that date, as reported on the Nasdaq 
Global Select Market).  

  

� ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT 
OF 1934 

� TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE 
ACT OF 1934 

  

Delaware   20-2783228 
(State of incorporation)   (I.R.S. Employer Identification No.) 

111 Eighth Avenue   10011 
New York, New York  

(Address of principal executive office)    

(Zip code) 

Title of Each Class   Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered 

Common Stock, par value $0.01 per share   The Nasdaq Stock Market LLC (Global Select Market) 

Large accelerated filer   �   Accelerated filer   �    Non-accelerated filer   �    Smaller reporting company   � 
  (Do not check if a smaller reporting company) 



As of February 23, 2015, there were 37,210,893 shares of Common Stock outstanding (including unvested shares of restricted Common 
Stock).  

DOCUMENTS INCORPORATED BY REFERENCE  

Certain information in the registrant’s definitive proxy statement to be filed with the Commission relating to the registrant’s 2015 Annual 
Meeting of Stockholders is incorporated by reference into Part III.  
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FORWARD-LOOKING STATEMENTS  

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains both historical and forward-looking statements. All statements other than statements of 
historical fact are, or may be, forward-looking statements. For example, statements concerning projections, predictions, expectations, estimates 
or forecasts and statements that describe our objectives, future performance, plans or goals are, or may be, forward-looking statements. These 
forward-looking statements reflect management’s current expectations concerning future results and events and can generally be identified by 
the use of expressions such as “may,” “will,” “should,” “could,” “would,” “likely,” “predict,” “potent ial,” “continue,” “future,” “estimate,” 
“believe,” “expect,” “anticipate,” “intend,” “plan,” “foresee,” and other similar words or phrases, as well as statements in the future tense.  

Forward-looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results, 
performance or achievements to be different from any future results, performance and achievements expressed or implied by these statements. 
The following important risks and uncertainties could affect our future results, causing those results to differ materially from those expressed in 
our forward-looking statements:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

These factors are not necessarily all of the important factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed in any of our 
forward-looking statements. Other factors, including unknown or unpredictable ones, also could have material adverse effects on our future 
results.  

The forward-looking statements included in this Annual Report on Form 10-K are made only as of the date of this Annual Report. Except 
as required by law or regulation, we do not undertake any obligation to update any forward-looking statements to reflect subsequent events or 
circumstances.  
   

ii  

  •   failure to achieve sufficient levels of usage of our public and private portals and mobile platforms;  

  
•   failure to attract sufficient consumers and healthcare professionals to our public portals and mobile platforms, including as a result of 

existing and new competitors for those audiences;  
  •   competition for advertisers and sponsors for our public portals and mobile platforms;  

  
•   reductions in promotional and educational spending by pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, whether resulting from the 

number and timing of regulatory approvals of new products or indications, from the number and timing of regulatory approvals of 
generic products that compete with existing brand name products or from other factors affecting the relevant markets;  

  
•   the inability to successfully deploy new or updated applications or services for our public portals, mobile platforms and private portals 

or, if deployed, the failure to create new or enhanced revenue streams from those applications or services;  
  •   failure to preserve and enhance the “WebMD” and “Medscape”  brands and our other brands;  

  
•   the inability to provide health coaching and condition management services that meet the needs of clients and potential clients of our 

private portals or the failure to do so with sufficient efficiency to make those services profitable for us;  
  •   the inability to attract and retain qualified personnel;  
  •   adverse economic conditions and disruptions in the capital markets;  

  
•   adverse changes in general business or regulatory conditions affecting the healthcare, information technology and Internet 

industries; and  
  •   the Risk Factors described in Item 1A of this Annual Report.  
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DEFINITIONS OF CERTAIN MEASURES  

In this Annual Report, we provide information regarding usage of The WebMD Health Network that we have determined using internal 
technology that identifies and monitors usage by individual computers, smartphones, tablets and other electronic devices used to access the 
Internet (which we refer to, collectively, as electronic devices). As used in this Annual Report:  
   

   

   

Third party services that measure Internet usage apply their own methodologies to do so and, accordingly, may provide different usage 
statistics than those reported by our internal tracking technology.  

Our WebMD Health Services private portals are provided to employers and health plans for use by their employees and members. These 
private portals are not part of The WebMD Health Network, do not involve advertising or sponsorship by third parties, and their users and page 
views are not included in measurements of The WebMD Health Network’s traffic volume.  

REFERENCES TO OUR WEBSITES  

The contents of the Websites in The WebMD Health Network and our other Websites referred to in this Annual Report are not incorporated 
into this filing. In addition, references to URLs for our Websites are intended to be inactive textual references only.  
   
   

iii  

  

•   A “unique user” or “unique visitor” during any calendar month is an individual electronic device, using a specific Web browser, that 
accesses a page in The WebMD Health Network during the course of such calendar month, as determined by our tracking technology. 
Accordingly, with respect to such calendar month, once an individual electronic device, using a specific Web browser, accesses a page 
in The WebMD Health Network , that electronic device will generally be included in the total number of unique users or visitors for that 
month. Similarly, with respect to any calendar month, an individual electronic device using a specific Web browser accessing a specific 
public portal, Website or mobile property in The WebMD Health Network (which we refer to as a “WebMD Destination”) may be 
counted only once as a single unique user or visitor regardless of the number of times it accesses that WebMD Destination or the 
number of individuals who may use it. However, if an electronic device using a specific Web browser accesses more than one WebMD 
Destination within The WebMD Health Network during a calendar month, it will be counted once for each such WebMD Destination. 
An electronic device that accesses a WebMD Destination using more than one Web browser will be counted as if it were a separate 
device for each browser used. In addition, if an electronic device blocks our tracking technology, it will be counted as a unique user or 
visitor in a particular month each time it visits a WebMD Destination. An electronic device that does not access any WebMD 
Destination during a particular calendar month is not included in the total number of unique users or visitors for that calendar month, 
even if such electronic device has, in the past, accessed one or more WebMD Destinations.  

  
•   A “page view” is a page that is viewed on an electronic device. The number of “page views” in The WebMD Health Network is not 

limited by its number of unique users or visitors. Accordingly, each unique user or visitor may generate multiple page views.  

  
•   With respect to any given time period, “aggregate page views” are the total number of “page views” during such time period on The 

WebMD Health Network as a whole.  
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PART I  
   

INTRODUCTION  

Overview of Our Services  

We are a leading provider of health information services to consumers, physicians and other healthcare professionals, employers and health 
plans through our public and private online portals, mobile platforms and health-focused publications. We engage consumers, physicians and 
other healthcare professionals across a multi-screen experience, allowing us to empower and enable health decisions anytime and anywhere.  

The WebMD Health Network — Our Public Portals.      Our network of public portals for consumers and healthcare professionals includes: 
www.WebMD.com (which we sometimes refer to as WebMD Health ), our primary public portal for consumers and related mobile-optimized 
sites and mobile apps; www.Medscape.com , our primary public portal for physicians and other healthcare professionals and related mobile-
optimized sites and mobile apps; and other sites through which we provide our branded health and wellness content, tools and services.  
   

   

In 2014, The WebMD Health Network reached an average of approximately 183 million monthly unique visitors and delivered 
approximately 14.25 billion page views during the year, increases of 33% and 23% over the prior year, respectively. Traffic to Medscape 
properties from physicians and other healthcare professionals averaged approximately 6.2 million physician sessions per month during 2014, an 
increase of approximately 13% over the prior year. For additional information regarding traffic to The WebMD Health Network , see 
“Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations —Introduction — Background Information on 
Certain Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business — Traffic Trends” in Item 7 below.  
   

1  

Item 1. Business 

  

•   Our Websites and mobile applications for consumers help them take an active role in managing their health by providing objective 
health and wellness information and access to decision-support tools and other services. We also provide content relating to lifestyle and 
healthy living, including healthy beauty, diet and food, exercise and fitness, and family and pregnancy. Our content offerings for 
consumers include news articles and features, special reports, interactive guides, originally produced videos, self-assessment 
questionnaires, expert led Q&As, community discussions, and reference resources. Our mobile applications for consumers, which 
include the WebMD App , the WebMD Pregnancy App , the WebMD Baby App , the WebMD Pain Coach App , the WebMD Allergy App 
and the WebMD Magazine App , had been downloaded over 25 million times in total through the end of 2014.  

  

•   Our Websites and mobile applications for healthcare professionals help them improve their clinical knowledge and practice of medicine. 
We make it easier for physicians and other healthcare professionals to access clinical reference sources, to stay abreast of the latest 
clinical information, to learn about new treatment options, to earn continuing medical education (or CME) and continuing education (or 
CE) credit, and to communicate with peers. Medscape’s original content includes daily medical news, conference coverage and expert 
commentary and columns by authors from widely respected clinical and academic institutions. Medscape also provides access to full-
text journal articles, reference materials and other medical content. Through Medscape Education (www.medscape.org), we offer a wide 
selection of free online CME and CE activities designed to educate healthcare professionals about important diagnostic and therapeutic 
issues. Our Medscape App for physicians and other healthcare professionals provides formulary information, medical calculators, drug, 
disease and condition references, and a drug interaction checker. Our Medscape MedPulse App enables healthcare professionals to stay 
up-to-date on the latest medical news and expert perspectives. Our Medscape Business of Medicine App is a digital magazine for iPad 
and Android tablets covering developments relevant to the healthcare industry, including news, blogs, columns and features on topics 
such as practice management, medical ethics, electronic health records and healthcare reform.  

® 

® 
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We do not charge any usage, membership or download fees for access to our public portals or mobile applications. Our public portals 
generate revenue primarily through the sale of various types of advertising and sponsorship products to its clients, which include: 
pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies; hospitals, clinics and other healthcare services companies; health insurance 
providers; consumer products companies whose products or services relate to health, wellness, diet, fitness, lifestyle, safety and illness 
prevention; and various other businesses, organizations and governmental entities. Advertisers and sponsors use our services to reach, educate 
and inform target audiences of consumers, physicians and other healthcare professionals. We also generate revenue through the sale of 
advertising in WebMD Magazine , a consumer publication that we distribute free of charge to physician office waiting rooms and make available 
online and through an iPad app. Advertising and sponsorship revenue was approximately 81% and 78% of our total revenue for the fiscal years 
ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively.  

WebMD Health Services — Our Private Portals .    For more than a decade, we have helped employers and health plans improve the health 
of their employee and plan participant populations and reduce healthcare costs. We offer a cloud-based population health management platform, 
including an online personal health record application, to private and governmental employers and health plans for use by their employees and 
plan participants. We host our WebMD Health Services platform for our clients. Our flexible architecture allows us to tie in with the client’s 
existing programs, Websites and intranets for their employees and plan participants. Our online services can be accessed using a computer, a 
tablet or a smartphone and provide personalized content, tools and other resources relevant to the specific individual’s eligibility, coverage and 
wellness profile. Our WebMD Health Services solutions include a comprehensive set of decision-support and transparency tools that help their 
employees and plan participants understand the financial implications of their benefits options and make more informed benefits-related 
purchase decisions. Our online tools also provide access to information that can help them factor quality and cost into decisions about care and 
treatment options. In addition, we offer telephonic, online and onsite health coaching and targeted condition management programs that help 
employees and plan participants make healthier lifestyle choices and achieve their wellness goals.  

We generate revenue from subscriptions to our WebMD Health Services platform by employers and health plans, either directly or through 
distribution relationships, including relationships with employee benefits outsourcing companies, employee benefits consultants and other 
companies that assist employers in purchasing or managing employee benefits. In addition, we offer our health coaching and condition 
management services on a per participant basis. Private portal services revenue was approximately 16% and 18% of our total revenue for the 
fiscal years ended December 31, 2013 and 2014, respectively. Our WebMD Health Services private portals do not display or generate revenue 
from advertising or sponsorship.  

Information Services . We sell certain information products and services on a standalone basis using de-identified data that we license from 
a small number of third party data sources, of which the principal source is a license retained by HLTH Corporation, our former parent company, 
in connection with the sale of its Emdeon Business Services business (EBS). As the successor to HLTH, we received this license which provides 
us the rights to certain de-identified data from the operation of the EBS business through February 2018 for use in the development and 
commercialization of various information products and services. To date, these standalone information products and services do not include any 
data derived from the operation of our Websites. Customers include data services, informatics and consulting companies. Revenue from the sale 
of standalone information products and services was approximately 3% and 4% of our total revenue for the fiscal years ended December 31, 
2013 and 2014, respectively. For additional information, see “Government Regulation, Industry Standards and Related Matters – HIPAA 
Privacy Standards and Security Standards” below.  

Corporate Information  

WebMD Health Corp. is a Delaware corporation that was incorporated on May 3, 2005 under the name WebMD Health Holdings, Inc. Our 
principal executive offices are located at 111 Eighth Avenue, New York, New York 10011 and our telephone number is (212) 624-3700. We 
completed the initial public offering of our Class A Common Stock on September 28, 2005. Prior to that time, WebMD was a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of  
   

2  
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HLTH Corporation (which we refer to as HLTH). Upon completion of our merger with HLTH in October 2009 and the resulting cancellation of 
our Class B Common Stock (all of which had been owned by HLTH), our Class A Common Stock began being referred to simply as Common 
Stock. Our Common Stock trades on the NASDAQ Global Select Market under the symbol “WBMD.”  

Available Information  

We make available free of charge at www.wbmd.com (in the “Investor Relations” section) copies of materials we file with, or furnish to, 
the Securities and Exchange Commission, or SEC, including our Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current 
Reports on Form 8-K, and amendments to those reports, as soon as reasonably practicable after we electronically file such materials with, or 
furnish them to, the SEC.  
   

3  
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THE WebMD HEALTH NETWORK — OUR PUBLIC PORTALS  

Overview  

Our Multi-Screen Platform. The WebMD Health Network delivers content through a multi-screen platform that engages users regardless 
of whether they are on a personal computer, a smartphone or a tablet. Our consumer portals and mobile applications help consumers take an 
active role in managing their health by providing objective health and wellness information. Our content offerings for consumers include access 
to news articles and features and decision-support tools that help them make better informed decisions about treatment options, health risks and 
healthcare providers. Our Websites and mobile applications for physicians and other healthcare professionals help them improve their clinical 
knowledge and practice of medicine. Our content offerings for these professionals, which include daily medical news, conference coverage, 
expert commentary and columns and CME activities, are written by authors from widely respected clinical and academic institutions and edited 
and managed by our in-house editorial staff.  

The following provides a summary of the Websites included in The WebMD Health Network :  
   

   
4  

Consumer Sites    Description  

www.webmd.com  
      

WebMD Health , our flagship consumer portal.  
   

www.medicinenet.com  

   

A health information site for consumers offering content that is 
written and edited by practicing physicians, including an online 
medical dictionary with thousands of medical terms.  
   

   

www.rxlist.com  

   

An online drug directory, which provides comprehensive 
descriptions of pharmaceutical products (including chemical names, 
brand names, molecular structure, clinical pharmacology, directions 
and dosage, side effects, drug interactions and precautions).  
   

   

www.emedicinehealth.com  

   

A health information site for consumers offering articles written 
and edited by physicians for consumers, including first aid and 
emergency information that is also accessible at 
firstaid.webmd.com.  
   

Professional Sites      
   

www.medscape.com  

   

Medscape, our flagship portal for physicians and other healthcare 
professionals, is organized by medical specialty, with each 
supported specialty having its own customized home page. 
Medscape content includes:  
   

•     News Content — including coverage of breaking medical 
news, expert perspectives and columns, medical conference 
coverage, business of medicine content, slideshows, special 
reports and access to full-text journal articles.  

   

•     Reference Content — including comprehensive clinical 
overviews of diseases and conditions, procedures and drugs.  

   

In 2013, we merged our theheart.org site into our Medscape 
Cardiology offering.  
   

   

www.medscape.org  

   

Medscape Education , the Website through which Medscape, LLC 
distributes online CME and CE to physicians and other healthcare 
professionals. 
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We also provide related mobile applications, which are included in The WebMD Health Network . Our mobile applications for consumers, 
which include the WebMD App , the WebMD Pregnancy App , the WebMD Baby App , the WebMD Pain Coach App , the WebMD Allergy App 
and the WebMD Magazine App , had been downloaded over 25 million times in total through the end of 2014. Our Medscape App for physicians 
and other healthcare professionals provides formulary information, medical calculators, drug, disease and condition references, and a drug 
interaction checker. Our Medscape MedPulse App enables healthcare professionals to stay up-to-date on the latest medical news and expert 
perspectives. Our Medscape Business of Medicine App is a digital magazine for iPad and Android tablets covering developments relevant to 
the healthcare industry, including news, blogs, columns and features on topics such as practice management, medical ethics, electronic health 
records and healthcare reform. We also provide access to our content through versions of our Websites tailored for viewing through mobile 
browsers.  

The WebMD Health Network also includes our international sites: the co-branded Boots WebMD health information site for United 
Kingdom consumers at www.WebMD.boots.com ; and Medscape France ( www.medscape.fr ) and Medscape Germany ( www.medscape.de ), our 
physician portals in those two countries.  

Traffic to The WebMD Health Network .     In 2014, The WebMD Health Network reached an average of approximately 183 million 
monthly unique visitors and delivered approximately 14.25 billion page views during the year, increases of 33% and 23% over the prior year, 
respectively. Traffic to The WebMD Health Network was an average of approximately 190 million unique users per month and total traffic of 
3.70 billion page views during the fourth quarter of 2014, increases of 22% and 17%, respectively, over the prior year period. Traffic to 
Medscape properties from physicians and other healthcare professionals averaged approximately 6.2 million physician sessions per month in 
2014, an increase of approximately 13% over the prior year, and averaged approximately 6.7 million physician sessions per month during the 
fourth quarter of 2014, an increase of approximately 17% over the prior year period.  

Consumers and healthcare professionals are increasingly using smartphones, tablets and other mobile devices to access the Internet, with 
physicians increasingly using mobile devices during treatment at the point of care. Accordingly, the portion of our page views from mobile 
devices has increased rapidly in the past several years as usage has increased on mobile devices, and increased utilization of our mobile offerings 
was the primary driver of our traffic growth in the fourth quarter of 2014, as well as for full year 2014. During the fourth quarter of 2014, 
approximately 27% of our page views came from a U.S. personal computer (or PC); approximately 36% came from a U.S. smartphone; 
approximately 8% came from a U.S. tablet device; and approximately 29% came from non-U.S. sources. For additional information regarding 
traffic to The WebMD Health Network and our efforts to monetize mobile traffic, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations — Introduction — Background Information on Certain Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business 
— Traffic Trends” and “— Efforts to Increase Advertising and Sponsorship Revenue from Mobile” in Item 7 below.  

Our Editorial Policies.     We are dedicated to providing quality health and wellness information and to upholding the integrity of our 
editorial process. The goal of our Editorial Policies is to maintain WebMD as an objective, practical and relevant content source for health and 
medical information. Our original content is reviewed by physician reviewers and by our editors for accuracy, objectivity, appropriateness of 
medical language, and proper characterization of findings. We uphold traditional journalistic principles in reviewing and corroborating 
information from other sources. When WebMD licenses health and wellness content from third parties for publication on our site, our editors 
review the third party’s editorial policies and procedures for consistency with the WebMD Editorial Policies. Our physician reviewers and other 
editorial staff review a representative sample of the content to ensure that the third party follows the editorial policy and procedures reviewed by 
WebMD.  

Our Policies Regarding Advertisements, Sponsorships and Promotions .     All advertisements, sponsorships and promotions that appear 
on our Websites are subject to our Advertising Policies and/or our Sponsor Policy. We do not accept advertising that, in our opinion, is not 
factually accurate or is not in good taste. WebMD makes a clear distinction between the news stories, articles and other content that we create or 
license and the promotional information that comes from our sponsors. While content from a sponsor is subject to our  
   

5  
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Advertising Policy, it is not subject to our Editorial Policy. The sponsor is responsible for the accuracy and objectivity of its content and it is not 
reviewed by our Editorial Department for accuracy, objectivity or balance. Sponsors may also provide funding directly to WebMD without the 
sponsor having any control over the content.  

Consumer Services  

Introduction.     The Internet has fundamentally changed the way consumers obtain information, enabling them to have immediate access 
to searchable information and dynamic interactive content. Healthcare consumers increasingly seek to educate themselves online about their 
health-related issues, motivated in part by the larger share of healthcare costs they are being asked to bear due to changes in the benefit designs 
being offered by health plans and employers. Our goal is to provide consumers with an objective and trusted source of information and online 
tools that help them play an active role in managing their health. We also provide content relating to lifestyle and healthy living, including 
healthy beauty, diet and food, exercise and fitness, and family and pregnancy.  

In the past several years, video and multimedia applications have become an important part of what users expect from Internet sites. In 
addition, consumers are increasingly using the Internet to access social media as a means to communicate and exchange information, including 
information regarding health and wellness. Consumers are also increasingly using smartphones and tablets to access online content and tools. We 
have invested and intend to continue to invest in software and systems that allow us to meet the demands of our users and sponsors, including 
customized content management and publishing technology to deliver interactive content, multimedia programming and personalized health 
applications that engage our users. In addition, we continue to focus on delivering a multi-screen platform that extends the user experience onto 
mobile devices and tablets.  

Overview of Content and Service Offerings.     WebMD Health and the other consumer portals in The WebMD Health Network provide 
our users with information, tools and applications in a variety of content formats. These content offerings include access to news articles and 
features, special reports, interactive guides, originally produced videos, self-assessment questionnaires, expert led Q&As, community 
discussions, and reference resources. By becoming a registered WebMD member, consumers can participate in our online communities and can 
opt-in to receive e-newsletters from WebMD on a variety of health-related topics or on specific conditions. There are no membership fees, usage 
charges or download charges for our consumer portals or mobile applications.  

Our in-house staff, which includes professional writers, editors, designers, board-certified physicians and other healthcare professionals, 
creates content for The WebMD Health Network . Our in-house staff is supplemented by medical advisors and authors from widely respected 
academic and clinical institutions. The news stories and other original content and reporting presented in The WebMD Health Network are based 
on our editors’ selections of the most important and relevant public health events occurring on any given day, obtained from an array of credible 
sources, including peer-reviewed medical journals, medical conferences, federal or state government actions and materials derived from 
interviews with medical experts. We offer searchable access to the full content of our Websites, including licensed content and reference-based 
content.  
   

6  
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Key Features of WebMD Health .     WebMD Health includes the following key features:  
   

   
7  

Feature    Description  
WebMD News Center  

   

   

Health news articles that are written by journalists and reviewed by 
our professional staff. Content focuses on “news you can use” and 
the article topics reflect national news stories of interest in the 
popular media that day with original perspective from health and 
medical experts.  
   

WebMD Editorial Features  

   

Comprehensive content focusing on major health, wellness and 
lifestyle issues that are in the news or otherwise contemporary, with 
emphasis on health trends and national health issues.  
   

WebMD Health and Wellness Centers 

   

WebMD Health and Wellness Centers are centralized locations for 
content and services for both WebMD Health editorial offerings and 
sponsor offerings focusing on topics related to health, wellness and 
lifestyle. Each Center features expert and medically reviewed 
information enabling the user to easily locate the top articles, news, 
videos, community features and health or wellness assessments for 
each topic. We also provide users an alphabetical listing of all 
Health and Wellness Centers and other collections of articles, 
organized by specific health conditions and concerns, known as 
Health A-Z.  
   

WebMD Health Guides and Wellness Guides  

   

Anchored within our Health and Wellness Centers, our Health 
Guides and Wellness Guides are designed to guide users through 
their individual health journey. The most current symptom, 
diagnosis, treatment and care information related to a particular 
disease or condition topic can be found in our Health Guides. Our 
Wellness Guides cover a broad range of topics, including nutrition, 
fitness, pregnancy and parenting. These guides were created by our 
editorial staff of professional health writers in collaboration with 
our proprietary physician network.  
   

WebMD Answers  

   

WebMD Answers provides a trusted environment for consumers to 
ask health-related questions and receive information from 
physicians and other experts, as well as from other consumers. 
WebMD Answers also gives users the ability to “follow” topics, 
people, organizations, and trending questions. Consumers can stay 
informed on the latest information relevant to their interests either 
via email messaging or by signing into WebMD and accessing a 
personalized WebMD Answers experience.  
   

WebMD Video  

   

Originally produced multi-media content served on our custom 
video player. Includes health-related video of real patient stories 
and expert interviews, among other things, and includes narration, 
graphics and links to additional content on a given health topic. 
Sponsors are able to stream promotional messages within the video 
feature itself and within the surrounding viewing area. Videos are 
also included in our Health and Wellness Centers.  
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Decision-Support Services and Other Online Tools .     Our decision-support services and other online tools help consumers make better-
informed decisions about treatment options, health risks and healthcare providers, and assist consumers in their management and monitoring, on 
an ongoing basis, of personal health goals, specific conditions and treatment regimens.  
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Feature    Description  
Slideshows  

   

Our slideshows are designed to educate users on specific conditions 
and other health and healthy living topics in an engaging, visually 
rich format.  
   

General Medical Information  

   

Our medical library allows consumers to research information 
relating to diseases and common health conditions by providing 
searchable access and easy-to-read content, including:  
   

   
—     self-care articles  
   

   

—     drug and supplement references from leading publications, 
including First Data Bank 

   

   
—     clinical trials and research study information  
   

   
—     a patient’s guide to medical tests  
   

   

—     interactive, illustrated presentations that visually explain 
common health conditions and diseases  

   

   
—     a medical dictionary  
   

   —     doctors’  views on important health topics.  

Feature    Description  
WebMD Health Checks and Evaluators  

   

   

Clinical, algorithm-based self assessments for health conditions and 
wellness topics, including a personalized risk score based on the 
user’s individual self-reported characteristics (e.g., gender, age, 
behavioral risks, heredity), along with customized 
recommendations for further education, potential treatment options 
and a summary report to share with the user’s physician or 
healthcare professional.  
   

WebMD Symptom Checker  

   

Our patented interactive graphic interface with advanced clinical 
decision-support rules that allows users to identify potential 
conditions associated with their physical symptoms, gender and 
age.  
   

WebMD Food & Fitness Planner  

   

Our Food & Fitness Planner is an online journaling service focusing 
on diet, food and fitness, designed to help users attain their personal 
health, weight loss and weight management goals. Our Food & 
Fitness Planner helps users make more informed food, beverage and 
nutrition choices.  
   

WebMD Recipe Finder  

   

Our Recipe Finder allows users to search our collection of recipes 
from WebMD, Eating Well and other sources to help make healthy 
meal choices. Recipes can be searched and filtered by nutritional 
criteria.  
   

First Aid & Emergencies  

   

Directs users to educational and treatment information that may be 
useful in the event of certain medical emergencies. Also included in 
this resource is a First Aid A-Z glossary of terms.  
   

®  
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Mobile .    We provide access to our consumer content and tools through WebMD Mobile , a version of our WebMD.com site tailored for 
viewing through mobile browsers at www.m.webmd.com . In addition, we offer the following mobile applications for consumers, which had been 
downloaded over 25 million times in total through the end of 2014:  
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Feature    Description  
Health and Wellness Tests & Tools  

   

Provides access to interactive calculators and quizzes to assess or 
demonstrate health topics, including a target heart rate calculator, 
body mass index calculator, pregnancy due date calculator and 
ovulation calendar.  
   

Drugs & Treatments  

   

Users can search for information about prescription and over-the-
counter medications by brand or generic name, or by condition.  
   

WebMD Physician Directory  

   

Enables users to find a physician based on the physician or practice 
name, specialty, zip code and distance. We are in the process of 
adding new features that will enable consumers to check provider 
experience metrics, ratings and reviews and to book appointments 
with providers. 

  

•   Our WebMD App , which is available for Android™, iPhone , iPad and Kindle Fire , provides mobile access to certain WebMD 
content and tools, including Symptom Checker, First Aid, and Pill Identifier applications, as well as other health information. The 
mobile-optimized content also covers health and beauty, diet, parenting and children’s health, and sex and relationships. WebMD App 
users can choose from and save information tailored to their specific interests and can select topics to populate tips, fun facts, articles, 
videos and quizzes relevant to their healthy-living goals. In June 2014, we launched WebMD Healthy Target, an integrated health 
improvement program available within the WebMD App for iPhone and, during the third quarter of 2014, we released additional 
features and functionality, including integration with Apple’s HealthKit. WebMD Healthy Target provides valuable assistance to 
individuals looking to manage chronic conditions like Type 2 diabetes and obesity, as well as to a broader audience interested in 
achieving fitness goals or more generally living a healthier lifestyle. WebMD Healthy Target allows users to set their health goals and 
can receive data from a variety of biometric devices, including activity trackers, wireless scales, blood pressure monitors and glucose 
meters, to monitor progress against those health goals. Based on the user’s goals and the data, WebMD Healthy Target delivers 
contextually relevant content and personalized action plans and motivational tips.  

  
•   Our WebMD Magazine App , which is available for iPad , provides a tablet-optimized reading experience for WebMD Magazine , 

offering links to relevant articles, videos, blogs and slideshows on WebMD.com.  

  

•   Our WebMD Baby App , which is available for Android™ and iPhone , gives new parents access to content created exclusively for the 
app, personalized for a baby’s specific age. WebMD Baby helps keep parents informed with easily accessible baby health and wellness 
information that they can trust. A personal growth chart for baby/toddler is also integrated into the app, allowing information to be 
easily added right from the pediatrician’s office. WebMD Baby received the 2012 Medical Marketing & Media Gold Award for Best 
Mobile App for Consumers.  

  

•   Our WebMD Pregnancy App , which is available for iPhone , combines trusted medical information and fun, shareable content to help 
expecting mothers celebrate the milestones along their pregnancy journey and empower them to make healthy decisions. WebMD 
Pregnancy delivers timely physician-reviewed content based on the baby’s expected delivery date, including checklists, questions to ask 
the doctor, and multimedia information.  

  
•   Our WebMD Pain Coach App , which is available for Android™ and iPhone , is a mobile companion to coach people living with 

chronic pain through daily health and wellness choices so that they can better  

® ® ® 

® 
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Social Networking .    The WebMD Community, our social networking initiative, gives consumers the ability to connect with health experts 
and with other WebMD members to exchange information, experiences and support. Members are empowered to create their own communities 
and to exchange information with other users. Users can also access content and experts through WebMD’s social media offerings on Facebook, 
Twitter, Google+, and Pinterest.  

International .     We plan to pursue opportunities to expand the reach of our brands outside the United States. In certain markets outside 
the United States, we expect to accomplish this through partnerships or joint ventures with other companies having expertise in the specific 
country or region, while in other such markets we expect to rely primarily on our own internal resources. However, because of restrictions on 
consumer advertising by pharmaceutical and medical device companies that apply in many countries, we expect to focus our efforts outside the 
United States primarily on expanding our offerings for physicians and other healthcare professionals, rather than consumer offerings. For 
additional information, see “— Professional Services — International” below.  

Since October 2009, we have operated a health information Website in the United Kingdom with Boots UK, the United Kingdom’s leading 
pharmacy-led health and beauty retailer. The co-branded Boots WebMD site at www.WebMD.boots.com features daily health and wellness news, 
condition and healthy living centers, interactive health tools, WebMD’s symptom checker, specialized health search, health videos and 
interactive slide shows.  

WebMD Magazine  

WebMD Magazine is delivered free of charge to physicians in the United States for use in their office waiting rooms and reaches 
consumers right before they meet with their physicians. This allows sponsors to extend their advertising reach and to deliver their message when 
consumers are actively engaged in the healthcare process, and allows us to extend the WebMD brand into offline channels. We publish eight 
issues per year and had a rate base, in 2014, of over 1.4 million copies of each issue. We estimate that more than 10 million people are reading 
each issue of WebMD Magazine .  

The editorial format of WebMD Magazine is specifically designed for the physician’s waiting room. Its editorial features and highly 
interactive format of assessments, quizzes and questions are designed to inform consumers about important health and wellness topics. We also 
publish a digital edition of WebMD Magazine online and, as described under “— Mobile” above, WebMD Magazine is available as a free 
interactive application for the iPad . We also produce certain specialized editions of WebMD Magazine , including one for college campuses 
and one that focuses on diabetes.  

Professional Services  

Introduction .     The Internet is a primary source of information for physicians and other healthcare professionals, and is growing relative 
to other sources, such as conferences, meetings and offline journals. Our Websites for healthcare professionals include Medscape and Medscape 
Education. We also provide related apps for healthcare professional described below, as well as a version of each of our professional Websites 
that is tailored for viewing through mobile browsers. There are no membership fees and no usage charges for our  
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manage their pain while living a healthy life. It offers users a personalized experience by delivering daily physician-reviewed tips about 
managing their specific conditions to their mobile device, including those suffering from chronic back pain, neck pain, nerve pain, 
fibromyalgia, migraine, osteoarthritis, and rheumatoid arthritis. With the app, WebMD helps users take control of their lifestyle choices 
by enabling them to easily review their pain patterns so they can understand triggers, set goals and share progress with their physician.  

  

•   Our WebMD Allergy App , which is available for Android™ and iPhone , empowers users to take control of their allergies. The 
WebMD Allergy App provides allergy sufferers with personalized location-based allergy condition forecasts in combination with 
WebMD’s trusted information and insights. The WebMD Allergy App is further personalized with optional mobile push notifications 
that warn when allergen levels are high, enabling app users to proactively manage their allergy conditions.  

® 
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professional sites and apps. However, users must register to access the full array of content and features. We generate revenue from our 
professional services by selling advertising and sponsorship programs primarily to companies that desire to reach physicians and other healthcare 
professionals. We also generate revenue through educational grants.  

Medscape .    Medscape (www.medscape.com) , our flagship portal for physicians and other healthcare professionals, is organized by 
medical specialty, with each supported specialty having its own customized content. Medscape also includes areas for nurses, pharmacists, 
medical students, and members interested in medical policy and business of medicine topics. Registration by users enables us to deliver medical 
content targeted to their specialty and areas of interest, based on information they provide in their registration profiles. The registration process 
also enables professional members to choose a home page tailored to their medical specialty or interests. Medscape members receive e-mail 
newsletters, tailored to their specialty and other areas of interest, that highlight new information and resources on Medscape . Medscape content 
includes:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Our Medscape App is a free mobile application, available on Android™, Blackberry , iPhone , iPad , and Kindle Fire , for physicians 
and other healthcare professionals that provides registered users with access to  
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•   News Content. Medscape provides timely coverage of medical news, including insightful perspectives from leading medical experts in 
both text and multimedia formats. Medscape news content is written by our in-house team of professional journalists and editors, faculty 
from widely respected academic and clinical institutions, and seasoned freelance professional writers. Medscape news content is edited 
and managed by our editorial staff. The content is produced in various formats, including: in-depth interviews with experts on topics 
related to the current and future practice of medicine; news alerts on critical clinical issues such as breaking drug information, including 
pharmaceutical recalls and product advisories; coverage of healthcare policy and politics, including analysis of the Affordable Care Act 
and its impact on clinical practice; and coverage of key professional meetings and conferences from around the world. Medscape’s news 
content also includes widely read Business of Medicine coverage on complex practice management, compensation, legal, and ethical 
issues. The Medscape editorial team also creates recurring features and columns such as clinical cases, slideshows, and special reports. 
Medscape also provides access to wire service news stories and to licensed full-text journal articles.  

  
•   Reference Content (Drugs and Diseases) . Medscape provides original content authored and reviewed by physicians and pharmacists 

from leading medical centers, in the following categories:  

  

—   Disease and Condition Articles .    Evidence-based and physician-reviewed disease and condition articles are organized to 
answer clinical questions, as well as to provide in-depth information in support of diagnosis, treatment, and other clinical 
decision-making. Our over 6,000 comprehensive disease and condition monographs are illustrated with over 40,000 
diagnostic images and clinical drawings.  

  
—   Drug Reference .    A proprietary drug reference database, with more than 2,300 monographs, for researching prescribing and 

safety information on brand-name, generic and over-the-counter (OTC) drugs, including herbals and supplements.  

  
—   Drug Interaction Checker .    A drug interaction checker that identifies interactions for drugs, herbals and/or supplements, 

with detailed information from minor to contraindicated interactions.  

  
—   Clinical Procedure Articles .    More than 1,000 clinical procedure articles provide detailed instructions, and include videos 

and images to help clinicians with new techniques or to improve their skills in procedures they have previously performed.  

  
—   Image Collections .    Image collections are visually engaging presentations of both common and uncommon diseases, case 

presentations, and current controversies in medicine. They are presented in a slideshow format and are designed to challenge 
and expand physicians’  knowledge of clinically important topics.  

  
—   Quizzes and Case Challenges.     A series of interactive assessments designed to test clinical acumen and supplement disease 

and condition content.  
® ® ® ® 
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Medscape news and reference content, including: articles and other resources; the drug reference database and drug interaction checker; clinical 
reference, treatment and procedure guides; and physician, pharmacy and hospital directories. Our Medscape App also provides access to CME 
programs from Medscape Education (described below). In addition, our Medscape App gives users offline access to reference content, treatment 
guides, a pill identification tool, and the drug interaction checker.  

In 2014, we introduced our Medscape MedPulse App , a medical news app for iPhone and iPad that enables healthcare professionals to 
stay up-to-date on the latest medical news and expert perspectives and that can be personalized to an individual’s areas of interest. Medscape 
MedPulse features the latest medical content from Medscape’s award-winning editorial team and includes a curated Twitter feed to help users 
stay informed of important medical trends being shared in real time by physicians and other leading medical commentators. In 2014, we 
introduced our Medscape Business of Medicine App , a digital magazine for iPad and Android tablets covering developments relevant to the 
healthcare industry, including news, blogs, columns and features on topics such as practice management, medical ethics, electronic health 
records and healthcare reform.  

Continuing Medical Education (CME) .    Medscape Education ( www.medscape.org ) is the primary Website through which our 
ACCME-accredited CME provider, Medscape, LLC, distributes online CME and CE to physicians and other healthcare professionals. The 
ACCME (the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education) accredits and oversees providers of CME credit, as described under 
“Government Regulation, Industry Standards and Related Matters — Regulation and Accreditation of Continuing Medical Education” below. 
Medscape is also accredited as a provider of continuing nursing education by the American Nurses Credentialing Center’s Commission on 
Accreditation and as a provider of continuing pharmacy education by the Accreditation Council for Pharmacy Education.  

Medscape Education offers a wide selection of free online CME and CE activities designed to educate healthcare professionals about 
important diagnostic and therapeutic issues , including both original CME and CE activities that Medscape, LLC develops as well as activities 
developed and accredited by third parties. Medscape Education also offers CME developed by our WebMD Global LLC subsidiary, which is 
intended for physicians and other healthcare professionals located outside of the United States. Medscape Education educational activities are 
supported by independent educational grants provided by pharmaceutical and medical device companies, as well as foundations and government 
agencies. In addition, in order to provide broad and timely coverage of areas of interest to healthcare professionals, Medscape Education offers 
numerous CME and CE activities for which it does not receive grants or other outside support.  

International .     We are pursuing opportunities to expand the reach of the Medscape brand outside the United States. Physicians and 
healthcare professionals from around the world access content in English and other languages made available through Medscape . In addition, 
Medscape provides content in French to healthcare professionals in France (through www.medscape.fr ) and in German to those in Germany 
(through www.medscape.de ). In May 2014, Medscape began a collaboration with DXY, the largest online community for healthcare 
professionals in China, that enables the distribution of our educational programs to physicians and healthcare professionals in China through the 
DXY.cn site, bringing timely and valuable clinical information to physicians in China who are looking to improve their knowledge and skills in 
rapidly changing areas of medicine.  

Advertising and Sponsorship  

We believe that The WebMD Health Network offers an efficient means for advertisers and sponsors to reach a large audience of health-
involved consumers, clinically active physicians and other healthcare professionals or to target specific groups of consumers, physicians and 
other healthcare professionals based on their interests or specialties with placements in relevant locations on The WebMD Health Network or in 
our e-newsletters. The following are some of the types of placements and programs we offer to advertisers and sponsors:  
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•   Media Solutions .    These are traditional online advertising solutions, such as banners, used to reach health-involved consumers and 

physicians and other healthcare professionals. In addition, customers can select targeted media packages, including condition-specific or 
specialty-specific e-newsletters, keyword searches and educational programs.  

® ® 
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The pricing for our advertising and sponsorship services varies from contract to contract based on numerous factors, including the specific 
services to be provided, the content areas where advertisements or sponsored content are to be displayed, the nature of any exclusivity provided, 
the total size of the commitment by the sponsor, and other factors. We also sell advertising on a CPM (cost per thousand impressions) basis, 
where an advertiser can purchase a set amount of impressions on that basis. An “impression” is a single instance of an ad appearing on a Web 
page. However, our services for advertisers and sponsors are generally more complex and have more complex pricing than simple cost per 
thousand impressions pricing. As our audience of mobile users continues to grow, we are seeing increased acceptance of and demand for mobile 
advertising and sponsorship programs from our customers. A majority of the programs we sold in the fourth quarter of 2014 included a mobile 
element. As a result, the proportion of program delivery on mobile continues to increase. Accordingly, mobile could be an important area of 
growth for the future and we view mobile monetization as an opportunity for incremental revenue.  

We have been investing in improved data analytics capabilities to enhance our ability to demonstrate to advertisers and sponsors how 
promotional strategies implemented through WebMD impact physician and consumer behaviors and preferences. Enhanced analytic capabilities 
also support WebMD’s internal development of user engagement strategies and new messaging and education services.  

Sales and Marketing  

Our sales, marketing and account management personnel work with pharmaceutical, medical device and biotechnology companies, 
hospitals, health insurance companies, governmental entities and consumer products companies and their ad agencies to place their 
advertisements and other sponsored products on The WebMD Health Network and in WebMD Magazine . These individuals work closely with 
clients and potential clients and their agencies to develop innovative ways to bring their companies and their products and services to the 
attention of specific groups of consumers and healthcare professionals, and to create channels of communication with these audiences.  

WEBMD HEALTH SERVICES — OUR PRIVATE PORTALS  

Introduction  

In response to increasing healthcare costs, employers and health plans have been changing benefit plan designs to increase deductibles, co-
payments and other out-of-pocket costs and taking other steps to motivate employees and plan participants to live healthier lives and use 
healthcare in a cost-effective manner. In connection with shifting greater responsibility for healthcare costs to employees and plan participants, 
employers and health plans are making available more health and benefits information and decision-support applications to help their employees 
and plan participants make informed decisions about treatment options, health risks, lifestyle choices and healthcare providers. The goal is to 
encourage individuals to take a more active role in managing their health by providing relevant information, including data related to healthcare 
costs and quality. Since lifestyle choices, including choices regarding nutrition, exercise and tobacco use, are key drivers of health and can 
dramatically impact risks for acquiring chronic, costly health conditions, employers and health plans seek to reduce demand for healthcare 
services by focusing on health and wellness initiatives for their employees and plan participants.  

For more than a decade, we have helped employers and health plans improve the health of their employee and plan participant populations 
and reduce healthcare costs. We offer a cloud-based population health management platform, including an online personal health record 
application, to private and governmental employers and health plans for use by their employees and plan participants (we generally refer to the 
individuals given access to our services by their employers and health plans as “participants” below). We host our WebMD Health Services 
platform for our clients. Our flexible architecture allows us to tie in with the client’s existing programs, Websites and intranets for participants. 
Our online services can be accessed by participants using a  
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•   Sponsored Solutions .    These are customized collections of articles, topics, and decision-support tools and applications, sponsored by 

clients and distributed within The WebMD Health Network .  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

computer, a tablet or a smartphone and provide personalized content, tools and other resources relevant to the specific individual’s eligibility, 
coverage and wellness profile. As described more fully below, our WebMD Health Services solutions include a comprehensive set of decision-
support and transparency tools that help participants understand the financial implications of their benefits options and make more informed 
benefits-related purchase decisions. Our online tools also provide access to information that can help them factor quality and cost into decisions 
about care and treatment options. In addition, we offer telephonic, online and onsite health coaching and targeted condition management 
programs that help employees and plan participants make healthier lifestyle choices and achieve their wellness goals. We also offer clients the 
ability to design team-based wellness challenges to help foster a culture of wellness in the workplace.  

We generate revenue from subscriptions to our WebMD Health Services platform by employers and health plans, either directly or through 
distribution relationships, including relationships with employee benefits outsourcing companies, employee benefits consultants and other 
companies that assist employers in purchasing or managing employee benefits. In addition, we offer our health coaching and condition 
management services on a per participant basis. Our WebMD Health Services private portals do not display or generate revenue from advertising 
or sponsorship.  

Our Online Platform  

Our WebMD Health Services cloud-based platform provides a personalized user experience by integrating: individual user data (including 
personal health information); plan-specific data from clients; and WebMD content, decision-support technology and personal communication 
services. We host our WebMD Health Services platform for our clients. Our flexible architecture allows us to tie in with the client’s existing 
programs, Websites and intranets.  

Our platform has been designed to integrate complex data from multiple sources, including health and pharmacy claims, electronic medical 
records and lab results, as well as biometric data from devices, monitors and apps used for health and fitness purposes through our device 
connection center. Once the information from any of these multiple sources has been imported into a participant’s profile on the platform, it can 
be used in other WebMD Health Services products, such as in connection with issuing rewards, designing wellness challenges or participating in 
one of our coaching programs. A health profile drives personalized messaging to the individual, including recommendations for educational 
resources and online tools. The health profile relies upon the integrated data, as well as our proprietary health assessment tool (sometimes 
referred to in the industry as a health risk assessment), completed by the participant, which identifies modifiable risk factors and health 
conditions. Health trackers allow individuals to graphically track health measurements over time.  

Our WebMD Health Record provides a secure repository for self-reported and professionally sourced health data and helps participants 
gather, store, manage and share that data. Medical and pharmacy claims data as well as lab and biometric results can be automatically imported. 
In addition, the WebMD Health Record allows individual users to authorize access by healthcare providers, which can encourage better 
communication and coordination of care. Through the portability feature, WebMD also offers individual users the ability to access their data 
even if they change jobs, health plans or providers. We also provide the capability to upload, track, and share data from mobile devices and 
home medical devices.  

We provide communications services and incentive program services to support program launches, to increase completion rates of the 
health assessments, and to drive ongoing utilization of our tools and services by participants. With the rewards platform, we assist clients to 
motivate their participants through wellness incentive programs that encourage and reward use of the services we provide and specific health 
behaviors. Our flexible rewards platform enables clients to design and manage custom rewards programs based on participation, activity or 
outcomes. Rewards fulfillment may include premium reductions, gift cards, electronic funds transfer into HSA accounts, rewards debit cards or 
check rewards. Our messaging platform enables targeted email and text messaging communication campaigns that inform and motivate 
participants to change their behaviors and improve health status. Messages can be targeted based on health profile characteristics, demographics, 
or site usage, and they can be designed to raise awareness of specific resources and programs or to motivate lifestyle changes. We also provide 
print media as an additional channel to motivate utilization by individuals and their dependents.  
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Our Health Coaching and Condition Management Services  

Telephonic and onsite health coaching are integrated with our online coaching platform and can be accessed by an employee or plan 
participant through a client’s private portal. Our health coaches work one-on-one with participants to motivate them to improve their own health 
status by managing modifiable risk factors that lead to health conditions, by pursuing health-conscious lifestyles, by actively seeking health and 
wellness knowledge and by understanding the impact of lifestyle decisions. In addition, a health coach can refer participants to employer or plan 
sponsored health programs or recommend appropriate online or offline health resources to help them meet their wellness goals. We offer tobacco 
cessation, weight management and certain condition management specialty coaching programs to address the health risks specifically associated 
with smoking, obesity and other chronic conditions.  

We tailor WebMD Lifestyle First coaching programs to the goals of our clients by offering different levels of coaching intensity and 
allowing targeting of various risk factor profiles for coaching eligibility. Individuals are notified about their eligibility to participate in telephonic 
health coaching under programs selected by their employer or health plan. Our health coaching services, together with our online services, not 
only can help high-risk individuals identify important risk factors and change unhealthy behaviors, but also can help moderate-risk individuals to 
lower their risks and those who are healthy to stay that way. In addition to telephonic coaching, we offer the following related services:  
   

   

WebMD Lifestyle First coaching programs extend to cover condition management. These condition management programs are designed 
to give individuals access to a wide range of online and offline resources to provide long-term support and motivation and help them make better 
decisions to manage their health, including ongoing, intensive one-on-one coaching by condition specialists, along with progress tracking tools 
and personalized messaging and rewards programs. We offer Condition Management programs for five conditions: coronary artery disease, 
congestive heart failure, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma.  

We offer tools and services that enable our clients to integrate programs from third parties, including their disease management vendors, 
into the programs and portal solutions we offer. Participants are referred to third-party services through our proprietary Health Program Referral 
System, and those services can be promoted throughout the online or coaching experiences that we deliver.  

Our WebMD Wellness Challenge Platform  

Through our WebMD Wellness Challenge Platform, we offer clients the ability to create and configure team-based wellness challenges to 
help foster a culture of wellness in the workplace. These challenges may be custom challenges designed by the client for its specific employee 
population or one of our core supported challenges, such as the WebMD Hit Your Stride Walking Program that allows participants in the 
challenge to compete on number of steps and the WebMD Ready! Set! Move! Activity Program that allows challenge participants to compete 
on the most exercise minutes or exercise intensity.  

Our Decision Support and Transparency Tools  

We offer clients a comprehensive set of decision support and transparency tools to help their participants understand the financial 
implications of their benefits options, make more informed benefits-related purchase  
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•   Online Coaching .    WebMD Digital Health Assistant online, self-directed health coaching programs focus on exercise, nutrition, 
smoking cessation, weight management, emotional health and stress management. These programs let individuals set and track wellness 
goals, learn more about their behaviors and risks and follow self-paced personal action plans to improve their health. Each program 
includes comprehensive education modules and interactive goal setting and experience tracking.  

  

•   Onsite Services .    We offer three types of onsite services to our employer clients: onsite wellness coordinators help to augment in-
house staff; onsite health coaches that extend the telephonic coaching model to an onsite, in-person model (often delivered within an 
onsite clinic); and turnkey biometric screening and health fair solutions through a combination of third-party vendors and our own 
services.  
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decisions, and to provide access to information and services that can help them factor quality and cost into decisions about care and treatment 
options. These tools include:  
   

   

   

   

   

Sales and Marketing  

We market our WebMD Health Services cloud-based platform and health coaching and condition management services to private and 
governmental employers and health plans through a dedicated sales, marketing and account management team. Our services are also distributed 
through relationships with employee benefits outsourcing companies, certain of our clients who have limited distribution rights, employee 
benefits consultants and other companies that assist employers in purchasing or managing employee benefits. A typical contract provides for a 
multi-year term. The pricing of these contracts is generally based on several factors, including the complexity involved in integrating our online 
platform for the client, the number of wellness and decision support tools and other services being provided, the degree of customization of the 
services involved and the anticipated number of participants covered by such contract.  

TECHNOLOGICAL INFRASTRUCTURE  

Our services are delivered through Websites and mobile platforms designed to address the healthcare information needs of our users with 
easy-to-use interfaces and navigation capabilities. We use customized content management and publishing technology to develop, edit, publish, 
manage, and organize our content. We use ad-serving technology to store, manage and serve online advertisements. We also use specialized 
software for delivering personalized content through our private portals and, for registered members, through our public Websites and related 
mobile applications.  
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•   WebMD Health Concierge is a decision-support application designed to help participants make more informed healthcare decisions. 
Health Concierge provides access to information on conditions, treatments, and drugs. Participants are able to search for specific health-
related terms and are presented with an integrated set of personalized results based on their gender, location, age, benefit plan and 
financial balances. Integrated results include out-of-pocket cost estimates, medication information, news and alerts from WebMD and 
government sources, questions to ask their doctor, treatment options to consider, and health education.  

  

•   WebMD Coverage Advisor allows participants to compare costs across available health plan options based on personalized 
information regarding coverage alternatives, using cost-modeling and projection utilities that take into consideration the individual’s 
gender, geographic location, family composition, eligibility status, and projected utilization. Coverage Advisor dynamically displays 
benefit plan features, co-pays, pharmacy coverage, and provider coverage, and can also help participants determine appropriate 
contributions to flexible spending accounts (FSAs), health savings accounts (HSAs), and health reimbursement accounts (HRAs).  

  

•   WebMD Hospital Advisor is a quality outcomes and cost comparison tool that allows individuals to evaluate hospitals based upon 
particular procedures, diagnoses, and locations. The quality comparisons are based on evidence-based measures, such as volume of 
patients treated for particular illnesses or procedures, mortality rates, unfavorable outcomes for specific problems, and average length of 
hospital stay.  

  
•   WebMD Medication Advisor provides out-of-pocket and total medication costs for branded and generic therapies, presented alongside 

one another to facilitate straightforward comparisons. Using Medication Advisor, participants can determine less expensive alternatives 
based upon their drug benefit plan and formulary.  

  
•   WebMD Treatment Cost Advisor allows participants to search for explanations and demographically-based cost information for 

approximately 400 specific conditions, tests, procedures, and treatments. If the participant has uploaded his or her benefit plan 
information into the site manager, the cost estimates can factor in that information as well.  

SM 

SM 

SM 

SM 
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Continued development of our technological infrastructure is critical to our success. We have invested and intend to continue to invest in 
software and systems that allow us to meet the demands of our users and sponsors and the clients of our private portals. Our development teams 
work closely with marketing and account management employees to create content management capabilities, interactive tools and other 
applications. The goal of our current and planned investments is to further develop our content and technology platform serving various end-
users, including consumers and physicians, and to create innovative services that provide value for our advertisers and sponsors for The WebMD 
Health Network and for the employer and payer customers of our private portals.  

USER PRIVACY AND TRUST  

We have adopted internal policies and practices relating to, among other things, content standards and user privacy, designed to foster our 
relationships with our users. For additional information regarding the policies and practices of our public portals, see “ The WebMD Health 
Network — Our Public Portals — Overview — Our Editorial Policies” and “— Our Policies Regarding Advertisements, Sponsorships and 
Promotions” above. In addition, we participate in the following external, independent verification programs:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

We have won numerous awards for our Websites and for specific articles. Some of the awards we have received in the past three years 
include the Webby Award in the Health Category as well as the Webby People’s Voice Award in the Health Category, the prestigious Society of 
Professional Journalists Award for deadline  
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•   URAC.     We have been awarded Health Web Site accreditation from URAC, an independent accrediting body that has reviewed and 

approved the WebMD.com site and our WebMD Health Services platform for compliance with its quality and ethics standards. The 
current term of our accreditation goes through July 1, 2016.  

  

•   TRUSTe.     WebMD.com, MedicineNet.com, RxList.com, and eMedicineHealth.com, our mobile site and our mobile Applications are 
licensees of the TRUSTe Privacy Seal and our WebMD Health Services platform is a recipient of the TRUSTe E.U. Safe Harbor 
programs. TRUSTe is an independent organization whose goal is to build users’ trust and confidence in the Internet. TRUSTe is also a 
Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act (COPPA) Safe Harbor organization for the Federal Trade Commission and our fit WebMD site 
is certified under its Children’s Privacy Seal Program.”   

  
•   Health on the Net Foundation.     Our WebMD.com, eMedicine.com, eMedicineHealth.com, MedicineNet.com and WebMD.Boots.com 

sites and the WebMD Health Services platform comply with the principles of the HON Code of Conduct established by the Health on 
the Net Foundation, an independent, non-profit organization.  

  

•   Children’s Advertising Review Unit (CARU) .    Our fit WebMD site complies with the standards set forth by CARU. CARU is the 
children’s arm of the advertising industry’s self-regulation program and evaluates child-directed advertising and promotional material in 
all media to advance truthfulness, accuracy and consistency with its Self-Regulatory Guidelines for Children’s Advertising and relevant 
laws.  

  
•   Digital Advertising Alliance (About Ads) .    WebMD.com, MedicineNet.com, RxList.com, and eMedicineHealth.com are licensees of 

the Digital Advertising Alliance’s Ad Choices program . The Digital Advertising Alliance is a self-regulatory body that develops 
industry best practices and effective self-regulatory solutions for consumer choice in online behavioral advertising.  

  
•   U.S. Department of Commerce .    Our WebMD Health Services platform is self-certified to the U.S. Department of Commerce in 

conjunction with the TRUSTe E.U. and Swiss Safe Harbor Certification program for compliance with the E.U. and Swiss Safe Harbor 
Frameworks.  

  

•   NCQA .    In 2014, our WebMD Health Services wellness programs obtained National Committee for Quality Assurance (NCQA) 
Wellness and Health Promotion (WHP) Accreditation. We scored 100% on all applicable NCQA standards surveyed. NCQA is a 
private, non-profit organization dedicated to improving healthcare quality and providing healthcare quality information for consumers, 
purchasers, healthcare providers and researchers.  
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reporting, the Weidenbaum Center Award for Evidence-Based Journalism, and a Gold Award from Medical Marketing and Media (MM&M) for 
Best Mobile App for Consumers ( WebMD Baby App ). WebMD has also been named the most trusted U.S. brand by Millward Brown.  

We understand how important the privacy of personal information is to our users. Our Privacy Policies are posted on our Websites and 
inform users regarding the information we collect about them and about their use of our portals and our services. Our Privacy Policies also 
explain the choices users have about how their personal information is used and how we protect that information.  

COMPETITION  

The markets we participate in are intensely competitive, continually evolving and, in some cases, are subject to rapid change. Some of our 
competitors have greater financial, technical, marketing and other resources than we do, and some are better known than we are. We cannot 
provide assurance that we will be able to compete successfully against these organizations.  

Public Portals  

Overview .     Our public portals and mobile applications face competition from numerous other companies, both in attracting users and in 
generating revenue from advertisers and sponsors, and we expect that additional competitors will continue to enter the markets we participate in. 
Our advertisers and sponsors have numerous alternatives to choose from, including traditional media, Internet search engines, social media 
Internet sites, and general interest consumer sites, as well as the alternative of communicating through their own Websites or other channels that 
they manage in-house or through their advertising agencies. Such competition may result in smaller customer commitments or pressure to reduce 
prices, both of which could reduce our revenues and profit margins. Competitors for the attention of consumers and healthcare professionals also 
include public sector, non-profit and other Websites that provide healthcare information without advertising or sponsorships from third parties.  

Consumer Portals .     Our consumer portals and mobile applications compete with online services, Websites and mobile applications that 
provide health, wellness and lifestyle information for consumers. These competitors include:  
   

   

   

Competitors to our consumer portals also include advertising networks that aggregate traffic from multiple Websites, including advertising.com 
(which is owned by AOL), Tribal Fusion, Undertone Networks and AdBlade. Other competitors to our consumer portals include: publishers and 
distributors of traditional offline media, including television, radio, books, newspapers and magazines targeted to consumers; and manufacturers 
and distributors of activity trackers, heart rate monitors, blood pressure monitors and similar devices relating to health and wellness that can 
download data to a PC, tablet or smartphone, as well as numerous other companies developing applications and tools for use with those devices.  

Professional Portals .      Competitors to our professional portals and mobile applications include Epocrates, Inc. (which is part of 
athenahealth, Inc.), Clinical Care Options, MedPage Today (which is owned by Everyday Health), QuantiaMD, Sermo (which is operated by 
WorldOne) and UpToDate Inc. (which is owned by Wolters Kluwer Health). Other competitors to our professional portals include:  
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•   general purpose consumer Websites or search engines that offer specialized health, wellness and lifestyle sub-channels or functions, 

such as yahoo.com, msn.com, AOL.com, Google and Bing;  

  
•   other high traffic Websites that include healthcare-related and non-healthcare-related content and services, including social media 

Websites, such as Facebook and Google+; and  

  
•   Websites and mobile applications that provide information and tools relating to specific diseases and conditions or other specific types 

of health, wellness and lifestyle content, such as Demand Media and Everyday Health as well as online communities, social media sites 
and blogs focused on these matters.  

  
•   print journals and other specialized media targeted to healthcare professionals, many of which have established or may establish their 

own Websites or partner with other Websites;  
  •   offline medical conferences, CME and CE programs and symposia;  
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Private Portals  

Our WebMD Health Services private portals and coaching services compete, directly or indirectly, with various types of services provided 
by many different types of companies, including:  
   

   

   

GOVERNMENT REGULATION, INDUSTRY STANDARDS AND RELAT ED MATTERS  

Introduction  

Healthcare Regulation .     The healthcare industry is highly regulated and is subject to changing political, regulatory and other influences. 
Most of our revenue is derived either directly from the healthcare industry or from other sources that are subject to healthcare laws and related 
regulations and could be affected by changes in those laws and regulations. This section of our Annual Report contains a description of 
healthcare laws and regulations applicable to us, either directly or through their effect on our healthcare industry customers, as well as healthcare 
industry standards that serve a self-regulatory function, and certain related matters. Changes in those laws, regulations and standards may create 
unexpected liabilities for us, may cause us to incur additional costs and may restrict our operations.  

Many healthcare laws are complex, and their application to specific products, services, and business arrangements may not be clear. In 
particular, many existing healthcare laws and regulations, when enacted, did not anticipate the healthcare information services that we provide. 
However, these laws, regulations and industry standards may nonetheless be applied to our products, services, and business arrangements. We 
cannot provide assurance that we will be able to accurately anticipate the application of these laws, regulations and industry standards to our 
operations. Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations to our operations, or other failure to comply, could 
create liability for us, result in adverse publicity and negatively affect our business. Even in areas where we are not subject to healthcare 
regulation directly, we may become involved in governmental actions or investigations through our relationships with customers that are 
regulated, and participation in such actions or investigations, even if we are not a party and not the subject of an investigation, may cause us to 
incur significant expenses.  

Other Applicable Regulation .     This section of our Annual Report also contains a description of other laws and regulations, including 
general consumer protection laws and Internet-related laws that may affect our operations. Laws and regulations have been adopted, and may be 
adopted in the future, that address Internet-related issues, including online content, privacy, online marketing, unsolicited commercial email, 
taxation, pricing, and quality of products and services. Some of these laws and regulations, particularly those that relate specifically to the 
Internet, were adopted relatively recently, and their scope and application may still be subject to uncertainties. Interpretations of these laws, as 
well as any new or revised laws or regulations, could decrease demand for our services, increase our cost of doing business, or otherwise cause 
our business to suffer.  
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  •   vendors of e-detailing services, such as Physicians Interactive, and our clients’  own in-house detailing efforts; and  
  •   vendors of healthcare information and related services distributed through other means, including direct sales, mail and fax messaging.  

  
•   similar services offered by health insurance companies and their affiliates, such as Aetna, Humana, Kaiser Permanente and United 

Healthcare, and by employee benefits services companies and their affiliates;  

  
•   services offered by health management and disease management vendors, such as Mayo Foundation for Medical Education and 

Research, Wellness + Prevention, Inc. (which was formerly known as HealthMedia), Healthways, StayWell, Limeade, RedBrick Health 
and Optum (which is owned by United Health Group); and  

  
•   services of other providers of online platforms and applications for personal health records and decision-support and transparency tools 

for evaluating health insurance coverage options and healthcare provider and treatment options, such as Castlight Health, Change 
Healthcare (which is owned by Emdeon Inc.), Dossia, Epic Systems, HealthSparq, Microsoft, and a variety of other companies.  
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Regulation of Drug and Medical Device Advertising and Promotion  

The FDA and the Federal Trade Commission, or FTC, regulate the form, content and dissemination of labeling, advertising and 
promotional materials prepared by, or for, pharmaceutical or medical device companies. The FTC regulates over-the-counter (OTC) drug 
advertising and, in some cases, medical device advertising. Based on FDA requirements, regulated companies must limit advertising and 
promotional materials to discussions of FDA-approved uses and claims. In limited circumstances, regulated companies may disseminate certain 
non-promotional scientific information or disease-state information.  

Information on our Websites that promotes the use of pharmaceutical products or medical devices is subject to FDA and FTC requirements 
and enforcement actions, and information regarding other products and services is subject to FTC requirements. If either agency finds that 
information on our Websites violates regulations or guidance, it may take regulatory or judicial action against us or the advertiser or sponsor of 
that information. State attorneys general may also take similar action based on their state’s consumer protection statutes. Areas of our Websites 
that could be the primary focus of regulators include pages and programs that discuss use of a regulated product or that the regulators believe 
may lack editorial independence from the control of sponsoring pharmaceutical or device companies. Television broadcast advertisements that 
we may provide may also be subject to FTC and FDA regulation, depending on the content. The agencies place the principal burden of 
compliance with advertising and promotional regulations on advertisers and sponsors to make truthful, substantiated claims.  

The Federal Food, Drug, and Cosmetic Act, or FDC Act, and its implementing regulations require that prescription drugs be approved by 
the FDA prior to marketing. It is a violation to market, advertise or otherwise commercialize such products prior to approval. The FDA allows 
for preapproval exchange of scientific information, provided it is non-promotional in nature and does not draw conclusions regarding the 
ultimate safety or effectiveness of the unapproved drug. The FDA also refrains from regulating certain disease state materials so long as those 
materials do not make a representation or suggestion about a drug or device. Upon approval or clearance, the FDA’s regulatory authority extends 
to the labeling and advertising of prescription drugs and medical devices. Such products may be promoted and advertised only for uses reviewed 
and approved by the FDA. Labeling and advertising can be neither false nor misleading and must present all material information, including risk 
information, in a clear, conspicuous and neutral manner. There are also requirements for certain information (the “prescribing information” or 
“package insert” for promotional labeling and the “brief summary” for advertising) to be part of labeling and advertising. Labeling and 
advertising that violate these legal standards are subject to enforcement.  

The FDA also regulates the safety, effectiveness, and labeling of OTC drugs either through specific product approvals or through 
regulations that define approved claims for specific categories of products. The FTC regulates the advertising of OTC drugs under the section of 
the Federal Trade Commission Act that prohibits unfair or deceptive trade practices. The FDA and FTC regulatory framework requires that OTC 
drugs be formulated and labeled in accordance with FDA approvals or regulations and promoted in a manner that is truthful, adequately 
substantiated, and consistent with the labeled uses. OTC drugs that do not meet these requirements are subject to FDA or FTC enforcement 
action depending on the nature of the violation. In addition, state attorneys general may bring enforcement actions for alleged unfair or deceptive 
advertising.  

There are several administrative, civil and criminal sanctions available to the FDA for violations of the FDC Act or FDA regulations as 
they relate to labeling and advertising. Administrative sanctions include a written request that violative advertising or promotion cease and/or 
that corrective action be taken, such as requiring a company to provide to healthcare providers and/or consumers information to correct 
misinformation previously conveyed. More serious civil sanctions include seizures, injunctions, fines and consent decrees. Any of these 
enforcement measures could prevent a company from introducing or maintaining its product in the marketplace. Criminal penalties for severe 
violations can result in a prison term and/or substantial fines. State attorneys general have similar investigative tools and sanctions available to 
them.  

In the last 15 years, the FDA has gradually relaxed its formerly restrictive policies on DTC advertising of prescription drugs, allowing 
companies to advertise prescription drugs to consumers in any medium, provided that they satisfy FDA requirements. For example, the FDA 
issued guidance in February 2015 regarding the “brief  
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summary” requirements for prescription drug advertising, allowing those statements to focus primarily on the most clinically significant 
information about the most serious and the most common risks rather than including all warnings, precautions, and contraindications. If, in the 
future, the FDA makes changes to its DTC policies that make them more restrictive, it could become more difficult for us to obtain advertising 
and sponsorship revenue.  

In response to a Congressional directive, the FDA has issued several guidance documents regarding the use of the Internet to promote 
FDA-regulated medical products. Most recently, in 2014, the FDA issued draft guidance clarifying rules regarding drug promotion through 
interactive social media tools, which offered recommendations on how drug and device firms can correct inaccurate information about their 
products posted by third parties on Internet and social media sites and clarified how these same firms can discuss their products on Internet 
platforms with space restrictions, including social media sites and paid search links. None of these draft guidances directly affect a core part of 
our current business, but, to the extent that they affect social media aspects of our Websites, they may trigger obligations for our customers. We 
also do not know how our customers might change their business practices in light of the 2014 guidances. We cannot predict what effect any 
such changes will have on our business.  

There are also advertising restrictions that apply outside of the United States. Our European Websites belonging to The WebMD Health 
Network must comply with the national laws of the respective countries whose physicians they address. Under these European laws, there are 
several restrictions regarding advertising of drugs or medical devices. There are, in particular, broad prohibitions on the advertising of 
prescription or reimbursed drugs to the general public, the use of indirect or disguised marketing, and the offering and providing of gifts or 
benefits with promotional purpose that are not of minor value. If the relevant European national competent authorities find that any of our 
products and services, or any information on our Websites or in our mobile applications, violate applicable regulations, they may take regulatory 
or judicial action against us and/or the advertisers or sponsors of that information. Moreover, our competitors, or even competitors of advertisers 
and sponsors, may take actions against us and/or advertisers or sponsors of the information.  

Regulation of Mobile Applications and other Mobile Health Technology  

The FDA regulates medical devices in the U.S. Some health-related applications running on mobile platforms, as well as other health-
related software products, among other types of products, are considered medical devices. Such actively regulated medical devices are subject to 
extensive regulation by the FDA and other federal, state, and local authorities. In order to be subject to FDA regulation, the particular application 
or product must meet the definition of a medical device as provided in the Federal Food Drug and Cosmetic Act. In addition, the FDA has 
clarified via guidance document that the agency intends to actively regulate only those mobile applications that meet the agency’s definition of 
“device” and that could pose a risk to patients’ safety if they fail to work as intended. The FDA is exercising enforcement discretion, meaning 
that they will not actively enforce regulatory requirements, with respect to certain lower risk mobile applications that meet the device definition. 
In addition, the FDA has recently proposed refraining from exercising active enforcement over certain products that promote health or healthy 
lifestyles even when promoted for patients with certain diseases or conditions.  

In light of current FDA guidance, we believe that none of our existing online services and mobile applications are subject to regulation as a 
medical device under applicable FDA regulations. We are required to determine whether FDA regulations would apply to any of our applications 
and the FDA could disagree with the determination we have made. If the FDA disagrees, they may take regulatory action against us. It is also 
possible that products or services that we may offer in the future could subject us to such regulation or that current rules could change or be 
interpreted to apply to some of our existing online services or mobile applications. Complying with such regulations could be burdensome and 
expensive and could delay our introduction of new services or applications.  

Regulation and Accreditation of Continuing Medical Education  

Activities and information provided in the context of an independent medical or scientific educational program, often referred to as 
continuing medical education, or CME, usually are treated as non-promotional and  
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fall outside the FDA’s jurisdiction. The FDA does, however, evaluate CME activities to determine whether they are independent of the 
promotional influence of the activities’ supporters. To determine whether a CME provider’s activities are sufficiently independent, the FDA 
looks at a number of factors related to the planning, content, speakers and audience selection of such activities. To the extent that the FDA 
concludes that such activities are not independent, such content must fully comply with the FDA’s requirements and restrictions regarding 
promotional activities.  

Medscape, LLC distributes online CME to physicians and other healthcare professionals and is accredited by the Accreditation Council for 
Continuing Medical Education (ACCME), which oversees providers of CME credit. Medscape Education ( www.medscape.org ) is the Website 
through which Medscape, LLC distributes online CME. If any CME activity that Medscape, LLC certifies for CME credit is considered 
promotional, Medscape, LLC may face regulatory action or the loss of accreditation by the ACCME. Supporters of CME activities may also face 
regulatory action, potentially leading to termination of support.  

Medscape, LLC’s current ACCME accreditation expires in 2016. In order for Medscape, LLC to renew its accreditation, it will be required 
to demonstrate to the ACCME that it continues to meet ACCME requirements. If Medscape, LLC fails to maintain its status as an accredited 
ACCME provider (whether at the time of such renewal or at an earlier time as a result of a failure to comply with existing or additional ACCME 
standards), it will not be permitted to accredit CME activities for physicians and other healthcare professionals. Instead, Medscape, LLC would 
be required to use third parties to provide such CME-related accreditation services. That, in turn, could discourage potential supporters from 
engaging Medscape, LLC to develop CME or education-related activities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

Medscape, LLC’s CME activities are planned and implemented in accordance with the Essential Areas and Elements and the Policies of 
the ACCME and other applicable accreditation standards. The ACCME’s standards for commercial support of CME are intended to ensure, 
among other things, that CME activities of ACCME-accredited providers, such as Medscape, LLC, are independent of “commercial interests,” 
which are defined as entities that produce, market, re-sell or distribute healthcare goods and services, excluding certain organizations. 
“Commercial interests,” and entities owned or controlled by “commercial interests,” are ineligible for accreditation by the ACCME. The 
standards also provide that accredited CME providers may not place their CME content on Websites owned or controlled by a “commercial 
interest.” In addition, accredited CME providers may not ask “commercial interests” for speaker or topic suggestions, and are also prohibited 
from asking “commercial interests” to review CME content prior to delivery. Further, there are limitations and requirements for CME providers 
using employees of a commercial interest as planners or speakers at CME events.  

From time to time, the ACCME revises its standards for commercial support of CME. As a result of certain past ACCME revisions, we 
adjusted our corporate structure and made changes to our management and operations intended to allow Medscape, LLC to provide CME 
activities that are developed independently from those programs developed by its sister companies, which may not be independent of 
“commercial interests.” We believe that these changes allow Medscape, LLC to satisfy the applicable standards.  

Over the years, the ACCME and other organizations have discussed ways to assure that commercial interests do not bias CME activities. 
The ACCME has published several proposals since 2008, including proposals to reduce communications between commercial interests and 
CME providers and to create special designations for CME activities that are not funded by commercial interests. The ACCME also suggested 
creating an independent CME funding entity to build a firewall between commercial interests and CME activities. The ACCME has not adopted 
these proposals but has revised its policies. It is possible that adoption of additional proposals could significantly affect Medscape, LLC’s 
business model.  

Educational activities directed at physicians, including CME, have been subject to increased governmental scrutiny in recent years to 
ensure that sponsors do not influence or control the content of the activities. The Department of Justice continues to examine CME sponsorship 
by pharmaceutical companies. In addition, as part of the Affordable Care Act, pharmaceutical companies are now required to publicly report 
certain payments and transfers of value that they make to U.S. physicians. Beginning with payments made in 2016, this may include payments to 
CME authors. The federal government’s interpretation of this reporting requirement, which has been  
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evolving and may continue to change, could affect pharmaceutical companies’ views of their reporting obligations with respect to payments in 
support of authors and presenters of CME material. In implementing internal controls and procedures that promote adherence to applicable 
regulations and requirements, supporters of CME may interpret the regulations and requirements differently and may implement varying 
procedures or requirements. These regulations and requirements, and the related internal controls and procedures:  
   

   

   

   

In addition, future changes to laws, regulations or accreditation standards, or to the internal compliance programs of supporters or potential 
supporters, may further discourage, significantly limit, or prohibit supporters or potential supporters from engaging in educational activities with 
Medscape, LLC, or may require Medscape, LLC to make further changes in the way it offers or provides educational activities.  

CME regulations also apply in other countries. For example, under German law, certain CME programs must be approved by the State 
Medical Chamber. Additionally, German CME-related services must be free of commercial/business interests and the provider of CME services 
must be compliant with German laws and regulations. In France, a similar new regulatory framework which restricts the organization of CME 
activities has been completed. These or similar restrictions in other countries may restrict our ability to carry out activities related to CME 
programs and/or refer to drugs or medical devices in such CME programs. Moreover, if we are not able to demonstrate compliance with these 
regulations, applicable approvals may not be obtained from competent authorities, which may impact our ability to provide CME-related 
services and which could have an adverse effect on our business.  

Federal False Claims Act  

The Federal False Claims Act imposes liability on any person or entity who, among other things, knowingly presents, or causes to be 
presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment by a Federal healthcare program. The whistleblower (or “ qui tam ”) provisions of the Federal 
False Claims Act allow a private individual to bring actions on behalf of the Federal government alleging that the defendant has submitted a false 
claim to the federal government and to share in any monetary recovery. After the filing of a qui tam suit, the Federal government may intervene 
and control the case; if it does not, the private individual may pursue the claim on his or her own. In addition, various states and European 
countries have enacted false claim laws analogous to the Federal False Claims Act, and many of these laws apply where a claim is submitted to 
any third-party payor and not merely a Federal healthcare program. When an entity is determined to have violated the Federal False Claims Act, 
it may be required to pay up to three times the actual damages sustained by the government, plus civil penalties. Federal False Claims Act cases 
have been brought against drug manufacturers, and resulted in significant monetary settlements and the imposition of federally-supervised 
corporate integrity agreements in circumstances that include allegations that company-sponsored CME was unlawful off-label promotion. It is 
not clear whether there is a basis for the application of the Federal False Claims Act to the types of services that WebMD provides. However, 
plaintiffs have in the past, and may in the future, seek to name us as defendants in these types of cases. Any action against us for violation of 
these laws could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and may adversely affect our ability to operate our business.  

HIPAA Privacy Standards and Security Standards  

The Privacy Standards and Security Standards under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (referred to as 
HIPAA), as amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act of 2009, establish a set of 
national privacy and security standards for the protection of individually identifiable health information by health plans, healthcare 
clearinghouses and healthcare providers (referred to as “covered entities”) and their “business associates,” which are persons or  
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  •   may discourage pharmaceutical companies from providing grants for independent educational activities;  
  •   may slow their internal approval for such grants;  

  
•   may reduce the volume of sponsored educational programs that Medscape, LLC produces to levels that are lower than in the past, 

thereby reducing revenue; and  
  •   may require Medscape, LLC to make changes to how it offers or provides educational programs, including CME.  
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entities that perform certain services for or on behalf of a covered entity that involve the use or disclosure of protected health information. In 
connection with the sale by HLTH of its Emdeon Business Services business (or EBS), EBS agreed to license to HLTH, through February 2018, 
certain data, de-identified by EBS in conformity with HIPAA, for use in the development and commercialization of certain information products 
and services. We are currently using the data received under this license in our information services products.  

As a “business associate” of covered entities we are subject to HIPAA with regard to certain aspects of our business, such as managing 
employee or plan member health information for employers or health plans. With respect to our WebMD Health Services private portals and 
coaching services, HITECH creates obligations for us to report any unauthorized use or disclosure of protected health information, known as a 
breach, to our covered entity customers. The 2013 final HITECH rule modifies the breach reporting standard in a manner that makes more data 
security incidents qualify as reportable breaches. In addition, HITECH and its implementing regulations impose similar data breach notification 
requirements on vendors of personal health records that require us to notify affected individuals and the FTC in the event of a data breach 
involving the unsecured personal information of users of our public portal services.  

Violations of HIPAA may result in civil and criminal penalties. HITECH increased civil penalty amounts for violations of HIPAA and 
significantly strengthens enforcement by requiring the U.S. Department of Health and Human Services (HHS) to conduct periodic audits to 
confirm compliance and authorizing state attorneys general to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to violations 
of HIPAA Privacy Standards and Security Standards that threaten the privacy of state residents. These new Privacy and Security provisions will 
require us to incur additional costs and may restrict our business operations. These new provisions, as modified by the 2013 final HITECH rule, 
may be subject to interpretation by various courts and other governmental authorities, thus creating potentially complex compliance issues for us 
and our customers and strategic partners.  

Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA)  

The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act (referred to as GINA), enacted in May 2008, does not apply directly to WebMD, although 
it does apply to our WebMD Health Services private portal customers, including both employers and group health plans. GINA was enacted to 
prevent discrimination by group health plans, health insurance issuers and employers on the basis of genetic information. Our WebMD Health 
Services health assessment is typically offered to employees by their employer or group health plan as a voluntary component of a wellness 
program. The U.S. Departments of Labor, HHS and Treasury published Interim Final Rules implementing portions of Title I of GINA in 
October 2009. The Interim Final Rules prohibit health plans from requesting, requiring or purchasing genetic information prior to or in 
connection with enrollment, or at any time for underwriting purposes, and state that “underwriting purposes” includes any incentive or 
disincentive (such as decreasing or increasing premiums) for completing a health assessment. “Genetic information” is defined broadly to 
include information about an individual’s family medical history. The agencies have not finalized the regulations to date. However, in September 
2010, the Department of Labor provided additional guidance in the form of frequently asked questions stating that, while a plan may not require 
an individual to complete a health assessment that requests family medical history in order to receive a wellness program reward, it may use 
genetic information to make a determination regarding payment, or regarding the medical appropriateness of a treatment or service. HHS also 
issued a final rule implementing section 105 of GINA in January 2013. The final rule specifically provides that genetic information is a type of 
health information that is covered by HIPAA’s Privacy Standards and Security Standards, and specifically prohibits it from being used or 
disclosed for underwriting purposes (including any incentive or disincentive for completing a health assessment).  

Title II of GINA prohibits employment discrimination based on genetic information as well as the request or purchase of genetic 
information of employees or their family members with limited exceptions. The Equal Employment Opportunity Commission issued final rules 
implementing Title II in November 2010. The final rules specify that genetic information may be collected in a health assessment that is part of a 
wellness program only if participation in the collection of such information is voluntary, and indicate that the agency will consider participation 
voluntary if the employer neither requires participation nor penalizes employees who do not participate.  
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While each customer is responsible for ensuring that the wellness and benefit selections it offers are compliant with GINA, WebMD may 
face challenges as a result of varying interpretations of the law by our customers and by the multiple enforcing agencies and uncertainties over 
the final form of certain of the rules. Our customers’ interpretations of the law have required us to modify our WebMD Health Services health 
assessment product and we could experience increases in operational costs or decreases in demand for our products.  

State legislation, such as some in California prohibiting any form of discrimination by businesses based on genetic information, including 
in housing, public accommodation, and the provision of emergency services, could have additional implications for service we provide in those 
states.  

Other Restrictions Regarding Confidentiality, Privacy and Security of Health Information  

In addition to HIPAA, numerous other state and federal laws, including those described in “— Consumer Protection Regulation” below, 
govern the collection, dissemination, use, access to, confidentiality and security of patient health and prescriber information. In addition, 
Congress and some states are considering new laws and regulations that further protect the privacy and security of medical records or medical 
information. In some cases, more protective state privacy and security laws are not preempted by the HIPAA Privacy Standards and Security 
Standards and may be subject to interpretation by various courts and other governmental authorities, thus creating potentially complex 
compliance issues for us and our customers and strategic partners.  

These laws at a state or federal level, or new interpretations of these laws, could create liability for us, could impose additional operational 
requirements on our business, could affect the manner in which we use and transmit patient information and could increase our cost of doing 
business. Claims of violations of privacy rights or contractual breaches, even if we are not found liable, could be expensive and time-consuming 
to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our business.  

Anti-Corruption Laws  

The United States and other countries have adopted anti-corruption laws that generally prohibit directly or indirectly giving, offering or 
promising inducements to public officials to elicit an improper commercial advantage. Under applicable U.S., German, and most European law, 
this prohibition has been interpreted to apply to doctors and other medical professionals who work in state-run hospitals and state-run healthcare 
systems outside the United States. Some of these laws also prohibit directly or indirectly giving, offering or promising (and, in some cases, 
accepting or soliciting) inducements to (or from) private parties to elicit (or grant) an improper commercial advantage. In recent years, the U.S. 
government brought enforcement actions that resulted in significant monetary penalties against several companies operating in the global 
healthcare industry for violations of anti-corruption laws resulting from illegal payments made to non-U.S. medical professionals.  

As our business expands outside the United States, we (and others acting on our behalf) increasingly interact with non-U.S. doctors and 
other medical professionals, at least some of whom work in state-run hospitals or healthcare systems. Such interactions inherently increase the 
risk of violating applicable anti-corruption laws. While we believe that we have appropriate compliance policies and procedures in place to 
mitigate such risk, our personnel and others acting on our behalf might engage in conduct that violates such laws, for which we might be held 
responsible. Under such circumstances, we could be subject to civil and/or criminal penalties and other consequences that could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our brand and reputation, our sales activities and the 
price of our Common Stock and other securities could be adversely affected if we were to become the target of any resulting negative publicity.  

Anti-Kickback Laws  

There are federal and state laws that govern patient referrals, physician financial relationships and inducements to healthcare providers and 
patients. For example, the federal anti-kickback law prohibits any person or entity from offering, paying, soliciting or receiving anything of 
value, directly or indirectly, for the referral of patients for items or services reimbursed by Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare 
programs or the leasing, purchasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending the lease, purchase or order of any item,  
   

25  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

good, facility or service reimbursed by these programs. Many states and European countries also have similar anti-kickback laws that are not 
necessarily limited to items or services for which payment is made by a government healthcare program. These laws are applicable to 
manufacturers and distributors and, therefore, may restrict how we and some of our customers market products to healthcare providers, including 
e-details. We carefully review our practices with regulatory experts in an effort to ensure that we comply with all applicable laws. However, the 
laws in this area are both broad and vague, and it is often difficult or impossible to determine precisely how the laws will be applied, particularly 
to new services. Penalties for violating the federal anti-kickback law include imprisonment, fines and exclusion from participating, directly or 
indirectly, in Medicare, Medicaid and other federal healthcare programs. Any determination by a state, federal, or foreign regulatory agency that 
any of our practices violate any of these laws could subject us to civil or criminal penalties and require us to change or terminate some portions 
of our business and could have an adverse effect on our business. Even an unsuccessful challenge by regulatory authorities of our practices could 
cause us adverse publicity and be costly for us to respond to.  

International Regulation  

We are pursuing opportunities to expand the reach of our brands outside the United States. In certain markets outside the United States, we 
expect to accomplish this through partnerships or joint ventures with other companies having expertise in the specific country or region, while in 
other such markets we expect to rely primarily on our own internal resources. We intend to structure our participation in markets outside the 
United States in compliance with the laws and regulations that apply to such participation. However, as in the United States, the healthcare 
industry is highly regulated in many other jurisdictions and we may not be able to accurately anticipate the applicability of healthcare laws and 
regulations to our participation in such markets.  

Many European countries have adopted laws and regulations similar to the U.S. laws and regulations described elsewhere in this section of 
the Annual Report. These include, for example, regulations like the anti-kickback laws, false claim laws, medical professional regulations, 
genetic privacy and nondiscrimination regulations, restrictions regarding advertising and promotion of drugs and medical devices, sunshine 
regulations and CME regulations. These European laws and regulations may impose additional operational requirements or restrictions on our 
business, and increase our cost of doing business. For example, we have implemented certain Website access restrictions that are intended to 
limit the display of advertising of drugs and medical devices if required by local law, so that such advertising will be seen only by appropriate 
healthcare professionals. If the applicable regulatory authorities find our access restrictions to be inadequate, they may require us to establish 
stricter access restrictions. Moreover, such authorities and/or our competitors or even competitors of our advertisers and sponsors may take 
action against us and/or our advertisers or sponsors if they believe that we have violated the applicable laws.  

In addition, many countries and governmental bodies have, or are developing, laws that may apply to online health information services of 
the types we provide, or to Internet sites generally, including laws regarding the collection, use, storage and dissemination of personal 
information or patient data. To the extent our operations are located within their jurisdiction or are directed at individuals within their 
jurisdiction, these laws may apply to us. In addition, those governments may attempt to apply such laws extraterritorially or through treaties or 
other arrangements with U.S. governmental entities. To the extent we fail to accurately anticipate the application or interpretation of these laws, 
we could be subject to liability and adverse publicity, which could negatively affect our business. In Europe, the current national 
implementations of the existing general data protection Directive 95/46/EC and of the e-Privacy Directive 2002/58/EC provide for criminal and 
administrative sanctions in case of violations, even though criminal sanctions are very rarely imposed. For example, France and Germany 
provide for administrative fines of up to 300,000 Euros (approximately 360,000 USD) in case of illegal collection or processing of personal 
identifiable information. Under draft General Data Protection Regulation under consideration by the European Commission (originally proposed 
in January 2012 and most recently recirculated in December 2014), fines of up to 100,000,000 Euros (approximately 120,000,000 USD) or up to 
5% of the global sales of the infringer could be imposed.  

Many European countries have established cost reduction measures within their health systems or are intending to do so. This is intended 
to reduce the spending of the mainly publicly funded health systems in Europe. For example, Germany has established a risk/benefit drug 
assessment that adversely affects the prices of  
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newly introduced medicinal products. Thus, it is possible that our advertisers and sponsors will face cost reduction measures and reduce their 
expenditures or postpone expenditure decisions, including expenditures for our services, which could have material adverse effects on our 
business.  

Consumer Protection Regulation  

General.     Advertising and promotional activities presented to visitors on our Websites are subject to federal and state consumer 
protection laws that regulate unfair and deceptive practices. We are also subject to various other federal and state consumer protection laws, 
including the specific ones described later in this section.  

Internet and mobile user privacy, personal data security and the use of information to track online activities are major issues in the U.S. and 
abroad. In the U.S., the FTC and many state attorneys general are applying federal and state consumer protection laws to advertising activities 
and to require that the online collection, use and dissemination of data, including personal information, and the presentation of Website content, 
comply with certain standards for notice, choice, security and access. Courts may also adopt these developing standards. In many cases, the 
specific limitations imposed by these standards are subject to interpretation by courts and other governmental authorities. We believe that we are 
in compliance with the consumer protection standards that apply to our Websites, but a determination by a state or federal agency or court that 
any of our practices do not meet these standards could result in liability and adversely affect our business. New interpretations of these standards 
could also require us to incur additional costs and restrict our business operations. In addition, claims that we are violating any such standards 
could, even if we are not found liable, be expensive and time-consuming to defend and could result in adverse publicity that could harm our 
business.  

In February 2009, the FTC published Self Regulatory Principles for Online Behavioral Advertising to address consumer privacy issues that 
may arise from so-called “behavioral advertising” (i.e., the tracking of online activities) and to encourage industry self-regulation. These 
principles serve as guidelines to industry. In addition, there is a possibility, supported by certain public statements, that the FTC may revise or 
eliminate the principles in favor of a more restrictive approach for companies that utilize behavioral advertising. There is also a possibility of 
legislation, regulations and increased enforcement activities, relating to behavioral advertising. To the extent that our existing practices are 
inconsistent with any revised principles, new rules, new legislation and/or future enforcement activities, our business may become subject to 
restrictions that could reduce our revenues or increase our cost of doing business.  

In October 2009, the FTC adopted revised Guides Concerning the Use of Endorsements and Testimonials in Advertising. These Guides, 
which were last updated in 1980, became effective December 1, 2009. In addition to revising certain provisions regarding disclosures relating to 
endorsements and testimonials, the FTC clarified the Guides’ applicability to online and social media forums. In 2013, the FTC also revised 
guidance applicable to online advertising known as the Dot Com Disclosures, which was originally released in 2000. The revised Guides, the 
revised Dot Com Disclosures, and a 2013 FTC workshop on “native advertising” (i.e., blending advertising content with other content) may be 
an indication that the FTC may apply increased scrutiny to the use of endorsements, testimonials, and other advertising content online and 
through traditional media. To the extent we rely on endorsements or testimonials, we will review any relevant relationships for compliance with 
the Guides and we will otherwise endeavor to follow legal standards applicable to advertising.  

The FTC periodically holds workshops on issues relevant to online consumer privacy issues and consumer protection generally and uses 
the information it collects to help guide its policy and enforcement agenda. In 2014, the FTC held a seminar regarding privacy issues associated 
with “consumer generated and controlled health data,” which is relevant to services we offer. Previously, following a series of workshops, the 
FTC issued a preliminary staff report in December 2010 containing a proposed framework for businesses and policymakers for online consumer 
privacy issues and, in March 2012, the FTC issued a final report setting forth its current views on best practices, to protect the privacy of 
consumers, to be implemented by companies that collect and use consumer data. Also in March 2012, the White House released a Privacy White 
Paper that outlined the Obama Administration’s proposal for a new American privacy framework based on a Consumer Bill of Privacy Rights 
and which called for the development of industry-specific voluntary, enforceable privacy codes of conduct through a collaborative multi-
stakeholder process. Both the FTC and the White House have called for Congress  
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to develop baseline privacy legislation and the FTC also called on industry to accelerate the pace of self-regulation; in January 2015, the White 
House renewed its call for enactment of baseline privacy legislation. The FTC’s staff report and the White House’s Privacy White Paper, and the 
FTC’s workshop on consumer generated and controlled health data, reflect a continuing governmental interest in, and assessment of, online 
privacy issues. How these issues are ultimately resolved, whether through self-regulatory programs, legislation and regulation or some 
combination and the specifics of any such regimes, may significantly impact our operations.  

In Europe, Directive 2009/136/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council requires the user’s full information and consent prior to 
the installation and use of any so-called “cookie” on a user’s computer. This Directive has been implemented differently, in various member 
states of the European Union, and national requirements to remain compliant with the respective laws may vary. Nevertheless, the provisions of 
this directive, whether effectively implemented in national laws, are now applicable in all the member states of the European Union and 
enforcement actions are now being considered by local data protection authorities. In addition, the new draft General Data Protection Regulation 
mentioned above revises the currently applicable data protection framework. The potential resulting new framework sets out additional 
requirements for users’ consent for offline and online marketing. If enacted, this instrument will further strengthen the already very densely 
regulated area of Internet privacy in Europe. In addition, this revised European legislation, if adopted, would increase the likelihood of the 
applicability of European law to entities established outside the European Union but processing data of European data subjects. Countries 
outside of Europe are also increasingly focusing on data privacy legislation and regulation. Certain such legislative activity, such as data 
localization laws, could have an impact on our operations and how we do business.  

European healthcare advertising laws stipulate several restrictions on advertising of drugs and medical devices to the public. In particular, 
in several countries, the advertising of prescription drugs to the general public is not allowed. Thus, these European countries require access 
restrictions for Websites that contain such advertisements, which are only allowed to be addressed to healthcare professionals. Accordingly, 
Websites in The WebMD Health Network that are addressed to physicians in specific European countries (such as the Medscape Germany or 
France Websites) must be accessible only to healthcare professionals by an appropriate access check. If the applicable European competent 
authority does not acknowledge the respective Website to have appropriate access controls, the authority may require us to establish stricter 
access controls or ultimately may take action against us.  

Data Protection Regulation.     With the recent increase in publicity regarding data breaches resulting in improper dissemination of 
consumer information, many states have passed laws regulating the actions that a business must take if it experiences a data breach, such as 
prompt disclosure to affected customers. Generally, these laws are limited to electronic data and make some exemptions for smaller breaches. 
Congress has also been considering similar federal legislation relating to data breaches. The FTC and states’ Attorneys General have also 
brought enforcement actions and prosecuted some data breach cases as unfair and/or deceptive acts or practices under the FTC Act. In addition 
to data breach notification laws, some states have enacted statutes and rules requiring businesses to reasonably protect certain types of personal 
information they hold or to otherwise comply with certain specified data security requirements for personal information. These laws may apply 
directly to our business or indirectly by contract when we provide services to other companies. We intend to continue to comprehensively protect 
all consumer data and to comply with all applicable laws regarding the protection of this data.  

CAN-SPAM Act.     On January 1, 2004, the Controlling the Assault of Non-Solicited Pornography and Marketing Act of 2003, or the 
CAN-SPAM Act, became effective. The CAN-SPAM Act regulates commercial emails, provides a right on the part of the recipient to request 
the sender to stop sending messages, and establishes penalties for the sending of email messages that are intended to deceive the recipient as to 
source or content. Under the CAN-SPAM Act, senders of commercial emails (and other persons who initiate those emails) are required to make 
sure that those emails do not contain false or misleading transmission information. Commercial emails are required to include a valid return 
email address and other subject heading information so that the sender and the Internet location from which the message has been sent are 
accurately identified. Recipients must be furnished with an electronic method of informing the sender of the recipient’s decision to not receive 
further commercial emails. In addition, the email must include a postal address of the sender and notice  
   

28  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

that the email is an advertisement. We are following the CAN-SPAM requirements in the e-newsletters that WebMD’s public portals distribute 
to members and some of our other email communications, and believe that our email practices comply with the requirements of the CAN-SPAM 
Act, even though we believe that FTC regulations issued in May 2008 confirmed our existing understanding that these email newsletter 
communications are not generally commercial emails. Many states have also enacted anti-spam laws. The CAN-SPAM Act preempts many of 
these statutes. To the extent that these laws are not preempted, we believe that our email practices are designed to comply with these laws.  

COPPA.     The Children’s Online Privacy Protection Act, or COPPA, applies to operators of commercial Websites and online services 
directed to U.S. children under the age of 13 that collect personal information from children, and to operators of general audience sites with 
actual knowledge that they are collecting information from U.S. children under the age of 13. Except for our fit.WebMD.com site, our sites are 
not directed at children and our general audience site, WebMD Health , states that no one under the applicable age is entitled to use the site. In 
addition, WebMD Health employs a kick-out procedure whereby users identifying themselves as being under the age of 13 during the 
registration process are not allowed to register for the site’s member only services, such as message boards and live chat events. The FTC issued 
a revised COPPA rule in late 2012 to broaden its scope in certain respects. Our fit.WebMD.com site is designed to comply with the provisions of 
COPPA and we believe that that site and our other sites comply, where applicable, with the revised COPPA rule.  

FACTA.     In an effort to reduce the risk of identity theft from the improper disposal of consumer information, Congress passed the Fair 
and Accurate Credit Transactions Act (or FACTA), which requires businesses to take reasonable measures to prevent unauthorized access to 
such information. FACTA’s disposal standards are flexible and allow businesses discretion in determining what measures are reasonable based 
upon the sensitivity of the information, the costs and benefits of different disposal methods and relevant changes in technology. We believe that 
we are in compliance with FACTA.  

Telemarketing .     The Telemarketing and Consumer Fraud Abuse Prevention Act (TCFAPA) and the Telephone Consumer Protection 
Act (TCPA) are laws that govern telemarketing and other calling activities. Both the FTC (via the Telephone Sales Rule) and the FCC have 
enacted rules under these statutes that implement the national do-not-call registry and which also apply to a broad range of other telephone 
calling activities, including as relevant to text message marketing and autodialed calls to cell phones. States also have their own telemarketing 
laws governing an array of telephone calling activities. We believe that we are in compliance with the TCFAPA, the TCPA, and state 
telemarketing laws.  

Regulation of Wellness Incentive Programs  

Certain provisions of HIPAA (commonly referred to as the HIPAA nondiscrimination provisions) generally prohibit group health plans 
from charging similarly situated individuals different premiums or contributions or imposing different deductible, co-payment, or other cost-
sharing requirements based on a “health factor.” Such differentials are, however, acceptable under the HIPAA nondiscrimination provisions if 
the differentials are applied through “wellness programs.” The Department of Labor, in coordination with the Departments of the Treasury and 
HHS, has issued regulations (finalized in 2013) that define “wellness programs” for purposes of the HIPAA nondiscrimination provisions, 
establishing specific requirements for wellness programs that reward participants who satisfy a standard related to a health factor (referred to as 
“health-contingent wellness programs”) and for other types of wellness programs. These requirements for health-contingent wellness programs 
include (1) limiting the amount of the wellness program’s rewards, which the Affordable Care Act generally increased to 30% (50% for 
programs designed to prevent or reduce tobacco use) of the cost of coverage, (2) the wellness program being reasonably designed to promote 
good health and prevent disease, (3) giving those eligible to participate in the wellness program the opportunity to qualify for the reward at least 
once a year, (4) providing a reward that is available to all similarly situated individuals, and (5) requiring disclosure of reasonable alternative 
standards that must be available under the wellness program.  

Although HIPAA and its regulations state that certain excepted benefits, including supplemental benefits, are not subject to the wellness 
program rules, it does not define the term “similar supplemental coverage.” On December 7, 2007, the Department of Labor, in coordination 
with the Departments of the Treasury and HHS, released Field Assistance Bulletin No. 2007-04 (FAB 2007-04) in response to the development 
of questionable  
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health and wellness programs that were marketed as “similar supplemental coverage.” FAB 2007-04 clarifies the rules for supplemental 
programs and provides that supplemental benefits under a wellness program cannot discriminate on the basis of a health factor. With these new 
requirements in place, wellness programs that require individuals to meet certain health factors can no longer be considered supplemental and 
thus have to comply with HIPAA wellness program regulations described in the immediately preceding paragraph. According to FAB 2007- 04, 
programs that do not meet these requirements may be subject to enforcement actions. HHS provided parallel guidance in Program Memorandum 
08-01 (May 2008).  

The Americans with Disabilities Act (ADA) prohibits discrimination on the basis of an employee’s disability or perceived disability. 
Among other things, it limits employers from inquiring about the disabilities of employees unless the questions are job-related and consistent 
with business necessity. The ADA also limits the circumstances in which an employer may require physical examinations or answers to medical 
inquiries. However, the ADA allows employers to conduct voluntary medical examinations and activities, including voluntary medical histories, 
as part of a voluntary wellness program. A wellness program is “voluntary” if the employer neither requires participation nor penalizes 
employees who do not participate. Records acquired as part of a wellness program must be kept confidential and may not be used for a 
discriminatory purpose. Many states and localities provide similar protections to employees.  

The Genetic Information Nondiscrimination Act restricts the collection or use of genetic information for underwriting purposes, and treats 
the offering of incentives or disincentives for completing an HRA or participating in a wellness program as underwriting. See “— Genetic 
Information Nondiscrimination Act (GINA)” above.  

We provide services related to wellness programs in connection with our WebMD Health Services private portals and coaching services. 
See “ WebMD Health Services — Our Private Portals” above. We believe that we are in compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to 
these services, to the extent they apply to us.  

Medical Professional Regulation  

The practice of most healthcare professions requires licensing under applicable state law, as well as under applicable national law of most 
European countries. In addition, the laws in some states and European countries prohibit business entities from practicing medicine, which is 
generally referred to as the prohibition against the corporate practice of medicine. We do not believe that we engage in the practice of medicine, 
and we have attempted to structure our Websites, strategic relationships and other operations to avoid violating these state licensing and 
professional practice laws. We do not believe that we provide professional medical advice, diagnosis or treatment. We employ and contract with 
physicians who provide only health information to consumers, and we have no intention to provide medical care or advice. A state or other 
enforcement authority, however, may determine that some portion of our business violates these laws and may seek to have us discontinue those 
portions or subject us to penalties or licensure requirements. Any determination that we are a healthcare provider and acted improperly as a 
healthcare provider may result in liability to us.  

Healthcare Reform  

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (which we refer 
to as the Affordable Care Act), was signed into law in March 2010. The Affordable Care Act made extensive changes to the system of healthcare 
insurance and benefits in the U.S. In general, the Affordable Care Act seeks to reduce healthcare costs and decrease the number of uninsured 
legal U.S. residents by, among other things, requiring individuals to carry, and certain employers to offer, health insurance or be subject to 
penalties. The Affordable Care Act also imposed new regulations on health insurers, including guaranteed coverage requirements, prohibitions 
on certain annual and all lifetime limits on amounts paid on behalf of or to plan members, increased restrictions on rescinding coverage, 
establishment of minimum medical loss ratio requirements, a requirement to cover certain preventive services on a first dollar basis, the 
establishment of state insurance exchanges and essential benefit packages, and greater limitations on how health insurers price certain of their 
products. The Affordable Care Act also contains provisions that will affect the revenues and profits of pharmaceutical and medical device 
companies, including new taxes on certain sales of their products.  
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Many of the provisions of the Affordable Care Act that expand insurance coverage did not become effective until 2014, and some will not 
become effective until later, and many provisions will require additional regulations and interpretive guidance to be issued before they will be 
fully implemented. Some provisions do not apply to health plans that were in place when the Affordable Care Act was enacted and have not been 
substantially changed since. It is difficult to foresee how individuals and businesses will respond to the choices available to them under the 
Affordable Care Act. Furthermore, the Affordable Care Act will result in future state legislative and regulatory changes, which we are unable to 
predict at this time, in order for states to comply with certain provisions of the Affordable Care Act and to participate in grants and other 
incentive opportunities. In addition, Congress has considered various proposals to repeal some or all of the Affordable Care Act, and multiple 
lawsuits challenging various provisions of the Affordable Care Act are pending in U.S. courts.  

While we do not currently anticipate any significant adverse effects on WebMD as a direct result of application of the Affordable Care Act 
to our business or on our company in its capacity as an employer, we are unable to predict what the indirect impacts of the Affordable Care Act 
will be on WebMD’s business through its effects on other healthcare industry participants, including pharmaceutical and medical device 
companies that are advertisers and sponsors of our public portals and employers and health plans that are clients of our private portals. 
Healthcare industry participants may respond to the Affordable Care Act or to uncertainties created by the Affordable Care Act by reducing their 
expenditures or postponing expenditure decisions, including expenditures for our services, which could have a material adverse effect on our 
business.  

However, we believe that certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act and future implementing regulations that seek to reduce healthcare 
costs may create opportunities for WebMD, including with respect to our personal health record applications and health and benefits decision-
support tools and, more generally, with respect to our capabilities in providing health and wellness information and education. For example, the 
Affordable Care Act encourages use of wellness programs through grants to small employers to establish such programs, permission for 
employers to offer larger rewards than under prior law in the form of waivers of cost-sharing, premium discounts, or additional benefits to 
employees for participating in these programs and meeting certain standards, and the inclusion of wellness services and chronic disease 
management among the essential health benefits that certain plans are required to provide. However, we cannot yet determine the scope of the 
opportunities that the Affordable Care Act may create or what competition we may face in our efforts to pursue such opportunities.  
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OTHER INFORMATION  

Employees  

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 1,700 employees.  

Intellectual Property  

We use trademarks, trade names and service marks for our products and services, including those listed below the Table of Contents of this 
Annual Report. We also use other registered and unregistered trademarks and service marks for our products and services. In addition, we have 
registered domain names, including “webmd.com” and “medscape.com” and the other domain names listed in this Annual Report. If we are 
unable to protect our marks and domain names adequately, that could have a material adverse effect on our business and hurt us in establishing 
and maintaining our brands.  

We rely upon a combination of patent, trade secret, copyright and trademark laws, license agreements, confidentiality procedures, 
employee and client nondisclosure agreements and technical measures to protect intellectual property used in our businesses. We also rely on a 
variety of intellectual property rights licensed from third parties, including Internet server software, databases and healthcare content used on our 
Websites. These third-party licenses may not continue to be available to us on commercially reasonable terms. Our loss of or inability to 
maintain or obtain upgrades to any of these licenses could significantly harm us. In addition, because we license content from third parties, we 
may be exposed to copyright infringement actions if those parties are subject to claims regarding the origin and ownership of that content.  

Seasonality  

For a discussion of seasonality affecting our business, see “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of 
Operations — Seasonality” in Item 7 below.  

Other  

To the extent required by Item 1 of Form 10-K, the information contained in Item 7 of this Annual Report is hereby incorporated by 
reference in this Item 1.  
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This section describes circumstances or events that could have a negative effect on our financial results or operations or that could 
change, for the worse, existing trends in some or all of our businesses. The occurrence of one or more of the circumstances or events described 
below could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition, results of operations and cash flows or on the trading prices of our 
Common Stock and Convertible Notes or of securities that we may issue in the future. The risks and uncertainties described in this Annual 
Report are not the only ones facing us. Additional risks and uncertainties that are not currently known to us, or that we currently believe are 
immaterial, may also adversely affect our business and operations.  
   

Risks Related to Our Operations and the Healthcare Content We Provide  

If we are unable to provide content and services that attract users to The WebMD Health Network on a consistent basis, our advertising 
and sponsorship revenue could be reduced  

Users of The WebMD Health Network have numerous other online and offline sources of healthcare information and related services. Our 
ability to compete for user traffic on our public portals depends upon our ability to make available a variety of health, wellness and medical 
content, decision-support applications and other services that meet the needs of a variety of types of users, including consumers, physicians and 
other healthcare professionals, with a variety of reasons for seeking information. Our ability to do so depends, in turn, on:  
   

   

   

If consumers and healthcare professionals do not perceive our content, applications and tools to be useful, reliable and trustworthy, we may 
not be able to attract or retain users or otherwise maintain or increase the frequency and duration of their engagement with our health information 
services. We cannot assure you that we will be able to continue to develop or acquire needed content, applications and tools at a reasonable cost. 
In addition, since consumer users of our public portals may be attracted to The WebMD Health Network as a result of a specific condition or for a 
specific purpose, it is difficult for us to predict the rate at which they will return to our public portals. Because we generate revenue by, among 
other things, selling sponsorships of specific pages, sections or events on The WebMD Health Network , a decline in user traffic levels or a 
reduction in the number of pages viewed by users could cause our revenue to decrease and could have a material adverse effect on our results of 
operations.  

A significant portion of the traffic to The WebMD Health Network is directed to us through algorithmic search results on Internet search 
engines and, if we are listed less prominently in search result listings, our business and operating results could be harmed  

A significant portion of the traffic to The WebMD Health Network is directed to us through the algorithmic search results on Internet 
search engines such as Google. Algorithms are developed and used by search engine providers to determine the listings, and the order of such 
listings, displayed in response to specific searches. Accordingly, in addition to providing quality content and tools, we seek to design our 
Websites to deliver the content and tools in ways that will cause them to rank well in algorithmic search engine results, which makes it more 
likely that search engine users will visit our Websites. This is commonly referred to as search engine optimization, or SEO. However, there can 
be no assurance that our SEO efforts will succeed in improving the ranking of our content or, even if they do result in such improvement, that the 
improved ranking will result in increased numbers of users and page views for our Websites. In addition, search engines frequently change the 
criteria that determine site rankings in their search results and our SEO efforts will not be successful if we do not respond to those changes 
appropriately and on a timely basis. One factor that we believe significantly reduced traffic, in the first half of 2013, to some of the consumer 
sites in The WebMD Health Network (other than  
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  •   our ability to hire and retain qualified authors, journalists and independent writers;  
  •   our ability to license quality content from third parties; and  
  •   our ability to monitor and respond to increases and decreases in user interest in specific topics.  
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WebMD.com, our flagship site) was changes in Google’s algorithms and other processes that lowered the ranking of those sites in Google search 
results during that period. Although we saw a reversal of this trend beginning in the third quarter of 2013, we cannot be certain whether the 
improvement will continue or, if it does, how long it can be maintained. Search engine providers may also prioritize search results generated by 
certain types of queries, including health-related queries, based on criteria they select or may otherwise intermediate in the search results 
generated, which could, in some circumstances, reduce the ranking that would otherwise be provided to our Websites and increase the ranking of 
other sites. If we are unable to respond effectively to changes made by search engine providers in their algorithms and other processes, a 
substantial decrease in traffic to The WebMD Health Network could occur, which could cause our revenue to decrease and could have a material 
adverse effect on our results of operations.  

Search engine providers also typically display, together with algorithmic search results, content and links that may divert traffic from the 
pages referenced in the algorithmic search results, including: advertisements that are presented with the algorithmic search results for which the 
search engine provider receives compensation (sometimes referred to as paid search results); and content and links that the search engine 
provider selects and displays in response to the specific search queries in a format determined by the search engine provider. Accordingly, even 
if we rank highly in algorithmic search results, traffic to our Websites may be reduced as a result of the paid search results and other content 
included on the search results page generated by a search query. We cannot control the amount, quality or presentation of such paid search 
results and other content and, accordingly, we cannot predict any reductions in our traffic that may occur from time to time as search engine 
providers make changes in their policies and procedures regarding paid search results or regarding content they provide. Any resulting reduction 
in our traffic, if significant, could cause our revenue to decrease and could have a material adverse effect on our results of operations.  

If we fail to implement and maintain successful monetization strategies for smartphone traffic, our financial results could be adversely 
affected  

The number of people who access online content and services through smartphones, tablets and other mobile devices has increased 
dramatically in the past few years, including the number of physicians and other healthcare professionals who do so. Accordingly, the portion of 
our page views from mobile devices has increased rapidly and is expected to continue to increase. Although monetization of tablet page views is 
generally similar to monetization of PC page views, the monetization of smartphone page views is more challenging because of the smaller 
screen size. If, in the future, users access our services through smartphones as a substitute for access through personal computers and tablets (or 
if our page views from personal computers and tablets decline significantly for other reasons) and we are unable to implement and maintain 
successful monetization strategies for smartphone traffic, our financial results could be negatively affected. In addition, it is difficult to predict 
the problems we may encounter in developing and maintaining competitive mobile services and related mobile monetization strategies and we 
may need to devote significant resources to their creation, maintenance and support.  

We face significant competition for our healthcare information products and services  

The markets for healthcare information products and services are intensely competitive, continually evolving and, in some cases, subject to 
rapid change.  
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•   The WebMD Health Network faces competition from numerous other companies, both in attracting users and in generating revenue from 
advertisers and sponsors. We compete for users with Websites and mobile applications that provide health-related information, 
including both commercial ones and not-for-profit ones. We compete for advertisers and sponsors with: health-related Websites and 
mobile applications; general interest consumer Websites that offer specialized health sub-channels or functions; other high-traffic 
Websites that include both healthcare-related and non-healthcare-related content and services, including social media Websites; search 
engines that provide specialized health search capabilities; and advertising networks that aggregate traffic from multiple sites. The 
WebMD Health Network also faces competition from: traditional media and offline publications and information services; and 
manufacturers  
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Many of our competitors have greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and other resources than we do. These 
organizations may be better known than we are and have more customers or users than we do. We cannot provide assurance that we will be able 
to compete successfully against these organizations. In addition, we expect that competitors will continue to enter these markets. The 
competition we face for our services may result in fewer or smaller customer commitments or pressure to reduce prices, which could reduce our 
profit margins.  

Developing and implementing new and updated features and services for our public and private portals and our mobile applications may 
be more difficult than expected, may take longer and cost more than expected, and may not result in sufficient increases in revenue to 
justify the costs  

Attracting and retaining users of our public portals and our mobile applications and clients for our private portals requires us to continue to 
improve the technology underlying those portals and applications and to continue to develop new and updated features and services for those 
portals and applications. If we are unable to do so on a timely basis or if we are unable to implement new features and services without 
disruption to our existing ones, we may lose potential users and clients.  

We rely on a combination of internal development, strategic relationships, licensing and acquisitions to develop our portals, mobile 
applications and related features and services. Our development and/or implementation of new technologies, features and services may cost more 
than expected, may take longer than originally expected, may require more testing than originally anticipated and may require the acquisition of 
additional personnel and other resources. There can be no assurance that the revenue opportunities from any new or updated technologies, 
applications, features or services will justify the amounts spent.  

Failure to effectively identify, assess and pursue new business initiatives could adversely affect our company and its prospects  

We are working to broaden our portfolio of services and taking steps to diversify our client base and revenue streams. The development of 
new products and services in response to evolving trends in healthcare and evolving technologies for Internet-based and mobile services, as well 
as the identification of new business opportunities in this dynamic environment, requires significant time and resources. We may not be able to 
respond quickly enough or in a cost-effective manner, appropriately time the introduction of new products and services to the market or identify 
new business opportunities in a timely manner. In addition, while evolving technologies may offer new opportunities, they may also present 
additional challenges relating to security and privacy.  

Some of the business initiatives we are working on have challenges that are different than those associated with our existing products and 
services and could strain our financial, operational and management resources. Furthermore, there can be no assurance that the potential revenue 
streams from any investments that we may make in pursuing new business opportunities will justify the amounts spent. Failure to effectively 
identify, assess and pursue new business initiatives may adversely affect our company and its prospects.  

Failure to enhance the analytic capabilities we use to demonstrate the value of our services to advertisers and sponsors could adversely 
affect our ability to market our services  

We are working to enhance the analytic capabilities we use to demonstrate to advertisers and sponsors how promotional strategies 
implemented through The WebMD Health Network impact physician and consumer  
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and distributors of activity trackers, heart rate monitors, blood pressure monitors and similar devices relating to health and wellness that 
can download data to a PC, tablet or smartphone, as well as numerous other companies developing applications and tools for use with 
those devices.  

  

•   Our WebMD Health Services private portals and coaching services compete with: providers of decision-support and transparency tools 
that assist in evaluating health insurance coverage options and healthcare provider and treatment options; and online health management 
applications, including personal health records; wellness and disease management vendors; and competing services provided by health 
insurance companies, employee benefits services companies, and their affiliates.  
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behaviors and preferences. Our ability to demonstrate the value of advertising and sponsorship on The WebMD Health Network will depend, in 
part, on the accuracy of our analytics and measurement capabilities, on our ability to develop reporting tools using the capabilities and our ability 
to further improve such capabilities and tools. If we are unable to enhance our analytic capabilities, it could adversely affect our ability to market 
our services and we may lose business to competitors even if our advertising and sponsorship services are superior to theirs.  

Restrictions on our ability to access or use various forms and sources of data could adversely impact our business  

We are increasingly using data analytics based on information that we collect regarding usage of our public portals, as well as other third 
party sources of data. Our use of data regarding users of our public portals is governed by the privacy policies posted on those sites and is 
designed to comply with applicable laws and regulations as is our use of any third-party data. In addition, we sell certain information products 
and services on a standalone basis using de-identified data that we license from a small number of third party data sources, of which the principal 
source is a license retained by HLTH in connection with the sale of its Emdeon Business Services business (EBS). As the successor to HLTH, 
we received this license which provides us the rights to certain de-identified data from the operation of the EBS business through February 2018 
for use in the development and commercialization of various information products and services as to which we pay EBS a royalty. To date, these 
standalone information products and services do not include any data derived from the operation of our Websites. We are seeking to acquire 
additional third party data sources and to develop data generated from our Website operations in order to strengthen and diversify our data 
product offerings. Revenue from the standalone products and services that utilize data under the current EBS license is highly profitable and is 
recorded net of royalties and commissions paid by us to EBS or others. We do not expect that the current license agreement with EBS will 
continue after February 2018, and expect if such agreement is renewed or is replaced with new third party data sources, the terms of any such 
renewal or replacement license would not be as favorable to us as those in the current agreement. Accordingly, we cannot provide any assurance 
that the sales of, or the profits generated by, our standalone information products would not be materially adversely affected by the expiration of 
our license agreement with EBS. To date, we have not used data we license from EBS to support our current advertising business.  

Changes to our ability to access or use data could adversely affect our ability to implement improved analytics or to offer information 
products on a standalone basis. Accordingly, our business could be adversely impacted if, for any reason (including, but not limited to, changes 
in applicable laws and regulations) the data we use becomes unavailable or the conditions on its availability are not commercially reasonable or 
are inconsistent with our planned usage. In addition, the quality of our data analytics depends on the reliability of the information that we are 
able to obtain. If the information we use contains errors or is otherwise unreliable, analyses we create and actions we take based on those 
analyses could be wrong, which could hurt our reputation and business.  

Failure to maintain and enhance the “WebMD” and “Medscape” brands could have a material adverse effect on our business  

We believe that the “WebMD” and “Medscape” brand identities that we have developed have contributed to the success of our business 
and have helped us achieve recognition as a trusted source of health and wellness information and tools for consumers and of online content for 
physicians and other healthcare professionals. We also believe that maintaining and enhancing those brands is important to expanding the user 
base for our public portals and to our relationships with sponsors and advertisers. The “WebMD” brand is also important to our ability to gain 
additional employer and healthcare payer clients for our private portals. We have expended considerable resources on establishing and enhancing 
the “WebMD” and “Medscape” brands and our other brands, and we have developed policies and procedures designed to preserve and enhance 
our brands, including editorial procedures designed to provide quality control of the information we publish. We expect to continue to devote 
resources and efforts to maintain and enhance our brands. However, we may not be able to successfully maintain or enhance our brands, and 
events outside of our control may have a negative effect on our brands. If we are unable to maintain or enhance our brands, and do so in a cost-
effective manner, our business could be adversely affected.  
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The markets we participate in are relatively new and continue to change  

We participate in relatively new markets. These markets, and our business, have undergone significant changes during their short history 
and can be expected to continue to change. Many companies with business plans based on providing healthcare information and related services 
online and through mobile platforms have failed to be profitable and some have filed for bankruptcy or ceased operations. Even if demand from 
users exists, we cannot assure you that our business will be profitable.  

Our failure to attract and retain qualified executives and employees may have a material adverse effect on our business  

Our business depends largely on the skills, experience and performance of key members of our management team and other key 
employees. We also depend, in part, on our ability to attract and retain qualified writers and editors, software developers and other technical 
personnel and sales and marketing personnel. Competition for qualified personnel in the healthcare information services and Internet industries is 
intense. We cannot assure you that we will be able to hire or retain a sufficient number of qualified personnel to meet our requirements, or that 
we will be able to do so at costs that are acceptable to us. Failure to do so may have an adverse effect on our business.  

Our advertising and sponsorship revenue may vary significantly from quarter to quarter and its amount and timing may be subject to 
factors beyond our control, including regulatory changes  

Our advertising and sponsorship revenue may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of factors, many of which are not 
within our control, and some of which may be difficult to forecast accurately, including potential effects on demand for our services as a result of 
regulatory changes affecting advertising and promotion of drugs and medical devices and general economic conditions. The majority of our 
advertising and sponsorship programs are for terms of approximately four to twelve months. We have relatively few longer term advertising and 
sponsorship programs. We cannot assure you that our current advertisers and sponsors will continue to use our services beyond the terms of their 
existing contracts or that they will enter into any additional contracts.  

The time between the date of initial contact with a potential advertiser or sponsor regarding a specific program and the execution of a 
contract with the advertiser or sponsor for that program, as well as the additional time period before our services are delivered, may be longer 
than expected, especially for medium-sized and larger contracts, and may be subject to delays over which we have little or no control, including 
as a result of budgetary constraints of the advertiser or sponsor or their need for internal approvals, including internal approvals relating to 
compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to the marketing of healthcare products. We have experienced, from time to time, a 
lengthening of this internal review process by pharmaceutical and biotechnology companies, which has resulted in delays in contracting as well 
as delays in recognizing expected revenue under executed contracts and which may continue to cause such delays. Other factors that could affect 
the timing of contracting for specific programs with advertisers and sponsors, or receipt of revenue under such contracts, include the timing of:  
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  •   Food and Drug Administration (FDA) approval for new products or for new approved uses for existing products;  

  
•   any adverse determinations by the FDA affecting products previously approved or expected to be approved or the permitted uses of 

such products or their marketing;  

  
•   FDA approval of generic products that compete with existing brand name products and any increase in the number or significance of 

such approvals;  
  •   withdrawals of products from the market;  
  •   consolidation of companies in the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries;  
  •   rollouts of new or enhanced services on our public portals;  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

   

Some of our pharmaceutical company customers have experienced patent expirations for certain of their products in the past several years 
and some are expected to experience patent expirations over the next several years. In the pharmaceutical industry, patent expirations allow for 
competition from lower-priced generic versions of the patented drugs and generally result in the termination of marketing efforts for the drug. In 
2012, we believe that patent expirations led to, and could in the future lead to, overall reductions in marketing, selling and educational 
expenditures by some of these pharmaceutical companies across their entire product portfolios.  

Mergers and acquisitions among pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies may reduce the volume of our services 
purchased by the consolidated company following such a transaction, which could harm our operating results  

Mergers and acquisitions among our pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device company clients have in the past and could in the 
future reduce the number of our clients and potential clients. In addition, when companies consolidate, the number of vendors used for services, 
or the amount spent, by the separate companies may be reduced by the consolidated entity and some vendors and services may no longer be used 
at all. Any such event could have a negative effect on our revenue and profitability and we cannot provide assurance that we would be able to 
mitigate any such negative effect.  

We may be unsuccessful in our efforts to generate advertising and sponsorship revenue from consumer products companies  

Much of our advertising and sponsorship revenue has, in the past, come from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device 
companies. We also seek to generate advertising and sponsorship revenue from consumer products companies that are interested in 
communicating health-related or safety-related information about their products to our audience. However, while many consumer products 
companies are increasing the portion of their promotional spending used on the Internet, we cannot assure you that these advertisers and 
sponsors will find our consumer Websites to be as effective for promoting their products and services as competing channels, which include 
traditional media, Internet search engines, social media Internet sites, general interest consumer sites, and numerous other alternatives. 
Competition for this business may also result in smaller customer commitments or pressure to reduce prices, both of which could reduce our 
profit margins even if we are able to generate revenue.  

In addition, revenues from consumer products companies are more likely to reflect general economic conditions, and to be reduced to a 
greater extent during economic downturns, than revenues from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies. Accordingly, 
revenues from this portion of our business may be subject to significant quarter-to-quarter variations and we may be unsuccessful in our efforts 
to develop it further.  

Lengthy sales and implementation cycles for our WebMD Health Services private online portals make it difficult to forecast our revenues 
from these applications and may have an adverse impact on our business  

The period from our initial contact with a potential client for a private online portal and entry into a contract for a subscription to our 
solution by the client is difficult to predict. In the past, this period has generally ranged from six to twelve months, but in some cases has been 
longer. Potential contracts may be subject to delays or cancellations due to a client’s internal procedures for approving large expenditures and 
other factors beyond our control, including the effect of general economic conditions on the willingness of potential clients to subscribe to our 
WebMD Health Services solution. The time it takes to implement a private online portal is also difficult to predict and has lasted as long as six 
months from contract execution to the commencement of live operation. Implementation may be subject to delays based on the availability of the 
internal resources of the client that are needed and other factors outside of our control. As a result, we have limited ability to forecast the timing 
of revenue from new clients. This, in turn, makes it more difficult to forecast our financial performance for future periods. In addition, some of 
our client contracts may permit termination, by the client, prior to the end of the stated contract term, which can also make it more difficult to 
forecast our future financial performance.  
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•   seasonal factors relating to the prevalence of specific health conditions and other seasonal factors that may affect the timing of 

promotional campaigns for specific products; and  
  •   the scheduling of conferences for physicians and other healthcare professionals.  
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During the contracting cycle and the implementation period, we may expend substantial time, effort and money preparing contract 
proposals, negotiating contracts and implementing our population health management platform without receiving any related revenue. In 
addition, many of the expenses related to providing our platform are relatively fixed in the short term, including personnel costs and technology 
and infrastructure costs. If our private portal services revenue is lower than expected, we may not be able to reduce related short-term spending 
in response. Any shortfall in such revenue would have a direct impact on our results of operations.  

Our ability to renew existing agreements with employers and health plans will depend, in part, on our ability to continue to increase usage 
of our private portal services by their employees and plan members  

In a healthcare market where a greater share of the responsibility for healthcare costs and decision-making has been shifting to consumers, 
use of information technology (including personal health records) to assist consumers in making informed decisions about healthcare has also 
increased. We believe that through our WebMD Health Services private online portals and our telephonic and onsite health and wellness 
coaching programs, we are well positioned to play a role in this environment. However, our strategy depends, in part, on increasing usage of our 
services by our employer and health plan clients’ employees and plan participants and being able to demonstrate a sufficient return on 
investment and other benefits for our clients from those services. Increasing usage of our private portal services requires us to continue to 
develop new and updated applications, features and services. In addition, there are numerous competitors for the services we provide, many of 
which have greater financial, technical, product development, marketing and other resources than we do, and may be better known than we are. 
We cannot provide assurance that we will be able to meet our development and implementation goals or that we will be able to compete 
successfully against other vendors offering competitive services and, if we are unable to do so, we may experience static or diminished usage for 
our private portal services and possible non-renewals of our customer agreements.  

The condition management programs that we provide to clients of our WebMD Health Services private portals involve risk and challenges 
with which we have limited experience and may not be profitable  

We provide condition management services to clients of our WebMD Health Services private portals and plan to continue to expand that 
portion of our business. Our current offerings include programs targeting individuals struggling with coronary artery disease, congestive heart 
failure, diabetes, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and asthma. Our condition management programs include ongoing, intensive one-on-
one coaching by condition specialists, along with targeted online resources and progress tracking tools. Providing condition management 
services involves new risks and challenges for us, including: potential requirements to obtain and retain licenses, permits and regulatory 
clearances and approvals related to these services; difficulty in quantifying the costs savings and other benefits for our clients from these 
services; and difficulty in differentiating our condition management services from those of competitors, some of whom may be able to provide 
such services at a lower cost. We cannot predict the demand among our existing private portals clients and other potential clients for our 
condition management services and cannot provide assurance that the revenue opportunities from providing our current offerings or ones for 
additional conditions will justify the costs involved in maintaining or developing the required capabilities and delivering the services to clients.  

Contractual relationships with governmental customers may impose special burdens on us and provide special benefits to those customers, 
including the right to change or terminate the contract in response to budgetary constraints or policy changes  

A portion of our revenues come from customers that are governmental agencies or vendors to such agencies. Government contracts and 
subcontracts may be subject to some or all of the following:  
   

   

   
39  

  •   termination when appropriated funding for the current fiscal year is exhausted or becomes unavailable;  

  
•   termination for the governmental customer’s convenience, subject to a negotiated settlement for costs incurred and profit on work 

completed, along with the right to place contracts out for bid before the full contract term, as well as the right to make unilateral changes 
in contract requirements, subject to negotiated price adjustments;  
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In addition, certain violations of federal law may subject government contractors to having their contracts terminated and, under certain 
circumstances, suspension and/or debarment from future government contracts.  

Expansion to markets outside the United States subjects us to additional risks  

One element of our growth strategy is to seek to expand our online services to markets outside the United States. In certain markets outside 
the United States, we expect to accomplish this through partnerships or joint ventures with other companies having expertise in the specific 
country or region, while in other such markets we expect to rely primarily on our own internal resources. In certain markets outside of the United 
States, we are providing some of our online services in the local language directly to healthcare professionals. We also provide our online 
services in English to healthcare professionals outside the United States. Our participation in international markets is subject to certain risks 
beyond those applicable to our operations in the United States, such as:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

Furthermore, outside the United States, we face competition from locally-based companies that have experience doing business in their home 
countries or regions and familiarity with local business practices, customs and laws and, as a result, generally do not face, or are better positioned 
to face, the risks described above.  
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•   “most-favored” pricing disclosure requirements that are designed to ensure that the government can negotiate and receive pricing akin 

to that offered commercially and requirements to submit proprietary cost or pricing data to ensure that government contract pricing is 
fair and reasonable;  

  
•   commercial customer price tracking requirements that require contractors to monitor pricing offered to a specified class of customers 

and to extend price reductions offered to that class of customers to the government;  

  
•   reporting and compliance requirements related to, among other things: equal employment opportunity, affirmative action for veterans 

and for workers with disabilities, and accessibility for the disabled;  
  •   broader audit rights than we would usually grant to non-governmental customers; and  

  
•   specialized remedies for breach and default or failure to meet service level commitments, including setoff rights, retroactive price 

adjustments, and civil or criminal fraud penalties, as well as mandatory administrative dispute resolution procedures instead of state 
contract law remedies.  

  •   challenges caused by cultural differences;  
  •   difficulties in staffing and managing operations from a distance;  
  •   uncertainty regarding liability for services and content;  

  
•   potential burdens of complying with a wide variety of legal, regulatory and market requirements, as well as uncertainty as to the 

applicability of non-U.S. laws to operations based in the United States and regarding the interpretation of such laws by local authorities; 

  
•   potential regulation or interpretation of existing regulation that could limit or eliminate our ability to distribute one or more of our 

products in one or more countries;  

  
•   variability of economic and political conditions, including the extent of the impact of adverse economic conditions in markets outside 

the United States;  
  •   tariffs or other trade barriers;  
  •   fluctuations in currency exchange rates; and  

  
•   potentially adverse tax consequences, including restrictions on repatriation of earnings; and difficulties in protecting intellectual 

property.  
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Risks Related to the Internet and Our Technological Infrastructure  

Any service interruption or failure in the systems that we use to provide online services could harm our business  

Our online services are designed to operate 24 hours a day, seven days a week, without interruption. However, we have experienced and 
expect that we will in the future experience interruptions and delays in services and availability from time to time. We rely on internal systems as 
well as third-party vendors, including data center providers, bandwidth providers and mobile carriers, to provide our online services. We may not 
maintain redundant systems or facilities for some of these services. In the event of a catastrophic event with respect to one or more of these 
systems or facilities, we may experience an extended period of system unavailability, which could negatively impact our relationship with users. 
In addition, system failures may result in loss of data, including user registration data, business intelligence data, content, and other data critical 
to the operation of our online services, which could cause significant harm to our business and our reputation.  

To operate without interruption or loss of data, both we and our service providers must guard against:  
   

   

   

   

   

Any disruption in the network access or co-location services provided by third-party providers to us or any failure by these third-party 
providers or our own systems to handle current or higher volume of use could significantly harm our business. We exercise little control over 
these third-party vendors, which increases our vulnerability to problems with services they provide. Any errors, failures, interruptions or delays 
experienced in connection with these third-party technologies and information services or our own systems could negatively impact our 
relationships with users and adversely affect our brand and our business and could expose us to liabilities to third parties. Although we maintain 
insurance for our business, the coverage under our policies may not be adequate to compensate us for all losses that may occur. In addition, we 
cannot provide assurance that we will continue to be able to obtain adequate insurance coverage at an acceptable cost.  

Failure to update our technology infrastructure could adversely affect our business  

Evolving technologies could require us to modify our technology infrastructure and any failure to do so on a timely basis may limit the 
types of services we can provide or the quality of those services, and may put us in a weaker position relative to our competitors. Competitors 
with newer technology infrastructure may also have greater flexibility and be in a position to respond more quickly than us to new opportunities, 
which may impact our competitive position in certain markets and adversely affect our business.  

Implementation of updates to our technology infrastructure may result in performance problems and may not provide the additional 
functionality that was expected  

From time to time, we implement additions to or changes in the hardware and software platforms we use for providing our online services. 
During and after the implementation of additions or changes, a platform may not perform as expected, which could result in interruptions in 
operations, an increase in response time or an inability to track performance metrics. In addition, in connection with integrating acquired 
businesses, we may move their operations to our hardware and software platforms or make other changes, any of which could result in 
interruptions in those operations. Any significant interruption in our ability to operate any of our online services could have an adverse effect on 
our relationships with users and clients and, as a result, on our financial results. We rely on a combination of purchasing, licensing, internal 
development, and acquisitions to develop our hardware and software platforms. Our implementation of additions to or changes in these 
platforms may cost  
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  •   damage from fire, power loss and other natural disasters;  
  •   communications failures;  
  •   software and hardware errors, failures and crashes;  
  •   security breaches, computer viruses, distributed denial-of-service (DDOS) attacks and similar disruptive problems; and  
  •   other potential service interruptions.  
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more than originally expected, may take longer than originally expected, and may require more testing than originally anticipated. In addition, 
we cannot provide assurance that additions to or changes in these platforms will provide the additional functionality and other benefits that were 
originally expected.  

If the systems we use to provide online portals experience security breaches or are otherwise perceived to be insecure, our business could 
suffer  

We retain and transmit confidential information, including personal health records, in the processing centers and other facilities we use to 
provide online services. It is critical that these facilities and infrastructure remain secure and be perceived by the marketplace as secure. A 
security breach could damage our reputation or result in liability. We may be required to expend significant capital and other resources to protect 
against security breaches and hackers or to alleviate problems caused by breaches. Despite the implementation of security measures, this 
infrastructure or other systems that we interface with, including the Internet and related systems, may be vulnerable to physical break-ins, 
hackers, improper employee or contractor access, computer viruses, programming errors, denial-of-service attacks or other attacks by third 
parties or similar disruptive problems. Because the techniques used by hackers to sabotage or to obtain unauthorized access to computer systems 
change frequently, we may be unable to anticipate specific types of attacks or to implement adequate preventative measures. If an actual or 
perceived breach of our security occurs, the market perception of the effectiveness of our security measures could be harmed and we could lose 
users, customers, advertisers or publishers. Any compromise of our security, whether as a result of breaches or failures of our own systems or the 
systems with which they interface, could reduce demand for our services and could subject us to legal claims from our clients and users, 
including for breach of contract or breach of warranty.  

Our online services are dependent on the development and maintenance of the Internet infrastructure  

Our ability to deliver our online services is dependent on the development and maintenance of the infrastructure of the Internet by third 
parties. The Internet has experienced a variety of outages and other delays as a result of damages to portions of its infrastructure, and it could 
face outages and delays in the future. The Internet has also experienced, and is likely to continue to experience, significant growth in the number 
of users and the amount of traffic. If the Internet continues to experience increased usage, the Internet infrastructure may be unable to support the 
demands placed on it. In addition, the reliability and performance of the Internet may be harmed by increased usage or by denial-of-service 
attacks. Any resulting interruptions in our services or increases in response time could, if significant, result in a loss of potential or existing users 
of and advertisers and sponsors on our Websites and, if sustained or repeated, could reduce the attractiveness of our services.  

Customers who utilize our online services depend on Internet service providers and other Website operators for access to our Websites. All 
of these providers have experienced significant outages in the past and could experience outages, delays and other difficulties in the future due to 
system failures unrelated to our systems. Any such outages or other failures on their part could reduce traffic to our Websites.  

Third parties may challenge the enforceability of our online agreements  

The law governing the validity and enforceability of online agreements and other electronic transactions is evolving. We could be subject 
to claims by third parties that the online terms and conditions for use of our Websites, including disclaimers or limitations of liability, are 
unenforceable. A finding by a court that these terms and conditions or other online agreements are invalid could harm our business.  

We could be subject to breach of warranty or other claims by clients of our online portals if the software and systems we use to provide 
them contain errors or experience failures  

Errors in the software and systems we use could cause serious problems for clients of our online portals. We may fail to meet contractual 
performance standards or client expectations. Clients of our online portals may seek compensation from us or may seek to terminate their 
agreements with us, withhold payments due to us, seek refunds from us of part or all of the fees charged under those agreements or initiate 
litigation or other dispute resolution procedures. In addition, we could face breach of warranty or other claims by clients, or additional 
development costs. Our software and systems are inherently complex and, despite testing and quality control, we cannot be certain that they will 
perform as planned.  
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We attempt to limit, by contract, our liability to our clients for damages arising from our negligence, errors or mistakes. However, 
contractual limitations on liability may not be enforceable in certain circumstances or may otherwise not provide sufficient protection to us from 
liability for damages. We maintain liability insurance coverage, including coverage for errors and omissions. However, it is possible that claims 
could exceed the amount of our applicable insurance coverage, if any, or that this coverage may not continue to be available on acceptable terms 
or in sufficient amounts. Even if these claims do not result in liability to us, investigating and defending against them would be expensive and 
time consuming and could divert management’s attention away from our operations. In addition, negative publicity caused by these events may 
delay or hinder market acceptance of our services, including unrelated services.  
   

Risks Related to the Healthcare Industry, Healthcare Regulation and Internet Regulation  

Developments in the healthcare industry could adversely affect our business  

Our business could be adversely impacted by changes in the structure of the healthcare industry and other changes that reduce healthcare 
spending. We are particularly dependent on pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies for our advertising and sponsorship 
revenue. General reductions in expenditures by healthcare industry participants could result from, among other things:  
   

   

   

   

Federal and state legislatures and agencies periodically consider reforming aspects of the United States healthcare system. Significant 
federal healthcare reform legislation was enacted in March 2010, as discussed in the next risk factor. Additionally, in Europe, the national 
healthcare systems may be reformed from time to time.  

Even if general expenditures by industry participants remain the same or increase, developments in the healthcare industry may result in 
reduced spending in some or all of the specific market segments that we serve or are planning to serve. For example, use of our products and 
services could be affected by:  
   

   

   

   

In addition, our customers’ expectations regarding pending or potential industry developments may also affect their budgeting processes 
and spending plans with respect to products and services of the types we provide.  

The healthcare industry has changed significantly in recent years, and we expect that significant changes will continue to occur. However, 
the timing and impact of developments in the healthcare industry are difficult to predict. We cannot assure you that the markets for our products 
and services will continue to exist at current levels or that we will have adequate technical, financial and marketing resources to react to changes 
in those markets.  
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•   government regulation or private initiatives that affect the manner in which healthcare providers interact with patients, payers or other 

healthcare industry participants, including changes in pricing or means of delivery of healthcare products and services;  
  •   consolidation of healthcare industry participants;  
  •   reductions in governmental funding for healthcare; and  

  
•   adverse changes in business or economic conditions affecting healthcare payers or providers, pharmaceutical, biotechnology or medical 

device companies or other healthcare industry participants.  

  •   changes in the design of health insurance plans;  

  
•   the timing of FDA, or European or other national regulatory authority, approvals of generic products that compete with existing brand 

name products and any increase in the number or significance of such approvals or of withdrawals of brand name products from the 
market;  

  
•   the timing of FDA, or European or other national regulatory authority, approvals for new products or for new approved uses for existing 

products and any decrease in the number or significance of new drugs or medical devices coming to market or new approved uses for 
existing such products; and  

  
•   decreases in marketing expenditures by pharmaceutical or medical device companies, including as a result of governmental regulation 

or private initiatives that discourage or prohibit advertising, sponsorship or educational activities by pharmaceutical or medical device 
companies or that discourage or prohibit their use of online services for some or all such activities.  
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The Affordable Care Act could adversely affect some of our healthcare industry customers and clients  

The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education Reconciliation Act of 2010 (which we refer 
to as the Affordable Care Act), was signed into law in March 2010. The Affordable Care Act made extensive changes to the system of healthcare 
insurance and benefits in the U.S. While we do not currently anticipate any significant adverse effects on WebMD as a direct result of 
application of the Affordable Care Act to our business or on our company in its capacity as an employer, we are unable to predict what the future 
indirect impacts of the Affordable Care Act will be on WebMD’s business through its effects on other healthcare industry participants, including 
pharmaceutical and medical device companies that are advertisers and sponsors of our public portals, and employers and health plans that are 
clients of our WebMD Health Services private portals.  

Government regulation of healthcare creates risks and challenges with respect to our compliance efforts and our business strategies  

The healthcare industry is highly regulated and is subject to changing political, legislative, regulatory and other influences. Existing and 
new laws and regulations affecting the healthcare industry could create unexpected liabilities for us, could cause us to incur additional costs and 
could restrict our operations. Many healthcare laws are complex, and their application to specific products, services, and business arrangements 
may not be clear. In particular, many existing healthcare laws and regulations, when enacted, did not anticipate the healthcare information 
services that we provide. However, these laws and regulations may nonetheless be applied to our products, services, and business arrangements. 
Our failure to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations, or other failure to comply, could create liability for us, result in 
adverse publicity and negatively affect our business. Even in areas where we are not subject to healthcare regulation directly, we may become 
involved in governmental actions or investigations through our relationships with customers that are regulated, and participation in such actions 
or investigations, even if we are not a party and not the subject of an investigation, may cause us to incur significant expenses. Some of the risks 
we face from healthcare regulation are as follows:  
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•   U.S. Regulation of Drug and Medical Device Advertising and Promotion.    The WebMD Health Network provides services involving 
advertising and promotion of prescription and over-the-counter drugs and medical devices and claims of nutritional supplements. If the 
FDA or the Federal Trade Commission (FTC) finds that any of our products and services or any information on The WebMD Health 
Network , in our mobile applications, or in WebMD Magazine violates applicable regulations and guidance documents, they may take 
regulatory or judicial action against us and/or the advertiser or sponsor of that information. State attorneys general may take similar 
action based on their respective states’ consumer protection statutes. Any increase or change in regulation of drug or medical device 
advertising and promotion could make it more difficult for us to contract for sponsorships and advertising. In 2014, the FDA issued 
several draft guidance documents clarifying the application of its promotional regulations to certain content on social media Websites. 
We cannot predict how our customers or others in the industry might implement the FDA’s guidance in the future or how its 
implementation might affect our business. Recent private industry initiatives have resulted in voluntary restrictions, which advertisers 
and sponsors have agreed to follow.  

  

•   European Regulation of Drug and Medical Device Advertising and Promotion.     Our European Websites must comply with the 
national laws of the respective countries whose physicians they address. In most European countries, the advertising of prescription 
drugs to the general public is not allowed and, accordingly, these countries generally require access restrictions for Websites that 
contain such advertisements, which are only allowed to be addressed to healthcare professionals. In addition, there are laws and 
regulations regarding the use of indirect or disguised marketing, and regarding the offering and providing of gifts or benefits with 
promotional purpose that are not of minor value.  

  

•   Anti-Kickback Laws.     There are federal and state laws that govern patient referrals, physician financial relationships and inducements 
to healthcare providers and patients. The federal anti-kickback law prohibits any person or entity from offering, paying, soliciting or 
receiving anything of value, directly or indirectly, for the referral of patients for items or services reimbursed by Medicare, Medicaid 
and other  
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We may be subject to claims brought against us as a result of content we provide  

Consumers access health-related information through our online services, including information regarding particular medical conditions 
and possible adverse reactions or side effects from medications. Physicians and other healthcare professionals use our services to access clinical 
reference sources, commentary from leading medical experts, medical news, and coverage of professional meetings and conferences. If our 
content, or content we obtain from third parties, contains inaccuracies, it is possible that physicians, consumers, employees, health plan members 
or others may sue us for various causes of action. Although our Websites and mobile applications contain terms and conditions, including 
disclaimers of liability, that are intended to reduce or eliminate our liability, the law governing the validity and enforceability of online 
agreements and other electronic transactions is evolving. We could be subject to claims by third parties that our online agreements with 
consumers and physicians that provide the terms and conditions for use of our public or private portals or mobile applications are unenforceable. 
A finding by a court that these agreements are invalid and that we are subject to liability could harm our business and require costly changes to 
our business.  

We have editorial procedures in place to provide quality control of the information that we publish or provide. However, we cannot assure 
you that our editorial and other quality control procedures will be sufficient  
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federal healthcare programs or the leasing, purchasing, ordering or arranging for or recommending the lease, purchase or order of any 
item, good, facility or service reimbursed by these programs. Many states and European countries also have similar anti-kickback laws 
that are not necessarily limited to items or services for which payment is made by a government healthcare program. These laws are 
applicable to manufacturers and distributors and, therefore, may restrict how we and some of our customers market products to 
healthcare providers.  

  

•   False Claims Laws.     The Federal False Claims Act imposes liability on any person or entity who, among other things, knowingly 
presents, or causes to be presented, a false or fraudulent claim for payment by a Federal healthcare program. In addition, various states 
and European countries have enacted false claim laws analogous to the Federal False Claims Act, and many of these laws apply where a 
claim is submitted to any third-party payor and not merely a federal healthcare program. When an entity is determined to have violated 
the Federal False Claims Act, it may be required to pay up to three times the actual damages sustained by the government plus civil 
penalties. In recent years an increasing number of Federal False Claims Act cases have been brought against drug manufacturers and 
resulted in significant monetary settlements and imposition of federally supervised corporate integrity agreements in circumstances that 
include allegations that company-sponsored CME was unlawful off-label promotion. Any action against us for violation of these laws 
could cause us to incur significant legal expenses and may adversely affect our ability to operate our business. Similarly, False Claims 
Act actions and resulting corporate integrity agreements involving our customers may influence their willingness to continue to use our 
services.  

  

•   Regulation of Mobile Medical Applications and Other Mobile Health Technology.     Over the last several years, the FDA has issued 
guidance regarding mobile medical applications and other mobile health technology, clarifying the agency’s intent to regulate only 
those applications that meet the agency’s definition of “device” and could pose a risk to patients’ safety if they fail to work as intended. 
The FDA is exercising enforcement discretion with respect to certain lower risk mobile applications that meet the device definition. 
Mobile applications that do not meet the device definition are beyond the FDA’s jurisdiction, and therefore, not subject to the agency’s 
oversight. In addition, the FDA has recently proposed refraining from exercising active enforcement over certain products that promote 
health or healthy lifestyles even when promoted for patients with certain diseases or conditions. In light of FDA guidance, we believe 
that none of our existing online services and mobile applications are subject to regulation as a medical device under applicable FDA 
regulations. We are required to determine whether FDA regulations would apply to any of our applications and the FDA could disagree 
with the determination we have made. It is also possible that products or services that we may offer in the future could subject us to 
such regulation or that current rules could change or be interpreted to apply to some of our existing online services or mobile 
applications. Complying with such regulations could be burdensome and expensive and could delay our introduction of new services or 
applications.  
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to ensure that there are no errors or omissions in particular content. Even if potential claims do not result in liability to us, investigating and 
defending against these claims could be expensive and time-consuming and could divert management’s attention away from our operations. In 
addition, our business is based on establishing the reputation of our portals as trustworthy and dependable sources of healthcare information. 
Allegations of impropriety or inaccuracy, even if unfounded, could harm our reputation and business.  

Government regulation of the Internet could adversely affect our business  

The Internet and its associated technologies are subject to government regulation. However, whether and how existing laws and regulations 
in various jurisdictions, including privacy and consumer protection laws, apply to the Internet is still uncertain. Our failure, or the failure of our 
business partners or third-party service providers, to accurately anticipate the application of these laws and regulations to our products and 
services and the manner in which we deliver them, or any other failure to comply with such laws and regulations, could create liability for us, 
result in adverse publicity and negatively affect our business. In addition, new laws and regulations, or new interpretations of existing laws and 
regulations, may be adopted with respect to the Internet and online services, including in areas such as user privacy, confidentiality, consumer 
protection, marketing, pricing, content, copyrights and patents, and characteristics and quality of products and services. We cannot predict how 
these laws or regulations will affect our business.  

Internet and mobile user privacy, personal data security and the use of consumer information to track online activities are major issues both 
in the United States and abroad. The FTC and state attorneys general continue to pay close attention to Internet privacy issues and the FTC in 
May 2014 held a seminar focusing on privacy issues associated with “consumer generated and controlled health data,” which may be relevant to 
services we offer. The FTC and state attorneys general have otherwise been active in investigating and entering into consent decrees under their 
current unfair or deceptive trade practices authority with companies because of their online privacy and data security practices. In the U.S., the 
President has called for enactment of baseline privacy legislation and there is a possibility of new legislation and regulation and increased 
enforcement activities relating to privacy and behavioral advertising. In addition, changes in industry practice (whether on their own or when 
combined with regulatory changes) could adversely impact our ability to deliver advertisements based on online behavior. For example, it is 
possible that at some point in the future, it will be a common Internet practice for Websites to honor “Do Not Track” settings in Internet 
browsers that are turned on by default. Whether through industry practice or in combination with government regulation, such a development 
could limit our ability to serve advertisements to consumers based on online behavior on third party sites or on our sites, which could adversely 
affect our revenue.  

In Europe, Directive 2009/136/EC of the European Parliament and of the Council requires the user’s full information and consent prior to 
the installation and use of any so-called “cookie” on a user’s computer. This Directive has been implemented differently, if at all, in member 
states of the European Union and national requirements to remain compliant with the respective law may vary. Nevertheless, the provisions of 
this directive, whether effectively implemented in national laws, are now applicable in all the member states of the European Union and 
enforcement actions are now being considered by local data protection authorities. In addition, under draft General Data Protection Regulation 
under consideration by the European Commission (originally proposed in January 2012 and most recently recirculated in December 2014), 
additional requirements for users’ consent for offline and online marketing would be imposed. If enacted, this instrument will further strengthen 
the already very densely regulated area of Internet privacy in Europe. In addition, this revised European legislation, if adopted, would increase 
the likelihood of applicability of European law to entities established outside the European Union but processing data of European data subjects.  

We have privacy policies posted on our Websites that we believe comply with existing applicable laws requiring notice to users about our 
information collection, use and disclosure practices. We also notify users about our information collection, use and disclosure practices relating 
to data we receive through offline means such as paper health risk assessments. Moreover, we take steps to reasonably protect certain sensitive 
personal information we hold. We cannot assure you that the privacy policies and other statements we provide to users of our products and 
services, or our practices, will sufficiently protect us from liability or adverse publicity in this  
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area. A determination by a state or federal agency or court, or European data protection authority or competent court, that any of our practices do 
not meet applicable standards, or the implementation of new standards or requirements, could adversely affect our business.  

Failure to comply with laws relating to privacy and security of personal information, including personal health information, could result 
in liability to us and concerns about privacy-related issues could damage our reputation and our business  

Privacy and security of personal information stored or transmitted electronically, including personal health information, are a major issue 
in the United States and abroad. While we strive to comply with all applicable privacy and security laws and regulations, as well as our own 
posted privacy policies, legal standards for privacy including, but not limited to, “unfairness” and “deception” as enforced by the FTC and state 
attorneys general continue to evolve and any failure or perceived failure to comply may result in proceedings or actions against us by 
government entities or others, or could cause us to lose users and customers, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. There 
has been an increase in the number of private privacy-related lawsuits filed against companies recently. In addition, we are unable to predict 
what additional legislation or regulation in the area of privacy of personal information, including personal health information, could be enacted 
and what effect that could have on our operations and business. Concerns about our practices with regard to the collection, use, disclosure, or 
security of personal information or other privacy-related matters, even if unfounded and even if we are in compliance with applicable laws, could 
damage our reputation and harm our business.  

The Privacy Standards and Security Standards under the Health Insurance Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (or HIPAA), as 
amended by the Health Information Technology for Economic and Clinical Health (HITECH) Act of 2009, establish a set of national privacy 
and security standards for the protection of individually identifiable health information by health plans, healthcare clearinghouses and healthcare 
providers (referred to as “covered entities”) and their “business associates,” which are persons or entities that perform certain services for, or on 
behalf of, a covered entity that involve the use or disclosure of protected health information. Certain portions of our business, such as those 
managing employee or plan member health information for employers or health plans, are subject to HIPAA as business associates of covered 
entities. In addition to imposing privacy and security requirements, HIPAA also creates obligations for us to report any unauthorized use or 
disclosure of protected health information, known as a breach, to our covered entity customers. The 2013 final HITECH rule modifies the breach 
reporting standard in a manner that makes more data security incidents qualify as reportable breaches. In addition, HITECH and its 
implementing regulations impose similar data breach notification requirements on vendors of personal health records that require us to notify 
affected individuals and the FTC in the event of a data breach involving the unsecured personal information of users of our public portal 
services. Violations of HIPAA may result in civil and criminal penalties and could damage our reputation and harm our business. HITECH 
increased civil penalty amounts for violations of HIPAA and significantly strengthened enforcement by requiring the HHS to conduct periodic 
audits to confirm compliance and authorizing state attorneys general to bring civil actions seeking either injunctions or damages in response to 
violations of HIPAA Privacy Standards and Security Standards that threaten the privacy of state residents. We cannot assure you that we will 
adequately address the risks created by these amended HIPAA Privacy Standards and Security Standards. In addition, we are unable to predict 
what changes to these Standards might be made in the future or how those changes, or other changes in applicable laws and regulations, could 
affect our business.  

In Europe, the current national implementations of the existing general data protection Directive 95/46/EC and of the e-Privacy Directive 
2002/58/EC provide for criminal and administrative sanctions in case of violations, even though criminal sanctions are very rarely imposed. For 
example, France and Germany provide for administrative fines of up to 300,000 Euros (approximately 360,000 USD) in case of illegal collection 
or processing of personal identifiable information. Under draft General Data Protection Regulation under consideration by the European 
Commission (originally proposed in January 2012 and most recently recirculated in December 2014), fines of up to 100,000,000 Euros 
(approximately 120,000,000 USD) or up to 5% of the global sales of the infringer could be imposed.  
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Failure to maintain CME accreditation could adversely affect Medscape, LLC’s ability to provide online CME offerings  

Medscape, LLC’s continuing medical education (or CME) activities are planned and implemented in accordance with the current Essential 
Areas and Elements and the Policies of the Accreditation Council for Continuing Medical Education (or ACCME), which oversees providers of 
CME credit, and other applicable accreditation standards. ACCME’s standards for commercial support of CME are intended to assure, among 
other things, that CME activities of ACCME-accredited providers, such as Medscape, LLC, are independent of “commercial interests,” which 
are defined as entities that produce, market, re-sell or distribute healthcare goods and services, excluding certain organizations. “Commercial 
interests,” and entities owned or controlled by “commercial interests,” are ineligible for accreditation by the ACCME. From time to time, the 
ACCME revises its standards for commercial support of CME. As a result of certain past ACCME revisions, we adjusted our corporate structure 
and made changes to our management and operations intended to allow Medscape, LLC to provide CME activities that are developed 
independently from programs developed by its sister companies, which may not be independent of “commercial interests.” We believe that these 
changes allow Medscape, LLC to satisfy the applicable standards.  

Medscape, LLC’s current ACCME accreditation expires in 2016. In order for Medscape, LLC to renew its accreditation, it will be required 
to demonstrate to the ACCME that it continues to meet ACCME requirements. If Medscape, LLC fails to maintain its status as an accredited 
ACCME provider (whether at the time of such renewal or at an earlier time as a result of a failure to comply with existing or additional ACCME 
standards), it will not be permitted to accredit CME activities for physicians and other healthcare professionals. Instead, Medscape, LLC would 
be required to use third parties to provide such CME-related services. That, in turn, could discourage potential supporters from engaging 
Medscape, LLC to develop CME or education-related activities, which could have a material adverse effect on our business.  

CME regulations also apply in other countries. For example, under German law, certain CME programs must be approved by the State 
Medical Chamber. Additionally, German CME-related services must be free of commercial/business interests and the provider of CME services 
must be compliant with German laws and regulations. In France, a similar new regulatory framework that restricts the organization of CME 
activities has been completed. These or similar restrictions in other countries may restrict our ability to carry out activities related to CME 
programs and/or refer to drugs or medical devices in such CME programs. Moreover, if we are not able to demonstrate compliance with these 
regulations, applicable approvals may not be obtained from governmental authorities, which may impact our ability to provide CME-related 
services and which could have an adverse effect on our business.  

Government regulation and industry initiatives could adversely affect the volume of sponsored online CME programs implemented 
through our Websites or require changes to how Medscape, LLC offers CME  

CME activities may be subject to government oversight or regulation by Congress, the FDA, HHS, and state regulatory agencies. 
Medscape, LLC and/or the sponsors of the CME activities that Medscape, LLC accredits may be subject to enforcement actions if any of these 
CME activities are deemed improperly promotional, potentially leading to the termination of sponsorships. Medscape, LLC and/or the sponsors 
of the CME activities that Medscape, LLC accredits also could be affected by industry initiatives regarding funding for CME.  

Educational activities directed at physicians, including CME, have been subject to increased governmental scrutiny in recent years to 
ensure that sponsors do not influence or control the content of the activities. The Department of Justice continues to examine CME sponsorship 
by pharmaceutical companies. In addition, as part of the Affordable Care Act, pharmaceutical companies are now required to publicly report 
certain payments and transfers of value that they make to U.S. physicians, including payments related to CME. The federal government’s 
interpretation of this reporting requirement, which has been evolving and may continue to change, could affect pharmaceutical companies’ views 
of their reporting obligations with respect to payments in support of authors and presenters of CME material. In implementing internal controls 
and procedures that promote adherence to applicable regulations and requirements, supporters of CME may interpret the regulations and  
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requirements differently and may implement varying procedures or requirements. These regulations and requirements, and the related internal 
controls and procedures:  
   

   

   

   

In addition, future changes to laws, regulations or accreditation standards, or to the internal compliance programs of supporters or potential 
supporters, may further discourage, significantly limit, or prohibit supporters or potential supporters from engaging in educational activities with 
Medscape, LLC, or may require Medscape, LLC to make further changes in the way it offers or provides educational activities.  

Failure to comply with applicable anti-corruption laws could subject us to penalties and other adverse consequences  

The United States and other countries have adopted anti-corruption laws that generally prohibit directly or indirectly giving, offering or 
promising inducements to public officials to elicit an improper commercial advantage. Under applicable U.S., German, and most European law, 
this prohibition has been interpreted to apply to doctors and other medical professionals who work in state-run hospitals and state-run healthcare 
systems. Some of these laws also prohibit directly or indirectly giving, offering or promising (and, in some cases, accepting or soliciting) 
inducements to (or from) private parties to elicit (or grant) an improper commercial advantage. In recent years, the U.S. Government has brought 
enforcement actions that led to significant monetary penalties against several companies operating in the global healthcare industry for violations 
of anti-corruption laws resulting from illegal payments made to non-U.S. medical professionals.  

As our business expands outside the United States, we (and others acting on our behalf) increasingly interact with non-U.S. doctors and 
other medical professionals, at least some of whom work in state-run hospitals or healthcare systems. Such interactions inherently increase the 
risk of violating applicable anti-corruption laws. While we believe that we have appropriate compliance policies and procedures in place to 
mitigate such risk, our personnel and others acting on our behalf could engage in conduct that violates such laws, for which we could be held 
responsible. Under such circumstances, we could be subject to civil and/or criminal penalties and other consequences that could have a material 
adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations. In addition, our brand and reputation, our sales activities and the 
price of our Common Stock and other securities could be adversely affected if we were to become the target of any resulting negative publicity.  
   

Other Risks Applicable to Our Company and to Ownership of Our Securities  

Provisions in our organizational documents and Delaware law may inhibit a takeover, which could adversely affect the value of our 
Common Stock  

Our Restated Certificate of Incorporation and Bylaws, as well as Delaware corporate law, contain provisions that could delay or prevent a 
change of control or changes in our management and board of directors that holders of our Common Stock might consider favorable and may 
prevent them from receiving a takeover premium for their shares. These provisions include, for example, our classified board structure and the 
authorization of our board of directors to issue up to 50 million shares of preferred stock without a stockholder vote. In addition, our Restated 
Certificate of Incorporation provides that stockholders may not act by written consent and may not call special meetings. These provisions apply 
even if an offer to purchase our company may be considered beneficial by some of our stockholders. If a change of control or change in 
management is delayed or prevented, the market price of our Common Stock could decline.  
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  •   may discourage pharmaceutical and medical device companies from providing grants for independent educational activities;  
  •   may slow their internal approval for such grants;  

  
•   may reduce the volume of sponsored educational programs that Medscape, LLC produces to levels that are lower than in the past, 

thereby reducing revenue; and  
  •   may require Medscape, LLC to make changes to how it offers or provides educational programs, including CME.  
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If certain transactions occur with respect to our capital stock, limitations may be imposed on our ability to utilize net operating loss 
carryforwards and tax credits to reduce our income taxes  

WebMD has substantial accumulated net operating loss (NOL) carryforwards and tax credits available to offset taxable income in future 
tax periods. If certain transactions occur with respect to WebMD’s capital stock (including issuances, redemptions, recapitalizations, exercises of 
options, conversions of convertible debt, purchases or sales by 5%-or-greater shareholders and similar transactions) that result in a cumulative 
change of more than 50% of the ownership of capital stock over a three-year period (as determined under rules prescribed by Section 382 of the 
U.S. Internal Revenue Code and applicable Treasury regulations), an annual limitation would be imposed with respect to the ability to utilize 
WebMD’s NOL carryforwards and federal tax credits that existed at the time of the ownership change.  

In November 2008, HLTH repurchased shares of its Common Stock in a tender offer. The tender offer resulted in a cumulative change of 
more than 50% of the ownership of HLTH’s capital, as determined under rules prescribed by Section 382 of the Code and applicable Treasury 
regulations. As a result of this ownership change, there is an annual limitation imposed on the amount of the NOL carryforwards and federal tax 
credits existing at the time of the ownership change that we may use to offset income in each tax year following the ownership change.  

In April 2012, September 2013 and September 2014, WebMD repurchased shares of its Common Stock in tender offers (collectively, the 
“Tender Offers”). Completion of the Tender Offers may increase the possibility of another ownership change, which could decrease the existing 
annual limitation and would apply to all NOL carryforwards and tax credits generated prior to this potential new ownership change.  

We may not be successful in protecting our intellectual property and proprietary rights  

Our intellectual property and proprietary rights are important to our businesses. The steps that we take to protect our intellectual property, 
proprietary information and trade secrets may prove to be inadequate and, whether or not adequate, may be expensive. We rely on a combination 
of trade secret, patent and other intellectual property laws and confidentiality procedures and non-disclosure contractual provisions to protect our 
intellectual property. We cannot assure you that we will be able to detect potential or actual misappropriation or infringement of our intellectual 
property, proprietary information or trade secrets. Even if we detect misappropriation or infringement by a third party, we cannot assure you that 
we will be able to enforce our rights at a reasonable cost, or at all. In addition, our rights to intellectual property, proprietary information and 
trade secrets may not prevent independent third-party development and commercialization of competing products or services.  

Third parties may claim that we are infringing their intellectual property, and we could suffer significant litigation or licensing expenses 
or be prevented from providing certain services, which may harm our business  

We have been, and may continue to be, subject to claims that we are misappropriating or infringing intellectual property or other 
proprietary rights of others. These claims, even if not meritorious, may be expensive to defend and divert management’s attention from our 
operations. If we become liable to third parties for infringing these rights, we could be required to pay a substantial damage award and to 
develop non-infringing technology, obtain a license or cease selling the products or services that use or contain the infringing intellectual 
property. We may be unable to develop non-infringing products or services or obtain a license on commercially reasonable terms, or at all. We 
may also be required to indemnify our customers if they become subject to third-party claims relating to intellectual property that we license or 
otherwise provide to them, which could be costly.  

Acquisitions, business combinations and other transactions may be difficult to complete and, if completed, may have negative 
consequences for our business and our security holders  

We may seek to acquire or to engage in business combinations with companies engaged in complementary businesses. In addition, we may 
enter into joint ventures, strategic alliances or similar arrangements with third parties. These transactions may result in changes in the nature and 
scope of our operations and changes in our  
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financial condition. Our success in completing these types of transactions will depend on, among other things, our ability to locate suitable 
candidates and negotiate mutually acceptable terms with them, and to obtain adequate financing. Significant competition for these opportunities 
exists, which may increase the cost of and decrease the opportunities for these types of transactions. Financing for these transactions may come 
from several sources, including:  
   

   

   

The issuance of additional equity or debt securities could:  
   

   

   

   

   

We do not intend to seek security holder approval for any such acquisition or security issuance unless required by applicable law, regulation or 
the terms of then-existing securities.  

Our business will suffer if we fail to successfully integrate acquired businesses and technologies or to assess the risks in particular 
transactions  

We have in the past acquired, and may in the future acquire, businesses, technologies, services, product lines and other assets. The 
successful integration of the acquired businesses and assets into our operations, on a cost-effective basis, can be critical to our future 
performance. The amount and timing of the expected benefits of any acquisition, including potential synergies between our company and the 
acquired business, are subject to significant risks and uncertainties. These risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to, those relating to: 
   

   

   

   

   

We cannot guarantee that any acquired businesses will be successfully integrated with our operations in a timely or cost-effective manner, or at 
all. Failure to successfully integrate acquired businesses or to achieve anticipated operating synergies, revenue enhancements or cost savings 
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.  

Although our management attempts to evaluate the risks inherent in each transaction and to value acquisition candidates appropriately, we 
cannot assure you that we will properly ascertain all such risks or that acquired businesses and assets will perform as we expect or enhance the 
value of our company as a whole. In addition, acquired companies or businesses may have larger than expected liabilities that are not covered by 
the indemnification, if any, that we are able to obtain from the sellers.  

We may not be able to raise additional funds when needed for our business or to exploit opportunities  

Our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend upon numerous factors, including the success of our service offerings, market 
developments, and repurchases of our Common Stock. We may need to raise  
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  •   cash and cash equivalents on hand and marketable securities;  
  •   proceeds from the incurrence of indebtedness; and  
  •   proceeds from the issuance of common stock, preferred stock, convertible debt or of other securities.  

  •   cause substantial dilution of the percentage ownership of our stockholders at the time of the issuance;  
  •   cause substantial dilution of our earnings per share;  

  
•   subject us to the risks associated with increased leverage, including a reduction in our ability to obtain financing or an increase in the 

cost of any financing we obtain;  
  •   subject us to restrictive covenants that could limit our flexibility in conducting future business activities; and  
  •   adversely affect the prevailing market price for our outstanding securities.  

  •   our ability to maintain relationships with the customers of the acquired business;  
  •   our ability to retain or replace key personnel of the acquired business;  
  •   potential conflicts in sponsor or advertising relationships or in relationships with strategic partners;  
  •   our ability to coordinate organizations that are geographically diverse and may have different business cultures; and  
  •   compliance with regulatory requirements.  
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additional funds to support expansion, develop new or enhanced applications and services, respond to competitive pressures, acquire 
complementary businesses or technologies or take advantage of unanticipated opportunities. If required, we may raise such additional funds 
through public or private debt or equity financing, strategic relationships or other arrangements. There can be no assurance that such financing 
will be available on acceptable terms, if at all, or that such financing will not be dilutive to our stockholders.  
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None.  

   

We believe that our company’s offices and other facilities are, in general, in good operating condition and adequate for our current 
operations and that additional leased space in appropriate locations can be obtained on acceptable terms if needed.  

We lease approximately 100,000 square feet of office space in New York City for our corporate headquarters and certain of our operations 
under a lease for which the term expires in December 2016, but we have the right to vacate the space prior to December 2016. Our company has 
executed a new sublease for approximately 148,000 square feet of office space in New York City for the relocation of our corporate headquarters 
and certain of our operations, which will be available on or about July 1, 2015, and which has a term expiring April 2024, and at our option can 
be extended for an additional five years. We also lease additional office space in New York City and lease office space and operational facilities 
in: Elmwood Park, New Jersey; Atlanta, Georgia; Montreal, Canada; Chicago, Illinois; Ashburn, Virginia; Indianapolis, Indiana; Portland, 
Oregon; San Clemente and San Diego, California; Redmond, Washington; Durham, North Carolina; and Paris, France.  

   

The information relating to legal proceedings contained in Note 7 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report 
is incorporated herein by this reference.  

   

Not applicable.  
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Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments 

Item 2. Properties 

Item 3. Legal Proceedings 
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PART II  
   

Market Information  

We completed the initial public offering of our Class A Common Stock on September 28, 2005. Our Class A Common Stock began trading 
on the Nasdaq National Market under the symbol “WBMD” on September 29, 2005. Upon completion of our merger with HLTH Corporation in 
October 2009 and the resulting cancellation of our Class B Common Stock (all of which had been owned by HLTH), our Class A Common 
Stock began being referred to simply as Common Stock. Our Common Stock now trades on the Nasdaq Global Select Market. The high and low 
prices of our Common Stock for each quarterly period during the last two fiscal years are as follows:  
   

The market price of our Common Stock has fluctuated in the past and is likely to fluctuate in the future. Changes in the market price of our 
Common Stock may result from, among other things:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

In addition, the market prices of our Common Stock and of the stock of other Internet-related companies have experienced large fluctuations, 
sometimes quite rapidly. These fluctuations often may be unrelated to or disproportionate to operating performance.  
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Item 5. Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

     High      Low   
2013        

First quarter     $ 24.85       $ 14.74    
Second quarter       31.63         22.23    
Third quarter       35.28         26.07    
Fourth quarter       40.86         28.14    
2014        

First quarter     $ 51.41       $ 38.54    
Second quarter       49.99         37.43    
Third quarter       53.30         41.27    
Fourth quarter       43.59         34.48    

  •   quarter-to-quarter variations in operating results;  
  •   operating results being different from our previously announced guidance or from analysts’  estimates or opinions;  
  •   changes in analysts’  or financial commentators’  earnings estimates, ratings or opinions;  
  •   changes in financial guidance or other forward-looking information;  
  •   new products, services or pricing policies introduced by us or our competitors;  
  •   acquisitions by us or our competitors;  
  •   developments in existing customer relationships;  
  •   actual or perceived changes in our business strategy;  
  •   developments in new or pending litigation and claims;  
  •   sales of large amounts of our Common Stock;  
  •   changes in general business or regulatory conditions affecting the healthcare, information technology or Internet industries;  
  •   changes in general economic conditions; and  
  •   fluctuations in the securities markets in general.  
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Holders  

On February 23, 2015, there were approximately 1,150 holders of record of our Common Stock. Because many of these shares are held by 
brokers and other institutions on behalf of stockholders, we are unable to determine the total number of stockholders represented by these record 
holders, but we believe there are more than 20,000 holders of our Common Stock.  

Dividends  

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on our Common Stock, and we do not anticipate paying cash dividends in the 
foreseeable future.  

Repurchases of Equity Securities During the Fourth Quarter of 2014  

The following table provides information about purchases by WebMD during the three months ended December 31, 2014 of equity 
securities that are registered by us pursuant to Section 12 of the Exchange Act:  

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities  
   

   

   

   
55  

Period     

Total  
Number of 

 
Shares  

Purchased 
     

Average Price 

 
Paid per  

Share      

Total Number of 

 
Shares  

Purchased as  
Part of Publicly 

Announced 
Plans or  

Programs      

Approximate  
Dollar Value  of  

Shares that May Yet 

 
Be Purchased Under 

 
the Plans or  
Programs   

10/01/14 – 10/31/14       280,845       $ 36.87         275,475       $ 26,104,560    
11/01/14 – 11/30/14       284,972       $ 37.73         283,729       $ 39,299,063    
12/01/14 – 12/31/14       116,908       $ 36.72         116,779       $ 35,011,224    

         
  

            
  

   

Total       682,725       $ 37.20         675,983       
         

  

            

  

   

  
(1) Includes the following number of shares withheld from WebMD Restricted Common Stock that vested during the respective periods in order to satisfy withholding tax requirements 

related to the vesting of the awards: 5,370 in October; 1,243 in November; and 129 in December. The value of these shares was determined based on the closing price of WebMD 
Common Stock on the date of vesting. 

(2) In August 2011, a stock repurchase program (the “Program”) was established through which WebMD was authorized to use up to $75,000,000 to purchase shares of its Common Stock. 
Increases to the Program of $75,000,000, $50,000,000, $40,000,000 and $30,000,000 were authorized in October 2011, February 2014, March 2014 and April 2014, respectively. In 
November 2014 (during the period covered in this table), an additional increase to the Program of approximately $23,895,000 was authorized. For additional information, see Note 10 to 
the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report. 

(1) (2) (2) 
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Performance Graph  

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on WebMD Common Stock with the comparable cumulative return 
of the NASDAQ Composite Index and the Research Data Group (RDG) Internet Composite Index over the period of time covered in the graph. 
The graph assumes that $100 was invested in WebMD Common Stock and in each index on December 31, 2009. The stock price performance 
on the following graph is not necessarily indicative of future stock price performance.  

   

  
   

56  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

The following selected consolidated financial data should be read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of 
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” and with the Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto, which are included elsewhere 
in this Annual Report.  
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Item 6. Selected Financial Data 

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012     2011      2010   
     (In thousands, except per share data)   

Consolidated Statements of Operations Data:                

Revenue     $ 580,449       $ 515,293       $ 469,866      $ 558,775       $ 534,519    
Cost of operations       224,094         209,740         216,361        201,677         187,831    
Sales and marketing       136,160         127,997         127,659        124,326         120,874    
General and administrative       94,119         93,220         97,618        91,271         85,496    
Depreciation and amortization       29,811         26,606         28,399        26,801         27,578    
Interest income       69         76         86        112         3,949    
Interest expense       24,686         22,826         23,334        20,645         11,453    
Loss on convertible notes       —        4,871         —       —        23,332    
Gain (loss) on investments       —        —        8,074        18,516         (9,517 )  
Restructuring       —        —        7,579        —        —   
Transaction, severance and other expense       —        1,353         2,297        2,328         72    

         
  

         
  

         
  

        
  

         
  

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax provision 
(benefit)       71,648         28,756         (25,221 )      110,355         72,315    

Income tax provision (benefit)       30,707         13,640         (2,134 )      46,167         20,043    
         

  
         

  
         

  
        

  
         

  

Income (loss) from continuing operations       40,941         15,116         (23,087 )      64,188         52,272    
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax       1,122         —        2,743        10,388         1,800    

                                                      

Net income (loss)     $ 42,063       $ 15,116       $ (20,344 )    $ 74,576       $ 54,072    
         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

Basic income (loss) per common share:                

Income (loss) from continuing operations     $ 1.08       $ 0.32       $ (0.45 )    $ 1.11       $ 0.93    
Income from discontinued operations       0.03         —        0.05        0.18         0.04    

                                                      

Net income (loss)     $ 1.11       $ 0.32       $ (0.40 )    $ 1.29       $ 0.97    
         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

Diluted income (loss) per common share:                

Income (loss) from continuing operations     $ 0.97       $ 0.31       $ (0.45 )    $ 1.08       $ 0.85    
Income from discontinued operations       0.03         —        0.05        0.17         0.03    

                                                      

Net income (loss)     $ 1.00       $ 0.31       $ (0.40 )    $ 1.25       $ 0.88    
         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

Weighted-average shares outstanding used in computing per share amounts:                

Basic       37,869         46,830         50,862        57,356         55,328    
         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

         

  

Diluted       45,614         48,398         50,862        59,124         62,228    
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     As of December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012      2011      2010   
     (In thousands)   
Consolidated Balance Sheet Data:                 

Cash, cash equivalents and investments     $ 706,776       $ 824,880       $ 991,835       $ 1,121,217       $ 400,501    
Working capital (excluding assets and liabilities of 

discontinued operations)       713,163         817,088         966,235         1,132,431         420,353    
Total assets       1,197,557         1,325,628         1,490,625         1,641,025         942,202    
Convertible notes, net of discount       952,232         952,232         800,000         800,000         —   
Stockholders’  equity       61,589         190,900         509,989         674,436         752,895    
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This Item 7 contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Please see “Forward-Looking Statements” on page ii 
of this Annual Report for a discussion of the uncertainties, risks and assumptions associated with these statements. The results of operations for 
the periods reflected herein are not necessarily indicative of results that may be expected for future periods, and our actual results may differ 
materially from those discussed in our forward-looking statements as a result of various factors, including but not limited to those listed under 
“Risk Factors” in Item 1A of this Annual Report and those included elsewhere in this Annual Report. In this Item 7, dollar amounts (other than 
per share amounts) are stated in thousands, unless otherwise noted.  

Overview  

Management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations, or MD&A, is provided as a supplement to the 
Consolidated Financial Statements and notes thereto included elsewhere in this Annual Report and is intended to provide an understanding of 
our results of operations, financial condition and changes in our results of operations and financial condition. Our MD&A is organized as 
follows:  
   

   

   

   

   

Introduction  

Our Company.     WebMD Health Corp. is a Delaware corporation that was incorporated on May 3, 2005. We completed an initial public 
offering on September 28, 2005. Our Common Stock trades under the symbol “WBMD” on the Nasdaq Global Select Market.  

Our Business.     We are a leading provider of health information services to consumers, physicians and other healthcare professionals, 
employers and health plans through our public and private online portals, mobile platforms and health-focused publications. The WebMD Health 
Network includes: www.WebMD.com , our primary public portal for consumers and related mobile-optimized sites and mobile apps; 
www.Medscape.com , our primary public portal for physicians and other healthcare professionals and related mobile services; and other sites and 
apps through which we provide our branded health and wellness content, tools and services. Our services for consumers enable them to obtain 
information on health and wellness topics or on a particular disease or condition, to assess their personal health status, to use online trackers, 
tools and quizzes, to locate physicians, to receive periodic e-mailed newsletters and alerts on topics of individual interest, and to participate in 
online communities with peers and experts. Our services for physicians and healthcare professionals make it easier for them to access clinical 
reference sources, stay abreast of the latest clinical information, learn about new treatment options, earn continuing medical education (which we 
refer to as CME) credit and communicate with peers. We  
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations 

  
•   Introduction.     This section provides: a general description of our company and its business; background information on certain trends, 

transactions and other developments affecting our company; and a discussion of how seasonal factors may impact the timing of our 
revenue.  

  

•   Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies.     This section discusses those accounting policies that are considered important to the 
evaluation and reporting of our financial condition and results of operations, and whose application requires us to exercise subjective 
and often complex judgments in making estimates and assumptions. In addition, all of our significant accounting policies, including our 
critical accounting policies, are summarized in Note 2 to the Consolidated Financial Statements included in this Annual Report.  

  
•   Results of Operations and Supplemental Financial and Operating Information.     These sections provide our analysis and outlook for 

the significant line items on our statements of operations, as well as other information that we deem meaningful to understand our 
results of operations on a consolidated basis.  

  
•   Liquidity and Capital Resources.     This section provides an analysis of our liquidity and cash flows, as well as a discussion of our 

commitments that existed as of December 31, 2014.  

  
•   Recent Accounting Pronouncements.     This section provides a summary of the most recent authoritative accounting standards and 

guidance that have either been recently adopted by our company or may be adopted in the future.  
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do not charge any usage, membership or download fees for access to our public portals or mobile platforms. We generate revenue from our 
public portals and mobile platforms primarily through the sale of various types of advertising and sponsorship programs to our clients, which 
include: pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies; hospitals, clinics and other healthcare services companies; health 
insurance providers; consumer products companies whose products or services relate to health, wellness, diet, fitness, lifestyle, safety and illness 
prevention; and various other businesses, organizations and governmental entities. Advertisers and sponsors use our services to reach, educate 
and inform target audiences of consumers, physicians and other healthcare professionals. We also generate revenue from advertising sold in 
WebMD Magazine , a consumer magazine distributed to physician office waiting rooms.  

Our private portals are a cloud-based population health management platform, hosted by WebMD and provided to private and 
governmental employers and health plans for use by their employees and plan participants. We market these private portals and related services 
under the WebMD Health Services brand. The WebMD Health Services platform enables employers and health plans to provide their employees 
and plan participants with access to personalized health and benefit information, including an online personal health record application. Our 
WebMD Health Services solutions include a comprehensive set of decision support and transparency tools that help their employees and plan 
participants understand the financial implications of their benefits options and make more informed benefits-related purchase decisions and also 
provide access to information and services that can help them factor quality and cost into decisions about care and treatment options. We also 
provide telephonic, online and onsite health coaching and targeted condition management programs for use by our private portals clients’ 
employees and plan participants to help them make healthier lifestyle choices and achieve their wellness goals. We generate revenue from 
subscriptions to our WebMD Health Services platform by employers and health plans, either directly or through distributors. In addition, we 
offer our health coaching services and our condition management programs on a per participant basis.  

We generate revenue from the sale of certain information products and services on a standalone basis using de-identified data that we 
license from a small number of third party data sources, of which the principal source is a license retained by HLTH Corporation, our former 
parent company, in connection with the sale of its Emdeon Business Services business (EBS). As the successor to HLTH, we received this 
license which provides us the rights to certain de-identified data from the operation of the EBS business through February 2018 for use in the 
development and commercialization of various information products and services. Customers include data services, informatics and consulting 
companies.  

Background Information on Certain Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business.     Key trends and developments affecting the 
use of healthcare information services of the types we provide or are developing and our ability to generate revenue from those services include 
the following:  
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•   Use of the Internet by Consumers and Physicians.     The Internet has emerged as a major communications medium and has 
fundamentally changed many sectors of the economy, including the marketing and sales of financial services, travel, and entertainment, 
among others. The Internet is also changing the healthcare industry and has transformed how consumers and physicians find and utilize 
healthcare information.  

  

—   Healthcare consumers increasingly seek to educate themselves online about their healthcare-related issues, motivated by the desire 
to become better informed patients and to become more engaged healthcare consumers because of the larger share of healthcare 
costs they are being asked to bear due to changes in the benefit designs being offered by health plans and employers. The Internet 
has fundamentally changed the way consumers obtain health and wellness information, enabling them to have immediate access to 
searchable information and dynamic interactive content to check symptoms, understand diseases, find providers and evaluate 
treatment options.  

  
—   The Internet has become a primary source of information for physicians and other healthcare professionals seeking to improve 

clinical practice and to interact with their peers. The Internet has also become one of the primary means for physicians and other 
healthcare professionals to obtain CME and CE.  
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Additional factors that may affect the timing of contracting for specific programs with advertisers and sponsors, or receipt of revenue 
under such contracts, include: the timing of Food and Drug Administration (“FDA”) approval for new products or for new approved 
uses for existing products; the timing of FDA approval of generic products that compete with existing brand name products and any 
increase in the number or significance of such approvals or of withdrawals of products from the market; consolidation of companies in 
the pharmaceutical and biotechnology industries; the timing of roll-outs of new or enhanced services on our public portals; seasonal 
factors relating to the prevalence of specific health conditions and other seasonal factors that may affect the timing of promotional 
campaigns for specific products; and the scheduling of conferences for physicians and other healthcare professionals.  

   

   
61  

  

•   Online Marketing and Education Spending for Healthcare Products.     Pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies 
spend large amounts each year marketing their products and educating consumers and physicians about them; however, only a small 
portion is currently spent on online services. We believe that these companies, which represented approximately 73% of our advertising 
and sponsorship revenue in 2014, are aware of the effectiveness of the Internet relative to traditional media in providing health, clinical 
and product-related information to consumers and physicians. In addition, in an effort to improve operating efficiencies, some 
pharmaceutical companies have been reducing their field sales forces in the past several years. In addition, we expect that the pipeline of 
new pharmaceutical products will be strong in the next year and that a significant portion of those products will be ones for which our 
digital platforms are particularly effective in providing communications to the target audiences that pharmaceutical companies want to 
reach about specific therapies. However, notwithstanding our general expectation for increased future demand, we cannot predict the 
extent or the pace of any shift by pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device companies of their marketing expenditures to 
online services or to what extent they will choose WebMD to provide such services. Furthermore, our advertising and sponsorship 
revenue may vary significantly from quarter to quarter due to a number of other factors, many of which are outside our control, 
including general economic and regulatory conditions and the following:  

  
—   The majority of our advertising and sponsorship contracts are for terms of approximately four to twelve months. We have relatively 

few longer term advertising and sponsorship contracts.  

  

—   The time between the date of initial contact with a potential advertiser or sponsor regarding a specific program and the execution of 
a contract with the advertiser or sponsor for that program, as well as the additional time period before our services are delivered, 
may be longer than expected, especially for medium-sized and larger contracts, and may be subject to delays over which we have 
little or no control, including as a result of budgetary constraints of the advertiser or sponsor or their need for internal approvals, 
including internal approvals relating to compliance with the laws and regulations applicable to the marketing of healthcare products. 
We have experienced, from time to time in the past, a lengthening of this internal review process by pharmaceutical and 
biotechnology companies, which has resulted in delays in contracting, as well as delays in recognizing expected revenue under 
executed contracts, and we cannot predict whether similar delays may occur in future periods.  

  

•   Other Factors Affecting the Demand for Our Advertising and Sponsorship Services.     Some of our pharmaceutical company customers 
have experienced patent expirations for certain of their products in the past several years and some are expected to experience patent 
expirations over the next several years. In the pharmaceutical industry, patent expirations allow for competition from lower-priced 
generic versions of the patented drugs and generally result in the termination of marketing efforts for the drug. We believe that patent 
expirations led to significant overall reductions in marketing, selling and educational expenditures by some pharmaceutical companies 
in 2012 across their entire product portfolios. Amounts budgeted for online advertising increased for some of our biopharmaceutical 
customers in 2013 and 2014, although we cannot predict if that will continue. In addition to pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical 
device companies, our public portals advertisers and sponsors include companies that provide over-the-counter drugs and other 
healthcare products, food and beverages, beauty products and other consumer products, particularly for products and services that relate 
to health, wellness, diet, fitness, lifestyle, safety and illness prevention, as well as clients such as retailers, pharmacies, hospitals, health 
insurance  
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Consumers and healthcare professionals are increasingly using smartphones, tablets and other mobile devices to access the Internet, 
with physicians increasingly using mobile devices during treatment at the point of care. Accordingly, the portion of our page views from 
mobile devices has increased rapidly in the past several years as usage has increased on mobile devices, and increased utilization of our 
mobile offerings was the primary driver of our traffic growth in the fourth quarter of 2014, as well as for the full year. During the fourth 
quarter of 2014, approximately 27% of our page views came from a U.S. personal computer (or PC); approximately 36% came from a 
U.S. smartphone; approximately 8% came from a U.S. tablet device; and approximately 29% came from non-U.S. sources.  
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companies and government agencies. Revenues from these clients are more likely to reflect general economic conditions, and to be 
reduced to a greater extent during economic downturns, than revenues from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device 
companies. Accordingly, revenues from these clients may be subject to significant quarter-to-quarter variations. Our advertising and 
sponsorship services are subject to competition from numerous alternatives, including other Internet sites that focus on health-related 
content, Internet search engines, social media Internet sites, general interest consumer sites and traditional media. Such competition may 
result in smaller customer commitments or pressure to reduce prices, both of which could reduce our revenues and profit margins. In 
response to changes in the preferences of our advertisers and sponsors, particularly our pharmaceutical company clients, we modified 
our sales and product approach to offer services that can be executed more quickly and we have simplified our products and pricing. We 
believe this has allowed our clients to better compare our services, and the value they provide, to other digital alternatives. We have also 
been investing in more robust data and analytics capabilities to provide our customers with new value measurements and insights 
through proprietary analytics tools.  

  

•   Traffic Trends .    In 2014, The WebMD Health Network reached an average of approximately 183 million monthly unique visitors and 
delivered approximately 14.25 billion page views during the year, increases of 33% and 23% over the prior year, respectively. Traffic to 
The WebMD Health Network was an average of approximately 190 million unique users per month and total traffic of 3.70 billion page 
views during the fourth quarter of 2014, increases of 22% and 17%, respectively, over the prior year period. Traffic to Medscape 
properties from physicians and other healthcare professionals averaged approximately 6.2 million physician sessions per month in 2014, 
an increase of approximately 13% over the prior year, and averaged approximately 6.7 million physician sessions per month during the 
fourth quarter of 2014, an increase of approximately 17% over the prior year period. One factor that had significantly reduced traffic, in 
the first half of 2013, to some of the consumer sites in The WebMD Health Network (other than WebMD.com, our flagship site) was 
changes in Google’s algorithms and other processes that lowered the ranking of those sites in Google search results. Starting in July 
2013, we began to see a reversal of that trend. We intend to continue our efforts to increase our page views by providing quality content 
and tools, as well as by designing our Websites to deliver that content and tools in ways that will cause them to rank well in algorithmic 
search engine results (which is commonly referred to as search engine optimization or SEO). However, we cannot be certain that our 
SEO efforts will result in continued improvement or, if they do, how long that will be maintained.  

  

•   Efforts to Increase Advertising and Sponsorship Revenue from Mobile.     We remain focused on delivering a multi-screen platform that 
engages users on their personal computers, tablet devices and smartphones. As we broaden our mobile offerings for consumers and 
physicians, we are also expanding our mobile advertising and sponsorship products. We have been seeing increasing customer demand 
for mobile advertising and sponsorship and have been including mobile components in many of the multi-platform program 
configurations that we are selling to advertisers and sponsors. While we offer mobile as a stand-alone purchase, our advertising and 
sponsorship clients are generally interesting in reaching a targeted audience, regardless of what device the user is engaging on, and 
choose multi-platform advertising and sponsorship programs. In 2014, the percentage of our advertising and sponsorship revenue 
delivered on a mobile device grew approximately 28% to $156 million, or 34% of our total advertising and sponsorship revenue. This 
includes stand-alone mobile advertising and sponsorship revenue as well as the allocation of multi-platform advertising and sponsorship 
revenue for the portion delivered on smartphone or tablet.  
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However, we are unable to predict to what extent such demand will continue to increase because advertisements for biopharmaceutical 
products are subject to various regulatory requirements, including requirements to include certain specified information, that are more 
challenging to meet on the smaller smartphone screen size. Nevertheless, because of the smaller size of our Medscape audience and the 
importance to our pharmaceutical company clients of reaching the members of that audience on whatever device they use to access 
Medscape content, those clients are more advanced in their ability to utilize our mobile platform to reach healthcare professionals, and 
we have seen a more significant demand from them for these programs than for utilizing mobile to reach consumers.  

  

•   Use of Population Health Management Services.     In a healthcare market where a greater share of the responsibility for healthcare 
costs and decision-making has been shifting to consumers, use of information technology to assist consumers in making informed 
decisions about healthcare has also increased. We believe that, through our WebMD Health Services private portals and related coaching 
services, we are well positioned to play a role in this environment. For more than a decade, our cloud-based population health 
management services have helped employers and health plans improve the health of their employee and plan participant populations and 
reduce healthcare costs. Our services help employees and plan participants make more informed health and benefit decisions, positively 
change health behaviors, manage health conditions and lead healthier lives. At the beginning of 2014, we launched our WebMD Health 
Services platform for the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Federal Employee Program (or FEP). With this program, over 5 million 
FEP members now have access to a broad range of our WebMD Health Services solutions, including our online personal health record 
application, as well as to our health coaching services, and to around-the-clock access to nurses by phone, secure message, or chat. Our 
strategy depends, in part, on increasing usage of our services by our employer and health plan clients’ employees and plan participants 
and being able to demonstrate a sufficient return on investment and other benefits for our clients from those services. Increasing such 
usage requires us to continue to develop new and updated applications, features and services. In addition, we face competition for our 
online population health management applications and related coaching services. Many of our competitors have greater financial, 
technical, product development, marketing and other resources than we do, and may be better known than we are.  

  

•   International.    The WebMD Health Network includes the following international sites: the co-branded Boots WebMD health 
information site for United Kingdom consumers at www.WebMD.boots.com ; and Medscape France ( www.medscape.fr ) and Medscape 
Germany ( www.medscape.de ), our physician portals in those two countries. We also seek to monetize traffic to Medscape from 
physicians outside the United States. We plan to continue to pursue opportunities to expand the reach of our brands outside the United 
States, particularly with respect to our healthcare professionals audience. In certain markets outside the United States, we expect to 
accomplish this through partnerships or joint ventures with other companies having expertise in the specific country or region, while in 
other such markets we expect to rely primarily on our own internal resources. In May 2014, we began a collaboration with DXY, the 
largest online community for healthcare professionals in China, that will enable Medscape to distribute educational programs to 
physicians and healthcare professionals in China through the DXY.cn site.  

  

•   Healthcare Reform Legislation.     The Patient Protection and Affordable Care Act, as amended by the Health Care and Education 
Reconciliation Act of 2010 (which we refer to as the Affordable Care Act), was signed into law in March 2010. The Affordable Care 
Act has made extensive changes to the system of healthcare insurance and benefits in the United States. While we do not currently 
anticipate any significant adverse effects on WebMD as a direct result of the application of the Affordable Care Act to our business or 
on our company in its capacity as an employer, we are unable to predict what the future indirect impacts of the Affordable Care Act will 
be on WebMD’s business through its effects on other healthcare industry participants, including pharmaceutical and medical device 
companies that are advertisers and sponsors of our public portals and employers and health plans that are clients of our private portals. 
However, the Affordable Care Act has also created certain opportunities for WebMD’s consumer portals  
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The healthcare industry in the United States and relationships among healthcare payers, providers and consumers are very complicated. In 
addition, the Internet and the market for online and mobile services are relatively new and still evolving. Accordingly, there can be no assurance 
that the trends identified above will continue or that the expected benefits to our business from our responses to those trends will be achieved. In 
addition, the market for healthcare information services is highly competitive and not only are our existing competitors seeking to benefit from 
these same trends, but the trends may also attract additional competitors.  

Background Information on Certain Significant Developments and Transactions  

Tender Offers.     On April 3, 2012, we completed a tender offer (which we refer to as the 2012 Tender Offer) for our Common Stock and 
repurchased 5,769,230 shares at a price of $26.00 per share for a total cost of $150,759, which includes $759 of costs directly attributable to the 
purchase. On September 10, 2013, we completed a tender offer (which we refer to as the 2013 Tender Offer) for our Common Stock and 
repurchased 5,000,000 shares at a price of $34.00 per share for a total cost of $170,516, which includes $516 of costs directly attributable to the 
purchase. On September 9, 2014, we completed a tender offer (which we refer to as the 2014 Tender Offer and, collectively with the 2012 
Tender Offer and the 2013 Tender Offer, we refer to as the Tender Offers) for our Common Stock and repurchased 2,000,000 shares at a price of 
$48.50 per share for a total cost of $97,588, which includes $588 of costs directly attributable to the purchase. Each of the Tender Offers 
represented an opportunity for WebMD to return capital to stockholders who elected to tender their shares of WebMD Common Stock, while 
stockholders who chose not to participate in the Tender Offers automatically increased their relative percentage interest in our company at no 
additional cost to them.  

Stock Repurchases.     During 2012, we repurchased 1,320,846 shares of our Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $26,900 through our 
stock repurchase program.  

During 2013, we repurchased 1,266,962 shares of our Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $42,309 through our stock repurchase 
program. On October 18, 2013, we entered into an agreement to repurchase 5,527,433 shares of our Common Stock from Carl C. Icahn and 
certain of his affiliates, at a purchase price of $32.08 per share (the NASDAQ Official Closing Price of our Common Stock on October 18, 2013) 
at an aggregate cost of $177,420, which includes $100 of costs directly attributable to the purchase. The repurchase was completed on 
October 21, 2013. This repurchase was made outside of our stock repurchase program.  

During 2014, we repurchased 3,160,070 shares of our Common Stock at an aggregate cost of $128,748 through our stock repurchase 
program. Our Board of Directors authorized increases to our stock repurchase  
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as health insurers seek to market their services directly to consumers in connection with the insurance exchanges set up pursuant to the 
Affordable Care Act. In addition, we believe that certain aspects of the Affordable Care Act and related regulations that seek to reduce 
healthcare costs may create opportunities for WebMD, including with respect to our personal health record applications and health and 
benefits decision-support tools and, more generally, with respect to our capabilities in providing health and wellness information and 
education. For example, the Affordable Care Act encourages use of wellness programs through grants to small employers to establish 
such programs, permission for employers to offer larger rewards than under prior law, in the form of waivers of cost-sharing, premium 
discounts, or additional benefits, to employees for participating in these programs and meeting certain standards, and the inclusion of 
wellness services and chronic disease management among the essential health benefits that certain plans are required to provide. 
However, we cannot yet determine the scope of the opportunities that the Affordable Care Act may create or what competition we may 
face in our efforts to pursue such opportunities.  

  

•   Other Initiatives .    We are pursuing, and intend to continue to identify, new business opportunities where our consumer and physician 
audiences and our resources can be leveraged to develop additional products and services. We may pursue initiatives to create new or 
enhanced revenue streams or, alternatively, to increase audience engagement even when we have not identified any potential related 
revenue stream. New business initiatives present risks and challenges that may be different than the ones we have faced in the past. In 
addition, later events may alter the risks that were evaluated at the time decisions are made on specific initiatives. Failure to effectively 
identify and assess new business initiatives and to successfully implement them may adversely affect our company and its prospects.  
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program of $50,000, $40,000, $30,000 and $23,895 in February 2014, March 2014, April 2014 and November 2014, respectively. As of 
December 31, 2014, $35,011 remained available for repurchases under our stock repurchase program.  

Convertible Notes.     On January 11, 2011, we issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of 2.50% Convertible Notes due 2018 (which 
we refer to as the 2.50% Notes) in a private offering. Unless previously converted, the 2.50% Notes will mature on January 31, 2018. Net 
proceeds from the sale of the 2.50% Notes were approximately $387,345, after deducting the related offering expenses, of which approximately 
$100,000 was used by us to repurchase 1,920,490 shares of WebMD Common Stock at a price of $52.07 per share, the last reported sale price of 
WebMD Common Stock on January 5, 2011, which repurchase settled on January 11, 2011. Interest on the 2.50% Notes is payable semi-
annually on January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing July 31, 2011. Under the terms of the 2.50% Notes, as adjusted in April 2012 
following completion of the 2012 Tender Offer, in September 2013 following completion of the 2013 Tender Offer and in September 2014 
following completion of the 2014 Tender Offer, holders may surrender their 2.50% Notes for conversion into WebMD Common Stock at a 
conversion rate of 15.5118 shares of WebMD Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.50% Notes. This is equivalent to a 
conversion price of approximately $64.47 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.50% Notes were convertible into 6,204,720 shares 
of Common Stock as of December 31, 2014.  

On March 14, 2011, we issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of 2.25% Convertible Notes due 2016 (which we refer to as the 2.25% 
Notes) in a private offering. Unless previously converted, the 2.25% Notes will mature on March 31, 2016. Net proceeds from the sale of the 
2.25% Notes were approximately $387,400, after deducting the related offering expenses, of which approximately $50,000 was used to 
repurchase 868,507 shares of WebMD Common Stock at a price of $57.57 per share, the last reported sale price of WebMD Common Stock on 
March 8, 2011, which repurchase settled on March 14, 2011. Interest on the 2.25% Notes is payable semi-annually on March 31 and 
September 30 of each year, commencing September 30, 2011. Under the terms of the 2.25% Notes, as adjusted in April 2012 following 
completion of the 2012 Tender Offer, in September 2013 following completion of the 2013 Tender Offer and in September 2014 following 
completion of the 2014 Tender Offer, holders may surrender their 2.25% Notes for conversion into WebMD Common Stock at a conversion rate 
of 13.9202 shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.25% Notes. This is equivalent to a conversion price of 
approximately $71.84 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.25% Notes were convertible into 3,511,120 shares of Common Stock 
as of December 31, 2014, at which time the remaining outstanding principal amount was $252,232. During 2013, we repurchased a total of 
$147,768 principal amount of our 2.25% Notes for $150,354 in cash and we recognized a pre-tax loss of $4,871 related to these repurchases 
which included the expensing of the remaining deferred issuance costs outstanding related to the repurchased 2.25% Notes.  

On November 26, 2013, we issued $300,000 aggregate principal amount of 1.50% Convertible Notes due 2020 (which we refer to as the 
1.50% Notes) in a private offering. Unless previously converted, the 1.50% Notes will mature on December 1, 2020. Net proceeds from the sale 
of the 1.50% Notes were approximately $291,823, after deducting the related offering expenses. Interest on the 1.50% Notes is payable semi-
annually on June 1 and December 1 of each year, commencing June 1, 2014. Under the terms of the 1.50% Notes, as adjusted in September 2014 
following completion of the 2014 Tender Offer, holders may surrender their 1.50% Notes for conversion into WebMD Common Stock at a 
conversion rate of 18.9795 shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 1.50% Notes. This is equivalent to a 
conversion price of approximately $52.69 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 1.50% Notes were convertible into 5,693,850 shares 
of Common Stock as of December 31, 2014.  

Restructuring.     On December 11, 2012, we announced a plan to streamline our operations, simplify our organizational structure, reduce 
costs and better focus our resources. These actions included a workforce reduction of approximately 250 positions, or roughly 14% of our 
employees at that time, and have resulted in a reduction in our operating expenditures. We recorded a restructuring charge of $7,579 during the 
three months ended December 31, 2012 related to severance and other employee benefits that were provided to terminated employees.  

Voluntary Surrender of Certain Option Grants.     On February 23, 2012, our directors and certain officers voluntarily surrendered certain 
grants of non-qualified options to purchase WebMD Common Stock made to  
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them, one of which was made in 2007, some in 2010 and some in 2011 and all of which were out-of-the-money at the time of surrender. None of 
these individuals received any consideration or promise of consideration in exchange for the surrender of these stock options. These options were 
originally granted under our 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (which we refer to as the 2005 Plan), and therefore, upon their surrender, the shares 
underlying these options were returned to the 2005 Plan and became available for grant under such plan. These surrenders of stock options were 
intended to allow WebMD to use the shares that became available under the 2005 Plan to attract new employees and to motivate and retain 
current key employees. During the three months ended March 31, 2012, we recorded pre-tax stock-based compensation expense of $8,076 
related to the voluntary surrender of these options, which represented the remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation amounts for such 
grants.  

Auction Rate Securities.     Effective April 20, 2010, we entered into an agreement pursuant to which we sold our holdings of auction rate 
securities (which we refer to as ARS), for an aggregate of $286,399. Under the terms of the agreement, we retained an option (which we refer to 
as the ARS Option), for a period of two years from the date of the agreement: (a) to repurchase from the purchaser the same principal amount of 
any or all of the various series of ARS sold, at the agreed upon purchase prices received on April 20, 2010; and (b) to receive from the purchaser 
additional proceeds upon certain redemptions of the various series of ARS sold. We received cash proceeds of $9,269 and recorded a pre-tax 
gain of $8,074 related to the ARS Option during the three months ended March 31, 2012. As of March 31, 2012, we no longer had any 
remaining positions related to the ARS Option and will receive no further cash proceeds.  

Seasonality  

The timing of our revenue is affected by seasonal factors. Our public portal advertising and sponsorship revenue is seasonal, primarily due 
to the annual spending patterns of the advertising and sponsorship clients of our public portals. This portion of our revenue is usually the lowest 
in the first quarter of each calendar year, and generally increases during each consecutive quarter throughout the year. The timing of revenue in 
relation to our expenses, many of which do not vary directly with revenue, has an impact on cost of operations, sales and marketing, and general 
and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue in each calendar quarter.  

Critical Accounting Estimates and Policies  

Critical Accounting Estimates  

Our MD&A is based upon our Consolidated Financial Statements and Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements, which were prepared in 
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP). The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements requires us to 
make estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. We base 
our estimates on historical experience, current business factors, and various other assumptions that we believe are necessary to consider to form a 
basis for making judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the recorded amounts of revenue and expenses and the disclosure 
of contingent assets and liabilities. We are subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events, economic and political factors, and 
changes in our business environment; therefore, actual results could differ from these estimates. Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in 
the preparation of our financial statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional information is obtained 
and as our operating environment changes. Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. Such changes in estimates and 
refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations; if material, the effects of changes in estimates are 
disclosed in the Notes to our Consolidated Financial Statements.  

We evaluate our estimates on an ongoing basis, including those related to revenue recognition, the allowance for doubtful accounts, the 
carrying value of long-lived assets (including goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets), the amortization period of long-lived assets 
(excluding goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets), the carrying value, capitalization and amortization of software and Website 
development costs, the carrying value of investments, the provision for income taxes and related deferred tax accounts, certain accrued expenses, 
contingencies, litigation and related legal accruals and the value attributed to employee stock options and other stock-based awards.  
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Critical Accounting Policies  

We believe the following reflects our critical accounting policies and our more significant judgments and estimates used in the preparation 
of our Consolidated Financial Statements:  
   

Contracts that contain multiple deliverables are subject to Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-13 Multiple-Deliverable 
Revenue Arrangements (“ASU 2009-13”). ASU 2009-13 requires the allocation of revenue to each deliverable of multiple-deliverable 
revenue arrangements, based on the relative selling price of each deliverable. It also defines the level of evidence of selling price 
required to separate deliverables and allows a company to make its best estimate of the selling price of deliverables when more 
objective evidence of selling price is not available.  

Pursuant to the guidance of ASU 2009-13, when a sales arrangement contains multiple deliverables, we allocate revenue to each 
deliverable based on relative selling price. The selling price for a deliverable is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) 
if available, third-party evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available, or best estimate of selling price if neither VSOE nor TPE is 
available. We then recognize revenue on each deliverable in accordance with our revenue recognition policies over the period that 
delivery occurs. VSOE of selling price is based on the price charged when the deliverable is sold separately. In determining VSOE, 
GAAP requires that a substantial majority of the selling prices fall within a reasonable range based on historical pricing trends for 
specific products and services. TPE is based on competitor prices of similar deliverables when sold separately. We are generally not 
able to determine TPE of selling price as we are unable to reliably determine what competitors’ selling prices are for comparable 
services, combined with the fact that our services often contain unique features and customizations such that comparable services do not 
exist. The determination of best estimate of selling price is a judgmental process that considers multiple factors including, but not 
limited to, recent selling prices and related discounting practices for each service, market conditions, customer classes, sales channels 
and other factors.  
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•   Revenue Recognition.     Revenue from advertising is recognized as advertisements are delivered or as publications are distributed. 
Revenue from sponsorship arrangements, content syndication and distribution arrangements and subscriptions to our healthcare 
management tools and private portals as well as related health coaching services is recognized ratably over the term of the applicable 
agreement. Revenue from information services is recognized as the underlying data is delivered. Revenue from the sponsorship of CME 
is recognized over the period that we substantially complete our contractual deliverables as determined by the applicable agreements.  

  

•   Long-Lived Assets.     Our long-lived assets consist of property and equipment, goodwill and other intangible assets. Goodwill and other 
intangible assets arise from the acquisitions we have made. The amount assigned to intangible assets is subjective and based on fair 
value using exit price and market participant view, such as discounted cash flow and replacement cost models. Our long-lived assets, 
excluding goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, are amortized over their estimated useful lives, which we determine based on 
the consideration of several factors including the period of time the asset is expected to remain in service. We evaluate the carrying 
value and remaining useful lives of long-lived assets, excluding goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets, whenever indicators of 
impairment are present. We evaluate the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually, or whenever 
indicators of impairment are present. We test goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level only when, after completing a 
qualitative analysis, it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. 
Long-lived assets held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or fair value less cost to sell. There was no impairment of goodwill or 
indefinite-lived intangible assets in 2014, 2013 or 2012.  

  

•   Stock-Based Compensation.     Stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted is determined based on 
the grant-date fair value. The grant date fair value for stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. We 
recognize these compensation costs net of an estimated forfeiture rate on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the 
award, which is generally the vesting term of the share-based payment awards. As of December 31, 2014, there was  
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Results of Operations  

The following table sets forth our consolidated statements of operations data and expresses that data as a percentage of revenue for the 
periods presented:  
   

Revenue is derived from four groups. The first group is “Advertising and Sponsorship – Biopharma and Medical Device” and consists of 
advertising and sponsorship revenue from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device  
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approximately $54,600 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense (net of estimated forfeitures) related to unvested stock 
options and restricted stock held by employees, which is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 
2.7 years, related to our stock-based compensation plans.  

  

•   Deferred Taxes.     Our deferred tax assets are comprised primarily of net operating loss carryforwards and federal tax credits. These net 
operating loss carryforwards and federal tax credits may be used to offset taxable income in future periods, reducing the amount of taxes 
we might otherwise be required to pay. A significant portion of our net deferred tax assets, including the portion related to excess tax 
benefits of stock-based awards, are reserved for by a valuation allowance as required by relevant accounting literature. Management 
determines the need for a valuation allowance by assessing the probability of realizing deferred tax assets, taking into consideration 
factors including historical operating results, expectations of future earnings and taxable income. Management will continue to evaluate 
the need for a valuation allowance in the future.  

  

•   Tax Contingencies.     Our tax contingencies are recorded to address potential exposures involving tax positions we have taken that 
could be challenged by tax authorities. These potential exposures result from applications of various statutes, rules, regulations and 
interpretations. Our estimates of tax contingencies reflect assumptions and judgments about potential actions by taxing jurisdictions. We 
believe that these assumptions and judgments are reasonable. However, our accruals may change in the future due to new developments 
in each matter and the ultimate resolution of these matters may be greater or less than the amount that we have accrued. Consistent with 
our historical financial reporting, we have elected to reflect interest and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of the income 
tax provision (benefit).  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   
     $      %      $      %      $     %   
Revenue     $ 580,449         100.0       $ 515,293         100.0       $ 469,866        100.0    

Cost of operations       224,094         38.6         209,740         40.7         216,361        46.0    
Sales and marketing       136,160         23.5         127,997         24.8         127,659        27.2    
General and administrative       94,119         16.2         93,220         18.1         97,618        20.8    
Depreciation and amortization       29,811         5.1         26,606         5.2         28,399        6.0    
Interest income       69         —        76         —        86        —   
Interest expense       24,686         4.3         22,826         4.4         23,334        5.0    
Loss on convertible notes       —        —        4,871         0.9         —       —   
Gain on investments       —        —        —        —        8,074        1.7    
Restructuring       —        —        —        —        7,579        1.6    
Other expense       —        —        1,353         0.3         2,297        0.5    

                                                                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax provision 
(benefit)       71,648         12.3         28,756         5.6         (25,221 )      (5.4 )  

Income tax provision (benefit)       30,707         5.3         13,640         2.6         (2,134 )      (0.5 )  
                                                                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations       40,941         7.1         15,116         2.9         (23,087 )      (4.9 )  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax       1,122         0.2         —        —        2,743        0.6    

                                                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 42,063         7.2       $ 15,116         2.9       $ (20,344 )      (4.3 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

        

  

  
(a) Amounts may not add due to rounding. 

(a) (a) (a) 
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clients relating to ethical pharmaceutical products or other regulated devices or products or for sponsoring educational programs. The second 
category is “Advertising and Sponsorship – OTC, CPG and Other” and consists of advertising and sponsorship revenue relating to non-Rx or 
over-the-counter medications and other healthcare products, food and beverages, beauty products and other consumer products, as well as 
revenue from clients such as retailers, pharmacies, hospitals, health insurance companies and government agencies. The combined revenue of the 
first two groups is sometimes referred to as “Advertising and Sponsorship” revenue. The third group is “Private Portal Services” and consists of 
revenue from employers and health plans for subscriptions to our private portals solution and related services, including health coaching and 
condition management services. The fourth group is “Information Services” and consists of revenue from the sale of stand-alone information and 
data products.  

Cost of operations consists of salaries and related expenses, and non-cash stock-based compensation expense related to providing and 
distributing services and products we provide to customers and costs associated with the operation and maintenance of our public and private 
portals. Cost of operations also consists of editorial and production costs, Website operations costs, non-capitalized Website development costs, 
costs we pay to our distribution partners, costs associated with our health and condition management programs and personalized health coaching 
services, and costs related to the production and distribution of our publications, including costs related to creating and licensing content, 
telecommunications, leased properties and printing and distribution.  

Sales and marketing expense consists primarily of salaries and related expenses, and non-cash stock-based compensation for account 
executives, account management and marketing personnel, as well as costs and expenses for marketing programs, and fees for professional 
marketing and advertising services.  

General and administrative expense consists primarily of salaries and related expenses and non-cash stock-based compensation expense for 
administrative, finance, legal, information technology, human resources and executive personnel. Also included in general and administrative 
expense are costs of general insurance and professional services expenses.  

Our discussions throughout this MD&A make references to certain non-cash expenses. Our principal non-cash expenses are related to the 
awards of all share-based payments to employees and non-employee directors, such as grants of employee stock options and restricted stock. 
Non-cash stock-based compensation expense is reflected in the same expense captions as the related salary cost of the respective employee.  

The following table is a summary of our non-cash expenses included in the respective statements of operations captions.  
   

2014 and 2013  

The following discussion is a comparison of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2014 to the year ended 
December 31, 2013.  

Revenue.     Our total revenue increased 12.6% to $580,449 in 2014 from $515,293 in 2013. The increase was primarily due to an increase 
of $36,938 of advertising and sponsorship revenue, an increase of $21,071 of revenue from our private portals and an increase of $7,147 from 
information services. The increase in advertising and sponsorship revenue related primarily to an increase in advertising of certain of our 
customers, particularly our biopharmaceutical and medical device customers. For a more detailed discussion, see “— Introduction — 
Background Information on Certain Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business — Other Factors Affecting the Demand for Our 
Advertising and Sponsorship Services.” The increase in revenue of our private portals was attributable to the January 1, 2014 launch of our 
contract with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Federal Employee Program. A more detailed discussion regarding changes in revenue is 
included below under “— Supplemental Financial and Operating Information.”  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Stock-based compensation expense included in:           

Cost of operations     $ 5,940       $ 6,762       $ 8,160    
Sales and marketing       7,221         8,395         8,201    
General and administrative       19,385         23,393         28,560    

                                 

Total stock-based compensation expense     $ 32,546       $ 38,550       $ 44,921    
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Cost of Operations.     Cost of operations was $224,094 in 2014, compared to $209,740 in 2013. Our cost of operations represented 38.6% 
of revenue in 2014, compared to 40.7% of revenue in 2013. Included in cost of operations were non-cash expenses related to stock-based 
compensation of $5,940 in 2014, compared to $6,762 in 2013.  

Cost of operations, excluding the non-cash stock-based compensation expense discussed above, was $218,154, or 37.6% of revenue in 
2014, compared to $202,978, or 39.4% of revenue in 2013. The increase in absolute dollars in 2014, compared to 2013, was primarily 
attributable to the increased expense associated with the delivery of our advertising and sponsorship programs and the increased traffic to our 
Websites and expenses related to the delivery of services under our contract with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Federal Employee 
Program that launched on January 1, 2014. The decrease as a percentage of revenue in 2014, compared to 2013, was due to the increase in 
revenue of 12.6% without a commensurate increase in our cost of operations expense as certain of these expenses are fixed in nature.  

Sales and Marketing .    Sales and marketing expense was $136,160 in 2014, compared to $127,997 in 2013. Our sales and marketing 
expense represented 23.5% of revenue in 2014, compared to 24.8% in 2013. Included in sales and marketing expense were non-cash expenses 
related to stock-based compensation of $7,221 in 2014, compared to $8,395 in 2013.  

Sales and marketing expense, excluding the non-cash expenses discussed above, was $128,939, or 22.2% of revenue, in 2014, compared to 
$119,602, or 23.2% of revenue, in 2013. The increase in absolute dollars was primarily attributable to an increase in certain compensation and 
other personnel related costs due to increased staffing and sales commissions related to the higher revenue in 2014 compared to 2013. The 
decrease as a percentage of revenue, excluding the non-cash expenses discussed above, for 2014 compared to 2013, was primarily due to the 
increase in our revenue of 12.6% without a commensurate increase in our sales and marketing expenses as certain of these expenses are fixed in 
nature.  

General and Administrative.     General and administrative expense was $94,119 in 2014, compared to $93,220 in 2013. Our general and 
administrative expenses represented 16.2% of revenue in 2014, compared to 18.1% of revenue in 2013. Included in general and administrative 
expense was non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $19,385 in 2014, compared to $23,393 in 2013. The decrease in non-cash stock-
based compensation expense for 2014, compared to 2013, was primarily due to the acceleration of stock-based compensation expense in 2013, 
related to certain equity awards held by our former Chief Executive Officer in connection with his severance agreement.  

General and administrative expense, excluding the non-cash stock-based compensation expense discussed above, was $74,734, or 12.9% of 
revenue, in 2014, compared to $69,827, or 13.6% of revenue in 2013. The decrease in general and administrative expense as a percentage of 
revenue, excluding the non-cash expenses discussed above, for 2014 compared to 2013, was primarily due to the increase in our revenue of 
12.6% without a commensurate increase in our general and administrative expenses as many of these expenses are fixed in nature.  

Depreciation and Amortization.     Depreciation and amortization expense was $29,811, or 5.1% of revenue in 2014, compared to $26,606, 
or 5.2% of revenue in 2013.  

Interest Income.     Interest income was $69 in 2014, which was relatively consistent when compared to $76 in 2013.  

Interest Expense.     Interest expense was $24,686 in 2014 compared to $22,826 in 2013. Interest expense increased during 2014 compared 
to 2013, primarily as a result of our 1.50% Notes that were issued on November 26, 2013, as well as the impact of the repurchase of $147,768 
principal amount of our 2.25% Notes during 2013. Interest expense in 2014 and 2013 included non-cash interest expense of $4,511 and $4,192, 
respectively, related to the amortization of the debt issuance costs for the convertible debt outstanding during those periods.  

Loss on Convertible Notes.     During 2013, we recorded a loss on convertible notes of $4,871 related to the repurchase of $147,768 
principal amount of our 2.25% Notes. See “— Introduction — Background Information on Certain Significant Developments and Transactions 
— Convertible Notes” for additional information.  

Other Expense.     Other expense of $1,353 during 2013 includes cash severance and related expenses due to the May 2013 departure of a 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  
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Income Tax Provision.     The income tax provision of $30,707 in 2014 related to pre-tax income of $71,648, compared to the income tax 
provision of $13,640 in 2013 which related to pre-tax income of $28,756. During 2014, the income tax provision represented 42.9% of pre-tax 
income. The effective tax rate exceeded our statutory tax rate as a result of certain expenses that are non-deductible for income tax purposes.  

Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax.     Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $1,122 in 2014. During 2014, 
we paid $384 in connection with the completion of the remaining tax audits for all periods covered under a tax indemnification agreement 
related to our Porex business which was sold in 2009. The remaining balance in the indemnity liability of $1,122 was adjusted through income 
from discontinued operations during 2014.  

2013 and 2012  

The following discussion is a comparison of our results of operations for the year ended December 31, 2013 to the year ended 
December 31, 2012.  

Revenue.     Our total revenue increased 9.7% to $515,293 in 2013 from $469,866 in 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase 
of $38,274 of advertising and sponsorship revenue and, to a lesser extent, an increase of $3,584 of revenue from our private portals and an 
increase of $3,569 from information services. The increase in advertising and sponsorship revenue related primarily to an increase in advertising 
of certain of our customers, particularly our biopharmaceutical and medical device customers. For a more detailed discussion, see “— 
Introduction — Background Information on Certain Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business — Other Factors Affecting the Demand 
for Our Advertising and Sponsorship Services.” A more detailed discussion regarding changes in revenue is included below under “— 
Supplemental Financial and Operating Information.”  

Cost of Operations.     Cost of operations was $209,740 in 2013, compared to $216,361 in 2012. Our cost of operations represented 40.7% 
of revenue in 2013, compared to 46.0% of revenue in 2012. Included in cost of operations were non-cash expenses related to stock-based 
compensation of $6,762 in 2013, compared to $8,160 in 2012.  

Cost of operations, excluding the non-cash stock-based compensation expense discussed above, was $202,978, or 39.4% of revenue in 
2013, compared to $208,201, or 44.3% of revenue in 2012. The decrease in absolute dollars and as a percentage of revenue in 2013, compared to 
2012, was due to our ability to deliver the 9.7% revenue increase with a reduced cost structure resulting from the restructuring actions taken in 
December 2012.  

Sales and Marketing .    Sales and marketing expense was $127,997 in 2013, compared to $127,659 in 2012. Our sales and marketing 
expense represented 24.8% of revenue in 2013, compared to 27.2% in 2012. Included in sales and marketing expense were non-cash expenses 
related to stock-based compensation of $8,395 in 2013, compared to $8,201 in 2012.  

Sales and marketing expense, excluding the non-cash expenses discussed above, was $119,602, or 23.2% of revenue, in 2013, compared to 
$119,458, or 25.4% of revenue, in 2012. The decrease as a percentage of revenue, excluding the non-cash expenses discussed above, for 2013 
compared to 2012, was primarily due to the increase in our revenue of 9.7% without a commensurate increase in our sales and marketing 
expenses as certain of these expenses are fixed in nature and as a result of the reduced cost structure resulting from the restructuring actions 
taken in December 2012.  

General and Administrative.     General and administrative expense was $93,220 in 2013, compared to $97,618 in 2012. Our general and 
administrative expenses represented 18.1% of revenue in 2013, compared to 20.8% of revenue in 2012. Included in general and administrative 
expense was non-cash stock-based compensation expense of $23,393 in 2013, compared to $28,560 in 2012. The decrease in non-cash stock-
based compensation expense for 2013, compared to 2012, was primarily due to the voluntary surrender of stock options by certain of our officers 
and directors and the related acceleration of the unrecognized stock-based compensation expense associated with those options during 2012 of 
$8,076 and the lack of a comparable expense in 2013.  
   

71  



Table of Contents  

Index to Financial Statements  

General and administrative expense, excluding the non-cash stock-based compensation expense discussed above, was $69,827, or 13.6% of 
revenue, in 2013, compared to $69,058, or 14.7% of revenue in 2012. The decrease in general and administrative expense as a percentage of 
revenue, excluding the non-cash expenses discussed above, for 2013 compared to 2012, was primarily due to the increase in our revenue of 9.7% 
without a commensurate increase in our general and administrative expenses as many of these expenses are fixed in nature and as a result of the 
reduced cost structure resulting from the restructuring actions taken in December 2012.  

Depreciation and Amortization.     Depreciation and amortization expense was $26,606, or 5.2% of revenue in 2013, compared to $28,399, 
or 6.0% of revenue in 2012. This decrease was primarily due to the acceleration, in 2012, of the remaining amortization expense of $1,267 
associated with certain trade names that had been retired from use.  

Interest Income.     Interest income was $76 in 2013, which was relatively consistent when compared to $86 in 2012.  

Interest Expense.     Interest expense was $22,826 in 2013 compared to $23,334 in 2012. This decrease was primarily due to the repurchase 
of $147,768 principal amount of our 2.25% Notes during 2013. Interest expense in 2013 and 2012 included non-cash interest expense of $4,192 
and $4,326, respectively, related to the amortization of the debt issuance costs for the convertible debt outstanding during those periods.  

Loss on Convertible Notes.     During 2013, we recorded a loss on convertible notes of $4,871 related to the repurchase of $147,768 
principal amount of our 2.25% Notes. See “— Introduction — Background Information on Certain Significant Developments and Transactions 
— Convertible Notes” for additional information.  

Gain on Investments.     During 2012, our gain on investments of $8,074 consisted of amounts we received through our ARS Option.  

Restructuring.     During 2012, we recorded a restructuring charge of $7,579 related to severance and other employee benefits that were 
provided to the terminated employees due to the reduction in our workforce as a result of the plan we announced, on December 11, 2012, to 
streamline our operations, simplify our organizational structure, reduce costs and better focus our resources.  

Other Expense.     Other expense of $1,353 during 2013 includes cash severance and related expenses due to the May 2013 departure of a 
Chief Executive Officer of the Company. Other expense of $2,297 during 2012 includes cash severance and related expenses due to the January 
2012 departure of a Chief Executive Officer of the Company, and the related search and recruitment of his replacement during that period.  

Income Tax Provision (Benefit).     The income tax provision of $13,640 in 2013 related to pre-tax income of $28,756, compared to the 
income tax benefit of $2,134 in 2012 which related to a pre-tax loss of $25,221. The income tax benefit during 2012 included a non-cash income 
tax expense of $4,724 related to an increase in our valuation allowance for certain research and development tax credits for which scheduled 
expiration prior to utilization is more likely than not.  

Income from Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax.     Income from discontinued operations, net of tax, was $2,743 in 2012. During 2012, 
we recognized an after-tax gain of $2,235 related to the receipt of approximately $3,600 from the United States Department of Justice in relation 
to the investigation by the United States Attorney for the District of South Carolina (which we refer to as the Investigation). These funds 
represented the reimbursement to us related to recoveries by the United States Department of Justice from former employees of a subsidiary who 
pleaded guilty to the matters involved in the Investigation. None of the former employees who pleaded guilty were employees to whom we 
provided indemnification in connection with the Investigation. Additionally, during 2012, income from discontinued operations includes a net 
state tax refund of $508 that we received in connection with the finalization of a state tax appeal related to the September 2006 sale of Emdeon 
Practice Services, Inc. to Sage Software, Inc. The income tax provision included within discontinued operations was $555 during 2012.  
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Supplemental Financial and Operating Information  

The following table and the discussion that follows presents information for groups of revenue based on similar services we provide, as 
well as information related to a non-GAAP performance measure that we use to monitor the performance of our business and which we refer to 
as “Earnings before interest, taxes, non-cash and other items” or “Adjusted EBITDA.” Due to the fact that Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP 
measure, we have also included a reconciliation from Adjusted EBITDA to net income (loss).  
   

2014 and 2013  

The following discussion is a comparison of the results of operations for our groups of revenue and our Adjusted EBITDA for the year 
ended December 31, 2014 to the year ended December 31, 2013.  

Advertising and Sponsorship.     Advertising and sponsorship revenue was $453,965 in 2014, an increase of $36,938, or 8.9%, from 2013. 
The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to an increased usage of our advertising and sponsorship offerings by our biopharma and 
medical device customers as well as our OTC, CPG and other customers, which represented increases of $25,311 and $11,627, respectively. In 
general, pricing remained relatively stable for our public portal advertising and sponsorship offerings and was not a significant source of the 
revenue increase. For a more detailed discussion, see “— Introduction — Background Information on Certain Trends and Developments 
Affecting Our Business — Other Factors Affecting the Demand for Our Advertising and Sponsorship Services.”  

Private Portal Services.     Private portal services revenue was $103,182 in 2014, an increase of $21,071, or 25.7%, from 2013. This 
increase was primarily attributable to the January 1, 2014 launch of our contract with the Blue Cross Blue Shield Association Federal Employee 
Program. In general, the pricing of our private portal  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Revenue           

Advertising and sponsorship           

Biopharma and medical device     $ 329,329       $ 304,018       $ 280,261    
OTC, CPG and other       124,636         113,009         98,492    

                                 

     453,965         417,027         378,753    
Private portal services       103,182         82,111         78,527    
Information services       23,302         16,155         12,586    

                                 

   $ 580,449       $ 515,293       $ 469,866    
         

  

         

  

         

  

Earnings before interest, taxes, non-cash and other items (Adjusted EBITDA)     $ 158,622       $ 122,886       $ 73,149    

Interest, taxes, non-cash and other items           

Interest income       69         76         86    
Interest expense       (24,686 )       (22,826 )       (23,334 )  
Income tax (provision) benefit       (30,707 )       (13,640 )       2,134    
Depreciation and amortization       (29,811 )       (26,606 )       (28,399 )  
Non-cash stock-based compensation       (32,546 )       (38,550 )       (44,921 )  
Loss on convertible notes       —        (4,871 )       —   
Gain on investments       —        —        8,074    
Restructuring       —        —        (7,579 )  
Other expense       —        (1,353 )       (2,297 )  

                                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations       40,941         15,116         (23,087 )  
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax       1,122         —        2,743    

                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 42,063       $ 15,116       $ (20,344 )  
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services remained relatively stable and was not a significant source of the revenue increase. The number of customers using our private portal 
platform at December 31, 2014 was 102, compared to 110 customers using our private portal platform at December 31, 2013.  

Information Services.     Information services revenue was $23,302 in 2014, an increase of $7,147, or 44.2%, from 2013. This increase was 
primarily attributable to an increase in the number of customers licensing our information services and an increase in the volume of data received 
by our customers, and to a lesser extent an increase in the rates charged to these customers.  

Adjusted EBITDA.     Adjusted EBITDA increased to $158,622 in 2014 compared to $122,886 in 2013. As a percentage of revenue, 
Adjusted EBITDA was 27.3% of revenue in 2014, compared to 23.8% in 2013. This increase as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to 
higher revenue in 2014. Many of our expenses are fixed in nature and do not vary directly with revenue, and accordingly, our Adjusted EBITDA 
as a percentage of revenue will fluctuate primarily as a result of changes in our revenue.  

2013 and 2012  

The following discussion is a comparison of the results of operations for our groups of revenue and our Adjusted EBITDA for the year 
ended December 31, 2013 to the year ended December 31, 2012.  

Advertising and Sponsorship.     Advertising and sponsorship revenue was $417,027 in 2013, an increase of $38,274, or 10.1%, from 2012. 
The increase in revenue was primarily attributable to an increased usage of our advertising and sponsorship offerings by our biopharma and 
medical device customers as well as our OTC, CPG and other customers, which represented increases of $23,757 and $14,517, respectively. For 
a more detailed discussion, see “— Introduction — Background Information on Certain Trends and Developments Affecting Our Business — 
Other Factors Affecting the Demand for Our Advertising and Sponsorship Services.” Although there were changes made to simplify our pricing 
structure in early 2013, any actual changes to prices did not have a significant impact on the increase in revenue during 2013.  

Private Portal Services.     Private portal services revenue was $82,111 in 2013, an increase of $3,584, or 4.6%, from 2012. In general, the 
pricing of our private portal services was not a significant source of the revenue increase. The number of customers using our private portal 
platform at December 31, 2013 was 110, compared to 118 customers using our private portal platform at December 31, 2012.  

Information Services .    Information services revenue was $16,155 in 2013, an increase of $3,569, or 28.4%, from 2012. This increase was 
primarily attributable to an increase in the number of customers licensing our information services and an increase in the volume of data received 
by our customers, and to a lesser extent an increase in the rates charged to these customers.  

Adjusted EBITDA.     Adjusted EBITDA increased to $122,886 in 2013 compared to $73,149 in 2012. As a percentage of revenue, 
Adjusted EBITDA was 23.8% of revenue in 2013, compared to 15.6% in 2012. This increase as a percentage of revenue was primarily due to 
higher revenue in 2013. Many of our expenses are fixed in nature and do not vary directly with revenue, and accordingly, our Adjusted EBITDA 
as a percentage of revenue will fluctuate primarily as a result of changes in our revenue. Additionally, the increase in Adjusted EBITDA in 2013 
compared to 2012 was partially attributable to the restructuring that took place in December 2012 which reduced our operating expenses in 2013 
compared to 2012. See “— Introduction — Background Information on Certain Significant Developments and Transactions — Restructuring” 
for additional information.  

* * * *  

Explanatory Note Regarding Adjusted EBITDA. Adjusted EBITDA is a non-GAAP financial measure and should be viewed as 
supplemental to, and not as an alternative for, “income (loss) from continuing operations” or “net income (loss)” calculated in accordance with 
GAAP. Our management uses Adjusted EBITDA as an additional measure of performance for purposes of business decision-making, including 
developing budgets, managing expenditures, and evaluating potential acquisitions or divestitures. Period-to-period comparisons of Adjusted 
EBITDA help our management identify additional trends in financial results that may not be shown solely by period-to-period comparisons of 
income (loss) from continuing operations or net income (loss). We believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors in 
their analysis of our results for reasons  
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similar to the reasons why our management finds it useful and because it helps facilitate investor understanding of decisions made by our 
management in light of the performance metrics used in making those decisions. In addition, we believe that providing Adjusted EBITDA, 
together with a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to income (loss) from continuing operations or to net income (loss), helps investors make 
comparisons between us and other companies that may have different capital structures, different effective income tax rates and tax attributes, 
different capitalized asset values and/or different forms of employee compensation. Please see the “Explanation of Non-GAAP Financial 
Information” filed as Exhibit 99.1 to this Annual Report for additional background information regarding our use of Adjusted EBITDA. 
Exhibit 99.1 is incorporated in this MD&A by reference.  

Liquidity and Capital Resources  

Cash Flows  

As of December 31, 2014, we had $706,776 of cash and cash equivalents and working capital of $713,163. Our cash and cash equivalents 
and working capital are affected by the timing of each period end in relation to items such as payments received from customers, payments made 
to vendors, the timing of interest payments related to our convertible debt, and internal payroll and billing cycles, as well as the seasonality 
within our business. Accordingly, our working capital, and its impact on cash flow from operations, can fluctuate materially from period to 
period.  

Cash provided by operating activities from continuing operations in 2014 was $113,536, which related to net income of $42,063, adjusted 
for income from discontinued operations of $1,122, a non-cash income tax provision of $14,717 related to deferred income taxes, and other non-
cash expenses of $66,868, which include depreciation and amortization expense, non-cash interest expense and non-cash stock-based 
compensation expense. Additionally, changes in operating assets and liabilities decreased operating cash flow by $8,990, primarily due to an 
increase in accounts receivable of $12,574, an increase in prepaid expenses and other assets of $673, and a decrease in accrued expenses and 
other long-term liabilities of $380, which was offset by an increase in deferred revenue of $4,637.  

Cash provided by operating activities in 2013 was $86,094, which related to net income of $15,116, adjusted for a loss on convertible notes 
of $4,871, a non-cash income tax provision of $13,070 related to deferred income taxes, and other non-cash expenses of $69,348, which include 
depreciation and amortization expense, non-cash interest expense and non-cash stock-based compensation expense. Additionally, changes in 
operating assets and liabilities decreased operating cash flow by $16,311, primarily due to an increase in accounts receivable of $17,610 and a 
decrease in deferred revenue of $7,028, which was offset by an increase in accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities of $8,061 and a 
decrease in prepaid expenses and other assets of $266.  

Cash used in investing activities was $26,376 in 2014, compared $20,960 in 2013. We used $23,194 in connection with purchases of 
property and equipment in 2014, compared to $22,341 of property and equipment purchases in 2013. We also used cash of $3,182 during 2014 
to acquire the assets of TheraSim, Inc. Therasim’s technology provides the content and programming for certain of our sponsorship services. 
Additionally, during 2013 we received $1,381 from the sale of property and equipment.  

Cash used in financing activities was $204,880 in 2014, compared to $232,089 in 2013. We used cash of $226,336 in 2014 and $390,814 
in 2013 to repurchase shares of our Common Stock through tender offers, our authorized repurchase program and other repurchases. We also 
used cash of $150,354 in 2013 to repurchase a portion of our 2.25% Notes. During 2013, these uses of cash were offset by net cash proceeds of 
$291,823 from the issuance of our 1.50% Notes. During 2014 and 2013, we received cash proceeds of $40,602 and $29,724, respectively, related 
to the exercise of stock options, and used cash of $33,385 and $12,526, respectively, for withholding taxes due on stock-based awards. Also 
included in cash flows from financing activities in 2014 and 2013, were excess tax benefits on stock-based awards of $14,239 and $58, 
respectively.  

Included in our consolidated statements of cash flows for 2014, is cash used in discontinued operations of $384 which represents a 
payment made in connection with the completion of the remaining tax audits for all periods covered under a tax indemnification agreement 
related to our Porex business which was sold in 2009.  
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Contractual Obligations and Commitments  

The following table summarizes our principal commitments as of December 31, 2014 for future specified contractual obligations, as well 
as the estimated timing of the cash payments associated with these obligations. Management’s estimates of the timing of future cash flows are 
largely based on historical experience, and accordingly, actual timing of cash flows may vary from these estimates.  
   

The above table excludes $13,553 of uncertain tax positions, including interest and penalties, as we are unable to reasonably estimate the 
timing of the settlement of these items. See Note 11, “Income Taxes” located in the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements included 
elsewhere in this Annual Report.  

Outlook on Future Liquidity  

As of December 31, 2014, we had $707 million of cash and cash equivalents.  

Potential future uses of cash include repurchases of our Common Stock and our anticipated 2015 capital expenditure requirements. Our 
capital expenditure requirements during 2015, which we estimate to be approximately $45 million to $55 million, primarily relate to the 
relocation and expansion of our corporate office facilities as well as improvements that will be deployed across our public and private portal 
Websites in order to enable us to service future growth in unique users and page views, as well as to create new sponsorship areas for our 
customers, and to improve the systems used to provide our private portal applications.  

Based on our plans and expectations, we believe that our available cash resources and future cash flow from operations will provide 
sufficient cash resources to meet the cash commitments of our convertible notes and to fund our currently anticipated working capital and capital 
expenditure requirements, for at least the next twenty-four months. Our future liquidity and capital requirements will depend upon numerous 
factors, including retention of customers at current volume and revenue levels, implementation of new or updated application and service 
offerings, competing technological and market developments and potential future acquisitions. In addition, our ability to generate cash flow is 
subject to numerous factors beyond our control, including general economic, regulatory and other matters affecting us and our customers. We 
plan to continue to enhance our online services and to continue to invest in acquisitions, strategic relationships, facilities and technological 
infrastructure and product development. We intend to grow each of our existing businesses and enter into complementary ones through both 
internal investments and acquisitions. We may need to raise additional funds to support expansion, develop new or enhanced applications and 
services, respond to competitive pressures, acquire complementary businesses or technologies or take advantage of unanticipated opportunities. 
If required, we may raise such additional funds through public or private debt or equity financing, strategic relationships or other arrangements. 
We cannot assure that such financing will be available on acceptable terms, if at all, or that such financing will not be dilutive to our 
stockholders. Future indebtedness may impose various restrictions and covenants on us that could limit our ability to respond to market 
conditions, to provide for unanticipated capital investments or to take advantage of business opportunities.  

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements  

We have no material off-balance sheet arrangements.  
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    Total     

Less Than 
 

1 Year     2-3 Years     4-5 Years     

More Than 
 

5 Years   

Leases (a)    $ 54,750      $ 11,559      $ 15,134      $ 14,074      $ 13,983    
2.25% Notes (b)    $ 259,326      $ 5,675      $ 253,651      $ —     $ —   
2.50% Notes (b)    $ 430,833      $ 10,000      $ 20,000      $ 400,833      $ —   
1.50% Notes (b)    $ 326,625      $ 4,500      $ 9,000      $ 9,000      $ 304,125    

  
(a) The lease amounts are net of sublease income 
(b) Amounts include contractual interest payments 
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Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

Accounting Pronouncement Adopted During 2014  

In July 2013, the FASB issued an update to existing guidance on the financial presentation of unrecognized tax benefits. The update 
provides that a liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit would be presented as a reduction of a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss 
carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward if such settlement is required or expected in the event the uncertain tax position is 
disallowed. This update was effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013, which for us 
was the first quarter of 2014. The adoption of this update did not have an impact on our financial condition, results of operations or cash flows.  

Accounting Pronouncements to be Adopted in the Future  

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an 
Entity , which changes the criteria for determining which disposals can be presented as discontinued operations and modifies the related 
disclosure requirements. Under the revised guidance, a discontinued operation is defined as a disposal of a component or group of components 
that represents a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results. The revised guidance is 
effective for us beginning in the quarter ending March 31, 2015; early adoption is permitted. We have not yet determined the impact that the 
revised guidance will have on our consolidated financial statements.  

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) , to achieve a consistent 
application of revenue recognition within the U.S., resulting in a single revenue model to be applied by reporting companies under GAAP. 
Under the new model, recognition of revenue occurs when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the revised guidance requires that 
reporting companies disclose the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The 
revised guidance is effective for us beginning in the quarter ending March 31, 2017; early adoption is prohibited. The revised guidance is 
required to be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of initially applying it 
recognized at the date of initial application. We have not yet determined the impact that the revised guidance will have on our consolidated 
financial statements.  

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide That a 
Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period, which requires that a performance target that affects vesting and that 
could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance condition. The revised guidance is effective for us beginning in 
the quarter ending March 31, 2016; early adoption is permitted. We have not yet determined the impact that the revised guidance will have on 
our consolidated financial statements.  
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Interest Rate Sensitivity  

The primary objective of our investment activities is to preserve principal and maintain adequate liquidity.  

The value of our cash and money market investments, which were approximately $707 million at December 31, 2014, is not subject to 
changes in interest rates.  

The 2.50% Notes, 2.25% Notes and 1.50% Notes have fixed interest rates; therefore, changes in interest rates will not impact our results of 
operations or financial position.  

Exchange Rate Sensitivity  

Currently, substantially all of our sales and expenses are denominated in United States dollars; therefore, changes in exchange rates will 
not have a material impact on our results of operations or financial position.  

   

Financial Statements  

Our financial statements required by this item are contained on pages F-1 through F-39 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. See Item 15
(a)(1) for a listing of financial statements provided.  
   

None.  

   

As required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(b), WebMD management, including the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, 
conducted an evaluation of the effectiveness of WebMD’s disclosure controls and procedures, as defined in Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(e), as of 
December 31, 2014. Based on that evaluation, the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that WebMD’s disclosure 
controls and procedures were effective as of December 31, 2014.  

In connection with the evaluation required by Exchange Act Rule 13a-15(d), WebMD management, including the Chief Executive Officer 
and Chief Financial Officer, concluded that there were no changes in WebMD’s internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Exchange 
Act Rule 13a-15(f), during the fourth quarter of 2014 that have materially affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, WebMD’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

   

None.  
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Item 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk 

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data 

Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure 

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures 

Item 9B. Other Information 
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PART III  

Information required by Items 10, 11, 12, 13 and 14 of Part III is omitted from this Annual Report and will be filed in a definitive proxy 
statement or by an amendment to this Annual Report not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report.  
   

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 10 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report 
not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, in either case under the captions “Directors and Executive 
Officers” and “Corporate Governance” and possibly elsewhere therein. That information is incorporated in this Item 10 by reference.  
   

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 11 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report 
not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, in either case under the caption “Executive 
Compensation,” and possibly elsewhere therein. That information is incorporated in this Item 11 by reference.  
   

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 12 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report 
not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, in either case under the caption “Security Ownership of 
Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters,” and possibly elsewhere therein. That information is incorporated 
in this Item 12 by reference.  
   

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 13 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report 
not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, in either case under the caption “Certain Relationships and 
Related Transactions,” and possibly elsewhere therein. That information is incorporated in this Item 13 by reference.  
   

We will provide information that is responsive to this Item 14 in our definitive proxy statement or in an amendment to this Annual Report 
not later than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year covered by this Annual Report, in either case under the caption “Services and Fees of 
Ernst & Young,” and possibly elsewhere therein. That information is incorporated in this Item 14 by reference.  
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Item 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance 

Item 11. Executive Compensation 

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters 

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence 

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services 
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PART IV  
   

(a)(1)-(2) Financial Statements and Schedule  

The financial statements and schedule listed in the accompanying Index to Consolidated Financial Statements and Supplemental Data on 
page F-1 are filed as part of this Report.  

(a)(3) Exhibits  

See “Index to Exhibits” beginning on page E-1, which is incorporated by reference herein. The Index to Exhibits lists all exhibits filed with 
this Report and identifies which of those exhibits are management contracts and compensation plans.  
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Item 15. Exhibits and Financial Statement Schedule 
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SIGNATURES  

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the registrant has duly caused this Annual 
Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized, on the 27th day of February, 2015.  

   

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this Annual Report has been signed below by the following persons 
on behalf of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated.  
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W EB MD H EALTH C ORP . 

By:   / S /    P ETER A NEVSKI        

  Peter Anevski 

  

Executive Vice President and  
Chief Financial Officer  

Signature    Capacity   Date 

/ S / D AVID J. S CHLANGER  
David J. Schlanger     

Chief Executive Officer  
(principal executive officer)    

February 27, 2015 

/ S / P ETER A NEVSKI  
Peter Anevski     

Chief Financial Officer  
(principal financial and accounting officer)    

February 27, 2015 

/ S / M ARK J. A DLER , M.D.  
Mark J. Adler, M.D.     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / K EVIN M. C AMERON  
Kevin M. Cameron     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / N EIL F. D IMICK  
Neil F. Dimick     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / J EROME C. K ELLER  
Jerome C. Keller     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / J AMES V. M ANNING  
James V. Manning     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / W ILLIAM J. M ARINO  
William J. Marino     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / J OSEPH E. S MITH  
Joseph E. Smith     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / S TANLEY S. T ROTMAN , J R .  
Stanley S. Trotman, Jr.     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / K RISTIINA V UORI , M.D.  
Kristiina Vuori, M.D.     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 

/ S / M ARTIN J. W YGOD  
Martin J. Wygod     

Director  
  

February 27, 2015 
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WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPP LEMENTAL DATA  
   

All other schedules not listed above have been omitted as not applicable or because the required information is included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements or in the notes thereto. Columns omitted from the schedule filed have been omitted because the information is 
not applicable.  
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Historical Financial Statements:     

Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting       F-2    
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Supplemental Financial Data:     

The following supplemental financial data of the Registrant and its subsidiaries required to be included in Item 15(a)(2) on Form 10-K 
are listed below:     

Schedule II — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts       S-1    
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REPORT OF MANAGEMENT ON INTERNAL CONTROL OVER FINAN CIAL REPORTING  

Management of WebMD Health Corp. is responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting. 
Internal control over financial reporting is defined in Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) promulgated under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the 
Exchange Act) as a process designed by, or under the supervision of, a company’s principal executive and principal financial officers and 
effected by its board of directors, management and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. Internal 
control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that:  
   

   

   

Internal control over financial reporting includes the controls themselves, monitoring and internal auditing practices and actions taken to 
correct deficiencies as identified.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

WebMD management assessed the effectiveness of WebMD’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014. In 
making this assessment, WebMD management used the criteria set forth in Internal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Committee 
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework). Based on that assessment and those criteria, WebMD 
management concluded that WebMD maintained effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014.  

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited and reported on the Company’s consolidated financial 
statements as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 and for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014, has audited the 
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, as stated in their report which appears on page F-3.  

February 27, 2015  
   

F-2  

  
•   pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the 

assets of the company;  

  
•   provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance 

with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance 
with authorizations of management and directors of the company; and  

  
•   provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the 

company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of WebMD Health Corp.  

We have audited WebMD Health Corp.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in 
Internal Control—Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) 
(the COSO criteria). WebMD Health Corp.’s management is responsible for maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and 
for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting included in the accompanying Report of Management on 
Internal Control Over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on the company’s internal control over financial reporting 
based on our audit.  

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial 
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over financial reporting, 
assessing the risk that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the 
assessed risk, and performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a 
reasonable basis for our opinion.  

A company’s internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. 
A company’s internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, 
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or 
disposition of the company’s assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements.  

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 
that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.  

In our opinion, WebMD Health Corp. maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial reporting as of 
December 31, 2014, based on the COSO criteria.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the 
consolidated balance sheets of WebMD Health Corp. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statements of operations, 
comprehensive income (loss), equity and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2014 of WebMD Health Corp. 
and our report dated February 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

New York, New York  
February 27, 2015  
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

The Board of Directors and Stockholders of WebMD Health Corp.  

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of WebMD Health Corp. as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the 
related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive income (loss), equity, and cash flows for each of the three years in the period 
ended December 31, 2014. Our audits also included the financial statement schedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a). These financial statements 
and schedule are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements and 
schedule based on our audits.  

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those 
standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 
also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial 
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.  

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated financial position of 
WebMD Health Corp. at December 31, 2014 and 2013, and the consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for each of the three 
years in the period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. Also, in our opinion, the related 
financial statement schedule, when considered in relation to the basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material 
respects the information set forth therein.  

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), WebMD 
Health Corp.’s internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2014, based on criteria established in Internal Control-Integrated 
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (2013 framework) and our report dated 
February 27, 2015 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon.  

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP  

New York, New York  
February 27, 2015  
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WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS  
(In thousands, except share and per share data)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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     December 31,   
     2014     2013   

ASSETS       

Current assets:       

Cash and cash equivalents     $ 706,776      $ 824,880    
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $631 at December 31, 2014 and $793 

at December 31, 2013       136,806        124,232    
Prepaid expenses and other current assets       13,877        13,243    
Deferred tax assets       18,147        13,620    

                     

Total current assets       875,606        975,975    
Property and equipment, net       59,573        64,884    
Goodwill       202,980        202,980    
Intangible assets, net       14,215        13,834    
Deferred tax assets       18,947        38,802    
Other assets       26,236        29,153    

                     

TOTAL ASSETS     $ 1,197,557      $ 1,325,628    
         

  

        

  

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ’  EQUITY       

Current liabilities:       

Accrued expenses     $ 72,658      $ 73,739    
Deferred revenue       89,785        85,148    
Liabilities of discontinued operations       —       1,506    

         
  

        
  

Total current liabilities       162,443        160,393    
2.25% convertible notes due 2016       252,232        252,232    
2.50% convertible notes due 2018       400,000        400,000    
1.50% convertible notes due 2020       300,000        300,000    
Other long-term liabilities       21,293        22,103    
Commitments and contingencies       

Stockholders’  equity:       

Preferred stock, 50,000,000 shares authorized; no shares issued and outstanding       —       —   
Common stock, $0.01 par value per share, 650,000,000 shares authorized; 57,437,992 shares issued at 

December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013       574        574    
Additional paid-in capital       9,214,800        9,273,712    
Treasury stock, at cost; 21,084,995 shares at December 31, 2014 and 18,281,498 shares at December 

31, 2013       (685,659 )      (572,221 )  
Accumulated other comprehensive income       976        —   
Accumulated deficit       (8,469,102 )      (8,511,165 )  

         
  

        
  

Stockholders’  equity       61,589        190,900    
                     

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’  EQUITY     $ 1,197,557      $ 1,325,628    
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WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS  
(In thousands, except per share data)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Revenue     $ 580,449       $ 515,293       $ 469,866    
Cost of operations       224,094         209,740         216,361    
Sales and marketing       136,160         127,997         127,659    
General and administrative       94,119         93,220         97,618    
Depreciation and amortization       29,811         26,606         28,399    
Interest income       69         76         86    
Interest expense       24,686         22,826         23,334    
Loss on convertible notes       —        4,871         —   
Gain on investments       —        —        8,074    
Restructuring       —        —        7,579    
Other expense       —        1,353         2,297    

                                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax provision (benefit)       71,648         28,756         (25,221 )  
Income tax provision (benefit)       30,707         13,640         (2,134 )  

                                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations       40,941         15,116         (23,087 )  
Income from discontinued operations, net of a tax provision of $0 and $555 in 2014 and 2012       1,122         —        2,743    

                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 42,063       $ 15,116       $ (20,344 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

Basic income (loss) per common share:           

Income (loss) from continuing operations     $ 1.08       $ 0.32       $ (0.45 )  
Income from discontinued operations       0.03         —        0.05    

                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 1.11       $ 0.32       $ (0.40 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

Diluted income (loss) per common share:           

Income (loss) from continuing operations     $ 0.97       $ 0.31       $ (0.45 )  
Income from discontinued operations       0.03         —        0.05    

                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 1.00       $ 0.31       $ (0.40 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

Weighted-average shares outstanding used in computing per share amounts:           

Basic       37,869         46,830         50,862    
         

  

         

  

         

  

Diluted       45,614         48,398         50,862    
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WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)  
(In thousands)  

   

   
   
   

See accompanying notes.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Net income (loss)     $ 42,063       $ 15,116       $ (20,344 )  
Other comprehensive income, net of tax:           

Net change in unrealized gains on available-for sale securities       976         —        —   
         

  
         

  
         

  

Total other comprehensive income, net of tax       976         —        —   
                                 

Comprehensive income (loss)     $ 43,039       $ 15,116       $ (20,344 )  
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WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF EQUITY  
(In thousands, except share data)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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     Stockholders’  Equity   
                                         Accumulated  

Other  
Comprehensive 

 
Income   

       
                 Additional 

 
Paid-In  
Capital   

                       Total  
Stockholders’

 
Equity   

     Common Stock       Treasury Stock     Accumulated 

 
Deficit   

     

     Shares     Amount       Shares     Amount          
Balances at December 31, 2011       62,410,255      $ 624      $ 9,473,811        6,685,439      $ (294,062 )    $ (8,505,937 )    $             —      $ 674,436    
Net loss       —       —       —       —       —       (20,344 )      —        (20,344 )  
Issuance of stock for option exercises and other issuances       27,737        —       (19,807 )      (350,371 )      18,268        —       —        (1,539 )  
Tax benefit realized from issuances of common stock       —       —       377        —       —       —       —        377    
Stock-based compensation expense       —       —       44,571        —       —       —       —        44,571    
Repurchase of shares through tender offers       —       —       —       5,769,230        (150,759 )      —       —        (150,759 )  
Purchases of treasury stock       —       —       —       1,320,846        (26,900 )      —       —        (26,900 )  
Tax deficiency from issuances of common stock       —       —       (9,853 )      —       —       —       —        (9,853 )  

                                                                                  

Balances at December 31, 2012       62,437,992        624        9,489,099        13,425,144        (453,453 )      (8,526,281 )      —        509,989    
Net income       —       —       —       —       —       15,116        —        15,116    
Issuance of stock for option exercises and other issuances       —       —       (83,165 )      (1,938,041 )      100,961        —       —        17,796    
Tax benefit realized from issuances of common stock       —       —       58        —       —       —       —        58    
Stock-based compensation expense       —       —       38,186        —       —       —       —        38,186    
Repurchase of shares through tender offers       (5,000,000 )      (50 )      (170,466 )      —       —       —       —        (170,516 )  
Purchases of treasury stock       —       —       —       6,794,395        (219,729 )      —       —        (219,729 )  

                                                                                  

Balances at December 31, 2013       57,437,992        574        9,273,712        18,281,498        (572,221 )      (8,511,165 )      —        190,900    
Net income       —       —       —       —       —       42,063        —        42,063    
Other comprehensive income, net of tax       —       —       —       —       —       —       976         976    
Issuance of stock for option exercises and other issuances       —       —       (105,382 )      (2,356,573 )      112,898        —       —        7,516    
Tax benefit realized from issuances of common stock       —       —       14,239        —       —       —       —        14,239    
Stock-based compensation expense       —       —       32,231        —       —       —       —        32,231    
Repurchase of shares through tender offers       —       —       —       2,000,000        (97,588 )      —       —        (97,588 )  
Purchases of treasury stock       —       —       —       3,160,070        (128,748 )      —       —        (128,748 )  

                                                                                  

Balances at December 31, 2014       57,437,992      $ 574      $ 9,214,800        21,084,995      $ (685,659 )    $ (8,469,102 )    $ 976       $ 61,589    
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WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS  
(In thousands)  

   

See accompanying notes.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014     2013     2012   

Cash flows from operating activities:         

Net income (loss)     $ 42,063      $ 15,116      $ (20,344 )  
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash provided by operating activities:         

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax       (1,122 )      —       (2,743 )  
Depreciation and amortization       29,811        26,606        28,399    
Non-cash interest, net       4,511        4,192        4,326    
Non-cash stock-based compensation       32,546        38,550        44,921    
Deferred income taxes       14,717        13,070        (2,337 )  
Loss on convertible notes       —       4,871        —   
Gain on investments       —       —       (8,074 )  
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:         

Accounts receivable       (12,574 )      (17,610 )      14,713    
Prepaid expenses and other, net       (673 )      266        (1,589 )  
Accrued expenses and other long-term liabilities       (380 )      8,061        9,429    
Deferred revenue       4,637        (7,028 )      4,121    

                               

Net cash provided by continuing operations       113,536        86,094        70,822    
Net cash (used in) provided by discontinued operations       (384 )      —       4,324    

                               

Net cash provided by operating activities       113,152        86,094        75,146    
Cash flows from investing activities:         

Cash paid in business combination       (3,182 )      —       —   
Proceeds received from ARS option       —       —       9,269    
Purchases of property and equipment       (23,194 )      (22,341 )      (35,171 )  
Proceeds from sale of property and equipment       —       1,381        —   

                               

Net cash used in investing activities       (26,376 )      (20,960 )      (25,902 )  
Cash flows from financing activities:         

Proceeds from exercise of stock options       40,602        29,724        827    
Cash used for withholding taxes due on stock-based awards       (33,385 )      (12,526 )      (2,740 )  
Net proceeds from issuance of convertible notes       —       291,823        —   
Repurchase of convertible notes       —       (150,354 )      —   
Repurchase of shares through tender offers       (97,588 )      (170,516 )      (150,759 )  
Purchases of treasury stock       (128,748 )      (220,298 )      (26,331 )  
Excess tax benefit on stock-based awards       14,239        58        377    

                               

Net cash used in financing activities       (204,880 )      (232,089 )      (178,626 )  
                               

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents       (118,104 )      (166,955 )      (129,382 )  
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period       824,880        991,835        1,121,217    

                               

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period     $ 706,776      $ 824,880      $ 991,835    
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
(In thousands, except share and per share data)  

1.    Background and Basis of Presentation  

Background  

WebMD Health Corp. (the “Company” or “WebMD”) is a Delaware corporation that was incorporated on May 3, 2005. The Company 
completed an initial public offering on September 28, 2005. The Company’s Common Stock trades under the symbol “WBMD” on the Nasdaq 
Global Select Market.  

The Company provides health information services to consumers, physicians and other healthcare professionals, private and governmental 
employers and health plans through its public and private online portals, mobile platforms and health-focused publications. The WebMD Health 
Network includes: www.WebMD.com , the Company’s primary public portal for consumers and related mobile-optimized sites and mobile apps; 
www.Medscape.com , the Company’s primary public portal for physicians and other healthcare professionals and related mobile services; and 
other sites and apps through which the Company provides branded health and wellness content, tools and services. The Company’s services for 
consumers enable them to obtain information on health and wellness topics or on a particular disease or condition, to assess their personal health 
status, to use online trackers, tools and quizzes, to locate physicians, to receive periodic e-mailed newsletters and alerts on topics of individual 
interest, and to participate in online communities with peers and experts. The Company’s services for physicians and healthcare professionals 
make it easier for them to access clinical reference sources, stay abreast of the latest clinical information, learn about new treatment options, earn 
continuing medical education (“CME”) credit and communicate with peers. The Company does not charge any usage, membership or download 
fees for access to its public portals or mobile platforms. The Company generates revenue from its public portals and mobile platforms primarily 
through the sale of various types of advertising and sponsorship programs to its clients, which include: pharmaceutical, biotechnology and 
medical device companies; hospitals, clinics and other healthcare services companies; health insurance providers; consumer products companies 
whose products or services relate to health, wellness, diet, fitness, lifestyle, safety and illness prevention; and various other businesses, 
organizations and governmental entities. Advertisers and sponsors use the Company’s services to reach, educate and inform target audiences of 
consumers, physicians and other healthcare professionals. The Company also generates revenue from advertising sold in WebMD Magazine , a 
consumer magazine distributed to physician office waiting rooms. In addition, the Company generates revenue from the sale of certain 
information products. The Company’s private portals are a cloud-based population health management platform, hosted by the Company and 
provided to private and governmental employers and health plans for use by their employees and plan participants. The Company markets these 
private portals and related services under the WebMD Health Services brand. The WebMD Health Services platform enables employers and 
health plans to provide their employees and plan participants with access to personalized health and benefit information, including an online 
personal health record application. The Company’s WebMD Health Services solutions include a comprehensive set of decision support and 
transparency tools that help their employees and plan participants understand the financial implications of their benefits options and make more 
informed benefits-related purchase decisions, and also provide access to information and services that can help them factor quality and cost into 
decisions about care and treatment options. The Company also provides telephonic, online and onsite health coaching and targeted condition 
management programs for use by its private portals clients’ employees and plan participants to help them make healthier lifestyle choices and 
achieve their wellness goals. The Company generates revenue from subscriptions to its WebMD Health Services platform by employers and 
health plans, either directly or through its distributors. WebMD offers its health coaching services and its condition management programs on a 
per-participant basis.  

Basis of Presentation  

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the consolidated accounts of the Company and its majority-owned 
subsidiaries and have been prepared in United States dollars, and in accordance with  
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS — (Conti nued)  
   
U.S. generally accepted accounting principles (“GAAP”). The results of operations for companies acquired or disposed of are included in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements from the effective date of acquisition or up to the date of disposal. All material intercompany balances and 
transactions have been eliminated in consolidation.  

2.    Summary of Significant Accounting Policies  

Accounting Estimates  

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with GAAP requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the 
amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notes. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience, 
current business factors, and various other assumptions that the Company believes are necessary to consider to form a basis for making 
judgments about the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the recorded amounts of revenue and expenses, and the disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities. The Company is subject to uncertainties such as the impact of future events, economic and political factors, and changes in 
the Company’s business environment; therefore, actual results could differ from these estimates. Accordingly, the accounting estimates used in 
the preparation of the Company’s financial statements will change as new events occur, as more experience is acquired, as additional 
information is obtained and as the Company’s operating environment changes. Changes in estimates are made when circumstances warrant. 
Such changes in estimates and refinements in estimation methodologies are reflected in reported results of operations; if material, the effects of 
changes in estimates are disclosed in the notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements. Significant estimates and assumptions by management 
affect the allowance for doubtful accounts, the carrying value of long-lived assets (including goodwill and intangible assets), the amortization 
period of long-lived assets (excluding goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets), the carrying value, capitalization and amortization of 
software and Website development costs, the carrying value of investments, the provision for income taxes and related deferred tax accounts, 
certain accrued liabilities, revenue recognition, contingencies, litigation and related legal accruals and the value attributed to employee stock 
options and other stock-based awards.  

Seasonality  

The timing of the Company’s revenue is affected by seasonal factors. The Company’s public portal advertising and sponsorship revenue is 
seasonal, primarily due to the annual spending patterns of the advertising and sponsorship clients of the Company’s public portals. This portion 
of the Company’s revenue is usually the lowest in the first quarter of each calendar year, and generally increases during each consecutive quarter 
throughout the year. The timing of revenue in relation to the Company’s expenses, many of which do not vary directly with revenue, has an 
impact on cost of operations, sales and marketing, and general and administrative expenses as a percentage of revenue in each calendar quarter.  

Cash and Cash Equivalents  

All highly liquid investments with an original maturity from the date of purchase of three months or less are considered to be cash 
equivalents. These investments are stated at cost, which approximates market. The Company’s cash and cash equivalents are generally invested 
in various money market accounts.  

Fair Value  

The carrying amount of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, accrued expenses and deferred revenue is deemed to approximate 
fair value due to the immediate or short-term maturity of these financial instruments. See Note 12 for further information on the fair value of the 
Company’s investments.  
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Allowance for Doubtful Accounts  

The allowance for doubtful accounts receivable reflects the Company’s best estimate of losses inherent in the Company’s receivable 
portfolio determined on the basis of historical experience, specific allowances for known troubled accounts and other currently available 
evidence.  

Long-Lived Assets  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using the straight-line method over 
the estimated useful lives of the related assets. The useful lives are generally as follows:  
   

Expenditures for maintenance, repair and renewals of minor items are charged to expense as incurred. Major improvements are capitalized. 

Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

Goodwill and intangible assets result from business combinations accounted for under the acquisition method. Goodwill and other 
intangible assets with indefinite lives are not amortized and are subjected to impairment review by applying fair value based tests. Intangible 
assets with definite lives are amortized on a straight-line basis over the individually estimated useful lives of the related assets as follows:  
   

Recoverability  

The Company reviews the carrying value of goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible assets annually and whenever indicators of 
impairment are present. The Company tests goodwill for impairment at the reporting unit level only when, after completing a qualitative 
analysis, it is determined that it is more likely than not that the fair value of the reporting unit is less than its carrying value. Fair value is 
determined using an income approach valuation. A reporting unit is defined as an operating segment or one level below an operating segment.  

Long-lived assets used in operations are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that carrying 
amounts may not be recoverable. For long-lived assets to be held and used, the Company recognizes an impairment loss only if its carrying 
amount is not recoverable through its undiscounted cash flows and measures the impairment loss based on the difference between the carrying 
amount and the fair value. Long-lived assets held for sale are reported at the lower of cost or fair value less costs to sell.  
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Computer equipment     3 to 5 years 
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures     4 to 7 years 
Software     3 years 
Building and improvements     Up to 40 years 
Website development costs     3 years 
Leasehold improvements     Shorter of useful life or lease term 

Content     3 to 5 years 
Customer relationships     5 to 12 years 
Acquired technology and patents     3 years 
Trade names     Up to 10 years 
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Based on the Company’s analysis, there was no impairment of goodwill or indefinite-lived intangible assets during the years ended 
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.  

Internal Use Software  

Software development costs that are incurred in the preliminary project stage are expensed as incurred. Once certain criteria have been 
met, direct costs incurred in developing or obtaining computer software are capitalized. The Company capitalized $5,369 and $9,085 during the 
years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Capitalized internal use software development costs are included in property and 
equipment in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. Training and data conversion costs are expensed as incurred. Capitalized software 
costs are depreciated over a three-year period. Depreciation expense related to internal use software was $6,449, $5,070 and $6,223 for the years 
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The remaining balance of internal use software, net of accumulated depreciation, was 
$11,597 and $12,677 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Website Development Costs  

Costs related to the planning and post implementation phases of WebMD’s Website development efforts, as well as minor enhancements 
and maintenance, are expensed as incurred. Direct costs incurred in the development phase are capitalized. The Company capitalized $5,539 and 
$7,428 during the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively. These capitalized costs are included in property and equipment in the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets and are depreciated over a three-year period. Depreciation expense related to Website development 
costs was $6,421, $5,696 and $4,998 during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The remaining balance of 
Website development costs, net of accumulated depreciation, was $11,343 and $12,225 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

Restricted Cash  

The Company’s restricted cash primarily relates to collateral for letters of credit obtained to support the Company’s operations. Total 
restricted cash was $1,765 and $1,730 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and is included in other assets in the accompanying 
consolidated balance sheets.  

Deferred Charges  

Other assets includes costs associated with the issuance of the Company’s convertible notes that are amortized to interest expense in the 
accompanying consolidated statements of operations, using the effective interest method over the period from issuance through the earliest date 
on which holders can demand redemption. During the year ended December 31, 2011, the Company capitalized issuance costs of $12,655 and 
$12,595, related to the issuance of its 2.50% Convertible Notes due 2018 (the “2.50% Notes”) and its 2.25% Convertible Notes due 2016 (the 
“2.25% Notes”), respectively. Additionally, during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company capitalized $8,177 of issuance costs in 
connection with the 2013 issuance of its 1.50% Convertible Notes due 2020 (the “1.50% Notes”). The aggregate amortization of these issuance 
costs, which is included within interest expense in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations, was $4,511, $4,192 and $4,326 for 
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company wrote off issuance 
costs of $2,285 in connection with the repurchase of a portion of its 2.25% Notes. As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, there were $14,355 and 
$18,866, respectively, of unamortized issuance costs included in other assets within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets.  

Deferred Revenue  

Deferred revenue consists of invoices sent to customers or payments received from customers, in advance of revenue recognition and is 
recognized as the revenue recognition criteria are met. Deferred revenue is influenced  
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by several factors, including the timing of invoices to our customers and the timing of payments received from our customers in relation to the 
timing of the revenue recognition for the related customer contract. Deferred revenue at each balance sheet date is expected to be recognized 
during the succeeding twelve month period and is therefore classified as a current liability within the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. 

Leases  

The Company recognizes rent expense on a straight-line basis, including predetermined fixed escalations, over the initial lease term 
including reasonably assured renewal periods, net of lease incentives, from the time that the Company controls the leased property. Leasehold 
improvements made at the inception of the lease are amortized over the shorter of the useful life of the asset or the lease term. Lease incentives 
are recorded as a deferred credit and recognized as a reduction to rent expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term as described above.  

Presentation of Segment Information  

The Company generates revenue in four groups, as set forth in the table below. The first group is “Advertising and Sponsorship – 
Biopharma and Medical Device” and consists of advertising and sponsorship revenue from pharmaceutical, biotechnology and medical device 
clients relating to ethical pharmaceutical products or other regulated devices or products or for sponsoring educational programs. The second 
category is “Advertising and Sponsorship – OTC, CPG and Other” and consists of advertising and sponsorship revenue relating to non-Rx or 
over-the-counter medications and other healthcare products, food and beverages, beauty products and other consumer products, as well as 
revenue from clients such as retailers, pharmacies, hospitals, health insurance companies and government agencies. The combined revenue of the 
first two groups is sometimes referred to as “Advertising and Sponsorship” revenue. The third group is “Private Portal Services” and consists of 
revenue from employers and health plans for subscriptions to the Company’s private portals solution and related services, including health 
coaching and condition management services. The fourth group is “Information Services” and consists of revenue from the sale of stand-alone 
information and data products. Discrete financial information related to a measure of profit or loss for these four revenue groups is not available 
as they leverage many common expenses, and the Company does not separately allocate these common expenses in assessing the performance of 
its business. Accordingly, the Company views its business as one reportable operating segment.  

The following table presents the revenues recognized from the four revenue groups described above:  
   

The Company’s revenue is principally generated in the United States. An adverse change in economic conditions in the United States could 
negatively affect the Company’s revenue and results of operations. The Company recorded revenue from foreign customers of $46,095, $31,340 
and $24,206 during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   
Advertising and sponsorship           

Biopharma and medical device     $ 329,329       $ 304,018       $ 280,261    
OTC, CPG and other       124,636         113,009         98,492    

                                 

     453,965         417,027         378,753    
Private portal services       103,182         82,111         78,527    
Information services       23,302         16,155         12,586    

                                 

   $ 580,449       $ 515,293       $ 469,866    
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Sales, Use and Value Added Tax  

The Company excludes sales, use and value added tax from revenue in the accompanying consolidated statements of operations.  

Advertising Costs  

Advertising costs are generally expensed as incurred and totaled $4,196, $5,174 and $2,798 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

Foreign Currency  

The functional currency of the Company’s foreign operations is the U.S. dollar. Fluctuations in foreign dollar monetary assets and 
liabilities result in gains or losses which are credited or charged to income. Foreign currency transactional gains or losses are also credited or 
charged to income.  

Concentration of Credit Risk  

None of the Company’s customers individually accounted for more than 10% of the Company’s revenue in 2014, 2013 or 2012 or more 
than 10% of the Company’s accounts receivable as of December 31, 2014 or 2013.  

Loss Contingencies  

The Company accounts for loss contingencies in accordance with Financial Accounting Standards Board (“FASB”) ASC No. 450, 
“Contingencies.” Under ASC No. 450, accruals for loss contingencies are recorded when both (i) the information available indicates that it is 
probable that a liability has been incurred and (ii) the amount of the loss can be reasonably estimated. The Company records adjustments to these 
accruals to reflect the status of negotiations, settlements, advice of counsel and other information and events related to an individual matter.  

Income Taxes  

Deferred income taxes are recognized for the future tax consequence of differences between the tax and financial reporting basis of assets 
and liabilities at each reporting period. A valuation allowance is established to reduce deferred tax assets to the amount expected to be realized.  

Tax contingencies are recorded to address potential exposure involving tax positions the Company has taken that could be challenged by 
tax authorities. These potential exposures result from applications of various statutes, rules, regulations and interpretations. The Company’s 
estimates of tax contingencies contain assumptions and judgments about potential actions by taxing jurisdictions. The Company reflects interest 
and penalties related to uncertain tax positions as part of the income tax provision (benefit) in the accompanying consolidated statements of 
operations.  

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation  

Stock-based compensation expense for all share-based payment awards granted is determined based on the grant-date fair value. The grant-
date fair value for stock options is estimated using the Black-Scholes Option Pricing Model. The Company recognizes these compensation costs 
net of an estimated forfeiture rate on a straight-line basis over the requisite service period of the award, which is generally the vesting term of the 
share-based payment award.  
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Revenue Recognition  

Revenue from advertising is recognized as advertisements are delivered or as publications are distributed. Revenue from sponsorship 
arrangements, content syndication and distribution arrangements and subscriptions to healthcare management tools and private portals as well as 
related health coaching services is recognized ratably over the term of the applicable agreement. Revenue from information services is 
recognized as the underlying data is delivered. Revenue from the sponsorship of CME is recognized over the period the Company substantially 
completes its contractual deliverables as determined by the applicable agreements.  

Contracts that contain multiple deliverables are subject to Accounting Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2009-13 Multiple-Deliverable 
Revenue Arrangements (“ASU 2009-13”). ASU 2009-13 requires the allocation of revenue to each deliverable of multiple-deliverable revenue 
arrangements, based on the relative selling price of each deliverable. It also defines the level of evidence of selling price required to separate 
deliverables and allows a company to make its best estimate of the selling price of deliverables when more objective evidence of selling price is 
not available.  

Pursuant to the guidance of ASU 2009-13, when a sales arrangement contains multiple deliverables, the Company allocates revenue to 
each deliverable based on relative selling price. The selling price for a deliverable is based on vendor-specific objective evidence (“VSOE”) if 
available, third-party evidence (“TPE”) if VSOE is not available, or best estimate of selling price if neither VSOE nor TPE is available. The 
Company then recognizes revenue on each deliverable in accordance with its revenue recognition policies over the period that delivery occurs. 
VSOE of selling price is based on the price charged when the deliverable is sold separately. In determining VSOE, GAAP requires that a 
substantial majority of the selling prices fall within a reasonable range based on historical pricing trends for specific products and services. TPE 
is based on competitor prices of similar deliverables when sold separately. The Company is not able to determine TPE of selling price as it is 
unable to reliably determine what competitors’ selling prices are for comparable services, combined with the fact that its services often contain 
unique features and customizations such that comparable services do not exist. The determination of best estimate of selling price is a 
judgmental process that considers multiple factors including, but not limited to, recent selling prices and related discounting practices for each 
service, market conditions, customer classes, sales channels and other factors.  
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Net Income (Loss) Per Common Share  

Basic income (loss) per common share has been computed using the weighted-average number of shares of Common Stock outstanding 
during the periods presented. Diluted income (loss) per common share has been computed using the weighted-average number of shares of 
Common Stock outstanding during the periods, increased to give effect to potentially dilutive securities and assumes that any dilutive convertible 
notes were converted, only in the periods in which such effect is dilutive (shares in thousands):  
   

The Company has excluded certain of its convertible notes, as well as certain outstanding stock options and restricted stock, from the 
calculation of diluted income (loss) per common share during the periods in which such securities were anti-dilutive. The following table 
presents the total weighted-average number of potentially dilutive common shares that were excluded from the computation of diluted income 
(loss) per common share during the periods presented (shares in thousands):  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Numerator:           

Income (loss) from continuing operations — Basic     $ 40,941       $ 15,116       $ (23,087 )  
Interest expense on 1.50% Notes, net of tax       3,456         —        —   

                                 

Income (loss) from continuing operations — Diluted     $ 44,397       $ 15,116       $ (23,087 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — Basic and  
Diluted     $ 1,122       $ —      $ 2,743    

         

  

         

  

         

  

Denominator:           

Weighted-average shares — Basic       37,869         46,830         50,862    
Stock options and restricted stock       2,060         1,568         —   
1.50% Notes       5,685         —        —   

                                 

Adjusted weighted-average shares after assumed conversions — Diluted       45,614         48,398         50,862    
         

  

         

  

         

  

Basic income (loss) per common share:           

Income (loss) from continuing operations     $ 1.08       $ 0.32       $ (0.45 )  
Income from discontinued operations       0.03         —        0.05    

                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 1.11       $ 0.32       $ (0.40 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

Diluted income (loss) per common share:           

Income (loss) from continuing operations     $ 0.97       $ 0.31       $ (0.45 )  
Income from discontinued operations       0.03         —        0.05    

                                 

Net income (loss)     $ 1.00       $ 0.31       $ (0.40 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Options and restricted stock       2,594         5,744         12,291    
1.50% Notes       —        556         —   
2.50% Notes       6,195         6,148         6,108    
2.25% Notes       3,506         5,020         5,482    

                                 

     12,295         17,468         23,881    
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Discontinued Operations  

The operating results of a business unit are reported as discontinued if its operations and cash flows can be clearly distinguished from the 
rest of the business, the operations have been sold or will be sold within a year, there will be no continuing involvement in the operation after the 
disposal date and certain other criteria are met. Significant judgments are involved in determining whether a business component meets the 
criteria for discontinued operation reporting and the period in which these criteria are met.  

Reclassifications  

Certain reclassifications have been made to the prior period financial statements to conform with the current period presentation.  

Recent Accounting Pronouncements  

Accounting Pronouncement Adopted During 2014  

In July 2013, the FASB issued an update to existing guidance on the financial presentation of unrecognized tax benefits. The update 
provides that a liability related to an unrecognized tax benefit would be presented as a reduction of a deferred tax asset for a net operating loss 
carryforward, a similar tax loss or a tax credit carryforward if such settlement is required or expected in the event the uncertain tax position is 
disallowed. This update is effective for fiscal years, and interim periods within those years, beginning after December 15, 2013, which for the 
Company was the first quarter of 2014. The adoption of this update did not have an impact on the Company’s financial condition, results of 
operations or cash flows.  

Accounting Pronouncements to be Adopted in the Future  

In April 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-08, Reporting Discontinued Operations and Disclosures of Disposals of Components of an 
Entity , which changes the criteria for determining which disposals can be presented as discontinued operations and modifies the related 
disclosure requirements. Under the revised guidance, a discontinued operation is defined as a disposal of a component or group of components 
that represents a strategic shift that has, or will have, a major effect on an entity’s operations and financial results. The revised guidance is 
effective for the Company beginning in the quarter ending March 31, 2015; early adoption is permitted. The Company has not yet determined 
the impact the revised guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.  

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-09, Revenue from Contracts with Customers (Topic 606) , to achieve a consistent 
application of revenue recognition within the U.S., resulting in a single revenue model to be applied by reporting companies under GAAP. 
Under the new model, recognition of revenue occurs when a customer obtains control of promised goods or services in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. In addition, the revised guidance requires that 
reporting companies disclose the nature, amount, timing, and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising from contracts with customers. The 
revised guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the quarter ending March 31, 2017; early adoption is prohibited. The revised 
guidance is required to be applied retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of 
initially applying it recognized at the date of initial application. The Company has not yet determined the impact the revised guidance will have 
on its consolidated financial statements.  

In June 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-12, Accounting for Share-Based Payments When the Terms of an Award Provide That a 
Performance Target Could Be Achieved after the Requisite Service Period, which  
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requires that a performance target that affects vesting and that could be achieved after the requisite service period be treated as a performance 
condition. The revised guidance is effective for the Company beginning in the quarter ending March 31, 2016; early adoption is permitted. The 
Company has not yet determined the impact the revised guidance will have on its consolidated financial statements.  

3.    Discontinued Operations  

EPS  

On September 14, 2006, the Company completed the sale of Emdeon Practice Services, Inc. (together with its subsidiaries, “EPS”) to Sage 
Software, Inc., an indirect wholly owned subsidiary of The Sage Group plc (the “EPS Sale”). The Company had certain indemnity obligations to 
advance amounts for reasonable defense costs for initially ten, and later four, former officers and directors of EPS who were indicted in 
connection with an investigation by the United States Attorney for the District of South Carolina (the “Investigation”) that began in 2003 and 
was completed in 2011.  

During the year ended December 31, 2012, the Company recognized an after-tax gain of $2,235 related to the receipt of approximately 
$3,600 which represented a reimbursement to the Company related to recoveries by the United States Department of Justice from former 
employees of a predecessor of EPS who pleaded guilty to certain matters that were part of the Investigation. None of the former employees who 
pleaded guilty were employees to whom the Company provided indemnification in connection with the Investigation.  

Also included in income from discontinued operations during the year ended December 31, 2012 is a gain of $508 related to a state tax 
refund that the Company received in connection with the finalization of a state tax appeal related to the EPS Sale.  

Porex  

On October 19, 2009, the Company completed the sale of its Porex business. In connection with the sale of Porex, the Company agreed to 
indemnify Porex for certain tax matters. The remaining estimate of the Company’s tax indemnification liability related to Porex was $1,506 and 
was included within liabilities of discontinued operations within the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2013. During 
the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company paid $384 in connection with the completion of the remaining tax audits for all periods 
covered under the indemnity agreement. The remaining indemnity liability of $1,122 was adjusted through income from discontinued operations 
during the year ended December 31, 2014. The Company has no further obligations related to this matter.  

4.    Convertible Notes  

1.50% Convertible Notes due 2020  

On November 26, 2013, the Company issued $300,000 aggregate principal amount of its 1.50% Notes in a private offering. Unless 
previously converted, the 1.50% Notes will mature on December 1, 2020. Net proceeds from the sale of the 1.50% Notes were approximately 
$291,823, after deducting the related offering expenses. Interest on the 1.50% Notes is payable semi-annually on June 1 and December 1 of each 
year, commencing June 1, 2014. Under the terms of the 1.50% Notes, holders were able to surrender their 1.50% Notes for conversion into the 
Company’s Common Stock at an initial conversion rate of 18.9362 shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 
1.50% Notes. This was equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $52.81 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 
1.50% Notes were convertible into 5,680,860 shares of the Company’s Common Stock. The conversion rate may be adjusted under certain 
circumstances.  
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Effective September 10, 2014, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common Stock that the 
Company completed on September 9, 2014 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 18.9795 shares of 
Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 1.50% Notes. This is equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of approximately 
$52.69 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 1.50% Notes are convertible into 5,693,850 shares of Common Stock following the 
September 10, 2014 adjustment.  

Under the terms of the 1.50% Notes, if the Company undergoes certain change of control or other fundamental change transactions prior to 
the maturity date of the 1.50% Notes, holders of the 1.50% Notes will have the right, at their option, to require the Company to repurchase some 
or all of their 1.50% Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 1.50% Notes being repurchased, plus accrued and 
unpaid interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. However, the repurchase option will not apply in the case of certain change of control or 
other fundamental change transactions in which the Company is acquired by a public company, and (a) not less than 90% of the consideration 
received or to be received by holders of WebMD Common Stock, excluding cash payments for fractional shares, consists of acquirer common 
stock and (b) as a result of the transaction, the 1.50% Notes become convertible into the same consideration.  

2.50% Convertible Notes due 2018  

On January 11, 2011, the Company issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of its 2.50% Notes in a private offering. Unless previously 
converted, the 2.50% Notes will mature on January 31, 2018. Net proceeds from the sale of the 2.50% Notes were approximately $387,345, after 
deducting the related offering expenses, of which approximately $100,000 was used to repurchase 1,920,490 shares of the Company’s Common 
Stock at a price of $52.07 per share, the last reported sale price of the Company’s Common Stock on January 5, 2011, which repurchase settled 
on January 11, 2011. Interest on the 2.50% Notes is payable semi-annually on January 31 and July 31 of each year, commencing July 31, 2011. 
Under the terms of the 2.50% Notes, holders were able to surrender their 2.50% Notes for conversion into the Company’s Common Stock at an 
initial conversion rate of 15.1220 shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.50% Notes. This was equivalent to an 
initial conversion price of approximately $66.13 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.50% Notes were convertible into 
6,048,800 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.  

Effective April 4, 2012, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common Stock that the 
Company completed on April 3, 2012 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 15.3223 shares of Common 
Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.50% Notes. This was equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of approximately $65.26 
per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.50% Notes were convertible into 6,128,920 shares of Common Stock following the April 4, 
2012 adjustment. Effective September 11, 2013, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common 
Stock that the Company completed on September 10, 2013 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 15.4764 
shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.50% Notes. This was equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of 
approximately $64.61 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.50% Notes were convertible into 6,190,560 shares of Common Stock 
following the September 11, 2013 adjustment.  

Effective September 10, 2014, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common Stock that the 
Company completed on September 9, 2014 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 15.5118 shares of 
Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.50% Notes. This is equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of approximately 
$64.47 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.50% Notes are convertible into 6,204,720 shares of Common Stock following the 
September 10, 2014 adjustment.  
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Under the terms of the 2.50% Notes, if the Company undergoes certain change of control transactions prior to the maturity date of the 
2.50% Notes, holders of the 2.50% Notes will have the right, at their option, to require the Company to repurchase some or all of their 
2.50% Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2.50% Notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid 
interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. At the Company’s option, and to the extent permitted by the applicable rules of the Nasdaq Global 
Select Market (or the applicable rules of such other exchange on which the Company’s Common Stock may be listed), instead of paying the 
repurchase price in cash, the Company may pay the repurchase price in shares of its Common Stock or a combination of cash and shares of its 
Common Stock. However, in the case of certain change of control transactions in which the Company is acquired by a public company, the 
Company may elect to provide for conversion of the 2.50% Notes into acquirer common stock, in which case the repurchase option would not 
apply.  

2.25% Convertible Notes due 2016  

On March 14, 2011, the Company issued $400,000 aggregate principal amount of its 2.25% Notes in a private offering. Unless previously 
converted, the 2.25% Notes will mature on March 31, 2016. Net proceeds from the sale of the 2.25% Notes were approximately $387,400, after 
deducting the related offering expenses, of which approximately $50,000 was used to repurchase 868,507 shares of the Company’s Common 
Stock at a price of $57.57 per share, the last reported sale price of the Company’s Common Stock on March 8, 2011, which repurchase settled on 
March 14, 2011. Interest on the 2.25% Notes is payable semi-annually on March 31 and September 30 of each year, commencing September 30, 
2011. Under the terms of the 2.25% Notes, holders were able to surrender their 2.25% Notes for conversion into the Company’s Common Stock 
at an initial conversion rate of 13.5704 shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.25% Notes. This was equivalent 
to an initial conversion price of approximately $73.69 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.25% Notes were convertible into 
5,428,160 shares of the Company’s Common Stock.  

Effective April 4, 2012, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common Stock that the 
Company completed on April 3, 2012 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 13.7502 shares of Common 
Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.25% Notes. This was equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of approximately $72.73 
per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.25% Notes are convertible into 5,500,080 shares of Common Stock following the April 4, 
2012 adjustment. Effective September 11, 2013, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common 
Stock that the Company completed on September 10, 2013 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 13.8884 
shares of Common Stock per thousand dollars principal amount of the 2.25% Notes. This was equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of 
approximately $72.00 per share of Common Stock. In the aggregate, the 2.25% Notes were convertible into 5,555,360 shares of Common Stock 
following the September 11, 2013 adjustment.  

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company repurchased $100,000 principal amount of its 2.25% Notes for $101,750 in cash 
in a privately negotiated transaction. Also during the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company repurchased $47,768 principal amount of its 
2.25% Notes for $48,604 in cash in the open market. The Company recognized a pre-tax loss of $4,871 in 2013 related to these repurchases, 
which is reflected within loss on convertible notes in the accompanying consolidated statement of operations. The loss includes the expensing of 
the remaining deferred issuance costs outstanding related to the repurchased notes. As of December 31, 2013, the remaining principal amount of 
the 2.25% Notes outstanding was $252,232, which, in the aggregate, was convertible into 3,503,099 shares of Common Stock.  

Effective September 10, 2014, after giving effect to an adjustment resulting from a tender offer for the Company’s Common Stock that the 
Company completed on September 9, 2014 (see Note 10 for additional discussion), the conversion rate was adjusted to 13.9202 shares of 
Common Stock per thousand dollars principal  
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amount of the 2.25% Notes. This is equivalent to an adjusted conversion price of approximately $71.84 per share of Common Stock. In the 
aggregate, the 2.25% Notes are convertible into 3,511,120 shares of Common Stock following the September 10, 2014 adjustment.  

Under the terms of the 2.25% Notes, if the Company undergoes certain change of control transactions prior to the maturity date of the 
2.25% Notes, holders of the 2.25% Notes will have the right, at their option, to require the Company to repurchase some or all of their 
2.25% Notes at a repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2.25% Notes being repurchased, plus accrued and unpaid 
interest to, but excluding, the repurchase date. At the Company’s option, and to the extent permitted by the applicable rules of the Nasdaq Global 
Select Market (or the applicable rules of such other exchange on which the Company’s Common Stock may be listed), instead of paying the 
repurchase price in cash, the Company may pay the repurchase price in shares of its Common Stock or a combination of cash and shares of its 
Common Stock. However, in the case of certain change of control transactions in which the Company is acquired by a public company, the 
Company may elect to provide for conversion of the 2.25% Notes into acquirer common stock, in which case the repurchase option would not 
apply.  

5.    Long-Lived Assets  

Property and Equipment  

Property and equipment consist of the following:  
   

Depreciation expense was $27,010, $24,335 and $24,505 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  
   

F-22  

     December 31,   
     2014      2013   

Software     $ 60,341       $ 54,972    
Computer equipment       63,541         56,399    
Web site development costs       57,922         52,383    
Leasehold improvements       44,000         40,828    
Office equipment, furniture and fixtures       15,154         14,677    
Land and buildings       291         291    

                      

     241,249         219,550    
Less: accumulated depreciation       (181,676 )       (154,666 )  

                      

Property and equipment, net     $ 59,573       $ 64,884    
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Goodwill and Intangible Assets  

The balance of goodwill was $202,980 as of December 31, 2014 and 2013. Intangible assets consist of the following:  
   

In July 2014, the Company acquired the assets of TheraSim, Inc. for $3,182 in cash. TheraSim’s technology provides the content and 
programming for certain of the Company’s sponsorship services. The purchase price was allocated to an intangible asset, “Technology,” is being 
amortized over a 3-year term and is included within “Technology and Patents” in the above table.  

Amortization expense was $2,801, $2,271 and $3,894 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Future amortization expense for intangible 
assets is estimated to be:  
   

6.    Accrued Expenses  

Accrued expenses consist of the following:  
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    December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013   

    

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount     

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     Net     

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
 

Useful Life 
    

Gross  
Carrying 
Amount     

Accumulated 
 

Amortization     Net     

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining 
 

Useful Life 
  

Content    $ 15,954      $ (15,954 )    $ —       —     $ 15,954      $ (15,954 )    $ —       —   
Customer relationships      34,057        (27,126 )      6,931        3.6        34,057        (25,035 )      9,022        4.5    
Technology and patents      17,882        (15,231 )      2,651        2.5        14,700        (14,700 )      —       —   
Trade names-definite lives      2,530        (2,361 )      169        1.0        2,530        (2,182 )      348        2.0    
Trade names-indefinite lives      4,464        —       4,464        n/a        4,464        —       4,464        n/a    

                                                                

Total    $ 74,887      $ (60,672 )    $ 14,215        $ 71,705      $ (57,871 )    $ 13,834      
        

  

        

  

        

  

          

  

        

  

        

  

  

  
(a) The calculation of the weighted average remaining useful life is based on the net book value and the remaining amortization period of each respective intangible asset. 

Year Ending December 31:     
2015     $ 3,321    
2016     $ 3,120    
2017     $ 2,044    
2018     $ 1,266    

     December 31,   
     2014      2013   

Accrued compensation     $ 38,856       $ 39,346    
Accrued outside services       11,089         7,805    
Accrued marketing and distribution       4,442         5,638    
Accrued interest       5,960         6,010    
Other accrued liabilities       12,311         14,940    

                      

   $ 72,658       $ 73,739    
         

  

         

  

(a) (a) 
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7.    Commitments and Contingencies  

Legal Proceedings and Claims  

National Jewish Health v. WebMD Health Services Group, Inc. and WebMD Health Corp.  

On October 25, 2012, National Jewish Health, a Colorado non-profit corporation, filed a complaint against the Company in United States 
District Court for the District of Colorado alleging copyright infringement, misappropriation of trade secrets, tortious interference with 
prospective business relations, and breach of contract. The allegations related to a condition management program of the Company’s private 
portals. The complaint sought injunctive relief, as well as damages of $8,000 to $10,000. On January 28, 2015, the parties entered into a 
Settlement Agreement pursuant to which the parties have filed with the Court a Joint Motion to Dismiss all claims with prejudice. Neither party 
has admitted any liability to the other and the Company’s private portals business is not required to modify, suspend or terminate the sale of any 
of its products.  

MyMedicalRecords, Inc. v. WebMD Health Corp. and WebMD Health Services Corp.  

On February 13, 2013, MyMedicalRecords, Inc. filed an action against the Company in the United States District Court in the Central 
District of California. The complaint alleged that the personal health record tool sold by WebMD Health Services Group, Inc. infringes U.S. 
Patent No. 8,301,466 issued on October 30, 2012. The complaint sought injunctive relief, as well as damages in unspecified amounts. Pursuant 
to an agreement between the parties, MyMedicalRecords dismissed the complaint without prejudice in order to enable the parties to try to 
resolve the matter without the timing constraints of the litigation. The parties were unable to resolve the matter and, on October 2, 2013, 
MyMedicalRecords filed a new complaint against the Company alleging infringement of U.S. Patent No. 8,301,466 as well as U.S. Patent 
No. 8,498,883 issued on July 30, 2013. The Plaintiff sought unspecified damages and an injunction with respect to certain products offered by 
the Company. The Court had consolidated the Plaintiff’s claim against the Company with its claims against several other companies. On 
December 22, 2014, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Company and its co-defendants finding that the ‘883 patent is invalid. 
On December 23, 2014, the Court granted summary judgment in favor of the Company and its co-defendants finding that the ‘466 patent is 
invalid. On January 6, 2015, the Court entered a final order dismissing the case. On January 15, 2015, MyMedicalRecords filed a Notice of 
Appeal of the Court’s order with the Circuit Court for the Federal Circuit. If the Court’s order is appealed, the Company plans to defend the 
Order of the District Court. The Company is unable to predict the outcome of any appeal or to reasonably estimate the possible loss or range of 
loss, if any, arising from the claims that may be asserted therein.  

Coverage Dispute with Stop Loss Carrier for Health Benefit Plan  

The Company sponsors and maintains a self-insured group health and prescription benefit plan (the “Health Plan”) for its eligible 
employees and their dependents. The Company purchases stop loss insurance coverage on an annual basis to reimburse the Company for claims 
that exceed certain individual and/or aggregate claim amounts under the Health Plan. On May 7, 2013, the Company was advised that the former 
stop loss carrier for the Health Plan, Everest Reinsurance Company (“Everest”), was attempting to deny payment for certain medical claims 
under the Health Plan that were pending under the 2012 stop loss policy, and to recover certain payments that had already been made under the 
2011 and 2012 stop loss policies. These claims were incurred in 2011 and 2012 and had previously been approved by Horizon Blue Cross and 
Blue Shield of New Jersey, the third party claims administrator for the Health Plan appointed by the Company. The maximum amount of claims 
in dispute by Everest is approximately $4,900, of which approximately $1,965 remains unpaid by Everest. On June 27, 2013, the Company filed 
an action in the Supreme Court, State of New York (“New York Action”), seeking payment from Everest of the $1,965 in outstanding claims. 
On August 14, 2013, Everest filed an action in the  
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Superior Court, State of New Jersey (“New Jersey Action”), against the Company, the claims administrator and the Company’s insurance broker 
seeking recovery of approximately $2,935 paid by Everest under the stop loss policies and seeking a declaration that the remaining $1,965 is not 
payable by Everest. On August 15, 2013, Everest filed a motion in the New York Action seeking to dismiss the complaint filed by the Company 
on forum non conveniens grounds. On October 3, 2013, the New York Action court granted the Company’s motion for a temporary restraining 
order and stayed the New Jersey Action pending adjudication of Everest’s motion to dismiss the New York Action and the Company’s cross 
motion to dismiss the New Jersey Action. A preliminary injunction hearing was held on November 7, 2013 in the New York Action, following 
which, the New York Action court issued orders: (i) denying Everest’s motion to dismiss (or, in the alternative, for a stay of) the New York 
Action; and (ii) granting the Company’s motion enjoining Everest from prosecuting the New Jersey Action pending a stipulation of the parties or 
further order of the court. Everest answered the New York Action complaint on or about December 9, 2013, including the assertion of 
counterclaims similar in content and substance to its allegations in the New Jersey Action. Everest then voluntarily dismissed the New Jersey 
Action on or about December 10, 2013. The parties to the New York Action are currently proceeding with discovery. The Company believes the 
$1,965 outstanding from Everest will be recoverable. This amount is reflected within other assets in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheet as of December 31, 2014. Additionally, the Company believes that the $2,935 previously paid by Everest will not be repayable by the 
Company. Accordingly, no provision has been recorded in the accompanying financial statements related to this matter.  

Traffic Information, LLC v. WebMD LLC  

On June 25, 2014, Traffic Information, LLC filed an action against the Company in the United States District Court in the Eastern District 
of Texas. The complaint alleges that the Company directly infringes and has induced infringement of U.S. Patent No. 6,785,606 issued on 
August 31, 2004. The complaint seeks injunctive relief, as well as damages in unspecified amounts. The Company believes that the Plaintiff’s 
claims are without merit. The Company is unable to predict the outcome of this action or to reasonably estimate the possible loss or range of 
loss, if any, arising from the claims asserted therein.  

Patent Claim by International Business Machines Corporation  

International Business Machines Corporation (“IBM”) has notified the Company that IBM believes that the Company’s Websites infringe 
U.S. Patents 7,072,849, 5,796,967 and 6,374,359. The Company has had discussions with IBM and is evaluating information recently provided 
by IBM. The Company has not arrived at a conclusion with respect to IBM’s allegations of infringement. Accordingly, the Company is not yet 
able to reasonably estimate a range for possible costs relating to IBM’s allegations.  

Other Legal Proceedings and Claims  

In the normal course of business, the Company and its subsidiaries are involved in various claims and legal proceedings. While the 
ultimate resolution of these matters has yet to be determined, the Company does not believe that their outcomes will have a material adverse 
effect on the Company’s consolidated financial position, results of operations or liquidity.  

Leases  

The Company leases its offices and other facilities under operating lease agreements that expire at various dates through 2023. Total rent 
expense for all operating leases was approximately $9,194, $8,805 and $8,573 in 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Included in other long-term 
liabilities as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 were $10,605 and $12,279, respectively, related to lease incentives and the difference between rent 
expense and the rental amount payable for leases with fixed escalations.  
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Future minimum lease commitments under non-cancelable lease agreements at December 31, 2014 were as follows:  
   

Other Contingencies  

The Company provides certain indemnification provisions within its customer agreements to protect the other party from any liabilities or 
damages resulting from a claim of misappropriation or infringement by third parties relating to its products and services. The Company has not 
incurred a liability relating to any of these indemnification provisions in the past and management believes that the likelihood of any future 
payment relating to these provisions is unlikely. Therefore, the Company has not recorded a liability during any period for these indemnification 
provisions.  

8.    Stock-Based Compensation  

The Company has various stock-based compensation plans (collectively, the “Plans”) that provide for the grant of stock options, restricted 
stock, and other awards based on WebMD Common Stock.  

The 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan (as amended, the “2005 Plan”) is the only existing plan under which future grants can be made. The 
maximum number of shares of the Company’s Common Stock that may be subject to awards under the 2005 Plan was 23,275,000 as of 
December 31, 2014, subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of the 2005 Plan. The Company had an aggregate of 2,226,394 shares of 
Common Stock available for future grants under the 2005 Plan at December 31, 2014.  

Equity awards granted to a former Chief Executive Officer of the Company in 2012 were made outside of the 2005 Plan and were 
approved by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors, in reliance on the NASDAQ Global Select Market exception to 
shareholder approval for equity grants to new hires.  

Stock Options  

Generally, options under the Plans vest and become exercisable ratably over periods ranging from two to five years based on their 
individual grant dates, subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting dates, and generally expire within ten years from the date of 
grant. Options are granted at prices not less than the fair  
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Years Ending December 31,     

2015     $ 11,559    
2016       7,524    
2017       7,610    
2018       7,435    
2019       6,639    
Thereafter       13,983    

           

Total minimum lease payments     $ 54,750    
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market value of the Company’s Common Stock on the date of grant. The following table summarizes stock option activity for the Plans:  
   

The following table summarizes information with respect to options outstanding and options exercisable at December 31, 2014:  
   

The fair value of each option granted is estimated on the date of grant using the Black-Scholes option pricing model considering the 
weighted-average assumptions noted in the following table. Expected volatility is  
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    Shares     

Weighted  
Average Exercise 

 
Price Per Share     

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Life (In Years)     

Aggregate 
 

Intrinsic  
Value   

Outstanding at January 1, 2012      11,054,381      $ 32.46        

Granted      4,888,600        18.42        

Exercised      (195,377 )      22.80        

Cancelled      (2,446,916 )      38.96        
                

Outstanding at December 31, 2012      13,300,688        26.24        

Granted      2,844,500        33.64        

Exercised      (2,695,600 )      20.90        

Cancelled      (2,020,309 )      27.50        
                

Outstanding at December 31, 2013      11,429,279        29.12        

Granted      899,200        43.03        

Exercised      (3,875,410 )      24.40        

Cancelled      (905,543 )      33.42        
                

Outstanding at December 31, 2014      7,547,526      $ 32.69        7.0      $ 62,618    
        

  

      

Vested and exercisable at the end of the period      3,766,975      $ 30.09        5.4      $ 42,361    
        

  

      

  
(a) The aggregate intrinsic value is based on the market price of the Company’s Common Stock on December 31, 2014, which was $39.55, less the applicable exercise price of the 

underlying option. This aggregate intrinsic value represents the amount that would have been realized if all the option holders had exercised their options on December 31, 2014. 

     Outstanding      Exercisable   

Exercise Prices    Shares      

Weighted  
Average Exercise 

 
Price Per Share      

Weighted  
Average  

Remaining  
Contractual  

Life (In Years)      Shares      

Weighted  
Average  

Exercise Price 
 

Per Share   

$13.15       709,500       $ 13.15         7.8         709,500       $ 13.15    
$13.37-$22.99       733,984         19.99         6.7         259,384         19.96    
$23.03-$27.94       869,919         25.43         3.8         749,519         25.25    
$28.00-$30.00       827,220         29.60         6.8         484,770         29.67    
$30.15-$33.40       870,173         32.82         8.1         290,548         32.36    
$33.55-$37.97       783,775         36.34         7.8         263,287         36.50    
$38.01-$39.35       669,705         38.62         7.9         142,980         38.53    
$39.50-$39.78       643,600         39.51         8.8         17,400         39.51    
$40.02-$46.95       775,125         44.35         6.3         446,612         44.19    
$47.02-$58.96       664,525         50.20         6.3         402,975         51.13    

                               

     7,547,526       $ 32.69         7.0         3,766,975       $ 30.09    
         

  

               

  

   

(a) 
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based on implied volatility from traded options of the Company’s Common Stock combined with historical volatility of the Company’s 
Common Stock. The expected term represents the period of time that options are expected to be outstanding following their grant date, and was 
determined using historical exercise data combined with assumptions for future exercise activity. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury 
yield curve for periods equal to the expected term of the options on the grant date.  
   

On February 23, 2012, the Company’s directors and certain officers voluntarily surrendered a total of 960,600 non-qualified stock options 
with a weighted-average exercise price of $46.85 per share. None of these individuals received any consideration or promise of consideration in 
exchange for the surrender of these stock options. These options were originally granted under the 2005 Plan, and therefore, upon their 
surrender, the shares underlying these options were returned to the 2005 Plan and became available for grant under such plan. During the year 
ended December 31, 2012, the Company expensed the remaining unrecognized stock-based compensation expense of $8,076 related to these 
stock options.  

Restricted Stock  

The Company’s Restricted Stock consists of shares of the Company’s Common Stock which have been awarded to employees with 
restrictions that cause them to be subject to substantial risk of forfeiture and restrict their sale or other transfer by the employee until they vest. 
Generally, the Company’s Restricted Stock grants vest ratably over periods ranging from three to four years from their individual award dates 
subject to continued employment on the applicable vesting dates. The following table summarizes the activity of the Company’s Restricted 
Stock:  
   

Proceeds received from the exercise of options to purchase shares of the Company’s Common Stock were $40,602, $29,724 and $827 for 
the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Additionally, in connection with the exercise of certain stock options and the 
vesting of restricted stock, the Company made payments of $33,385, $12,526 and $2,740 during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 
2012,  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014     2013     2012   

Expected dividend yield       0.0 %      0.0 %      0.0 %  
Expected volatility       0.47-0.49        0.43-0.48        0.42-0.46    
Risk-free interest rate       1.16%-1.72 %      0.55%-1.62 %      0.52%-1.04 %  
Expected term (years)       4.2-5.0        4.5-5.1        4.4-5.1    
Weighted-average fair value of options granted during the period     $ 17.58      $ 13.95      $ 6.96    

    Years Ended December 31,   
    2014     2013     2012   

    Shares     

Weighted  
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value     Shares     

Weighted  
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value     Shares     

Weighted  
Average Grant 
Date Fair Value   

Balance at beginning of the year      1,184,961      $ 33.07        932,386      $ 31.69        1,205,333      $ 36.18    
Granted      177,200        43.84        812,000        32.65        339,800        20.64    
Vested      (324,453 )      32.70        (401,825 )      32.57        (413,372 )      33.92    
Forfeited      (133,625 )      31.29        (157,600 )      24.02        (199,375 )      35.53    

                                    

Balance at the end of the year      904,083      $ 35.58        1,184,961      $ 33.07        932,386      $ 31.69    
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respectively, related to employee statutory withholding taxes that were satisfied by withholding shares of Common Stock of equal value from the 
respective employees. The proceeds and payments described above are reflected within cash flows from financing activities within the 
accompanying consolidated statements of cash flows.  

The intrinsic value related to stock options that were exercised, combined with the fair value of shares of restricted stock that vested, 
aggregated $100,232, $45,882 and $9,076 for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.  

Other  

Each year the Company issues shares of its Common Stock to WebMD non-employee directors with a value equal to their annual board 
and committee retainers. The Company recorded $315, $364 and $350 of stock-based compensation expense for the years ended December 31, 
2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively, in connection with these issuances.  

Summary of Stock-Based Compensation Expense  

The following table summarizes the components and classification of stock-based compensation expense:  
   

As of December 31, 2014, approximately $54,600 of unrecognized stock-based compensation expense related to unvested awards (net of 
estimated forfeitures) is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of approximately 2.7 years, related to the Plans.  

Tax benefits attributable to stock-based compensation represented approximately 39% of stock-based compensation expense during each 
of the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012.  

9.    Retirement Plans  

The Company maintains certain defined contribution retirement plans covering substantially all of its employees, which provide for 
matching and discretionary contributions. The Company has recorded expenses related to these plans of $3,971, $3,903 and $4,205 for 2014, 
2013 and 2012, respectively, related to these matching and discretionary contributions.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Stock options     $ 21,117       $ 24,483       $ 31,593    
Restricted stock       11,114         13,703         12,978    
Other       315         364         350    

                                 

Total stock-based compensation expense     $ 32,546       $ 38,550       $ 44,921    
         

  

         

  

         

  

Included in:           

Cost of operations     $ 5,940       $ 6,762       $ 8,160    
Sales and marketing       7,221         8,395         8,201    
General and administrative       19,385         23,393         28,560    

                                 

Total stock-based compensation expense     $ 32,546       $ 38,550       $ 44,921    
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10.    Equity  

Treasury Stock  

Repurchased shares are recorded under the cost method and are reflected as treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets, unless the shares are cancelled and retired.  

Tender Offers  

On September 9, 2014, the Company completed a tender offer (the “2014 Tender Offer”) through which it repurchased 2,000,000 shares of 
its Common Stock at a price of $48.50 per share for total consideration of $97,588, which includes $588 of costs directly attributable to the 
purchase. The shares repurchased through the 2014 Tender Offer are reflected as treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets.  

On September 10, 2013, the Company completed a tender offer (the “2013 Tender Offer”) through which it repurchased 5,000,000 shares 
of its Common Stock at a price of $34.00 per share for total consideration of $170,516, which includes $516 of costs directly attributable to the 
purchase. The shares repurchased through the 2013 Tender Offer were cancelled and retired.  

On April 3, 2012, the Company completed a tender offer (the “2012 Tender Offer”) through which it repurchased 5,769,230 shares of its 
Common Stock at a price of $26.00 per share for total consideration of $150,759, which includes $759 of costs directly attributable to the 
purchase. The shares repurchased through the 2012 Tender Offer are reflected as treasury stock in the accompanying consolidated balance 
sheets.  

Stock Repurchase Program  

In August 2011, the Board of Directors established a stock repurchase program (the “Program”) through which the Company was 
authorized to use up to $75,000 to purchase shares of WebMD Common Stock, from time to time, in the open market, through block trades or in 
private transactions, depending on market conditions and other factors. In October 2011, February 2014, March 2014, April 2014 and November 
2014, the Company’s Board of Directors authorized increases to the Program of $75,000, $50,000, $40,000, $30,000 and $23,895, respectively. 
During 2012, the Company repurchased 1,320,846 shares at an aggregate cost of $26,900 under the Program. During 2013, the Company 
repurchased 1,266,962 shares at an aggregate cost of $42,309 under the Program. During 2014, the Company repurchased 3,160,070 shares at an 
aggregate cost of $128,748 under the Program. The Company paid cash of $569 in 2013 related to the repurchase of 39,857 shares in 2012, that 
settled in 2013. As of December 31, 2014, $35,011 remained available for repurchases under the Program.  

Other Repurchase Activity  

On October 21, 2013, the Company repurchased 5,527,433 shares of its Common Stock that were beneficially owned by Carl C. Icahn and 
certain of his affiliates, at a purchase price of $32.08 per share, the NASDAQ official closing price of WebMD Common Stock on October 18, 
2013. The total purchase price was $177,420, which includes $100 of costs directly attributable to the purchase. This share repurchase was not 
made under the Program.  

Shareholder Rights Agreement  

The Board of Directors of the Company adopted, and the Company entered into, a Stockholder Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 
2011 (the “Rights Agreement”), by and between the Company and  
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American Stock Transfer & Trust Company, LLC, as Rights Agent. Pursuant to the terms of the Rights Agreement, which had a one-year term 
until amended (as described below), one preferred stock purchase right (a “Right”) was attached to each outstanding share of the Company’s 
Common Stock held by holders of record as of the close of business on November 14, 2011. The Company issued one Right with each new 
share of Common Stock issued after that date until the Rights expired. The Rights initially traded with and were inseparable from the Company’s 
Common Stock and were not evidenced by separate certificates unless they became exercisable. The Rights would, if they had become 
exercisable, have caused substantial dilution to a person or group that attempted to acquire the Company on terms not approved by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. However, the Rights would not have interfered with a merger or other business combination approved by the 
Company’s Board of Directors. Until amended (as described below), each Right entitled its holder to purchase from the Company one one-
thousandth of a share (a “Unit”) of Series A Junior Preferred Stock, par value $0.01 per share (the “Preferred Stock”), at an exercise price of 
$153.00 per Unit, subject to adjustment in accordance with the terms of the Rights Agreement, once the Rights become exercisable. On 
October 18, 2012, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted, and the Company entered into, an Amendment to Rights Agreement (the 
“First Amendment”). The First Amendment: extended the expiration date of the Rights Agreement from October 31, 2012 to October 31, 2014; 
provided that equity compensation awards to directors would not be included in determining whether a stockholder became an “Acquiring 
Person” under the Rights Agreement; and decreased the purchase price payable by holders of Rights upon exercise of such Rights from $153.00 
per Unit to $66.29 per Unit. On August 1, 2013 the Company entered into a Second Amendment to the Rights Agreement (the “Second 
Amendment”). Pursuant to the Second Amendment, the final expiration date of the Rights Agreement occurred on August 1, 2013, which 
terminated the Rights Agreement and caused the Rights issued to WebMD stockholders pursuant to the Rights Agreement to expire at the close 
of business on that date.  

Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income  

Accumulated other comprehensive income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014 represents the 
unrealized gain on available-for-sale securities, net of taxes, that was recorded during 2014 (see Note 12 for additional discussion).  
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11.    Income Taxes  

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effects of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for 
financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for income tax purposes. Significant components of the Company’s deferred tax assets 
(liabilities) were as follows:  
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     December 31,   
     2014      2013   
Deferred tax assets:        

Federal net operating loss carryforwards     $ 91,000       $ 105,323    
State net operating loss carryforwards       35,488         39,098    
Capital losses       458         6,016    
Federal tax credits       56,096         55,976    
Accrued expenses       17,919         16,748    
Stock-based compensation       21,031         26,946    
Intangible assets       3,570         4,596    
Other       3,841         3,932    

                      

Total deferred tax assets       229,403         258,635    
Valuation allowance       (157,644 )       (174,592 )  

                      

Net deferred tax assets       71,759         84,043    
                      

Deferred tax liabilities:        

Property and equipment       (3,063 )       (3,976 )  
Goodwill and indefinite-lived intangible asset       (30,975 )       (27,645 )  
Other       (627 )       —   

         
  

         
  

Total deferred tax liabilities       (34,665 )       (31,621 )  
                      

Net deferred tax assets     $ 37,094       $ 52,422    
         

  

         

  

     December 31,   
     2014      2013   
Current deferred tax assets, net:        

Current deferred tax assets, net of deferred tax liabilities     $ 59,371       $ 41,921    
Valuation allowance       (41,224 )       (28,301 )  

                      

Current deferred tax assets, net       18,147         13,620    
                      

Non-current deferred tax assets, net:        

Non-current deferred tax assets, net of deferred tax liabilities       135,367         185,093    
Valuation allowance       (116,420 )       (146,291 )  

                      

Non-current deferred tax assets, net       18,947         38,802    
                      

Net deferred tax assets     $ 37,094       $ 52,422    
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The income tax provision (benefit) was as follows:  
   

The reconciliation between the federal statutory rate and the effective income tax rate is as follows:  
   

During 2014 and 2012, the Company reversed $13,196 and $301, respectively, of its valuation allowance through additional paid-in capital 
as a result of the utilization of net operating loss carryforwards generated by excess tax benefits of stock-based awards. In 2014 and 2013, the 
Company reversed $1,311 and $1,351, respectively, of its deferred tax asset and related valuation allowance through the tax provision as a result 
of the expiration of state net operating loss carryforwards. During 2014 and 2012, the Company reversed $1,359 and $801, respectively, of its 
deferred tax asset and related valuation allowance through additional paid-in capital as a result of the expiration of state net operating loss 
carryforwards generated by excess tax benefits of stock-based awards. In 2012, the Company also increased its valuation allowance by $4,724 
through the tax provision for certain research and development tax credits for which scheduled expiration prior to utilization is more likely than 
not. The valuation allowance for deferred tax assets decreased by $16,948 and $1,811 in 2014 and 2013, respectively.  

At December 31, 2014, the Company had net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $700,000, 
which expire in 2017 through 2034, and federal tax credits of $64,809, which excludes the impact of any unrecognized tax benefits, of which 
$44,085 expire in 2017 through 2031 and $20,724 can be carried forward indefinitely.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Current:           
Federal     $ (622 )     $ (73 )     $ (583 )  
State       3,047         502         295    
Foreign       369         141         190    

                                 

Current income tax provision (benefit)       2,794         570         (98 )  

Deferred:           

Federal       12,570         10,683         (325 )  
State       2,147         2,387         (2,012 )  

                                 

Deferred income tax provision (benefit)       14,717         13,070         (2,337 )  
Reversal of valuation allowance applied to additional paid-in capital       13,196         —        301    

                                 

Total income tax provision (benefit)     $ 30,707       $ 13,640       $ (2,134 )  
         

  

         

  

         

  

     Years Ended December 31,   
       2014         2013         2012     
United States federal statutory rate       35.0 %      35.0 %      (35.0 )%  
State income taxes (net of federal benefit)       7.4        12.5        (0.3 )  
Valuation allowance       (3.3 )      (6.4 )      18.4    
Non-deductible officer compensation       2.2        3.6        8.7    
Other       1.6        2.7        (0.3 )  

                               

Effective income tax rate       42.9 %      47.4 %      (8.5 )%  
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The Company uses the “with-and-without” approach in determining the order in which tax attributes are utilized. Using the “with-and-
without” approach, the Company will only recognize a tax benefit from stock-based awards in additional paid-in capital if an incremental tax 
benefit is realized after all other net operating loss carryforwards currently available to the Company have been utilized, but prior to the 
utilization of other tax attributes.  

The net operating loss carryforwards for federal income tax purposes of approximately $700,000 include approximately $250,000 of 
excess tax benefits related to share-based payments that are presented on a tax effected basis within the deferred tax assets. Since this amount 
was recorded through additional paid-in capital, the related valuation allowance on these net operating loss carryforwards will be reversed 
through additional paid-in capital when these excess tax benefits are realized. Also included in these net operating loss carryforwards are excess 
tax benefits related to share-based payments of approximately $450,000 that are not recognized as a deferred tax asset as the amounts would not 
have resulted in a reduction in current taxes payable if all other net operating loss carryforwards currently available to the Company were 
utilized. The benefit of these deductions will be recognized through additional paid-in capital at the time the tax deduction results in a reduction 
of current taxes payable.  

The tender offer completed on November 25, 2008 resulted in a cumulative change of more than 50% of the ownership of the Company’s 
capital, as determined under rules prescribed by the U.S. Internal Revenue Code and applicable Treasury regulations. As a result of the 
ownership change, there is an annual limitation imposed on the Company’s net operating loss carryforwards and federal tax credits. The 
Company experienced another cumulative change on February 25, 2011. Despite this second ownership change, the Company’s net operating 
loss carryforwards and federal tax credits continue to be limited by the November 25, 2008 annual limitation.  

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the Company had unrecognized income tax benefits of $13,553 and $13,889, respectively, which if 
recognized, would result in $8,828 and $9,164, respectively, being reflected as a component of the income tax provision (benefit). Included in 
the unrecognized income tax benefits as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 are accrued interest and penalties of $581 and $497, respectively. If 
recognized, these benefits would be reflected as a component of the income tax provision (benefit).  

The following table summarizes the activity of unrecognized tax benefits, excluding accrued interest and penalties, for the years ended 
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012:  
   

Although the Company files U.S. federal and various state and other tax returns, the major taxing jurisdiction is the U.S. The Company is 
currently under audit in a number of state and local taxing jurisdictions and will have statutes of limitations with respect to certain tax returns 
expiring within the next twelve months. As a result, it is reasonably possible that there may be a reduction in the unrecognized income tax 
benefits, prior to any annual increase, in the range of $100 to $200 within the next twelve months. With the exception of adjusting  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Balance at the beginning of the year     $ 13,392       $ 13,949       $ 12,069    
Increases related to prior year tax positions       15         —        757    
Increases related to current year tax positions       —        —        1,707    
Decreases related to prior year tax positions       (379 )       (532 )       —   
Expiration of the statute of limitations for the assessment of taxes       (56 )       (25 )       (584 )  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Balance at the end of the year     $ 12,972       $ 13,392       $ 13,949    
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net operating loss carryforwards that may be utilized, the Company is no longer subject to federal income tax examinations for tax years before 
2011 and for state and local income tax examinations for tax years before 2010.  

12.    Fair Value of Financial Instruments  

The Company accounts for certain assets and liabilities at fair value, which is defined as the price that would be received to sell an asset or 
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. Additionally, the Company uses 
valuation techniques that maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs. These inputs are prioritized below: 
   

   

   

The Company did not have any Level 2 assets during the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, and only had one Level 3 asset 
which is discussed in more detail below. The following table sets forth the Company’s Level 1 financial assets that were measured and recorded 
at fair value on a recurring basis as of December 31, 2014 and 2013:  
   

The Company’s available-for-sale security consists of an equity investment in a publicly traded company that completed its initial public 
offering in December 2014. The unrealized gain related to this investment, net of tax, is included within accumulated other comprehensive 
income in the accompanying consolidated balance sheet as of December 31, 2014.  

Through April 20, 2010, the Company held investments in student loan backed auction rate securities (“ARS”). Effective April 20, 2010, 
the Company entered into an agreement pursuant to which the Company sold all of its holdings of ARS. Under the terms of the agreement, the 
Company retained an option (the “ARS Option”), for a period of two years from the date of the agreement: (a) to repurchase from the purchaser 
the same principal amount of any or all of the various series of ARS sold, at the agreed upon purchase prices received on April 20, 2010; and 
(b) to receive additional proceeds from the purchaser upon certain redemptions of the various series of ARS sold. The ARS Option was classified 
as a Level 3 asset as its valuation required substantial judgment. The historical redemption activity of the specific ARS underlying the ARS 
Option was the most significant assumption used to determine an estimated value of the ARS Option. The Company was required to reassess the 
value of the ARS Option at each reporting period and changes in value were recorded within the statement of operations. As of March 31, 2012, 
the Company no longer had any remaining positions related to  
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  Level 1: Observable inputs such as quoted market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 

  Level 2: Observable market-based inputs or unobservable inputs that are corroborated by market data. 

  
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for which there is little or no market data, which require the use of the reporting entity’s own 

assumptions. 

    

Fair Value  
Estimate Using:   

  December 31, 2014     December 31, 2013   

      
Amortized 
Cost Basis     Fair Value     

Gross  
Unrealized 

 
Gains     

Amortized 
Cost Basis     Fair Value     

Gross  
Unrealized 

 
Gains   

Cash and cash equivalents      Level 1      $ 706,776      $ 706,776      $ —     $ 824,880      $ 824,880      $ —   
Available-for-sale security      Level 1        —       1,603        1,603        —       —       —   
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the ARS Option. The following table reconciles the beginning and ending balances of the ARS Option during the year ended December 31, 
2012:  
   

The Company also holds an investment in a privately held company which is carried at cost, and not subject to fair value measurements. 
However, if events or circumstances indicate that its carrying amount may not be recoverable, it would be reviewed for impairment. The 
Company made this investment in November 2008 by acquiring preferred stock. During November 2014, this investment was converted into a 
combination of preferred stock and debt securities of another privately held company through an acquisition. The total amount of the Company’s 
investment in this privately held company is $6,471, which includes $470 of acquisition costs. Since the Company does not have the ability to 
exercise significant influence over this company, the investment is accounted for under the cost method and it is included in other assets on the 
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of December 31, 2014 and 2013.  

For disclosure purposes, the Company is required to measure the outstanding value of its debt on a recurring basis. The following table 
presents the carrying value and estimated fair value (based on Level 1 market price data) of the Company’s convertible notes that were carried at 
historical cost as of December 31, 2014 and 2013:  
   

13.    Restructuring  

In December 2012, the Company announced a plan to streamline its operations, simplify its organizational structure, reduce costs and 
better focus its resources, which resulted in a reduction of the Company’s workforce. In connection with this reduction in workforce, the 
Company recorded a restructuring charge of $7,579 during the three months ended December 31, 2012 related to severance and other employee 
benefits that were provided to the terminated employees. The remaining accrual related to this charge was $0 and $146 as of December 31, 2014 
and 2013, respectively, and is reflected within accrued expenses in the accompanying consolidated balance sheets. The reduction in this accrual 
during 2014 and 2013 was the result of payments of the severance and related employee benefits.  

14.    Other expense  

For 2013, other expense consisted of cash severance and related expenses due to the May 2013 departure of a Chief Executive Officer of 
the Company. For 2012, other expense consisted of severance and related expenses due to the January 2012 departure of a Chief Executive 
Officer of the Company, and the related search and recruitment of his replacement during that period.  
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Year Ended  
December 31, 

 
2012   

Fair value as of the beginning of the period     $ 1,195    
Cash proceeds received       (9,269 )  
Gain included in earnings       8,074    

           

Fair value as of the end of the period     $ —   
         

  

     December 31, 2014      December 31, 2013   

     
Carrying  
Amount      Fair Value      

Carrying  
Amount      Fair Value   

2.25% Notes     $ 252,232       $ 254,754       $ 252,232       $ 252,863    
2.50% Notes     $ 400,000       $ 399,000       $ 400,000       $ 394,400    
1.50% Notes     $ 300,000       $ 299,250       $ 300,000       $ 294,852    
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15.    Supplemental Disclosures of Cash Flow Information  

Supplemental information related to the consolidated statements of cash flows is summarized below:  
   

16.    Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)  

The following table summarizes the quarterly financial data for 2014 and 2013. The per common share calculations for each of the quarters 
are based on the weighted-average number of common shares for each period; therefore, the sum of the quarters may not necessarily be equal to 
the full year per common share amount.  
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     Years Ended December 31,   
     2014      2013      2012   

Supplemental Disclosure of Cash Flow Information:           

Interest paid     $ 20,225       $ 19,038       $ 19,000    
         

  

         

  

         

  

Taxes paid, net     $ 277       $ 274       $ 785    
         

  

         

  

         

  

  
(a) As the Company generally files its tax returns on a consolidated basis, taxes paid, net of refunds, includes all taxes paid by the Company, including those of the Company’s discontinued 

operations. 

     2014   

     
First  

Quarter      
Second  
Quarter      

Third  
Quarter      

Fourth  
Quarter   

Revenue     $ 133,832       $ 140,400       $ 143,490       $ 162,727    
Cost of operations       52,564         54,456         56,398         60,676    
Sales and marketing       32,911         33,321         32,950         36,978    
General and administrative       23,781         22,339         23,243         24,756    
Depreciation and amortization       7,328         7,042         7,667         7,774    
Interest income       15         17         19         18    
Interest expense       6,172         6,172         6,171         6,171    

                                            

Income from continuing operations before income tax provision       11,091         17,087         17,080         26,390    
Income tax provision       4,825         7,371         7,275         11,236    

                                            

Income from continuing operations       6,266         9,716         9,805         15,154    
Income from discontinued operations, net of tax       —        —        —        1,122    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net income     $ 6,266       $ 9,716       $ 9,805       $ 16,276    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Basic income per common share:              

Income from continuing operations     $ 0.16       $ 0.26       $ 0.26       $ 0.42    
Income from discontinued operations       —        —        —        0.03    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net income     $ 0.16       $ 0.26       $ 0.26       $ 0.45    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Diluted income per common share:              
Income from continuing operations     $ 0.15       $ 0.23       $ 0.23       $ 0.36    
Income from discontinued operations       —        —        —        0.02    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Net income     $ 0.15       $ 0.23       $ 0.23       $ 0.38    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

(a) 
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     2014   

     
First  

Quarter      
Second  
Quarter      

Third  
Quarter      

Fourth  
Quarter   

Net Income per Common Share:              

Numerator:              

Income from continuing operations — Basic     $ 6,266       $ 9,716       $ 9,805       $ 15,154    
Interest expense on 1.50% Notes, net of tax       —        864         864         864    
Interest expense on 2.50% Notes, net of tax       —        —        —        1,797    
Interest expense on 2.25% Notes, net of tax       —        —        —        1,103    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Income from continuing operations — Diluted     $ 6,266       $ 10,580       $ 10,669       $ 18,918    
         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Income from discontinued operations, net of tax — Basic and  
Diluted     $ —      $ —      $ —      $ 1,122    

         

  

         

  

         

  

         

  

Denominator:              

Weighted-average shares — Basic       39,268         37,819         37,960         36,427    
Stock options and restricted stock       2,584         2,301         2,113         1,245    
1.50% Notes       —        5,681         5,684         5,694    
2.50% Notes       —        —        —        6,205    
2.25% Notes       —        —        —        3,511    

         
  

         
  

         
  

         
  

Adjusted weighted-average shares after assumed conversions — Diluted       41,852         45,801         45,757         53,082    
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     2013   

     
First  

Quarter     
Second  
Quarter      

Third  
Quarter      

Fourth  
Quarter   

Revenue     $ 112,762      $ 125,317       $ 130,937       $ 146,277    
Cost of operations       46,943        51,596         53,438         57,763    
Sales and marketing       30,933        31,422         32,561         33,081    
General and administrative       23,534        24,282         22,689         22,715    
Depreciation and amortization       6,853        6,635         6,552         6,566    
Interest income       21        17         16         22    
Interest expense       5,832        5,832         5,833         5,329    
Loss on convertible notes       —       —        3,296         1,575    
Other expense       —       1,353         —        —   

                                           

(Loss) income before income tax provision       (1,312 )      4,214         6,584         19,270    
Income tax provision       226        1,603         3,353         8,458    

                                           

Net (loss) income     $ (1,538 )    $ 2,611       $ 3,231       $ 10,812    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Net (loss) income per common share — Basic     $ (0.03 )    $ 0.05       $ 0.07       $ 0.27    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Net (loss) income per common share — Diluted     $ (0.03 )    $ 0.05       $ 0.06       $ 0.25    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Net (Loss) Income per Common Share:             

Numerator:             

Net (loss) income — Basic     $ (1,538 )    $ 2,611       $ 3,231       $ 10,812    
Interest expense on 1.50% Notes, net of tax       —       —        —        326    

                                           

Net (loss) income — Diluted     $ (1,538 )    $ 2,611       $ 3,231       $ 11,138    
         

  

        

  

         

  

         

  

Denominator:             

Weighted-average shares — Basic       49,007        49,315         48,540         40,457    
Stock options and restricted stock       —       1,610         2,054         2,192    
1.50% Notes       —       —        —        2,223    

         
  

        
  

         
  

         
  

Adjusted weighted-average shares after assumed conversions — Diluted       49,007        50,925         50,594         44,872    
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     Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012   

     

Balance at 
Beginning  

of Year      

Charged to 
 

Costs and  
Expenses     Write -offs     Other     

Balance at  
End of Year   

     (in thousands)   

December 31, 2014              

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts     $ 793       $ 577      $ (739 )    $ —     $ 631    
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets       174,592         (2,350 )      —       (14,598 )       157,644    

December 31, 2013              

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts       1,304         283        (794 )      —       793    
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets       176,403         (1,831 )      —       20        174,592    

December 31, 2012              

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts       1,129         511        (336 )      —       1,304    
Valuation Allowance for Deferred Tax Assets       172,832         4,650        —       (1,079 )       176,403    

  
(a) Primarily represents the valuation allowance released as a result of the utilization and expiration of net operating loss carryforwards generated by excess tax benefits of stock-based 

awards. 

(a) 

(a) 
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Exhibit No.    Description  

2.1* 

   

Stock Purchase Agreement, dated as of September 17, 2009, among SNTC Holding, Inc., Aurora Equity Partners III L.P. 
and Aurora Overseas Equity Partners III, L.P. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-
K filed by HLTH Corporation (“HLTH”) on September 22, 2009) (1) 

2.2* 

   

Purchase and Release Agreement, dated as of April 20, 2010, between WebMD Health Corp. and Citigroup Global 
Markets Inc. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 26, 
2010) 

3.1 
   

Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.1 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 23, 2009 (Reg. No. 333-162651)) 

3.2 
   

Amended and Restated By-laws of the Registrant (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 23, 2009 (Reg. No. 333-162651)) 

4.1 
   

Specimen Common Stock Certificate (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 in Amendment No. 1, filed on August 11, 
2009, to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-4 (Reg. No. 333-160530)) 

4.2 

   

Indenture, dated as of January 11, 2011, between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1, filed on January 14, 2011, to the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on January 11, 2011) 

4.3    Form of 2.50% Convertible Note Due 2018 (included in Exhibit 4.2) 

4.4 

   

Indenture, dated as of March 14, 2011, between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, N.A. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1, filed on March 15, 2011, to the Registrant’s Current 
Report on Form 8-K filed on March 14, 2011) 

4.5    Form of 2.25% Convertible Note Due 2016 (included in Exhibit 4.4) 

4.6 

   

Indenture, dated as of November 26, 2013, between the Registrant and The Bank of New York Mellon Trust Company, 
N.A. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to Amendment No. 1, filed on November 27, 2013, to the Registrant’s 
Current Report on Form 8-K filed on November 26, 2013) 

4.7    Form of 1.50% Convertible Note Due 2020 (included in Exhibit 4.6) 

4.8 

   

Rights Agreement, dated as of November 2, 2011, between the Registrant and American Stock Transfer & Trust 
Company, LLC (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A filed on 
November 3, 2011) 

4.9 

   

Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of October 18, 2012, between the Registrant and American Stock Transfer & 
Trust Company, LLC, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on 
Form 8-K filed on October 19, 2012) 

4.10 
   

Second Amendment to Rights Agreement, dated as of August 1, 2013 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to 
Amendment No. 2, filed on August 2, 2013, to the Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form 8-A) 

4.11** 
   

WebMD Health Corp. Long-Term Incentive Plan for Employees of Subimo, LLC (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to HLTH’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2006) (1) 
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4.12** 
   

Form of Amendment to HLTH’s Equity Compensation Plans and Stock Option Agreements (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed by HLTH on November 9, 2006) (1) 

4.13** 

   

2001 Employee Non-Qualified Stock Option Plan of HLTH, as amended (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.46 to 
HLTH’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2001, as amended by Amendment No. 1 on 
Form 10-K/A) (1) 

4.14** 
   

Amended and Restated 1996 Stock Plan of HLTH (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to HLTH’s Quarterly Report 
on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended March 31, 2006) (1) 

4.15** 
   

Amended and Restated 2000 Long-Term Incentive Plan of HLTH (incorporated by reference to Annex E to HLTH’s 
Proxy Statement for its 2006 Annual Meeting filed on August 14, 2006) (1) 

4.16** 

   

WebMD Health Corp. Amended and Restated 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, as amended effective October 1, 2014 
(the “2005 LTIP”) (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on 
October 2, 2014) 

4.17** 
   

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement with Employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to the Registrant’s 
Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 23, 2009 (Reg. No. 333-162653)) 

4.18** 

   

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement with Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.49 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-1 (No. 333-124832) (which we refer to as the “IPO Registration 
Statement” ) 

4.19** 
   

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement with Employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to the 
Registrant’s Registration Statement on Form S-8 filed on October 23, 2009 (Reg. No. 333-162653)) 

4.20** 
   

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement with Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.51 to the IPO Registration Statement) 

4.21** 

   

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between HLTH and Employees for Grants Under HLTH’s 2000 Long-
Term Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to HLTH’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2005) (1) 

4.22** 

   

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between HLTH and Employees for Grants Under HLTH’s 1996 Stock 
Plan (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.59 to HLTH’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2005) (1) 

10.1 
   

Form of Indemnification Agreement between HLTH and each of its directors and executive officers (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HLTH’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 30, 2002) (1) 

10.2 
   

Form of Indemnification Agreement between the Registrant and its directors and executive officers (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.9 to the IPO Registration Statement) 

10.3 

   

Form of Letter Agreement between the Registrant and Certain Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2012 (the “2012 Form 10-
K”) 

10.4** 
   

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of August 3, 2005 between HLTH and Martin J. Wygod 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to HLTH’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 5, 2005) (1) 

10.5** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2006, between HLTH and Martin J. Wygod (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to HLTH’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2006) (1) 
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10.6** 
   

Employment Agreement, dated September 23, 2004, between HLTH and Kevin Cameron (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to HLTH’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed September 28, 2004) (1) 

10.7** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of February 1, 2006, between HLTH and Kevin M. Cameron (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to HLTH’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 2, 2006) (1) 

10.8** 

   

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of July 14, 2005, between WebMD Health Corp. and Anthony 
Vuolo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.2 to HLTH’s Current Report on Form 8-K, as amended, filed on July 19, 
2005) (1) 

10.9** 
   

Employment Agreement between WebMD Health Holdings, Inc. and Douglas W. Wamsley (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.15 to the IPO Registration Statement) 

10.10** 
   

Employment Agreement between WebMD Health Holdings, Inc. and Steven Zatz, M.D. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.17 to the IPO Registration Statement) 

10.11** 
   

Amendment No. 2, dated as of December 1, 2008, between HLTH and Martin J. Wygod (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to HLTH’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on December 5, 2008) (1) 

10.12** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated December 29, 2008, between HLTH and Martin J. Wygod (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.52 to HLTH’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2008) (1) 

10.13** 

   

Amendment to Employment Agreement, dated as of December 16, 2008, between HLTH and Kevin M. Cameron 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.53 to HLTH’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 
2008) (1) 

10.14** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of July 9, 2009, among HLTH Corporation, WebMD Health Corp. and Martin J. Wygod 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Current Report on Form 8-K filed by the Registrant on July 14, 2009) 

10.15** 

   

WebMD, LLC Supplemental Bonus Program Trust Agreement (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.48 to 
Amendment No. 1, filed on April 29, 2008, to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2007) (2) 

10.16** 
   

Amendment No. 1, dated as of March 30, 2009, to the WebMD Supplemental Bonus Program Trust Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.58 to Amendment No. 1, filed on April 30, 2009, to the 2008 Form 10-K) 

10.17** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of October 1, 2007, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.59 to Amendment No. 1, filed on April 30, 2009, to the 2008 Form 10-K) 

10.18** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of December 10, 2008, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.60 to Amendment No. 1, filed on April 30, 2009, to the 2008 Form 10-K) 

10.19** 
   

Amendment, dated as of December 10, 2008 to Amended and Restated Employment Agreement between the Registrant 
and Anthony Vuolo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.55 to the 2008 Form 10-K) 

10.20** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of February 19, 2009, between HLTH and Anthony Vuolo (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.57 to the 2008 Form 10-K) 
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10.21** 

   

Restricted Stock Agreement, dated November 3, 2009, between the Registrant and Anthony Vuolo (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.71 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2009 (the 
“2009 Form 10-K”)) 

10.22** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of November 3, 2009, between the Registrant and Kevin M. Cameron (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.72 to the 2009 Form 10-K) 

10.23** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of December 14, 2008, between the Registrant and Steven Zatz, M.D. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.74 to Amendment No. 1, filed April 30, 2010, to the 2009 Form 10-K) 

10.24** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2010, between the Registrant and Kevin Cameron (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2010) 

10.25** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of June 28, 2010, between the Registrant and Anthony Vuolo (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2010) 

10.26** 

   

Letter Amendment, dated as of February 11, 2011, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.56 to Amendment No. 1, filed May 2, 2011, to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year 
ended December 31, 2010) 

10.27** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of July 23, 2011, between the Registrant and Steven Zatz, M.D. (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2011) 

10.28** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of July 23, 2011, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2011) 

10.29** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2011, between the Registrant and Anthony Vuolo (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2011) 

10.30** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2011, between the Registrant and Kevin Cameron (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.5 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2011) 

10.31** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of September 25, 2011, between the Registrant and Martin J. Wygod (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.6 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2011) 

10.32** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of September 21, 2011, between the Registrant and Martin J. Wygod (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.7 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on November 9, 2011) 

10.33** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated April 6, 2014, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to Amendment No. 1, filed April 7, 2014, to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on April 4, 2014) 

10.34** 

   

Form of Agreement to Forfeit Non-Qualified Options, dated as of February 23, 2012, between the Registrant and Each of 
its Non-Employee Directors (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K 
filed on February 29, 2012) 

10.35** 

   

Form of Agreement to Forfeit Non-Qualified Options, dated as of February 23, 2012, between the Registrant and Certain 
Employees (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on February 
29, 2012) 
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10.36** 

   

Employment Agreement, dated as of May 29, 2012, between the Registrant and Cavan M. Redmond (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2012, as amended on June 6, 
2012) 

10.37** 

   

Form of Non-Qualified Stock Option Agreement between the Registrant and Cavan M. Redmond (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2012, as amended on June 6, 
2012) 

10.38** 
   

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement between the Registrant and Cavan M. Redmond (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on June 1, 2012, as amended on June 6, 2012) 

10.39** 

   

Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of May 16, 2012, between the Registrant and William Pence 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended June 
30, 2012) 

10.40** 

   

Amendment No. 2, dated as of January 9, 2012, to the WebMD Supplemental Bonus Program Trust Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.80 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended 
December 31, 2013 (the “2013 Form 10-K”) 

10.41** 
   

Amendment No. 3, dated as of February 25, 2013, to the WebMD Supplemental Bonus Program Trust Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.81 to the 2013 Form 10-K) 

10.42** 
   

Amendment No. 4, dated as of February 25, 2014, to the WebMD Supplemental Bonus Program Trust Agreement 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.82 to Amendment No. 1, filed April 29, 2014, to the 2013 Form 10-K) 

10.43** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2012, between the Registrant and Steven Zatz, M.D. (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.70 to the 2012 Form 10-K) 

10.44** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2012, between the Registrant and Douglas Wamsley (incorporated by 
reference to Exhibit 10.71 to the 2012 Form 10-K) 

10.45** 
   

Letter Agreement, dated as of November 14, 2012, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.72 to the 2012 Form 10-K) 

10.46** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of March 5, 2013, between the Registrant and William Pence (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.73 to Amendment No. 1, filed April 30, 2013, to the 2012 Form 10-K) 

10.47** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of March 5, 2013, between the Registrant and Steven Zatz, M.D. (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.74 to Amendment No. 1, filed April 30, 2013, to the 2012 Form 10-K) 

10.48** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of May 7, 2013, between the Registrant and David Schlanger (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2013) 

10.49** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of May 7, 2013, between the Registrant and Peter Anevski (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2013) 

10.50** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of May 7, 2013, between the Registrant and Cavan M. Redmond (incorporated by reference 
to Exhibit 10.3 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2013) 

10.51** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of May 8, 2013, between the Registrant and Martin J. Wygod (incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 10.4 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2013) 
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10.52** 
   

Letter Amendment, dated as of May 7, 2013, between the Registrant and Anthony Vuolo (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 
10.1 to the Registrant’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed on August 9, 2013) 

10.53** 
   

Amendment, dated as of August 11, 2013, to the Employment Agreement between the Registrant and David J. Schlanger 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 15, 2013) 

10.54** 
   

Amendment, dated as of August 11, 2013, to the Employment Agreement between the Registrant and Steven L. Zatz, M.D. 
(incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.2 to the Registrant’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on August 15, 2013) 

14.1    Code of Business Conduct 

21.1    Subsidiaries of the Registrant 

23.1    Consent of Ernst & Young LLP, Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

31.1    Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant 

31.2    Rule 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant 

32.1    Section 1350 Certification of Chief Executive Officer of the Registrant 

32.2    Section 1350 Certification of Chief Financial Officer of the Registrant 

99.1    Explanation of Non-GAAP Measures 

99.2    Audit Committee Charter 

99.3    Compensation Committee Charter (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 99.3 to the 2013 Form 10-K) 

99.4    Nominating & Governance Committee Charter 

101.INS    XBRL Instance Document 

101.SCH    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document 

101.CAL    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document 

101.DEF    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document 

101.LAB    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document 

101.PRE    XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document 
  
* With respect to the agreements filed as Exhibits 2.1 and 2.2, certain of the exhibits and the schedules to that agreement have been omitted 

pursuant to Item 601(b)(2) of Regulation S-K. The Registrant will furnish copies of any of the exhibits and schedules to the Securities and 
Exchange Commission upon request. 

** Agreement relates to executive compensation. 
(1)   This Exhibit is filed under Commission File No. 000-24975. 
(2)   This Exhibit is filed under Commission File No. 000-51547. 



Exhibit 14.1 
   

WebMD Health Corp.  

Code of Business Conduct  

Revised February 2015  
   
   

To All WebMD Employees,  

WebMD is committed to being a good corporate citizen and to achieving our business goals in a manner that enhances our reputation for 
integrity. We believe this commitment is at the core of what makes WebMD a highly trusted and successful company. We have adopted this 
revised Code of Business Conduct as part of our continuing efforts to assist you in conducting our business ethically and in accordance with 
legal requirements. Each of you can contribute to maintaining the trust and confidence of users of The WebMD Health Network and of our 
customers, business partners and investors by following both the letter and spirit of our Code of Business Conduct.  

To achieve the goals of this Code, we want you to feel comfortable asking questions and raising issues. If there is something you are 
unclear about or if you are not sure what is required in a particular situation, you should ask for help in thinking it through. Your manager, our 
Human Resources Department, our Legal Department, our Compliance Officer, our Chief Financial Officer and our senior leadership can all 
provide guidance to you. If you wish to raise an issue or ask a question but want to do so anonymously, you can use the Ethics and Compliance 
Hotline described in the Code.  

The basic principles expressed in this Code have not changed much from previous versions. The changes we have made reflect the 
evolution of our businesses, regulatory developments and our experience in applying this Code. As in the past, many of the principles in this 
Code also lead to more specific rules and guidance included in WebMD’s Employee Handbook and other corporate policies and procedures. 
Whether you are new to WebMD or have been with the company for years, please take the time to read this Code and to make sure you are 
familiar with the other WebMD policies and procedures that apply to your work.  

D AVID J. S CHLANGER  
Chief Executive Officer  

M ARTIN J. W YGOD  
Chairman of the Board  



I.  GENERAL STATEMENT OF POLICY  

Our policy is to conduct business in an honest and ethical manner and in accordance with the laws and regulations that apply to us  

WebMD 1 is committed to being a good corporate citizen and to achieving our business goals in a manner that enhances our reputation for 
integrity. In order to do that, all of our directors, officers and employees must act in an honest and ethical manner and in accordance with law. 
We have instituted this Code of Business Conduct (which we sometimes refer to as our Code of Conduct or simply as our Code) as part of our 
efforts:  
   

   

This Code of Conduct establishes principles for business conduct applicable throughout our company, regardless of business unit or 
function and regardless of location. Where differences exist as a result of local customs, norms, laws or regulations and you find that you must 
choose between the requirements of the Code and any other requirements — you should choose whichever sets the highest standard of behavior. 
If you have any questions on variations in requirements, you should seek guidance from your supervisor, your Human Resources Manager, the 
Legal Department or any of the contact persons listed in this Code.  

We expect you to follow this Code of Conduct and to report any violations you become aware of  

Under this Code of Conduct, each of our directors, officers and employees, regardless of job, title or level of responsibility:  
   

   

Your supervisor or your Human Resources manager can help you make the report. See also Section III.B.2 below for information about 
reporting violations anonymously through our Ethics and Compliance Hotline.  

We also expect our contractors and consultants to be guided by these standards. 2 It is the responsibility of the employees retaining and 
supervising such persons to make sure that they are aware of this Code of Conduct and follow its principles in their work for WebMD.  

Violations of this Code of Conduct will lead to disciplinary action  

To ensure compliance with this Code of Conduct, WebMD will investigate and take such action as it determines necessary to protect its 
best interests. In those cases where violations have occurred, disciplinary action will be taken — ranging from reprimand to termination. 
Violators may also be subject to criminal prosecution or civil lawsuits. It is not an excuse that a person’s questionable conduct was intended 
to “benefit” WebMD or was done with good intentions.  
   

1  References to “WebMD” (or “we,” “our” or similar pronouns) in this Code of Conduct mean WebMD Health Corp. and all of its subsidiary companies.  
2  References to the terms “employee” and “personnel,” as used throughout this Code of Conduct, are generally intended to include — in addition to directors, officers and 

employees (full-time and part-time) of WebMD — contractors, consultants and similar persons providing services at the direction of WebMD. In some cases, implementation of the 
principles contained in this Code of Conduct may be different for third party service providers, depending on the scope and nature of the services provided. For example, certain 
“conflicts of interest” that would not be acceptable for an employee may be acceptable for a contractor, depending on the nature of the specific relationship. Please consult the Legal 
Department or the Compliance Officer for guidance.  
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  •   to foster proper business conduct and ethical decision-making; and 

  •   to prevent unethical or unlawful behavior and to stop any such behavior as soon as reasonably possible after its discovery. 

  •   is responsible for his or her own actions with respect to proper business conduct and behavior, and 

  
•   if he or she sees or becomes aware of unethical or unlawful activity, is obligated to report such activity immediately to the Compliance 

Officer for this Code of Conduct (described in Section III.C. below), to our General Counsel, to our Chief Financial Officer or to one of 
the senior officers in our Human Resources Department. 

  



Violations of our other policy statements may also be a violation of this Code of Conduct  

We have other policy statements and similar materials that are designed to assist WebMD and its employees in complying with applicable 
law and meeting appropriate standards of conduct, including:  
   

   

   

   

   

Failure to comply with those policy statements will, in many cases, also be a violation of this Code. In addition, our Finance Department, Legal 
Department, Human Resources Department, Information Technology Department and our operating units have adopted, and may in the future 
adopt, other written policies and procedures relating to the conduct of our business, the documenting of transactions, record keeping, information 
technology security, and related matters. Employees must comply with those policies and procedures and failure to do so will generally also be a 
violation of this Code of Conduct.  
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  •   the Policy Regarding Insider Trading, Tipping and Other Wrongful Disclosures, 

  •   the Communications Policy, 

  •   the Electronic Communications Policy, 

  •   policies and procedures relating to privacy and information security matters (which we refer to generally as “Privacy and Information 
Security Policies”  in this Code), and 

  •   the Employee Handbook. 

USE GOOD JUDGMENT – DON’T IGNORE YOUR INSTINCTS  

FOUR QUESTIONS TO ASK YOURSELF BEFORE ACTING:  
   

   

   

   

FOUR WARNING SIGNS. If you hear yourself or someone else say:  

“Everybody does it”  

“Maybe just this once”  

“No one will ever know”  

“It won’t matter in the end”  

STOP and think through the situation carefully, seek guidance, and take the time necessary to reach the right result.  

  •   Will my actions meet the letter of the law or rule but violate its spirit?   

  •   Would my failing to act make the situation worse or allow a “ wrong”  to continue?   

  •   How would my actions look if they were reported on the front page of the newspaper?   

  •   Would we lose customers if my actions were known to them?   



II.  GUIDELINES FOR EMPLOYEE CONDUCT  

Part II of our Code of Conduct provides guidelines for you to follow in dealing with some specific ethical and legal issues. Some of these 
guidelines are clear rules that you must follow — “do’s and don’ts” for specific situations. On the other hand, ethical issues often involve 
balancing competing interests and making value judgments. As a result, many of these guidelines provide general principles that must be applied 
by you based on the facts you are faced with. Sometimes applying those principles will be easy, and the proper business conduct will be clear. 
However, we often face complicated issues, where the right path to take may not be obvious or where there may be differences of opinion 
regarding proper conduct. It is each employee’s responsibility to work through those issues, seek appropriate advice and reach an answer that 
meets high ethical standards. The people described below are available to help you do that.  
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How to Get Your Questions Answered  

Whenever you have questions about the requirements of this Code of Conduct or how they apply to your job, you should call 
one or more of the following persons:  

   

   

   

   

In addition, for questions relating to financial reporting, accounting and related matters, you may contact the Chief Financial 
Officer of WebMD or other members of WebMD’s Finance Department.  

Selected Contact Information  

Our Compliance Officer is Lewis Leicher. He can be reached at 858-227-3459 or  
lleicher@webmd.net .  

Our Co-General Counsel, who head our Legal Department, are Doug Wamsley and Mike Glick. Any reference in this Code 
to “General Counsel” means either of them. Doug can be reached at 212-624-3862 or d wamsley@webmd.net Mike can be reached 
at 212-624-3776 or mglick@webmd.net Mike is also our Chief Privacy Officer.  

Our Chief Financial Officer is Pete Anevski. He can be reached at 212-624-3702 or panevski@webmd.net  

Our Chief Security Officer is Teresa Dietrich. She can be reached at 646-674-5377 or tdietrich@webmd.net .  

Our Human Resources Department is led by Kathi Tourjee. She can be reached at 212-417-9503 or ktourjee@webmd.net  

See Section III.B.2 below for instructions how to report violations of this Code or other corporate policies anonymously 
through our Ethics and Compliance Hotline.  

See Section III.D below for instructions on how to report to our Corporate Information Security Office  about suspected 
security incidents impacting the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of WebMD IT systems or data.  

  •   your manager or supervisor, or the head of your business unit or department,   

  •   your Human Resources manager or other members of our HR Department,   

  •   the Compliance Officer, and   

  •   the General Counsel of WebMD or other members of the Legal Department.   



A.    You may not use funds or assets of WebMD for any unlawful or unethical purpose or for personal gain  

The use of the funds or assets of WebMD for any unlawful or unethical purpose, including any political or commercial bribery, is 
prohibited. In addition, no person may use his or her position at WebMD or any funds or assets of WebMD (including confidential information 
of WebMD) for his or her personal gain.  
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  •   Our policy is to forgo any business that can be obtained only by making improper or illegal payments or kickbacks 

  

— No payment or gift shall be offered or made to a government official to influence any discretionary decision by such person in his 
or her official capacity. Should any such gifts or payments be requested, our Legal Department or the Compliance Officer should 
be contacted immediately. Giving any gifts — even gifts or entertainment of nominal value — to government officials is highly 
regulated and often illegal. For additional information, see Sections II.H and II.I below. 

  

— Certain customers or potential customers may establish their own guidelines as to acceptable gifts, entertainment and expenses 
that can be paid for by third parties and those guidelines may be more restrictive than those applicable in this Code of Conduct. 
You are responsible for understanding the guidelines of the recipient’s organization. If you have any questions please check with 
your immediate supervisor, the Compliance Officer, or the General Counsel. 

  
— No payment shall be offered or made to an employee or representative of an existing or potential customer or other business 

partner to influence any business decision by such person. Should any such payments be requested, our Legal Department or the 
Compliance Officer should be contacted immediately. 

  

� In circumstances where it would not violate any other policy of WebMD or any policy of the recipient’s organization and 
would not create an appearance of impropriety or be considered a business inducement, you may provide non-monetary gifts 
or entertainment in accordance with the policies and procedures and monetary limits applicable to your business unit and job 
responsibilities. Such gifts or entertainment must be reasonable in cost and frequency and approved by your supervisor. For 
this purpose, “reasonableness” should generally be measured by considering whether receipt of such gift or entertainment 
would be permissible to a similarly-situated WebMD employee under this Code, if the roles were reversed. 

  
� Business meals with customers or other business partners are permitted and expenses for those meals will be reimbursed in 

accordance with applicable expense reimbursement policies. 

  •   Subterfuge of any kind in making payments or other use of assets of WebMD is forbidden 

  — No payment by a third party on behalf of WebMD may be authorized with the intention that any part of it is to be used for any 
unlawful purpose. 

  — No payment or other use of assets or funds by WebMD may be offered or made for a purpose other than that described by the 
records supporting the payment. 

  •   You may not accept payments or gifts that obligate you with respect to matters relating to WebMD’s business or that create an 
appearance your decision-making would be improperly influenced 

  — Gifts of any type or amount may never be solicited from suppliers, customers or other business partners. 

  — Any form of a gift that may obligate one of our employees to act in a particular manner with regard to our business is a bribe and 
is not allowed, regardless of its value. In addition, you may not accept cash gifts, regardless of amount. 

  
� If a supplier, customer or other business partner offers you a bribe, kickback or other improper payment, you should report 

the attempt to the Compliance Officer, to the General Counsel or to the Chief Financial Officer. 

  

� You may accept gifts of nominal value ordinarily used for sales promotion (for example, calendars, appointment books, 
pens, etc.) and may accept other gifts consistent with local social and business custom if reasonable in cost and frequency 
and reported to your supervisor. 



If an employee receives a gift that would not be permitted by the above guidelines, it must be reported to the employee’s supervisor. We 
may ask the employee to return the gift or, if return of the gift is not practical, it may be required to be given to WebMD for charitable 
disposition or such other disposition as may be appropriate. Please note that it is not our desire for our employees to appear unfriendly 
or unsociable. However, it is our policy to avoid any actions that may throw doubt on the integrity or motivation of our employees or of 
WebMD.  

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

B.    Conflicts of Interest Policy  

1.     Failure to disclose a conflict of interest is a violation of this Code of Conduct  

WebMD expects its employees to be free from any influence that is inconsistent with their obligations to WebMD. There are many types of 
situations that may result in an employee having a conflict of interest or a potential conflict of interest with WebMD. Having a conflict of 
interest does not necessarily mean you have done something improper — however, the failure to disclose the conflict of interest is a violation of 
this Code of Conduct.  

Because there are many different types of conflicts of interest, there are also many different ways they can be resolved. For example, if a 
conflict arises because a family member of a WebMD employee takes a job with one of WebMD’s customers, we can take steps to make sure 
that that WebMD employee is not in a decision-making position with respect to transactions with that customer. However, those steps cannot be 
taken unless prompt and complete disclosure has been made. Disclosure should be made to the Compliance Officer or the General Counsel.  
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— Ordinary “business lunches” or reasonable entertainment consistent with local social and business custom is also permissible if 

reasonable in cost and frequency. 

  •   Do not advance your personal interests at the expense of WebMD 

  
— You may not take for yourself any opportunity for financial gain that you find out about because of your position at WebMD or 

through the use of property or information of WebMD, unless the Chief Executive Officer of WebMD has made a decision to 
forego the opportunity (after seeking approval of WebMD’s Board of Directors, if needed). 

  — See below, under “Conflicts of Interest Policy”  for additional policies that apply. 

  •   Protect the property and assets of WebMD and ensure their proper use 

  — Employees must protect the property and assets of WebMD from loss, waste, damage or theft and must use them only for 
legitimate business purposes. 

  

� Assets of WebMD include funds, investments, facilities, equipment, proprietary or confidential information, software, 
technology, business plans, ideas for new products and services, trade secrets, inventions, copyrightable materials and client 
lists. 

  

� Unless otherwise prohibited by an employee’s supervisor, limited and reasonable incidental use of telephone, computer or 
similar equipment of WebMD is permitted, so long as it does not interfere with business use and is in compliance with all 
other applicable policies of WebMD. 

  

� Charitable donations of cash, assets or services of WebMD can only be made if approved by WebMD’s Chief Executive 
Officer, Chief Financial Officer or General Counsel (after seeking approval of WebMD’s Board of Directors, if needed) and 
the required approval must be sought prior to making any commitment with respect to any such donation. 

  
— Any employee found to be engaging in, or attempting, theft of any property of WebMD or any personal property of other 

employees will be subject to termination and possible civil and criminal proceedings. All employees have a responsibility to report 
any theft or attempted theft to appropriate management. 

  — See below, under Section II.F., “Protection of Proprietary Information”  for additional policies that apply. 



WebMD expects its employees, in their work for WebMD, to act at all times in the best interests of WebMD. Accordingly, employees 
should remain free from obligations to, or relationships with, any person or company with whom WebMD does business or competes that could 
interfere with that. In addition, as described above, it is also the duty of employees not to utilize their position with WebMD for personal 
advantage or gain.  

The rights of our employees will be respected in the conduct of their personal affairs and investments, provided that such conduct does not 
adversely reflect upon WebMD or conflict with WebMD’s interests. Please note that any employee invited to join a corporate board of directors 
or similar governing body or to take a corporate advisory role or position (whether for a public or private company and whether for a for-profit 
company or other business organization or a not-for-profit company or other organization) must obtain the approval of the General Counsel prior 
to accepting such position.  

Please note that this Conflicts of Interest Policy is directed only to interests of a business or financial nature. It is not intended to cover an 
employee’s own political, civic or charitable activities, or individual participation in professional organizations. However, your supervisor’s 
approval should be secured in advance if there is a possibility that such outside activities might interfere with the normal duties and 
responsibilities of your job or could create the appearance of a conflict of interest. For additional information regarding policies applicable to 
participation in professional organizations and the approvals required by WebMD relating to such participation, please see WebMD’s 
Communications Policy.  
   

While it is not possible to describe all situations and conditions that might involve a conflict of interest, the following examples indicate 
areas where conflicts may arise:  
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2. Your business dealings on behalf of WebMD should not be influenced, or appear to be influenced, by your personal interests or 

your relationships with others 

  3. The following are examples of conflict of interest situations: 

  

•   Financial interests in competitors, customers, vendors, or contractors.   Where an employee, a close relative of an employee (such as a 
member of his or her family, household, in-laws, etc.), or any other person with whom the employee has a close personal relationship, 
has a direct or indirect financial interest in an organization that does business with or is a competitor of WebMD, a conflict of interest 
may exist. Such a conflict is unlikely if the financial interest consists of holdings of less than one percent of any class of securities in a 
widely held public company, or if our transactions with that corporation would not tend to either affect the value of its securities or 
contribute materially to its earnings. However, depending on the circumstances, a conflict of interest might exist, even if the amount of 
holdings in such corporation is less than one percent, if the employee is in a position to control or influence our decisions or actions with 
respect to a transaction with such corporation. In addition, if the investment or interest by the employee, close relative, or any other 
person with whom the employee has a close personal relationship, is in a small organization doing business with WebMD, a conflict of 
interest is likely in view of the possible relative importance of the transaction to such an organization. 

  
•   Serving in the management of customers, vendors, contractors, or competitors.   Where an employee serves as director, officer, or in 

any other management or consulting capacity with, or renders other services to another organization which does or is seeking to do 
business with WebMD, or which is a competitor of WebMD, a conflict of interest will normally exist. 

  

•   Transactions with contractors, customers, or vendors of WebMD.   Where an employee, a close relative of the employee, or any other 
person with whom the employee has a close personal relationship, buys, sells, or leases (other than on behalf of WebMD) any kind of 
property, facilities, services, or equipment from or to any person or organization which is, or is seeking to become, a contractor, 
customer, or vendor of WebMD, a conflict of interest may arise. 

  — A conflict would not normally exist, however, in cases of routine personal purchases, sales, or leases made in the ordinary course 
from or to a large established company, such as for the employee’s personal household needs. 



   

   

— in which WebMD has an expressed interest or  

— is of the type that WebMD would be expected to consider  

a conflict of interest may be present, unless the Chief Executive Officer of WebMD has made a decision to forego the opportunity (after 
seeking approval of WebMD’s Board of Directors if needed).  

The above examples are not intended to be an all-inclusive list of possible conflicts. In addition, there are other situations which, while not clear-
cut conflicts of interest, may be inconsistent with the high standards of business ethics that our employees are expected to follow. As noted 
above, you should disclose any conflicts of interest or potential conflicts of interest to the General Counsel or to the Compliance Officer.  

C.    Policy Regarding Financial Reporting and Recordkeeping and Related Internal Controls  

It is our policy that all filings made by WebMD with the Securities and Exchange Commission and all other public communications made 
by WebMD comply with applicable disclosure laws and regulations and NASDAQ Stock Market listing requirements, including those relating to 
accuracy, completeness and timeliness. The Senior Financial Officers and the Chief Executive Officer of WebMD have direct responsibility for 
compliance with this policy. Certain members of the Legal, Finance and Investor Relations Departments of WebMD have job responsibilities 
specifically related to those disclosure requirements and work closely with the Senior Financial Officers and the Chief Executive Officer to assist 
them in meeting their responsibilities. In addition, all employees are expected to support these efforts, including by providing prompt and 
accurate answers to inquiries from these officers and employees relating to disclosure requirements, and are required to act in accordance with 
the following policies:  
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— On the other hand, if the employee, as part of his or her job responsibilities for us, is in a position to make or influence decisions 

pertaining to transactions with such a company, a potential conflict of interest might exist, depending on the circumstances, if he 
or she has any private transactions with that company. 

  

•   Transactions with WebMD.   Any proposed business transaction between WebMD and an employee of WebMD (other than those 
relating to the employee’s employment or services as an employee), or a close relative of an employee, or any other person with whom 
the employee has a close personal relationship would generally involve or lead to a conflict and must be fully disclosed to appropriate 
management in advance and requires approval by the General Counsel or, in the case of a member of WebMD’s Board of Directors, an 
executive officer of WebMD or a Senior Financial Officer of WebMD, approval of the Audit Committee of WebMD’s Board of 
Directors. The officers who are “Senior Financial Officers” of WebMD for purposes of this Code of Conduct are the principal financial 
officer, comptroller or principal accounting officer and persons performing similar functions. 

  
•   Corporate Opportunity.   Where an employee, a close relative of the employee, or any other person with whom the employee has a 

close personal relationship participates in any personal venture or transaction involving any existing or potential business activity or 
opportunity 

  1. Unauthorized transactions and illegal or improper recordkeeping are not permitted 

  •   Business transactions shall be reported promptly and accurately in order to permit the preparation of accurate financial and other 
records. 

  •   Business transactions shall be executed only by employees authorized to do so. 

  •   Business transactions shall be evidenced by full and complete written agreements in accordance with policies and procedures approved 
by the Legal Department and the Finance Department. 

  •   Acquisitions or dispositions of assets and other transactions are permitted only with authorization by the appropriate management 
levels. 



   

   

To ensure that records accurately and fairly represent all business transactions:  
   

   

   

   

If an employee becomes aware of any improper accounting or financial reporting practice or any improperly recorded or documented 
transaction, he or she should report the matter immediately to the Chief Financial Officer or General Counsel, or to the Compliance Officer or to 
one of the senior officers in our Human Resources Department. See also Section III.B.2 below, for information about reporting anonymously 
through our Ethics and Compliance Hotline.  

D.    Policy Regarding Governmental Investigations  

It is our policy to cooperate with government investigations involving WebMD. However, WebMD should have the opportunity to be 
adequately represented in such investigations by its own legal counsel. Accordingly, if employees obtain information that would lead them to 
believe that a government investigation or inquiry is underway, this information should be communicated immediately to the General Counsel. 
Sometimes, it is difficult to tell when a routine government audit or inspection graduates into a government investigation. We must rely on the 
common sense and alertness of our employees for making this important determination. If in doubt, employees should consult with the General 
Counsel.  

Appropriate handling of government investigations is very important for WebMD, its management, and for all employees. Many federal 
laws regulating the conduct of our business (including antitrust, securities, privacy, OSHA, environmental, tax, and financial laws) contain civil 
and criminal penalties. The criminal penalties may apply to the corporation and to those individuals within a company who actually took the 
actions that violated the law or failed to take actions required by law. In some government investigations, WebMD’s lawyers can protect the 
interest of both WebMD and its employees. In some cases, there may be a conflict of interest between WebMD and individual employees, and 
individual employees may need their own legal counsel.  

Employees should never, under any circumstances:  
   

   

   

The law guarantees all of us a right to be represented by legal counsel during any investigation or inquiry by any government agency. In 
view of the extremely technical nature of these government investigations, we feel that WebMD should be represented and that all of our 
employees should be made aware of the opportunity for such representation. This applies any time any government investigator wants to ask 
questions about individual employee activities. Employees also have this right if the questions are asked off company property — such as at  
   

C ODE OF B USINESS C ONDUCT — P AGE  9 

  
•   Employees are prohibited from knowingly making untrue or misleading statements to our independent auditors or internal auditors or 

causing anyone else to do so and no employee may seek to improperly influence, directly or indirectly, the auditing of our financial 
records. 

  •   Data transmitted and/or stored electronically by WebMD shall be protected from errors, disasters, misuse, unauthorized access, and 
fraud. 

  2. No employee may create or participate in the creation of any records that contain false information or that are intended to 
mislead anyone or conceal anything that is improper. 

  •   All assets and transactions must be recorded in normal books and records. 

  •   No unrecorded funds shall be established or maintained for any purpose. 

  •   All expense reports must accurately reflect the true nature of the expense. 

  •   Oral and written descriptions of transactions, whether completed or contemplated, provided to those responsible for the preparation or 
verification of financial records must be accurate. 

  •   destroy or alter any documents in anticipation of a request for those documents from any government agency or a court, 

  •   lie or make any misleading statements to any government investigator, or 

  •   attempt to cause any other company employee, or any other person, to fail to provide appropriately requested information to a 
government investigator or to provide any false or misleading information. 



your home during the evening. There is no reason any individual should not be allowed sufficient time to consult with legal counsel before 
answering questions from governmental investigators that may subject that employee to individual criminal or civil liability.  

If a government inquiry arises through the issuance of a written subpoena, written request for information (such as a Civil Investigative 
Demand) or through another contact such as a telephone call or email, such request should immediately, before any action is taken or promised, 
be submitted to our Legal Department.  

E.    Compliance with Laws  
   

Many laws and regulations apply to WebMD and its businesses. Responsibility for compliance with law is part of everyone’s job 
description. This section of the Code of Conduct is intended to highlight some of the legal issues that confront us. Many of the laws applicable to 
WebMD and its businesses are complex and evolving. WebMD does not expect all employees to be experts on these laws — but we do expect 
you to:  
   

   

   

The remainder of this section discusses some specific laws that apply to WebMD or to some or all of WebMD’s businesses.  

2.    Privacy Laws.   In the course of business, WebMD may come into the possession of individually identifiable health information or 
other confidential information of individuals. This is an area that is highly regulated, with evolving legal standards that place various obligations 
on WebMD and its employees regarding maintenance of the confidentiality of such information and protecting it from unauthorized disclosure.  
   

   

   

   

Whenever a question arises as to the application of privacy laws or regulations or our contractual obligations relating to information of 
individuals, employees should seek advice from our Chief Privacy Officer or other attorneys in the Legal Department and be guided by the 
advice received.  

3.    Antitrust Laws.   The objective of the antitrust laws and other laws governing competition is to promote vigorous competition by 
prohibiting competitors from sharing certain information or working together in certain ways that reduce competition. Our policy is that all 
personnel comply with all applicable antitrust laws and other laws governing competition. Employees should consult with the Legal Department 
whenever any question arises as to the possible application of the laws governing competition and be guided by the advice received.  

You should be aware that serious legal consequences, including in some cases criminal fines and penalties, may result from agreements or 
understandings with competitors, including any such agreements:  
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  1. Know, respect and comply with all laws, rules and regulations applicable to the conduct of WebMD’s businesses 

  •   make the effort to understand the laws and company policies that apply to your specific job responsibilities, 

  •   review educational materials provided to you and participate in all required training programs, and 

  •   ask questions of and seek advice from our Legal Department and be guided by the advice received. 

  •   We have policies regarding how we handle and protect certain kinds of health information in accordance with the Health Insurance 
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (HIPAA) and its related regulations. 

  •   In addition, we may be subject to additional contractual obligations with respect to how we handle and protect such information. 

  •   We have Privacy Policies posted on our Web sites that set forth standards regarding our use of information collected through those sites. 

  •   We have other Privacy and Information Security Policies intended to address requirements under various privacy laws and regulations, 
as well as our contractual obligations. For additional information, see the “Corporate Information Security”  page in Employee Central . 

  •   to set or control prices, 

  •   to allocate customers or territories, 



   

Certain other types of communications with competitors and certain ways of working together with competitors are permitted under the 
antitrust laws, but you should consult with a member of the Legal Department before any meetings or discussions with competitors and should 
report back to the Legal Department on the substance of any meetings or discussions that are held. An example of the type of action that 
generally is permitted, under Legal Department supervision, is participation by appropriate employees as our representatives in industry 
associations or trade groups.  

4.    Anti-Kickback Laws.   In the United States, there are federal and state healthcare laws called Anti-Kickback Laws that prohibit the 
offering of anything of value to a person that is intended to influence that person to recommend or purchase a healthcare product or service that 
may be reimbursed by Medicare or Medicaid or state healthcare benefit programs. This is to ensure that a healthcare provider’s decision about a 
choice of treatment or product for his or her patient not be influenced by motives of personal gain or enrichment. This law may apply to some of 
our businesses, either directly or through our relationships with customers, suppliers or other business partners. It is our policy to cooperate with 
our customers in their efforts to comply with law. Whenever a question arises as to the application of healthcare laws or regulations and 
whenever a customer, supplier or other business partner seeks our assistance in their compliance efforts, employees should seek advice from the 
attorneys in the Legal Department and be guided by the advice received.  

5.    Other Healthcare Laws.   There are various other healthcare laws that may apply to our businesses, either directly or through our 
relationships with customers. These laws cover areas that include:  
   

   

   

   

It is our policy to cooperate with our customers, suppliers and other business partners in their efforts to comply with law. Whenever a question 
arises as to the application of healthcare laws or regulations and whenever a customer, supplier or other business partner seeks our assistance in 
their compliance efforts, employees should seek advice from the attorneys in the Legal Department and be guided by the advice received.  

F.    Protection of Proprietary Information  

Proprietary information developed or acquired by WebMD and not freely available to others is a valuable asset that must be protected 
against theft or inadvertent loss. Improper disclosure could destroy the value of such information to WebMD and substantially weaken 
WebMD’s competitive position.  

Various types of proprietary information include trade secrets, as well as other technical, financial, and business information, which 
WebMD either wishes to keep confidential or is under an obligation to keep confidential. For example, such proprietary information may 
concern products or services developed or being developed by WebMD, research results, cost data, marketing strategies, financial budgets, and 
long range plans. All such information, at the time of development or acquisition, should be clearly identified and marked “Confidential” and the 
information and any copies (whether physical or electronic) should be managed and kept in a manner designed to protect them from accidental 
or unauthorized disclosure.  

For protection of WebMD’s proprietary information, we necessarily rely primarily on the loyalty, integrity, good faith, and alertness of 
WebMD employees. The understanding of this relationship is confirmed by requesting execution of an agreement containing non-disclosure 
obligations and other provisions designed to protect WebMD’s proprietary information. Upon leaving WebMD, the obligation to safeguard 
WebMD’s proprietary information continues.  

The disclosure of WebMD’s proprietary information to persons outside WebMD must be limited to those who have a strict 
“need-to-know”; that is, WebMD’s need for the outside parties to know. Unless the Legal  
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  •   on bidding terms or whether or not to submit a bid for particular business or types of business, and 

  •   to boycott customers or suppliers. 

  •   reducing fraud and abuse in federal healthcare programs (Medicare and Medicaid), 

  •   eliminating the improper influence of financial incentives on medical judgment, 

  •   protecting patients and improving the quality of healthcare services, and 

  •   reducing the cost of healthcare. 



Department has specifically authorized making an exception, no disclosure of proprietary information may be made until the outside party has 
signed a written Confidentiality Agreement or other similar written agreement, in a form approved by the Legal Department, that imposes an 
obligation on the outside party neither to disclose nor use the information in an unauthorized manner.  

Even within WebMD, the disclosure of proprietary information should be limited to those employees who have a need for the information 
in order to fully perform their jobs.  

The Legal Department is available to assist employees in the legal aspects of protecting our proprietary information. In addition, see the 
“Corporate Information Security” page in Employee Central for more details regarding protection of corporate information and see Section III.D 
below for instructions on how to report to our Corporate Information Security Office about suspected security incidents impacting the 
confidentiality, integrity, or availability of WebMD IT systems or data.  

G.    Corporate Political Activity  

It is WebMD’s policy to comply fully with applicable laws regulating corporate political activities. Accordingly, you may not, without the 
prior written consent of WebMD’s General Counsel, use any WebMD assets (including time at work, use of WebMD premises or equipment, or 
direct monetary payments) for political contributions or activities in any location or for any political office or ballot measure. The political 
process is highly regulated. You should consult with our General Counsel before doing anything that could be construed as involving WebMD in 
any political activity.  

It is against WebMD policy, and may also be illegal, for any employee to include, directly or indirectly, any political contribution that the 
employee may make on the employee’s expense report or in any other way that causes WebMD to reimburse the employee for that expense. In 
general, the cost of fund-raising tickets for political functions are considered political contributions. Therefore, including the cost of any such 
fund-raising dinner on an expense report, even if business is, in fact, discussed at such a dinner, is against WebMD policy and possibly illegal.  

WebMD recognizes that, in order for political systems to function properly, participation by citizens in civic and political affairs is a 
necessary and desirable undertaking. In this regard, it is WebMD’s policy to encourage employees to participate in the political process on an 
individual basis, to be informed on public issues and on the positions and qualifications of public officials and candidates for public office, and 
to support, with their own money and on their own time, candidates and parties of their choice.  

H.    Relations with Governmental Bodies and Agencies and their Officials (and Former Officials) in the United States  

Doing business with federal, state and local government agencies is subject to specific rules and regulations. These include numerous 
federal, state and local laws and regulations relating to control of the process of public procurement. Procurement laws and regulations generally 
have four basic purposes: (1) to obtain the best possible products and services at the best value; (2) to encourage competition based on 
specifications and evaluation criteria that allow interested suppliers to respond; (3) to eliminate waste, fraud, and abuse; and (4) to promote full 
and open competition. It is our policy not to engage in any activities that could impair the fairness of governmental procurement processes. All 
employees involved in business or potential business with a governmental body or agency must know and abide by the specific rules and 
regulations covering business relations with those public agencies. For a discussion of certain rules and regulations regarding interaction with 
foreign governmental authorities, see the next section of this Code, entitled “Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and Other Anti-Bribery Laws.”  

All employees must also conduct themselves in a manner that avoids any dealings which might be perceived as attempts to improperly 
influence public officials in the performance of their official duties and must not attempt to induce government personnel to do anything they are 
prohibited from doing. As stated in Section II.A. above, this Code of Conduct prohibits offering or making any payment or gift to a government 
official to influence any discretionary decision by such person in his official capacity. Employees should deal with  
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government representatives in an atmosphere of openness. Meetings should generally be scheduled in normal business locations and at normal 
business hours under circumstances that could not be interpreted to imply concealment.  

In addition, there are laws that restrict companies that do business with governmental agencies from hiring as an employee or retaining as a 
consultant any employees of those and other governmental agencies (other than certain lower-level governmental employees). These laws also 
prohibit informal arrangements for possible future employment under certain circumstances. Therefore, written clearance must be obtained from 
the Legal Department before discussing possible future employment by WebMD with any current government employee (even if the discussion 
is initiated by the government employee) and before hiring or retaining any former government employee who left the government within the 
past two years.  

The process of doing business with governments and their agencies is highly regulated and any violation of these laws and regulations may 
subject WebMD to criminal prosecution and may have other serious consequences for WebMD, both with respect to the specific relationship 
where the violation occurred as well as in our relationships with other governmental agencies. The Legal Department is available to assist our 
employees in complying with the rules and regulations applicable to relations with governmental bodies and agencies and their officials.  

There are also laws and regulations that may affect the eligibility of WebMD for certain business with governmental bodies or agencies 
because of actual or potential conflicts of interest. Conflicts of interest may occur, for example, when the degree of access to government 
information or participation in the analysis or development of a governmental requirement reaches a level that places a particular government 
contractor at an unfair competitive advantage in bidding for that business. Such conflicts of interest can result in bid disqualifications and 
possible civil or criminal action. Various actions, including the sharing of certain information between our business units or particular groups of 
employees within a business unit, may have adverse consequences under these laws and regulations. The Legal Department is available to assist 
our businesses and employees in complying with these laws and regulations and in structuring our business activities to avoid conflicts of 
interest when possible and in complying with any related requirements for making disclosure to government agencies of actual or potential 
conflicts of interest.  

I.    Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and Other Anti-Bribery Laws  

WebMD’s commitment to dealing legally and ethically with governments and governmental officials applies worldwide. In addition to the 
general ethical principles and legal restrictions described in the preceding section of this Code and in Section II.A above, the U.S. Foreign 
Corrupt Practices Act (or FCPA), and similar anti-bribery laws around the world contain specific prohibitions against giving or offering to give 
money or anything of value – whether cash or not, or whether directly or indirectly through others – to any non-U.S. governmental official to 
induce that official to affect any governmental act or decision, or to assist WebMD in obtaining or retaining business or securing any improper 
advantage. For this purpose, a “governmental official” includes any employee of any government or of any government-owned or government-
operated enterprise, entity or corporation. Accordingly, in some countries, physicians and other healthcare professionals may be deemed to be 
governmental officials for purposes of the FCPA or other anti-bribery laws simply as a result of being an employee or agent of a government-
owned or government-operated healthcare services provider and our relationships with those individuals are subject to the prohibitions of the 
FCPA and other anti-bribery laws.  

It is a violation of this Code of Conduct to act in any way that violates the FCPA or any other anti-bribery law. Since these laws are 
complex to apply, you should seek advice on this area from our Legal Department if you have any involvement with non-U.S. governmental 
officials on behalf of WebMD. While most practices that would be forbidden by those laws would also be contrary to the laws that apply in the 
United States and other provisions of this Code of Conduct, there are some additional prohibitions that apply outside the United States and, as 
noted above, there are additional individuals who may be considered to be governmental officials in other countries. Accordingly, you must 
consult with the Legal Department before taking any action that could result in making any payment to, or otherwise transacting business with, a 
foreign government or foreign governmental official.  
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J.    Economic Sanctions and Trade Embargoes  

The United States government uses economic sanctions and trade embargoes to further various foreign policy and national security 
objectives. It is our policy to abide by the terms of all economic sanctions or trade embargoes that the United States has adopted, whether they 
apply to foreign countries, political organizations or particular foreign individuals and entities. Inquires regarding whether a transaction on 
behalf of WebMD complies with applicable sanction and trade embargo programs should be referred to the General Counsel. In addition, 
inquiries regarding any available exemptions that WebMD may wish to seek in specific cases, if permitted under applicable law or regulation, 
should be referred to the General Counsel.  
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III.  COMPLIANCE AND ENFORCEMENT  
   

We may require certification, from time to time, from some or all of our employees regarding their compliance with this Code of Conduct, 
including their compliance with respect to disclosure requirements set forth in Section II.B above for conflicts of interest. We rely on the 
accuracy and completeness of these certifications. If you are asked to provide a certification, please make sure to complete the form carefully 
and sign and return it promptly.  
   

   

If you suspect or believe that another employee (including part-time and temporary employees), consultant or contract worker, or one of 
our businesses is violating the law, this Code of Conduct or our other company policies or is engaging in activities on our behalf that could 
damage our reputation, you must report this to the Compliance Officer, the General Counsel, the Chief Financial Officer or one of the senior 
officers in our Human Resources Department. In addition, you are encouraged to raise any other issues or concerns you may have relating to 
compliance matters and ethical business practices, whether or not specifically addressed in our formal policies. Do not assume that “senior 
management already knows” or that someone else will make the report. Your supervisor or your Human Resources manager can help you 
make the report.  

All reports shall be treated confidentially to the extent possible consistent with fair and rigorous enforcement of this Code of Conduct. We 
understand that you may find it difficult to report suspected violations by those you work with; however, we must take steps to prevent and 
detect criminal or unethical conduct in order to avoid jeopardizing the welfare of WebMD and its employees, customers and investors. Please 
note that you should not conduct your own investigation of any suspected violation without the prior authorization by the General Counsel. 
Instead, immediately report your suspicions to the Compliance Officer, the General Counsel, the Chief Financial Officer or one of the senior 
officers in our Human Resources Department. Any reports that relate to accounting, auditing, internal auditing, financial reporting, disclosure 
practices, or securities law matters will be presented to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of WebMD.  
   

We have retained an independent company to host an Ethics and Compliance Hotline that allows you to make reports anonymously by 
telephone to the following toll-free number:  

888-738-1853  

The Hotline is available 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, from any location in the United States, Canada and Puerto Rico and interpreters are 
available on the Hotline. You do not need to give your name to use the Hotline. However, you should try to provide enough information about 
the incident or situation to allow the WebMD to investigate it properly and the Hotline operators will help you do that.  

You may also make anonymous reports by writing to the Compliance Officer at the address provided in Section III.C below. Any reports 
made to the Compliance Officer or through the Hotline that relate to accounting, auditing, internal auditing, financial reporting, disclosure 
practices, or securities law matters will be presented to the Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of WebMD.  
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A. Certification 

B. Reporting Violations of this Code of Conduct 

  1. Reporting known or suspected violations of this Code of Conduct or any legal or ethical obligations is the responsibility of every 
employee 

  2. You may make reports anonymously if you choose to do so 



   

Our commitment to conducting business in accordance with legal and ethical obligations requires an environment that allows employees to 
report known or suspected violations without fear of retaliation or retribution. No employee should be discouraged from using any available 
channel to raise his or her concerns. It is our intent to foster an environment where employees will choose whichever method they are most 
comfortable with to communicate their concerns.  

   

   

The Board of Directors of WebMD has appointed a Compliance Officer to assist in the implementation of this Code of Conduct. The 
current Compliance Officer is Lewis Leicher, an Assistant General Counsel. He can be reached at 858-227-3459. You may also reach him at 
lleicher@webmd.net or by writing to: WebMD Health Corp., 16236 San Dieguito Road, Suite 5-11 P.O. Box 676306, Rancho Santa Fe, CA 
92067-6306.  
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Here’s what happens when you call the Ethics and Compliance Hotline (toll-free at 888-738-1853):  
   

   

   

   

  •   You are greeted by a friendly Interviewer, who documents the situation with you in detail. You don’ t have to give your name and 
your call is not recorded. 

  •   The Interviewer assigns a report number to you and asks you to call back on a scheduled future date and to identify yourself, at 
that time, with the report number (not your name). 

  •   The information you reported is relayed to WebMD’s Compliance Officer to investigate your concern. 

  
•   Using the report number and scheduled call back date given to you by the Interviewer, you call for the follow-up. You may be 

asked additional questions provided to the Interviewer by WebMD and asked to add any new information you may have at that 
time. 

  3. Non-Retaliation Policy 

NON-RETALIATION POLICY  

We are committed to providing a workplace conducive to open discussion of our business practices. It is our policy to protect 
employees who make reports, in good faith, of potential violations of our Code of Business Conduct, the policies in our Employee 
Handbook, other company policies or applicable law. In addition, it is our policy to comply with all applicable laws that protect 
employees against unlawful discrimination or retaliation by their employer as a result of their lawfully reporting information regarding 
corporate fraud or other violations of law by WebMD or its employees.  

Any employee who retaliates against another employee for reporting problems will be subject to disciplinary action, which may 
include termination of employment. If an employee believes that he or she has been subjected to any action that violates this Non-
Retaliation Policy, he or she should report that to the Compliance Officer, the General Counsel, the Chief Financial Officer or the Human 
Resources Department. This Non-Retaliation Policy applies even if an allegation that was made in good faith ultimately turns out to be 
groundless. However, employees who file reports or provide evidence that they know to be false or without a good faith belief in the truth 
of such information will not be protected by this Non-Retaliation Policy and may be subject to disciplinary action, including termination of 
their employment.  

C. Compliance Officer 



Suspected security incidents impacting the confidentiality, integrity, or availability of WebMD systems or data should be reported 
immediately to the Corporate Information Security Office by any of the following methods:  
   

   

   

For additional information, see the “Corporate Information Security” page in Employee Central .  
   

While many of the policies set forth in this Code of Conduct must be strictly adhered to and no exceptions allowed, in other cases, some 
waivers or exceptions may be possible. For example, a minor conflict of interest can sometimes be resolved simply by disclosing the possible 
conflict to all interested parties and making sure the person with the conflict is not involved in decision-making in areas of conflict.  

Any employee who believes that an exception to any of these policies is appropriate in his or her case should contact his or her immediate 
supervisor first. If the immediate supervisor agrees that an exception is appropriate, you should contact the Compliance Officer, who will 
coordinate seeking the approval of the General Counsel or, in the case of an executive officer or a Senior Financial Officer, the approval of the 
Audit Committee of the Board of Directors of WebMD.  

The General Counsel is responsible for interpreting and applying this Code of Conduct to specific situations in which questions may arise 
and granting any waivers, except with respect to interpretations, applications and waivers involving executive officers, Senior Financial Officers 
or directors of WebMD, for which the Board of Directors or, to the extent permitted by law or the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock 
Market, the Audit Committee of the Board or another duly authorized committee of the Board shall be responsible. To the extent required by law 
or the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market, any such waivers for Senior Financial Officers, executive officers or directors of 
WebMD shall be disclosed publicly.  

This Code of Conduct may be amended by action of the Board of Directors of WebMD or the Audit Committee of the Board or by another 
authorized committee of the Board of Directors. To the extent required by law or the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market, any such 
amendments shall be disclosed publicly. In addition, the Board of Directors of WebMD has delegated to the General Counsel and the 
Compliance Officer authority to amend this Code to update the contact information provided.  
   

WebMD’s policy allows the use of any lawful method of investigation that WebMD deems necessary to determine whether a person has 
violated applicable law, this Code of Conduct or other policies of WebMD or has otherwise engaged in conduct that interferes or adversely 
affects their business. All employees are expected to cooperate in the investigation of any such alleged violation. It is imperative, however, that 
even a preliminary investigation of any suspected violation NOT be conducted without consulting with the Compliance Officer or seeking the 
assistance and guidance of the General Counsel. Following the completion of the investigation, appropriate members of senior management will 
determine appropriate action.  
   

Violations of this Code of Conduct will result in disciplinary action, which may include termination, reprimands, warnings, suspensions 
with or without pay, demotions, or salary reductions. Violators may also be subject to civil or criminal prosecution. Disciplinary actions may 
also extend to a violator’s manager if we  
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D. Reporting Information Security Incidents 

  •   call the “WebMD Privacy and Security Hotline”  accessible internally at extension 10026 or externally at 1-866-567-6857; 

  •   send an email to security@webmd.net; or 

  •   use the “Create Incident Report”  form located on the “Corporate Information Security”  page in Employee Central . 

E. Amendments, Waivers and Interpretations 

F. Investigation of Suspected Violations 

G. Disciplinary Actions 



determine that the violation involved the participation of the manager or resulted from the manager’s lack of diligence in enforcing compliance 
with this Code of Conduct.  

We will document disciplinary actions taken against our personnel for violations of this Code of Conduct. Such documentation will be 
included in the individual’s personnel files. In reviewing the appropriate disciplinary action imposed for a violation of this Code of Conduct, 
senior management shall take into account the following factors:  
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  •   the nature of the violation and the ramifications of the violation to WebMD, 

  •   whether the individual was directly or indirectly involved in the violation, 

  •   whether the violation was willful or unintentional, 

  •   whether the violation represented an isolated occurrence or a pattern of conduct, 

  •   whether the individual in question reported the violation, 

  •   whether the individual withheld relevant or material information concerning the violation, 

  •   the degree to which the individual cooperated with the investigation, 

  •   if the violation consisted of the failure to supervise another individual who violated this Code of Conduct, the extent to which the 
circumstances reflect inadequate supervision or lack of due diligence, 

  •   if the violation consisted of retaliation against another individual for reporting a violation or cooperating with an investigation, the 
nature of such retaliation, and 

  •   the individual’s past violations, if any. 



Exhibit 21.1 

SUBSIDIARIES OF THE REGISTRANT  

The following lists the subsidiaries of WebMD Health Corp. and their respective jurisdictions of incorporation or formation:  
   

Name    Jurisdiction 

Healtheon Software India Private Limited    India 
Medical Information Services, LLC    Delaware 
Medscape, LLC    Delaware 

Conceptis LLC     Delaware 
eMedicine.com LLC     Delaware 
Sim AS, LLC     Delaware 

PRX Holdings Corp.    Delaware 
SNTC Holding, Inc.    Delaware 

WebMD Health Services Group, Inc.     Delaware 
Subimo LLC     Delaware 
HealthShare Technology, Inc.     Delaware 
Summex Corporation     Indiana 
OW Corp.     Delaware 

SYNC Corp.    New Jersey 
WebMD Canada Ventures, Inc.    Canada 
WebMD Global LLC    Delaware 

WebMD France     France 
WebMD Germany GmbH     Germany 
WebMD Global Spain, S.L.     Spain 
WebMD Netherlands C.V.     Netherlands 

WebMD Netherlands B.V.     Netherlands 
WebMD International, Inc.    Delaware 
WebMD, LLC    Delaware 

Avado, Inc.     Delaware 
MedicineNet, Inc.     California 
OnHealth Network LLC     Washington 
WebMD Domain Corp.     Delaware 
WebMD UK Limited     United Kingdom 

WebMD Professional Services LLC    Delaware 
Medsite LLC     Delaware 

WebMD UK Limited    England & Wales 
  

  99.9% owned by WebMD Global LLC and 0.1% owned by WebMD LLC.  

1 

1 



Exhibit 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING  FIRM  

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements:  
   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

of our reports dated February 27, 2015, with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedule of WebMD Health Corp. and the 
effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of WebMD Health Corp., included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of WebMD 
Health Corp. for the year ended December 31, 2014.  
   

   

  (1) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-128898) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 

  
(2) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-145329) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. Long-Term Incentive Plan for 

Employees of Subimo, LLC, 

  (3) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-153187) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 

  
(4) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-162651) pertaining to the stock option plans of HLTH Corporation (“HLTH”) and certain 

predecessor companies that were assumed by WebMD in connection with its merger with HLTH, 

  (5) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-162653) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 

  (6) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-172539) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 

  
(7) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-182162) pertaining to Non-Qualified Stock Option and Restricted Stock Agreements with 

Cavan Redmond, 

  (8) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-183187) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, 

  (9) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-192157) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan, and 

  (10) Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-200054) pertaining to the WebMD Health Corp. 2005 Long-Term Incentive Plan. 

/s/ Ernst & Young LLP 

New York, New York  
February 27, 2015  



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE  

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, David J. Schlanger, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WebMD Health Corp.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: February 27, 2015  
   

/s/ David J. Schlanger  
David J. Schlanger 
Chief Executive Officer 
(Principal executive officer) 



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATIONS PURSUANT TO  
SECTION 302 OF THE  

SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

I, Peter Anevski, certify that:  

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of WebMD Health Corp.;  

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;  

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;  

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:  

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b) Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed 
under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial 
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions 
about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such 
evaluation; and  

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant’s 
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably 
likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and  

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):  

a) All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which 
are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant’s 
internal control over financial reporting.  

Date: February 27, 2015  
   

/s/ Peter Anevski  
Peter Anevski 
Chief Financial Officer 
(Principal financial and accounting officer) 



Exhibit 32.1 

STATEMENT OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER OF  
WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of WebMD Health Corp. (“WebMD”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, David J. Schlanger, Chief Executive Officer of 
WebMD, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my 
knowledge:  
   

   

   

   

The foregoing certification is being furnished to accompany WebMD’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2014 (the “Report”) solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed as part of the Report or as a 
separate disclosure document and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any other filing of WebMD that incorporates the Report by 
reference. A signed original of this written certification required by Section 906 has been provided to WebMD and will be retained by WebMD 
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of WebMD. 

Dated: February 27, 2015     /s/ David J. Schlanger  
    David J. Schlanger 
    Chief Executive Officer 
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STATEMENT OF CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER OF  
WEBMD HEALTH CORP.  

PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,  
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO  

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002  

In connection with the Annual Report of WebMD Health Corp. (“WebMD”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 as 
filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I, Peter Anevski, Chief Financial Officer of WebMD, 
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my knowledge:  
   

   

   

   

The foregoing certification is being furnished to accompany WebMD’s Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 
2014 (the “Report”) solely pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not be deemed filed as part of the Report or as a 
separate disclosure document and shall not be deemed incorporated by reference into any other filing of WebMD that incorporates the Report by 
reference. A signed original of this written certification required by Section 906 has been provided to WebMD and will be retained by WebMD 
and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon request.  

  (1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934; and 

  
(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of 

operations of WebMD. 

Dated: February 27, 2015     /s/ Peter Anevski  
    Peter Anevski 
    Chief Financial Officer 

  



Exhibit 99.1 

Explanation of Non-GAAP Financial Measures  

Item 7 (the “MD&A”) of the Annual Report on Form 10-K to which this is filed as Exhibit 99.1 includes both financial measures in 
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, or GAAP, as well as non-GAAP financial measures. The non-GAAP financial 
measures represent earnings before interest, taxes, non-cash and other items (which we refer to as “Adjusted EBITDA”) and related per share 
amounts. Adjusted EBITDA should be viewed as supplemental to, and not as an alternative for net income or loss calculated in accordance with 
GAAP (referred to below as “net income”) or income or loss from continuing operations calculated in accordance with GAAP (referred to below 
as “income from continuing operations”). The MD&A also includes reconciliations of non-GAAP financial measures to GAAP financial 
measures.  

Adjusted EBITDA is used by our management as an additional measure of our company’s performance for purposes of business decision-
making, including developing budgets, managing expenditures, and evaluating potential acquisitions or divestitures. Period-to-period 
comparisons of Adjusted EBITDA help our management identify additional trends in our company’s financial results that may not be shown 
solely by period-to-period comparisons of net income or income from continuing operations. In addition, we may use Adjusted EBITDA in the 
incentive compensation programs applicable to some of our employees in order to evaluate our company’s performance. Our management 
recognizes that Adjusted EBITDA has inherent limitations because of the excluded items, particularly those items that are recurring in nature. In 
order to compensate for those limitations, management also reviews the specific items that are excluded from Adjusted EBITDA, but included in 
net income or income from continuing operations, as well as trends in those items. The amounts of those items are set forth, for the applicable 
periods, in the reconciliations of Adjusted EBITDA to net income or income from continuing operations that accompany our press releases and 
disclosure documents containing non-GAAP financial measures, including the reconciliations contained in the MD&A.  

We believe that the presentation of Adjusted EBITDA is useful to investors in their analysis of our results for reasons similar to the reasons 
why our management finds it useful and because it helps facilitate investor understanding of decisions made by management in light of the 
performance metrics used in making those decisions. In addition, as more fully described below, we believe that providing Adjusted EBITDA, 
together with a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to net income or income from continuing operations, helps investors make comparisons 
between our company and other companies that may have different capital structures, different effective income tax rates and tax attributes, 
different capitalized asset values and/or different forms of employee compensation. However, Adjusted EBITDA is intended to provide a 
supplemental way of comparing our company with other public companies and is not intended as a substitute for comparisons based on net 
income or income from continuing operations. In making any comparisons to other companies, investors need to be aware that companies use 
different non-GAAP measures to evaluate their financial performance. Investors should pay close attention to the specific definition being used 
and to the reconciliation between such measures and the corresponding GAAP measures provided by each company under applicable SEC rules.  

The following is an explanation of the items excluded by us from Adjusted EBITDA but included in net income and income from 
continuing operations:  
   

  

•   Depreciation and Amortization . Depreciation and amortization expense is a non-cash expense relating to capital expenditures and 
intangible assets arising from acquisitions that are expensed on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of the related assets. 
We exclude depreciation and amortization expense from Adjusted EBITDA because we believe that (i) the amount of such expenses 
in any specific period may not directly correlate to the underlying performance of our business operations and (ii) such expenses can 
vary significantly between periods as a result of new acquisitions and full amortization of previously acquired tangible and intangible 
assets. Accordingly, we believe that this exclusion assists management and investors in making period-to-period comparisons of 
operating performance. Investors should note that the use of tangible and intangible assets contributed to revenue in the periods 
presented and will contribute to future revenue generation and should also note that such expense will recur in future periods. 



   

   

   

   
2  

  

•   Stock-Based Compensation Expense . Stock-based compensation expense is a non-cash expense arising from the grant of stock-
based awards to employees. We believe that excluding the effect of stock-based compensation from Adjusted EBITDA assists 
management and investors in making period-to-period comparisons in our company’s operating performance because (i) the amount 
of such expenses in any specific period may not directly correlate to the underlying performance of our business operations and 
(ii) such expenses can vary significantly between periods as a result of the timing of grants of new stock-based awards, including 
grants in connection with acquisitions. Additionally, we believe that excluding stock-based compensation from Adjusted EBITDA 
assists management and investors in making meaningful comparisons between our company’s operating performance and the 
operating performance of other companies that may use different forms of employee compensation or different valuation 
methodologies for their stock-based compensation. Investors should note that stock-based compensation is a key incentive offered to 
employees whose efforts contributed to the operating results in the periods presented and are expected to contribute to operating 
results in future periods. Investors should also note that such expenses will recur in the future. 

  

•   Interest Income and Expense. Interest income is associated with the level of marketable debt securities and other interest bearing 
accounts in which we invest, and interest expense is related to our company’s capital structure (including non-cash interest expense 
relating to our convertible notes). Interest income and expense varies over time due to a variety of financing transactions and due to 
acquisitions and divestitures that we have entered into or may enter into in the future. We have, in the past, issued convertible 
debentures, repurchased shares in cash tender offers and repurchased shares and convertible debentures through other repurchase 
transactions, and completed the divestiture of certain businesses. We exclude interest income and interest expense from Adjusted 
EBITDA (i) because these items are not directly attributable to the performance of our business operations and, accordingly, their 
exclusion assists management and investors in making period-to-period comparisons of operating performance and (ii) to assist 
management and investors in making comparisons to companies with different capital structures. Investors should note that interest 
income and expense will recur in future periods. 

  

•   Income Tax Provision (Benefit). We maintain a valuation allowance on a portion of our net deferred tax assets (including our net 
operating loss carryforwards), the amount of which may change from quarter to quarter based on factors that are not directly related 
to our results for the quarter. The valuation allowance is either adjusted through the statement of operations or additional paid-in 
capital. The timing of such adjustments has not been consistent and as a result, our income tax expense can fluctuate significantly 
from period to period in a manner not directly related to our operating performance. We exclude the income tax provision (benefit) 
from Adjusted EBITDA (i) because we believe that the income tax provision (benefit) is not directly attributable to the underlying 
performance of our business operations and, accordingly, its exclusion assists management and investors in making period-to-period 
comparisons of operating performance and (ii) to assist management and investors in making comparisons to companies with 
different tax attributes. Investors should note that income tax provision (benefit) will recur in future periods. 

  

•   Other Items. We engage in other activities and transactions that can impact our net income or income from continuing operations. In 
recent periods, these other items included, but were not limited to: (i) gain or loss on investments; (ii) a restructuring charge; 
(iii) severance expense; and (iv) loss on repurchases of our convertible notes. We exclude these other items from Adjusted EBITDA 
because we believe these activities or transactions are not directly attributable to the performance of our business operations and, 
accordingly, their exclusion assists management and investors in making period-to-period comparisons of operating performance. 
Investors should note that some of these other items may recur in future periods. 



E XHIBIT 99.2 

W EB MD H EALTH C ORP .  

A MENDED AND R ESTATED A UDIT C OMMITTEE C HARTER  
   

Effective as of October 30, 2014  
   

A. Purpose and Role  
   

   

   

   

with such oversight responsibilities being delegated by the Board to the Committee to the full extent contemplated by the 
requirements applicable to audit committees of companies listed for quotation on The NASDAQ Global Market under applicable law 
and under the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market.  

   

   

B. Composition  
   

   

   

  

  

  
1. General . The Audit Committee (the “Committee”) has been established by the Board of Directors (the “Board”) of WebMD Health 

Corp. (the “Corporation” ) to oversee: 

  •   the accounting and financial reporting processes of the Corporation,  

  •   the audits of the Corporation’s financial statements, and  

  •   related matters, including administration of the Corporation’s Code of Business Conduct;  

  

2. Oversight Role . The Committee’s role is one of oversight, recognizing that the Corporation’s management is responsible for 
preparing the Corporation’s financial statements and that the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm is responsible for 
auditing those financial statements. In carrying out its oversight responsibilities, the Committee is not providing any expert or 
professional certification as to the Corporation’s financial statements or the registered public accounting firm’s work. 

  

3. Reporting Relationships; Retention Authority . The Corporation’s registered public accounting firm shall report directly to the 
Committee and the Committee shall have the sole authority to appoint and terminate the Corporation’s registered public accounting 
firm and to approve the amount of their compensation and shall have the authority to cause its payment by the Corporation. The 
Corporation’s internal audit function shall also report directly to the Committee. The Committee shall have the sole authority to 
appoint and terminate any outside parties retained by the Corporation to provide internal audit services and to approve the amount of 
their compensation and shall have the authority to cause its payment by the Corporation. 

  

1. Members . The Committee shall consist of as many members as the Board shall determine, but in any event not fewer than three 
members. Members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation. 
Committee members shall serve until the earliest of their resignation or their replacement or removal by the Board in accordance 
with this Charter and the By-laws of the Corporation. 

  
2. Qualifications . Each member of the Committee shall, in the judgment of the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board), meet 

the following requirements (the “ Independence Requirements” ): 

  
•   all independence requirements, under applicable laws, rules and regulations, for members of audit committees of companies 

listed for quotation on The NASDAQ Global Market;  



   

In addition, the following additional requirements (together with the Independence Requirements, the “Qualification Requirements”) 
shall also apply:  

   

   

   

   

   

In the event that the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board) determines that a member ceases to meet the Qualification 
Requirements applicable to individual members, the Board shall consider the removal and replacement of such member; provided, 
however, that the Board may, if necessary or appropriate in its judgment, appoint or retain Committee members in reliance on any 
available exceptions to any of the Qualification Requirements for the time period such exceptions are available. A failure by one or 
more Committee members to meet any of the Qualification Requirements (or of there to be an “audit committee financial expert” or a 
Committee member meeting other qualifications required of one or more Committee members) shall not invalidate decisions made, 
or actions taken, by the Committee.  
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•   all applicable independence requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market for members of audit committees of companies 

listed for quotation on The NASDAQ Global Market; and  

  
•   being free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board), would interfere 

with the exercise of independent judgment as a member of the Committee.  

  
•   each member of the Committee shall, in the judgment of the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board), meet the basic 

financial literacy requirements, under applicable law, for members of audit committees of companies listed for quotation on 
The NASDAQ Global Market;  

  
•   each member of the Committee shall, in the judgment of the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board), meet the basic 

financial literacy requirements under applicable listing standards of the NASDAQ Stock Market for members of audit 
committees of companies listed for quotation on The NASDAQ Global Market;  

  
•   each member of the Committee must not have participated in the preparation of the financial statements of the Corporation (or 

any subsidiary of the Corporation) at any time during the three years prior to appointment as a member of the Committee;  

  

•   at least one member of the Committee shall, in the judgment of the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board), have 
previous employment experience in finance or accounting, requisite professional certification in accounting, or any other 
comparable experience or background which results in the individual’s financial sophistication, including being or having 
been a chief executive officer, chief financial officer, or other senior officer with financial oversight responsibilities (which 
member may be the one who is also an “audit committee financial expert” under applicable rules promulgated by the 
Securities and Exchange Commission); and  

  
•   at least one member of the Committee shall, in the judgment of the Board (or an appropriate committee of the Board), be an 

“audit committee financial expert”  under the applicable rules promulgated by the Securities and Exchange Commission.  

  
3. Chairperson . A Chairperson of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board or by the Committee. If the Board does not do so, the 

Committee members shall elect a Chairperson by vote of a majority of the full Committee. 

  
4. Removal and Replacement . The members of the Committee may be removed or replaced, and any vacancies on the Committee shall 

be filled by the Board in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation. 



C. Operations  
   

   

   

D. Authority and Responsibilities Delegated to the Committee  
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1. Meetings . The Committee shall determine the schedule and frequency of the Committee meetings, provided that the Committee shall 

meet at least four times per year. Minutes of these meetings shall be kept and filed with the Secretary of the Corporation. 

  

2. Agenda; Reports . The Committee shall determine the agenda for its meetings. The Committee may invite other Board members, 
members of management and others to attend meetings and provide pertinent information and reports, as it deems necessary; 
provided, however, that the Committee members shall meet regularly: with appropriate representatives of the Corporation’s 
registered public accounting firm without any members of management present; and with the Corporation’s head of internal audit 
without any other members of management present. Nothing in this Charter shall be construed to restrict the reliance by any member 
of the Committee, to the full extent permitted by law, on information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Committee by 
any of the Corporation’s officers or employees, or other committees of the Board, or by any other person selected with reasonable 
care by or on behalf of the Corporation or the Committee as to matters the Committee member reasonably believes are within such 
other person’s professional or expert competence. 

  
3. Report to Board . The Committee shall report its actions and recommendations to the Board at the next Board meeting after each 

Committee meeting or, if so determined by the Committee, by distribution to the members of the Board of the minutes of a meeting, 
a unanimous written consent or other relevant documents. 

  
1. The Committee shall assess the adequacy of this Charter and the procedures developed by the Committee to implement this Charter 

on at least an annual basis and shall submit any proposed amendments to this Charter that the Committee recommends be made to the 
Board for its approval. 

  2. The Committee shall review and discuss with corporate management and the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm: 

  
•   the unaudited quarterly financial results prior to the release of earnings and/or the quarterly financial statements prior to filing 

or distribution;  

  
•   the audited financial results for the year and the proposed footnotes to the financial statements prior to filing or distribution, 

including disclosures of related party transactions;  

  
•   other financial information to be included in the Corporation’s SEC filings, including in “Management’s Discussion and 

Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations”  section;  

  
•   the “Report of Management on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting” and the registered public accounting firm’s 

attestation of the Report prior to filing or distribution;  

  
•   all major accounting policy matters involved in the preparation of interim and annual financial reports and any deviations 

from prior practice; and  
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•   the application of significant accounting and auditing policies, including new pronouncements, to the Corporation’s financial 

reports.  

  

3. In consultation with corporate management, the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm and the internal auditors, the 
Committee shall review the Corporation’s accounting procedures, internal controls, financial reporting processes and disclosure 
controls and procedures, and shall take such action with respect to any of those matters as the Committee may determine to be 
necessary or appropriate. The Committee shall annually obtain and review a report from the Corporation’s registered public 
accounting firm, which shall be delivered prior to and within 90 days of the filing of the audit report with the SEC, which sets forth: 

  •   all critical accounting policies and practices used by the Corporation,  

  
•   all alternative accounting treatments of financial information within GAAP related to material items that have been discussed 

with management, including the ramifications of the use of such alternative treatments and disclosures and the treatment 
preferred by the accounting firm, and  

  •   other material written communications between the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm and management.  

  
4. The Committee shall oversee the work of the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm and evaluate their performance at least 

annually and shall receive and review: 

  

•   a report by the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm describing the firm’s internal quality-control procedures and 
any material issues raised by the most recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the registered public 
accounting firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or professional authorities, within the preceding five 
years, respecting one or more independent audits carried out by the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues; and 

  •   any other required reports from the registered public accounting firm.  

  
5. At least annually, the Committee shall consider the independence of the registered public accounting firm, including whether the 

provision by the firm of permitted non-audit services is compatible with independence, and obtain and review a report from, and 
discuss with, the registered public accounting firm describing all relationships between the auditor and the Corporation. 

  

6. The Committee shall determine whether to pre-approve, to the extent required by applicable law, all potential audit engagements and 
any permitted non-audit engagements and the related fees and terms with the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm. The 
Committee may establish policies and procedures for the engagement of the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm to 
provide permitted non-audit services. The Committee shall review with management and the registered public accounting firm, at a 
time when the annual audit plan is being developed, the plan’s timing, scope, staffing, locations, foreseeable issues, priorities and 
procedures, and the engagement team. 

  

7. The Committee shall review with the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm, on completion of the annual audit, their 
experience, any restrictions on their work, cooperation received, significant disagreements with corporate management, their findings 
and their recommendations. The Committee shall oversee the resolution of any disagreements between corporate management and 
the registered 



   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

   

The Committee shall coordinate with the Nominating & Governance Committee on matters relating to the Corporation’s compliance 
programs, implementation of the Code of Business Conduct, corporate governance and such other matters as the Committee may 
determine to be appropriate.  

   

   
Amended and Restated Audit Committee Charter —  

Effective as of October 30, 2014  
   

Exhibit 99.2 – Page 5  

  
public accounting firm. The Committee shall discuss with the registered public accounting firm those matters required to be 
communicated to audit committees by the registered public accounting firm in accordance with law and with professional standards 
applicable to the registered public accounting firm. 

  
8. The Committee shall recommend to the Board, based on the reviews performed by the Committee, whether the annual financial 

statements should be included in the Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

  

9. The Committee shall oversee the Corporation’s internal auditing program, shall receive regular reports from the Corporation’s 
internal auditors regarding the results of their procedures and shall receive corporate management’s response and follow-up to those 
reports. The Committee shall evaluate the Corporation’s internal auditors, including any outside parties retained by the Corporation 
to provide internal audit services. 

  
10. To the extent requested by the Board from time to time, the Committee shall review the Corporation’s policies with respect to risk 

assessment and risk management, and review contingent liabilities and risks that may be material to the Corporation and major 
legislative and regulatory developments which could materially impact the Corporation’s contingent liabilities and risks. 

  
11. The Committee shall review and monitor any programs or procedures that the Corporation has instituted to correct any control 

deficiencies noted by the Corporation’s registered public accounting firm or the internal auditors in their reviews. 

  
12. The Committee shall oversee and confirm the rotation, in accordance with applicable law, of the lead audit partner of the 

Corporation’s registered public accounting firm. 

  
13. The Committee shall establish policies with respect to hiring by the Corporation of current or former employees of the Corporation’s 

registered public accounting firm. 

  
14. The Committee shall administer the Corporation’s Code of Business Conduct in accordance with its terms, shall have authority to 

construe all terms, provisions, conditions and limitations of the Code and to make factual determinations required for the 
administration of the Code and, in connection with such administration shall: 

  
•   establish procedures for (a) the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Corporation regarding 

accounting, internal accounting controls, or auditing matters and (b) the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of 
the Corporation of concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters; and  

  
•   review with management proposed related party transactions (as such term is used in Item 404 of SEC Regulation S-K) and 

approve any such transactions the Committee determines to be appropriate for the Corporation to enter into.  

  
15. The Committee shall annually prepare a report to stockholders as required to be included in the Corporation’s annual proxy statement 

filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission. 



The foregoing list is not intended to be exhaustive, and the Committee shall, in addition, have such powers as may be necessary or 
appropriate in furtherance of the objectives set forth in this Charter or as may, from time to time, be delegated by the Board. The adoption of this 
Charter and any amendments hereto shall not be construed to reduce any power or authority previously delegated to the Committee by the Board. 

The Committee shall have the power to delegate its authority to subcommittees or individual members of the Committee as it deems 
appropriate, to the full extent permitted under applicable law and applicable listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market; provided, 
however, that any decision made pursuant to the foregoing delegation of authority with respect to the Committee authority under Paragraph 6 of 
this Section D shall be presented to the Committee at its next regularly-scheduled meeting. In addition, the Committee shall have the power to 
delegate its authority to other members of the Board who meet the Independence Requirements as it deems appropriate, to the full extent 
permitted by applicable law and the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market applicable to the Corporation; provided, however, that in 
no event may it delegate its authority to such other members of the Board under Paragraphs 1 through 8 or Paragraph 15 of this Section D. The 
Committee shall have the power to delegate its authority under Paragraph 14 of this Section D with respect to administration of the 
Corporation’s Code of Business Conduct to the General Counsel of the Corporation and the Compliance Officer referred to in the Code, except 
with respect to the authority to amend the Code and to grant waivers to the Corporation’s directors, executive officers and senior financial 
officers.  

The Committee shall have the power to conduct or authorize investigations into any matters within the scope of its responsibilities. The 
Committee shall have direct access to management of the Corporation and may obtain advice and assistance from the Corporation’s Legal, 
Human Resources, Tax, Finance, Accounting and Internal Audit Departments and other specialists. The Committee shall have the power to 
retain consultants, accountants and other outside advisors to advise and assist it in any manner it deems appropriate. The Committee may also 
retain outside legal counsel, as it deems appropriate. The Committee shall have the sole authority to retain and terminate such consultants, 
accountants, advisors and counsel and to review and approve their fees and other retention terms and shall have the authority to cause the 
payment of such fees by the Corporation.  
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W EB MD H EALTH C ORP .  

A MENDED AND R ESTATED N OMINATING  & G OVERNANCE C OMMITTEE C HARTER  
   

Effective as of October 30, 2014  
   

A. Purpose  
   

   

   

   

   

B. Composition  
   

   

   

  

  

  
1. General . The Nominating & Governance Committee (the “Committee”) has been established by the Board of Directors (the 

“Board”) of WebMD Health Corp. (the “Corporation”) by combining the responsibilities of the Board’s Nominating Committee and 
its Governance & Compliance Committee. The Committee shall: 

  

•   assist the Board by actively identifying individuals qualified to become Board members and making recommendations to the 
Board regarding (a) the persons to be nominated by the Board for election as director at each annual meeting of stockholders, 
(b) appointments of directors to fill vacancies occurring between annual meetings and (c) appointments of directors to fill 
newly created directorships, if any, created by expansion of the size of the Board between annual meetings;  

  •   to evaluate and make recommendations to the Board regarding matters relating to the governance of the Corporation;  

  
•   to assist the Board in coordinating the activities of the Board’s other standing committees, including with respect to the 

Corporation’s compliance programs; and to provide additional oversight of those compliance programs.  

  

2. Diversity . The Board believes that diversity is a critical attribute of a well-functioning board. It is the responsibility of the 
Committee to seek qualified candidates to fill vacancies on the Board that contribute distinctive and useful perspectives to 
governance that best serves the interests of the Corporation and its stockholders. The Committee shall advise the Board on matters of 
diversity, including gender, race, culture, thought and geography, and recommend, as necessary, procedures for achieving diversity 
of viewpoint, background, skills, types of experience, and areas of expertise on the Board. 

  

1. Members . The Committee shall consist of as many members as the Board shall determine, but in any event not fewer than two 
members. Members of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation. 
Committee members shall serve until the earliest of their resignation or their replacement or removal by the Board in accordance 
with this Charter and the By-laws of the Corporation. 

  
2. Qualifications . Each member of the Committee shall, in the judgment of the Board (or the Committee or another appropriate 

committee of the Board), meet the following requirements (the “ Independence Requirements” ): 

  
•   all independence requirements, under applicable laws, rules and regulations, for members of nominating committees of 

companies listed for quotation on the NASDAQ Global Market;  



   

In the event that the Board (or the Committee or another appropriate committee of the Board) determines that a member ceases to 
meet the Independence Requirements, the Board shall consider the removal and replacement of such member; provided, however, 
that the Board may, if necessary or appropriate in its judgment, appoint or retain Committee members in reliance on any available 
exceptions to any of the Independence Requirements for the time period such exceptions are available. A failure by one or more 
Committee members to meet any of the Independence Requirements shall not invalidate decisions made, or actions taken, by the 
Committee.  

   

   

C. Operations  
   

   

   

D. Authority and Responsibilities Delegated to the Committee  
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•   all applicable independence requirements of The NASDAQ Stock Market for members of nominating committees of 

companies listed for quotation on the NASDAQ Global Market; and  

  
•   being free from any relationship that, in the opinion of the Board (or the Committee or another appropriate committee of the 

Board), would interfere with the exercise of independent judgment as a member of the Committee.  

  
3. Chairperson . A Chairperson of the Committee shall be appointed by the Board or by the Committee. If the Board does not do so, the 

Committee members shall elect a Chairperson by vote of a majority of the full Committee. 

  
4. Removal and Replacement . The members of the Committee may be removed or replaced, and any vacancies on the Committee shall 

be filled, by the Board in accordance with the By-laws of the Corporation. 

  

1. Meetings . The Committee shall determine the schedule and frequency of the Committee meetings, provided that the Committee shall 
meet at least twice per year, one of which shall be in advance of the Board’s nomination of directors for election at the Corporation’s 
annual meeting and consideration of other matters relating to the annual meeting. Minutes of these meetings shall be kept and filed 
with the Secretary of the Corporation. 

  

2. Agenda; Reports . The Committee shall determine the agenda for its meetings. The Committee may invite other Board members, 
members of management and others to attend meetings and provide pertinent information and reports, as it deems necessary. Nothing 
in this Charter shall be construed to restrict the reliance by any member of the Committee, to the full extent permitted by law, on 
information, opinions, reports or statements presented to the Committee by any of the Corporation’s officers or employees, or other 
committees of the Board, or by any other person selected with reasonable care by or on behalf of the Corporation or the Committee 
as to matters the Committee member reasonably believes are within such other person’s professional or expert competence. 

  
3. Report to Board . The Committee shall report its actions and recommendations to the Board at the next Board meeting after each 

Committee meeting or, if so determined by the Committee, by distribution to the members of the Board of the minutes of a meeting, 
a unanimous written consent or other relevant documents. 

  
1. The Committee shall establish and review with the Board the qualifications and characteristics that it determines should be sought 

with respect to individual Board members and the Board as a whole and shall review with the Board any changes thereto that it may, 
from time to time, determine to be 
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appropriate. These qualifications and characteristics shall be designed to assist the Board in meeting the objectives set forth in 
Section A.2 of this Charter with respect to diversity. 

  

2. The Committee shall assess the adequacy of this Charter and the procedures developed by the Committee to implement this Charter 
on at least an annual basis and shall submit any proposed amendments to this Charter that the Committee recommends be made to the 
Board for its approval. This assessment shall include a review of procedures developed to assist the Board in meeting the objectives 
set forth in Section A.2 of this Charter with respect to diversity. 

  

3. In order to assist the Board in meeting the objectives set forth in Section A.2 of this Charter with respect to diversity, the Committee 
shall develop director search processes that identify qualified Board candidates both in the corporate environment as well as other 
enterprises, such as government, academia, private enterprise, complex non-profit organizations, and professions that serve them, 
such as accounting, human resources, and legal services. The search process will be designed so that candidates are not 
systematically eliminated from the search process due solely to background or organizational affiliation and so that each director 
search affirmatively seeks to include candidates with diverse backgrounds and skills. 

  
4. The Committee shall, in accordance with (a) the policies and principles set forth in this Charter and (b) the relevant requirements of 

applicable law and requirements applicable to companies listed for quotation on the NASDAQ Global Market, identify and 
recommend to the Board 

  i. the persons to be nominated by the Board for election as director at each annual meeting of stockholders, 

  ii. persons to be appointed as directors to fill vacancies occurring between annual meetings, and 

  
iii. persons to be appointed as directors to fill newly created directorships, if any, created by expansion of the size of the Board 

between annual meetings. 

  
5. The Committee shall review candidates for the Board recommended by stockholders pursuant to policies and procedures established 

by the Committee from time to time. 

  
6. The Committee shall consider whether to recommend to the Board increases or decreases in the size of the Board. The Committee 

shall consider whether to recommend to the Board (a) changes in the Board committee assignments of existing directors, 
(b) committee assignments for new directors and (c) the formation of additional Board committees. 

  
7. The Committee shall evaluate and make recommendations to the Board regarding (a) the governance of the Corporation; (b) Board 

procedures; and (c) related matters. Recommendations may include possible changes to the Corporation’s Certificate of 
Incorporation, By-laws, Board committee charters and other relevant constitutive documents, policy statements or similar materials. 

  
8. The Committee shall evaluate and make recommendations to the Board regarding any proposals for which a stockholder has 

provided required notice that such stockholder intends to make at the Annual Meeting of Stockholders, including recommendations 
regarding the Board’s response and regarding whether to include such proposal in the Corporation’s proxy statement. 

  
9. The Committee may, if it deems it appropriate to do so, develop and present to the Board for its adoption a set of “Corporate 

Governance Guidelines,” which shall set forth guidelines in areas such as the function and operations of the Board and its 
committees. 



   

   

The foregoing list is not intended to be exhaustive, and the Committee shall, in addition, have such powers as may be necessary or 
appropriate in furtherance of the objectives set forth in this Charter, including the objectives set forth in Section A.2 of this Charter with respect 
to diversity, or as may, from time to time, be delegated by the Board. The adoption of this Charter and any amendments hereto shall not be 
construed to reduce any power or authority previously delegated to the Committee by the Board.  

The Committee shall, to the full extent permitted by applicable law and the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market applicable to 
the Corporation, have the power to delegate its authority to subcommittees or individual members of the Committee, as it deems appropriate.  

The Committee shall have direct access to management of the Corporation and may obtain advice and assistance from the Corporation’s 
Legal, Human Resources, Tax, Finance, Accounting and Internal Audit Departments and other specialists. The Committee shall have the power 
to retain search firms or other advisors to identify director candidates. The Committee may also retain counsel or other advisors, as it deems 
appropriate. The Committee shall have the sole authority to retain and terminate such search firms, advisors or counsel and to review and 
approve their fees and other retention terms and shall have the authority to cause the payment of such fees by the Corporation.  
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10. The Committee shall, to the full extent permitted by applicable law and the listing standards of The NASDAQ Stock Market 

applicable to the Corporation, be responsible for making any required determinations regarding the independence of the members of 
the Board. 

  
11. The Committee shall assist the Board in coordinating the activities of the Board’s other standing committees, including with respect 

to the Corporation’s compliance programs, and shall provide additional oversight of those compliance programs and related matters. 

  
12. The Committee shall provide oversight with respect to matters relating to recruitment of senior executives of the Corporation, 

development of management talent and executive succession planning. 


